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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF TH E SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014

or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File Number: 001-36061

Benefitfocus, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 46-2346314
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

100 Benefitfocus Way
Charleston, South Carolina 29492
(Address of principal executive offices and zip code)

(843) 849-7476
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Name of each exchange of which
Title of each class registered
Common Stock, $0.001 Par Value NASDAQ Global Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes O No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes 0O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90
days. Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to submit and post such files). Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of
registrant’'s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the
definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer O Smaller reporting company O
(Do not check if a smaller reporting
company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes O No

The aggregate market value of the registrant's common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant on June 30, 2014 (based on the closing sale price of $46.22 on
that date), was approximately $318,751,978. Common stock held by each officer and director and by each person known to the registrant who owned 10% or more of the
outstanding common stock have been excluded in that such persons may be deemed to be affiliates. This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive
determination for other purposes.

The number of shares of the registrant's common stock outstanding as of February 24, 2015 was 28,459,860.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders currently scheduled to be held on June 12, 2015 are incorporated
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PART |
SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements” that involve risks and uncertainties, as well as
assumptions that, if they never materialize or prove incorrect, could cause our results to differ materially from those expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements. The statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not purely
historical are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or
Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Exchange Act. Such forward-looking
statements include any expectation of earnings, revenue or other financial items; any statements of the plans, strategies and
objectives of management for future operations; factors that may affect our operating results; statements about our ability to
establish and maintain intellectual property rights; statements about our ability to retain and hire necessary associates and
appropriately staff our operations; statements related to future capital expenditures; statements related to future economic
conditions or performance; statements as to industry trends; and other matters that do not relate strictly to historical facts or
statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. Forward-looking statements are often identified by the use of words
such as, but not limited to, “anticipate,” “believe,” “can,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “will,”
“plan,” “project,” “seek,” “should,” “target,” “would,” and similar expressions or variations intended to identify forward-looking
statements. These statements are based on the beliefs and assumptions of our management based on information currently
available to management. Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other important factors that could
cause actual results and the timing of certain events to differ materially from future results expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the
section titled “Risk Factors” included in Item 1A of Part | of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and the risks discussed in our other
SEC filings. Furthermore, such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report. Except as required by law, we
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of such
statements.

” o ” o« LT ” o« LT ” o,

As used in this report, the terms “Benefitfocus, Inc.,” “Benefitfocus,” “Company,” “company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” mean
Benefitfocus, Inc. and its subsidiaries unless the context indicates otherwise.

Item 1. Business
Overview

Benefitfocus is a leading provider of cloud-based benefits software solutions for consumers, employers, insurance carriers,
and brokers. The Benefitfocus platform provides an integrated suite of solutions that enables our employer and insurance carrier
customers to more efficiently shop, enroll, manage, and exchange benefits information. Our web-based platform has a user-friendly
interface designed to enable the insured consumers to access all of their benefits in one place. Our comprehensive solutions
support core benefits plans, including healthcare, dental, life, and disability insurance, and voluntary benefits plans, such as critical
illness, supplemental income, and wellness programs. As the number of employer benefits plans has increased, with each plan
subject to many different business rules and requirements, demand for the Benefitfocus platform has grown.

The Benefitfocus platform enables our customers to simplify the management of complex benefits processes, from sales
through enrollment and implementation to ongoing administration. It provides consumers with an engaging, highly intuitive, and
personalized user interface for selecting and managing all of their benefits via the web or mobile devices. Employers use our
solutions to streamline benefits processes, keep up with complex regulatory requirements, control costs, and offer a greater
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variety of plans to attract, retain, and motivate their employees. Insurance carriers use our solutions to more effectively market
offerings, manage billing, and improve the enrollment process. We also provide a network of over 900 benefit provider data
exchange connections, which facilitates the otherwise highly fragmented interaction among employees, employers, and carriers.

We serve two separate but related market segments. Our fastest growing market segment, the employer market, consists of
employers offering benefits to their employees. Within this segment, we mainly target large employers with more than 1,000
employees, of which we believe there are approximately 18,000 in the United States. In our other market segment, we sell our
solutions to insurance carriers, enabling us to expand our overall footprint in the benefits marketplace by aggregating many key
constituents, including consumers, employers, and brokers. We believe our presence in both the employer and insurance carrier
markets gives us a strong position at the center of the benefits ecosystem. As of December 31, 2014, we served over 23 million
consumers on the Benefitfocus platform. As of December 31, 2014, we served 553 large employer customers, an increase from
121 in 2009, and 43 carrier customers, an increase from 28 in 2009.

We sell the Benefitfocus platform on a subscription basis, typically through annual contracts with our employer customers
and multi-year contracts with our insurance carrier customers, with subscription fees paid monthly. The multi-year contracts with our
carrier customers are generally only cancellable by the carrier in an instance of our uncured breach, although some of our carrier
customers are able to terminate their respective contracts without cause or for convenience. Our software-as-a-service, or Saas,
model provides us visibility into our future operating results through increased revenue predictability, which enhances our ability to
manage our business. Our company was founded in 2000, and we currently employ approximately 1,312 associates.

Industry Background

The administration and distribution of benefits to employees is a mainstay of the U.S. economy. Providing these benefits is
costly and complex and requires the exchange of information, application of rules, and transfer of funds among a wide variety of
constituents, including consumers, employers, insurance carriers, brokers, benefits outsourcers, payroll processors, and financial
institutions. According to IBISWorld calculations, in 2014, the market for HR benefits administration in the United States is expected
to grow to over $61 billion. In addition, Gartner estimates that in 2013, the U.S. insurance industry spent over $58 billion on
software and related services 1.

The variety and complexity of core benefits plans, including healthcare, dental, life, and disability insurance continues to
grow. In addition, employers are increasingly offering a range of voluntary benefits plans, such as critical iliness, supplemental
income, and wellness programs. The current system for providing benefits is changing rapidly and suffers from significant
inefficiency as a result of complexity, regulation, and the involvement of multiple parties, leaving room for substantial improvement
along the entire benefits value chain.

Employer Market

As of 2010, according to the United States Census Bureau, there were approximately 5.7 million employers in the United
States. Currently, we believe there are over 18,000 entities that employ more than 1,000 individuals. A significant and growing
portion of employers’ costs is non-salary benefits, such as the health insurance that they provide to their employees. With
healthcare and other premiums increasing, senior executives are prioritizing benefits administration in their organizations, searching
for
! Gartner, Forecast: Enterprise IT Spending by Vertical Industry Market, Worldwide, 2012-2018 1Q14 Update, United States
Insurance Market Spending on Software, IT Services, and Internal Services.
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ways to contain costs without sacrificing benefits. In addition, the expense burden continues to shift to employees. Employees’
contributions to premiums for health insurance have grown from approximately $318 in 1999 to approximately $999 per employee
in 2013. Employers recognize the importance of offering a greater variety of core and voluntary benefits as a means to attract,
motivate, and retain employees. They must maintain relationships with multiple insurance carriers and many other benefits
providers, placing a substantial administrative burden on their organizations.

Employers’ distribution, management, and administration of employee benefits has historically consisted of error-prone,
paper-based processes, and a patchwork of customized software tools, which are costly to maintain, often lack necessary
functionality, and fail to address the increasing complexity of the benefits marketplace. As benefits offerings become more complex
and employees bear more of the cost of those benefits, HR software solutions that streamline information, simplify choices, and
engage employees are increasingly in demand. Employees desire tailored, dynamic, and interactive communication of critical
benefits information as they become accustomed to receiving personalized content through various consumer applications on a
range of devices.

Legacy HR systems were generally designed as extensions of enterprise resource planning, or ERP, systems, built for back-
office responsibilities like finance and accounting. As a result, these systems lack functionality and ease-of-use for employees.
Many legacy HR systems were not designed to integrate with the broader benefits ecosystem, including brokers, carriers, and
wellness providers. This results in expensive, error-prone, and frustrating experiences for employers and employees. Benefits
outsourcers have attempted to compensate for the shortcomings of legacy HR systems, but they have generally lacked adequate
technology solutions necessary to keep up with the rapidly evolving benefits landscape. As a result, employees are often not
provided with the appropriate functionality and information required to select and manage their benefits effectively.

Modern technology, changing communication patterns, and a constantly evolving benefits ecosystem have changed the
employee-employer relationship. HR executives continue to search for effective strategies to increase efficiency and contain costs,
while increasing employee engagement and satisfaction. Employers are increasingly interested in SaaS solutions that can help
capture and analyze benefits data and ultimately lead to healthier, happier, and more productive employees. In order to manage
the distribution and administration of benefits effectively, employers need an integrated platform, capable of handling all benefits in
one place and providing a highly personalized experience for employees.

Insurance Carrier Market

The employee benefits market consists of a myriad of insurance carriers and products. According to the U.S. Bureau of
Labor Statistics, the single largest benefit provided to employees in the United States is healthcare insurance, often encompassing
more than 90% of all insurance benefits spending by employers. According to SNL Financial data, the U.S. private healthcare
insurance market consists of approximately 357 carriers covering approximately 246 million individual consumers. Carriers provide
benefits primarily through over 5.7 million U.S. employers.

Large, national insurance carriers also offer numerous individual health plans of different types, including health maintenance
organizations, preferred provider organizations, point-of-service plans, and health savings accounts across the 50 states. Each
carrier offers a complex variety of health insurance plans, with each plan requiring multiple decisions to address the specific needs
of employers and their individual employees. Despite widespread carrier consolidation, numerous disparate systems remain in
place, with many large carriers operating on multiple IT systems. Carriers often rely on manual processes and siloed software
applications to bridge gaps in legacy administration systems. Even as carriers attempt to modernize and keep up with evolving
industry practices and a changing regulatory landscape, they have difficulty connecting with the broader healthcare system.
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The effective delivery and management of healthcare benefits depends on the timely, continuous exchange of data among
carriers, their employer customers, and individual members. Legacy benefits management systems often lack important
functionality such as web and mobile self-service capabilities and real-time data exchange. Critical carrier processes, including
member enrollment, billing, communications, and retail marketing have often been under-optimized or neglected by legacy
systems, and carriers have devoted significant internal resources to cover technology gaps. In addition, healthcare reform
mandates and the rise of exchanges have increased focus on carriers’ retail distribution capabilities, which require additional
investment.

Governmental oversight, punctuated with the passage of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, or PPACA, has led
to an increasingly intricate regulatory framework under which health benefits are delivered, accessed, and maintained. PPACA
significantly expands insurance coverage through the individual mandate, with the goal of providing healthcare insurance to all U.S.
citizens. To encourage enrollment, PPACA introduces a new distribution model in the form of healthcare exchanges—online
marketplaces that allow insurance carriers to compete directly for new members. PPACA authorized the creation of publicly funded
state exchanges in which individuals and small businesses can purchase health insurance directly from carriers. In addition to these
federally mandated public exchanges, a number of private entities, including benefit outsourcers, carriers, and brokers are
establishing their own private exchanges. We expect private exchanges will be less rigid, promoting both health and non-health
benefits, with substantially fewer rules around the types of benefits offered. As insurance carriers continue to bolster their retail
distribution capabilities, we believe they will require new technology solutions to attract additional members through private
exchanges.

Reportable Segments

Our reportable segments, Employer and Carrier, are based on type of customer. Financial information for Benefitfocus’
reportable segments is included in Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Benefitfocus Solutions

We provide a multi-tenant cloud-based benefit platform to the employer and carrier markets. The Benefitfocus platform offers
an integrated suite of software solutions that enables our customers to more efficiently shop, enroll, manage, and exchange
benefits information.

We believe our solutions help employers in the following important ways:

Simplify Benefits Enrollment .  Our solutions reduce the complexity of benefits enroliment by integrating all plan information
in one place and presenting it to employees in an organized and easy-to-understand manner. Employees shop and enroll using a
highly intuitive and engaging consumer-oriented interface. Side-by-side comparison tools and real-time quotes enable employees to
understand and compare plans and determine how much each option will cost them every month. Notifications are sent in real-time
when revised plan designs or new legislation affect coverage. We create videos and use avatars to give employees straightforward
explanations of plan details, limitations, changes, and cost-sharing levels.

Transition to Defined Contribution Benefits Funding Model .  Our solutions help enable employers’ ongoing shift to defined
contribution plans. Defined contribution plans differ from traditional defined benefit plans as they grant employees a stipend with
which to purchase benefits of their choosing. Defined contribution plans also offer more discretion and options compared to defined
benefit plans. Our products support traditional defined benefit plans, allowing employees to select from a list of benefits offered by
their employer, calculating required member contributions, and recording
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and transmitting elections and other important information to payroll. Separately, with respect to defined contribution plans, our
exchange solutions help facilitate an online shopping environment with many benefits options that allows employees to select
personalized benefit offerings to suit their individual needs.

Reduce Cost and Increase ROI .  Our solutions automate the benefits management process and reduce the cost
associated with clerical errors and covering ineligible employees and dependents. They significantly reduce errors resulting from
manual file creation, data entry, and sending enrollment materials via mail or fax. The Benefitfocus platform ensures plan
information is more accurately captured and submitted in real-time. Automated audits and dependent verification functionality
accurately ensure employers only pay benefits for eligible employees. Our solutions also include advanced analytics that enable
employers and employees to quickly gather, report, and forecast benefit costs.

Attract, Retain, and Motivate Employees . Our solutions help employers attract, retain, and motivate top talent by delivering
benefits information through a highly intuitive and engaging user interface. The Benefitfocus platform supports more than 100 types
of plans and numerous third-party apps. Our solutions enable employees to have better visibility into the value of the plans
available through their employers. Employees have a better understanding of their benefits and are empowered to make informed
decisions. We believe that when employees understand the value of their benefits, they are more likely to be satisfied with and
engaged in their jobs.

Streamline HR Processes . Our solutions eliminate the time-consuming and labor-intensive, often paper-based, processes
associated with managing employee benefits plans, making HR professionals more efficient. Our solutions reduce the need to store
paper forms and new hire enroliment packets, and provide one place to easily manage all benefits and related information.
Employers and HR professionals can efficiently enroll users or update information, and communicate or make changes to plans in
real-time. An intuitive user interface and a library of contextual online content explaining complex concepts and terms promote
manager and employee self-service.

Integrate Seamlessly with other Related Systems . Our solutions can be easily and securely integrated with a variety of
related systems, including carrier membership and billing systems, payroll and HR systems, banks, and other third-party
administrators. We provide a network of over 900 benefit provider data exchange connections. Our solutions ensure accurate
paycheck deductions and real-time enroliment in a variety of benefits plans. The Benefitfocus platform supports multiple data
integration methods, including event-driven transactions, real-time web services, and XML or fixed-width file-based data exchange.
In addition to convenient and flexible data exchange, the Benefitfocus platform also ensures that data is secure and accurate. Our
open architecture further extends our functionality by allowing third parties to develop and offer apps and services on our platform.

We believe our solutions help insurance carriers in the following important ways:

Attract and Maintain Membership .  Our solutions allow carriers to maximize sales capacity and efficiency by
communicating directly with their employer customers and individual members. Carriers can track leads, generate quotes, create
proposals with multiple products, and quickly follow-up with potential customers and members. The Benefitfocus platform also
allows carriers to automate and integrate direct marketing, sales, underwriting, and enrollment to provide a high quality, efficient,
and engaging online consumer shopping experience. Our solutions provide a library of customizable video content to deliver
customized messages, reflect carrier branding, introduce new products, upsell ancillary consumer benefits, and enable consumers
to navigate through complex healthcare processes to make informed decisions.

Reduce Administrative Costs .  Our solutions improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the relationship between carriers
and members. The Benefitfocus platform allows carriers to automate and
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simplify various aspects of the benefits administration process, such as enrollment, plan changes, eligibility updates, and billing,
from one centralized location. Carriers can more easily apply complex business rules that enforce data accuracy and eliminate
unnecessary costs such as coverage of ineligible employees. Members are able to view consolidated online invoices and pay
electronically, eliminating the cost and inefficiencies inherent in paper-based billing and reducing time associated with bill payment
and collection.

Bolster Retail Distribution Capabilities Through Private Exchanges . Our solutions help carriers respond to an evolving
marketplace in which retail distribution capabilities are increasingly important to attracting and retaining new members. Our private
exchange platform offers carriers a lower cost direct sales channel to employer groups and individuals. We offer the ability to sell
both healthcare and non-healthcare benefit products in an online shopping environment that serves as an alternative to
government-sponsored public exchanges.

Facilitate Real-Time Data Exchange . Our solutions simplify interactions and data exchange, and foster collaboration
among carriers and their partners, brokers, employer customers, and individual members. This allows carriers to rapidly tailor and
offer new benefits packages.

Our Growth Strategy

We intend to strengthen our position as a leading provider of cloud-based benefits software solutions. Key elements of our
growth strategy include the following:

Expand our Customer Base . We believe that our current customer base represents a small fraction of our targeted
employers and carriers that could benefit from our solutions. While we served approximately 553 large employer customers as of
December 31, 2014, we believe that there are over 18,000 large employers in the United States. We also served approximately 43
carrier customers as of December 31, 2014, but, according to SNL Financial data, the U.S. private healthcare insurance market
alone consists of approximately 357 carriers. In order to reach new customers in our existing employer and carrier markets, we are
aggressively investing in our sales and marketing resources and our channel marketing strategy.

Deepen our Relationships with our Existing Customer Base . We are deepening our employer relationships by continuing
to provide a unified platform to manage increasingly complex benefits processes and simplify the distribution and administration of
employee benefits. We are expanding our carrier relationships through both the upsell of additional software products and
increased adoption across our carriers’ member populations. We also believe our customers will use our benefits software solutions
more if they are satisfied with our services. As we extend and strengthen the functionality of products, we plan to continue to invest
in initiatives to increase the depth of adoption of our solutions and maintain our high levels of customer satisfaction.

Extend our Suite of Applications and Continue our Technology Leadership . We are extending the number, range, and
functionality of our benefits applications. For example, we recently launched the new Benefitfocus Plan Shopping app, which allows
employees to use actual claims data when comparing available benefits plans, helping them better understand the relationship
among healthcare usage, available coverages options, and out-of-pocket costs. We have also extended the functionality of our
products with various mobile applications. We intend to continue our collaboration with customers and partners, so we can respond
quickly to evolving market needs with innovative applications and support our leadership position.

Further Develop our Partner Ecosystem . We have established strong relationships with organizations such as
SuccessFactors, Allstate Insurance Company, Equifax, WageWorks, and others in a variety of industries to deliver best-in-class
applications to our customers. Each of these partners
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brings additional functionality to the Benefitfocus platform, making it more attractive to customers. This in turn creates a broader
audience and makes the Benefitfocus platform more attractive to potential partners. We believe that providing third-party
applications to our network of employers, carriers, and consumers will help accelerate our growth, create revenue opportunities and
deepen our relationships with existing customers. In support of these and other collaborations, we plan to continue to invest in our
integration infrastructure to allow third parties and customers to build custom applications on the Benefitfocus platform and create
deep integrations between their systems and ours.

We recently founded the Benefitfocus Implementation Program to train third-party system integrators such as Deloitte
Consulting, LLP, ROC Americas, HRchitect, Providence Technology Solutions (affiliate of The HCiGroup) and Motion HR. This
program should expand our ability to rapidly scale our service offerings while maintaining a high-quality customer experience. At the
same time, it applies the system integrators’ broad experience across industries to support customers as they implement the
Benefitfocus Platform.

Leverage our Corporate Culture . We believe our culture benefits our associates and customers and supports our growth.
In 2014, we published “Benefitfocus—Winning With Culture 2”, which includes associates’ descriptions about our culture of
collaboration, commitment, opportunity, and service, and describes the environment we created to encourage technology
innovation. We plan to continue to invest in our culture to help attract and retain top design and engineering professionals that are
passionate about Benefitfocus and motivated to create superior software technology. With loyal and engaged associates, we
believe we can provide high levels of customer satisfaction, leading to greater sales of our benefits software solutions.

Target New Markets . We believe substantial demand for our solutions exists in markets and geographies beyond our
current focus. We intend to leverage opportunities we believe will arise from the complexities of changing government regulation
and increased enrollment impacting both Medicare and Medicaid. We also plan to grow our sales capability internationally by
expanding our direct sales force and collaborating with strategic partners in new, international locations.

The Benefitfocus Portfolio of Products

Our portfolio of products, as summarized below, provides a seamless, integrated experience for the entire life cycle of
benefits enrollment and management for insurance carriers and employers. We also provide extensive applications to help carriers
and employers manage their programs more effectively.

Products and Services for Insurance Carriers Products and Services for Employers

eEnroliment HR InTouch Marketplace (now known as Benefitfocus
Marketplace)

eBilling Benefit Informatics (now known as the Data Cloud and Benefit
Analytics)

eExchange Implementation Services

eSales HR Support Center (now known as Benefits Service Center)

Marketplaces Media and Animation Services

Benefit Informatics (now known as Data Cloud and Benefit App Development Platform

Analytics)

Implementation Services Software-Enabled Services

Media and Animation Services Benefitstore

App Development Platform
Software-Enabled Services
BenefitStore
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Products for Insurance Carriers

eEnrollment is our flagship product for carriers, providing them with online enrollment for all types of benefits. We
designed eEnrollment to enhance our users’ experience by presenting information in a user-friendly format and integrating
educational videos, and plan comparison and decision support tools to help navigate the enrollment process. In addition to
helping customers find suitable plans, eEnrollment supports complex business rules, such as eligibility and rating criteria.
eEnrollment facilitates the following activities:

. Initial Enroliment. Employees and brokers can complete applications and health statements prior to making
elections. Once the selection occurs, eEnrollment automatically calculates group numbers, finalizes benefit elections,
and sends the data to the insurance carriers’ membership systems.

. Open Enrolliment .  eEnrollment simplifies open enrollment by providing tools to map employees from one plan to
another, such as workflow, to-do lists, e-mail reminders, and a wide range of reports.

. New Hire Enrollment. New hires can enroll in benefits anytime during their initial enroliment period. eEnroliment
calculates wait periods and effective dates automatically to ensure compliance with the employers’ business rules.

. Life Events . Employees can make changes to their elections for specific reasons, including a birth, marriage, and
military leave. eEnrollment calculates effective dates and helps employees understand what types of coverage
changes are permitted with each type of life event.

eBilling is an electronic invoice presentment and payment solution, or EIPP. It consolidates invoices from multiple
insurance products so employers and individuals receive one invoice that can be viewed and paid electronically. eBilling
automates the synchronization of billing and membership data to improve the accuracy of billing processes and provides
options to simplify bill payment, such as scheduled one-time and/or recurring payments.

eExchange is a solution that bridges the communication gap between carrier and employer systems, allowing a seamless
exchange of data between the two. Our customers use eExchange to integrate data from multiple systems, convert data
from one format to another, and manage the flow of employee data between carriers and employers.

eSales gives carriers and brokers tools to organize and proactively manage accounts, track leads, generate quotes, and
create proposals for multiple products. eSales allows carriers to define their own market segments and configure them
with unique workflows and business rules. It also enables greater data accuracy by automatically incorporating updated
products, options and pricing for the most current rates and quotes. Carriers purchase eSales to increase productivity in
their sales force.

Marketplaces are online shopping environments, sometimes referred to as exchanges, that allow customers to select from
a variety of benefits plan choices to suit their individual needs. Marketplaces support the shift toward defined contribution
benefits plans, which are increasing in popularity. Marketplaces provide consumer-centric experiences focused on
personalization, and integrate social tools to help drive informed choices while selecting benefits. They also include
features to track plans and compare pricing and features across multiple benefit plans.

Benefit Informatics (now known as Data Cloud and Benefits Analytics) is our data analytics solution for use by carriers and
their self-insured employer customers. Benefit Informatics is a privately-labeled analytics solution that helps carriers and
their self-insured employers identify cost drivers, recognize trends, and predict future risks and costs. Additional analytical
capabilities help create “what-if” scenarios to model different variables, such as co-pay, deductibles, benefits, inflation, and
member populations.
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Products for Employers

* HR InTouch Marketplace (now known as Benefitfocus Marketplace) is a cloud-based HR management portal that
streamlines online enrollment, employee communication, and benefits administration, and creates a private exchange
environment for large employers who offer defined contribution plans. In one cohesive, engaging workflow, HR InTouch
Marketplace presents employees with all of the plans their employers offer. Employees who need extra assistance can
access avatars, animated videos, and live chat sessions as they explore their benefit options. As employees shop for the
plans that best fit their individual needs, a virtual shopping cart keeps a running tally of the employers’ defined contribution
in addition to the employees’ out-of-pocket costs. If employees choose to purchase more coverage on their own, they can
easily view and pay their bills in the HR InTouch Marketplace.

* Benefit Informatics (now known as Data Cloud and Benefits Analytics) is our data analytics solution that helps employers
make more informed, data-driven decisions about their benefits offerings. This product aggregates benefit cost and claims
data from relevant sources and allows customers to analyze, forecast, and monitor costs. Benefit Informatics enables
employers and their advisors to identify cost drivers, recognize trends, and predict future risks and costs. Additional
analytical capabilities create “what-if” scenarios to model different variables, such as co-pays, deductibles, benefits,
inflation, and member populations.

Professional Services and Customer Support

* Implementation Services . We provide implementation services to our customers in order to help ensure seamless
deployment and effective utilization of our solutions. Our carrier and employer implementation teams and third-party
system integrators in our Benefitfocus Implementation Program follow a five-step approach for each implementation:

. Discovery , including project planning and coordination to establish key milestones, documenting business and
technical requirements, establishing a deployment strategy, and planning operational and market adoption activities.

. Configuration and deployment , including configuring products to meet requirements identified during discovery, and
defining needs for data exchange, payroll integration, and file transfer protocol.

. Integration , including connecting the Benefitfocus platform functionality to a customer’s currently existing systems,
such as carrier membership and billing, payroll and HR systems, employee communications, intranets, and others.

. Testing , including testing of various scenarios and uses cases, inbound and outbound payroll integration, and
regression testing.

. Training and technical support , including sessions to learn how to implement and access our products.

* HR Support Center (now known as Benefitfocus Service Center) . We provide employers with expanded support
services where our benefits specialists help customers’ employees understand benefit offerings, navigate the enroliment
process, and find answers to frequently asked HR questions. Our HR Support Center provides employees with
personalized, guided support. Additional services, such as fulfilment, dependent verification, and HR administration, are
available to meet unique organizational needs.

* Media and Animation Services . We create video and animated content that can be licensed within our applications or
independently for distribution via client portals or websites. Benefitfocus provides a comprehensive video library and also
can produce custom videos to meet specific communication requirements of its carrier and employer customers. Our staff
of
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executive producers, project managers, writers, graphic designers, editors, and on-camera talent guide customers through
the process from concept development to delivery. Benefitfocus hosts videos, eliminating the need for additional
investments or internal IT resources by our customers. In addition, we incorporate our customers’ unique branding to
provide a seamless extension of corporate websites and messaging.

Partner Offerings

* App Development Platform.  We allow our partners and customers to develop custom apps that integrate directly with
HR InTouch. HR professionals can easily work with external data and services through the same platform they are using
to manage their benefits. Apps are organized into the following categories: voluntary benefits, health and wellness,
benefits administration, finance, and communication. Representative apps include the RedBrick Health App, which
provides access to customizable health assessments, digital coaching, tracking and challenges and the LifeLock App,
which allows employees to purchase identity theft protection when they are enrolling in other benefit programs.

» Software-Enabled Services. In addition to our app development platform, the open and flexible nature of our software
architecture allows us to build deeper integrations with partner organizations and offer custom services in response to
customer demand. Some examples include:

. SuccessFactors provides employee performance management solutions. We partnered with them to create a full HR
and benefits management suite that combines employee talent, profile, and core HR information to help drive
employee onboarding, promotion, and development. The SuccessFactors suite of products provides an enterprise-
class system of record, as well as powerful analytics and intuitive tools.

. WageWorks supports benefits such as health savings accounts, flexible spending accounts, and health
reimbursement programs, as well as commuter benefits, direct billing, and COBRA, through a single sign-on from our
platform.

. Spectra Integration provides print fulfillment services which enable customers to send employee information via mail
to educate their workforce about benefit offerings, total compensation statements, and communication campaigns.

. BenefitStore is a turn-key solution that makes available directly to employees a broad array of ancillary benefits like
transit, supplemental life and disability, among others, to provide a more comprehensive and customizable benefits
package.

Customers

Our customers include employers of all sizes across a variety of industries and some of the nation’s largest insurance
carriers and aggregators. Following is a list of some of our significant employer and carrier customers.

Employer Customers Carrier Customers

Amerigas Propane, Inc. Aetna Life Insurance Company

Brooks Brothers Group, Inc. Alistate Insurance Company

Cancer Treatment Centers of America Anthem, Inc. (formerly Wellpoint, Inc.)
Columbia Sportswear Company Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Florida
Fender Musical Instruments Corporation BlueCross and BlueShield of South Carolina
Rush University Medical Center Tufts Associated Health Plans, Inc.

Under Armour, Inc.
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During the year ended December 31, 2014, no customer accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue.

Sales and Marketing

We sell substantially all of our software solutions through our direct sales organization. Our direct sales team comprises
employer-focused and carrier-focused field sales professionals who are organized primarily by geography and account size.

We generate customer leads, accelerate sales opportunities and build brand awareness through our marketing programs
and strategic relationships. Our marketing programs target HR, benefits, and finance executives, technology professionals, and
senior business leaders. Our principal marketing programs include:

* use of our website to provide application and company information, as well as learning opportunities for potential
customers;

* territory development representatives who respond to incoming leads and convert them into new sales opportunities;

¢ participation in, and sponsorship of, user conferences, executive events, trade shows and industry events, including our
annual user and partner conference, One Place;

* integrated marketing campaigns, including direct email, online web advertising, blogs and webinars; and
* public relations, analyst relations and social media initiatives.

Technology Infrastructure and Operations

As an enterprise cloud software vendor, we have always deployed our solutions using a SaaS model. Our customers access
our software via the web or mobile devices, rather than by installing software on their premises. Through our multi-tenant platform,
our customers access a single instance of our software with multiple possible configurations enabled by our metadata-driven
framework. The multi-tenant approach provides significant operating leverage and improved efficiency as it helps us to reduce our
fixed cost base and minimize unused capacity on our hardware. In addition, our software architecture gives us an advantage over
vendors of legacy systems, who may be using a less flexible architecture that would require significant time and expense to update.

We host our applications and serve all of our customers from two redundant data centers in separate locations. We rely on
third-party vendors to operate these data centers, which are designed to host mission-critical computer systems and have industry-
standard measures in place to minimize service interruptions. Our technical operations staff manages the technology stacks
supporting the Benefitfocus platform and uses automated monitoring tools throughout our system to detect unusual events or
malfunctions that could interfere with our customers’ or partners’ use of the Benefitfocus platform. We monitor application health by
verifying that all applications, interfaces and supporting middleware are operational. If our monitoring tools detect a problem, they
notify our technical operations staff, who responds immediately to diagnose and resolve the problem. We take the security of our
data and our systems very seriously, and we focus on minimizing the risk of vulnerabilities in our system at every level of software
design and system and network administration.

Compliance and Certifications

We obtain third-party examinations of our controls relating to security and data privacy. Certain examinations are conducted
under Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements, or SSAE, No. 16 (Reporting on Controls at a Service Organization). In
particular, we obtain Service Organization
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Controls, or SOC, reports known as SOC 1 Type Il and SOC 2 Type Il audits that test the design and operating effectiveness of
controls over a period of time. An independent auditor conducts these examinations annually and addresses, among other areas,
our physical and environmental safeguards for production data centers, data availability and procedures covering integrity, change
management, and logical security.

On an annual basis, we complete an internal audit of compliance against the Payment Card Industry Data Security
Standards, or PCI-DSS, applicable to Level 1 service providers. These standards focus on application and network security controls
for companies that transmit and store credit card data on behalf of clients. Benefitfocus meets PCI compliance requirements as a
Level 1 service provider and submits its Report on Compliance and Attestation of Compliance documenting this assessment to the
four major credit card brands annually.

In addition to PCI-DDS, Benefitfocus meets all applicable security requirements required by the National Automated
Clearinghouse Association, or NACHA, for third-party service providers, as well as all requirements for Covered Entities as required
by HIPAA. We validate both NACHA and HIPAA compliance annually through internal audits.

Competition

While we do not believe any single competitor offers similarly expansive software solutions, we face competition from various
sources, many of which have greater resources than us. Competition in our employer segment includes:

* ERP software companies, including Oracle (PeopleSoft), Infor (Lawson) and Workday each offering a cloud-based
benefits administration software solution;

* HR outsourcing companies, including Aon/Hewitt and Towers Watson, both of which have recently launched benefits
exchange solutions;

* payroll service providers, including ADP and Paychex, both of which have expanded their core payroll services to include
some form of cloud-based benefits administration services; and

¢ various niche software vendors.

Competitors in our carrier segment include:
* insurance carriers that have invested in internally developed benefit management solutions;

* member services companies, including those providing web-based subscriber enroliment and claims adjudication
services, such as Trizetto (acquired by Cognizant) and DST Health Solutions; and

e various niche software vendors.

We believe that competition for benefits software and services is based primarily on the following factors:

* capability for customization through configuration, integration, security, scalability, and reliability of applications;
* competitive and understandable pricing;

* breadth and depth of application functionality;

* size of customer base and level of user adoption;

* extensive data exchange network;
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¢ cloud-based delivery model;

¢ dynamic communication capabilities with contextual media, animation, and acknowledgement tools;

* ability to integrate with legacy enterprise infrastructures and third-party applications;

* domain expertise in benefits and healthcare consumerism;

* extensive base of rules and event-driven benefit eligibility and enrollment;

* accessible on any browser or mobile device;

* modern and adaptive technology platform;

¢ access to third-party apps;

 clearly defined implementation timeline;

* customer-branding and styling; and

* ability to innovate and respond to customer and legislative needs rapidly.

We believe that we compete effectively based upon all of these criteria, and that we are likely to continue to retain a high
percentage of our customers. Nonetheless, we believe that the increasing acceptance of automated solutions in the healthcare
marketplace and the adoption of more sophisticated technology and legislative reform will result in increased competition, including
potentially from large software companies with greater resources than ours. Other companies might develop superior or more

economical service offerings that our customers could find more attractive than our offerings. Moreover, the regulatory landscape
might shift in a direction that is more strategically advantageous to competitors.

Research and Development

Our ability to compete depends, in large part, on our continuous commitment to rapidly introduce new applications,
technologies, features, and functionality. We deliver multiple software releases per year, updating the Benefitfocus platform to
leverage advances in cloud computing, mobile applications, and data management. Our research and development team is
responsible for the design and development of our applications. We follow state-of-the-art practices in software development using
modern programming languages, data storage systems, and other tools. We use both commercial and open source products,
following a “best tool for the job” philosophy in product selection. Our software has a multi-tiered architecture that ensures flexibility
to add or modify features quickly in response to changing market dynamics, customer needs, or regulatory requirements.

Our research and development expenses were $41.7 million, $23.5 million and $14.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent, trade secret, copyright, and trademark laws, license agreements, confidentiality
procedures, confidentiality and nondisclosure agreements, and technical measures to protect the intellectual property used in our
business. We generally enter into confidentiality and nondisclosure agreements with our associates, consultants, vendors, and
customers. We also seek to control access to and distribution of our software, documentation, and other proprietary information.

We use numerous trademarks for our products and services, and “Benefitfocus”, “HR InTouch”, “HR InTouch Marketplace”,
“All Your Benefits. One Place.”, and “Shop. Enroll. Manage. Exchange.” are registered marks of Benefitfocus in the United States.
Through claimed common law trademark
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protection, we also protect other Benefitfocus marks which identify our services, such as “All Your Benefits. In Your Pocket.”,
Benefitfocus eEnrollment, Benefitfocus eBilling, Benefitfocus eExchange, and Benefitfocus eSales, and we have reserved
numerous domain names, including “benefitfocus.com”. We also have registered trademarks and pending trademark applications in
foreign jurisdictions such as Australia, Canada, India, Ireland, New Zealand, South Africa, and the United Kingdom.

We have been granted three U.S. patents (utility patents) and have eight U.S. patent applications (all for utility patents)
pending. Our first patent, which protects specified systems and methods for the automatic creation of agent-based systems, was
issued in April 2013 and will not expire until May 2030. Our second patent, which protects specified systems and methods for
secure agent information, was issued in October 2013 and will not expire until November 19, 2030. Our third patent, which protects
registration and execution of highly concurrent processing tasks, was issued in January 2015 and will not expire until February
2032. We also have one Chinese patent and 42 pending patent applications under foreign jurisdictions and treaties, such as
Australia, Canada, China, Hong Kong, India, Japan, Taiwan, the European Patent Convention, and the Patent Cooperation Treaty.

We also rely on certain intellectual property rights that we license from third parties. Although we believe that alternative
technologies are generally available to replace such licenses, these third-party technologies may not continue to be available to us
on commercially reasonable terms.

Although we rely on intellectual property rights, including trade secrets, patents, copyrights, and trademarks, as well as
contractual protections to establish and protect our proprietary rights, we believe that factors such as the technological and creative
skills of our personnel, creation of new modules, features and functionality, and frequent enhancements to our applications are
more essential to establishing and maintaining our technology leadership position.

The steps we have taken to protect our copyrights, trademarks, and other intellectual property may not be adequate, and the
potential exists that third parties could infringe, misappropriate, or misuse our intellectual property. If this were to occur, it could
harm our reputation and adversely affect our competitive position or operations. In addition, laws of other jurisdictions may not
protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights from unauthorized use or disclosure in the same manner as the United
States. The risk of unauthorized use of our proprietary and intellectual property rights may increase as our company expands
outside of the United States.

Government Regulation
Introduction

The employee benefits industry is required to comply with extensive and complex U.S. laws and regulations at the federal
and state levels. Although many regulatory and governmental requirements do not directly apply to our business, our customers are
required to comply with a variety of U.S. laws, and we may be impacted by these laws as a result of our contractual obligations. For
many of these laws, there is little history of regulatory or judicial interpretation upon which to rely.

Requirements of PPACA

Our business could be affected by changes in healthcare spending. In March 2010, the President signed into law PPACA. As
enacted, PPACA will change how healthcare services are covered, delivered and reimbursed through expanded coverage of
uninsured individuals, reduced Medicare program spending and insurance market reforms. By January 2014, PPACA required
states to expand Medicaid coverage significantly and establish health insurance exchanges to facilitate the purchase of health
insurance by individuals and small employers and provided subsidies to states to create non-Medicaid plans for certain low-income
residents.
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Although numerous lawsuits challenged the constitutionality of PPACA, the U.S. Supreme Court on June 28, 2012, upheld
the constitutionality of PPACA except for provisions that would have allowed the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services,
or HHS, to penalize states that did not implement the Medicaid expansion with the loss of existing federal Medicaid funding.
Consequently, a number of states opted out of the Medicaid expansion. Since that time, several states that initially opted out of the
Medicaid expansion changed their minds and expanded Medicaid after all. While many of the provisions of PPACA will not be
directly applicable to us, PPACA, as enacted, might affect the business of many of our customers. Carriers and large employers
might experience changes in the numbers of individuals they insure as a result of Medicaid expansion and the creation of state and
national exchanges, though it is unclear how many states will decline to implement the Medicaid expansion or adopt state-specific
exchanges.

The long-term viability of PPACA is also currently in doubt. The House of Representatives has voted to repeal PPACA
numerous times. Moreover, a lawsuit challenging the legality of the health insurance exchanges will likely be decided by the U.S.
Supreme Court this summer. Should Congress repeal PPACA or the Supreme Court determine that government exchanges are
unlawful, the business of our customers could be substantially affected.

Requirements Regarding the Confidentiality, Privacy and Security of Personal Information

HIPAA and Other Privacy and Security Requirements.  There are numerous U.S. federal and state laws and regulations
related to the privacy and security of personal health information. In particular, regulations promulgated pursuant to the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, establish privacy and security standards that limit the use and
disclosure of individually identifiable health information and require the implementation of administrative, physical and technological
safeguards to ensure the confidentiality, integrity and availability of individually identifiable health information in electronic form.
Health plans, healthcare clearinghouses and most providers are considered by the HIPAA regulations to be “Covered Entities.”
With respect to our operations as a healthcare clearinghouse, we are directly subject to the Privacy Standards and the Security
Standards. In addition, our carrier customers, or payors, are considered to be Covered Entities and are required to enter into written
agreements with us, known as Business Associate Agreements, under which we are considered to be a Business Associate and
that require us to safeguard individually identifiable health information and restrict how we may use and disclose such information.
Effective February 2010, the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, or ARRA, extended the direct application of some
provisions of the Privacy Standards and Security Standards to us when we are functioning as a Business Associate of our Covered
Entity customers. The Privacy Standards extensively regulate the use and disclosure of individually identifiable health information
by Covered Entities and their Business Associates. For example, the Privacy Standards permit Covered Entities and their Business
Associates to use and disclose individually identifiable health information for treatment and to process claims for payment, but other
uses and disclosures, such as marketing communications, require written authorization from the individual or must meet an
exception specified under the Privacy Standards. The Privacy Standards also provide patients with rights related to understanding
and controlling how their health information is used and disclosed. Effective February 2010 or later (in the case of restrictions tied to
the issuance of implementing regulations), ARRA imposed stricter limitations on certain types of uses and disclosures, such as
additional restrictions on marketing communications and the sale of individually identifiable health information. To the extent
permitted by the Privacy Standards, ARRA and our contracts with our customers, we may use and disclose individually identifiable
health information to perform our services and for other limited purposes, such as creating de-identified information. Determining
whether data has been sufficiently de-identified to comply with the Privacy Standards and our contractual obligations may require
complex factual and statistical analyses and may be subject to interpretation. The Security Standards require Covered Entities and
their Business Associates to implement and maintain administrative, physical and technical safeguards to protect the security of
individually identifiable health information that is electronically transmitted or electronically stored.
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If we are unable to properly protect the privacy and security of health information entrusted to us, we could be found to have
breached our contracts with our customers. Further, if we fail to comply with the Privacy Standards and Security Standards while
acting as a Covered Entity or Business Associate, we could face civil and criminal penalties. ARRA significantly increased the
amount of the civil penalties to up to $50,000 per violation for a maximum civil penalty of $1.5 million in a calendar year for
violations of the same requirement. Recently, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office for Civil Rights, which
enforces the Security Standards and Privacy Standards, appears to have increased its enforcement activities. ARRA also
strengthened the enforcement provisions of HIPAA, which may result in further increases in enforcement activity. ARRA also
authorizes state attorneys general to bring civil actions seeking either injunctions or damages in response to violations of HIPAA
privacy and security regulations that threaten the privacy of state residents. We have implemented and maintain policies and
processes to assist us in complying with the Privacy Standards, the Security Standards and our contractual obligations.

Data Protection and Breaches. In recent years, there have been a number of well-publicized data breaches involving the
improper dissemination of personal information of individuals. Many states have responded to these incidents by enacting laws
requiring holders of personal information to maintain safeguards and to take certain actions in response to a data breach, such as
providing prompt notification of the breach to affected individuals. In many cases, these laws are limited to electronic data, but
states are increasingly enacting or considering stricter and broader requirements. Covered Entities must report breaches of
unsecured protected health information to affected individuals without unreasonable delay, but not to exceed 60 days of discovery
of the breach by a Covered Entity or its agents. Natification must also be made to HHS and, in certain circumstances involving large
breaches, to the media. Business Associates must report breaches of unsecured protected health information to Covered Entities
within 60 days of discovery of the breach by the Business Associate or its agents. The Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, has
prosecuted some data breach cases as unfair and deceptive acts or practices under the Federal Trade Commission Act. Further,
by regulation, the FTC requires creditors, which may include some of our customers, to implement identity theft prevention
programs to detect, prevent and mitigate identity theft in connection with customer accounts. Although Congress passed legislation
that restricts the definition of “creditor” and exempts many health providers from complying with this rule, we may be required to
apply additional resources to our existing processes to assist our affected customers in complying with this rule. We have
implemented and maintain physical, technical and administrative safeguards intended to protect all personal data and have
processes in place to assist us in complying with all applicable laws and regulations regarding the protection of this data and
properly responding to any security breaches or incidents.

Other Requirements.  In addition to HIPAA, numerous other U.S. state and federal laws govern the collection,
dissemination, use, access to and confidentiality of individually identifiable health information and healthcare provider information.
Some states also are considering new laws and regulations that further protect the confidentiality, privacy and security of medical
records or other types of medical information. In many cases, these state laws are not preempted by the Privacy Standards and
may be subject to interpretation by various courts and other governmental authorities. Further, Congress and a number of states
have considered or are considering prohibitions or limitations on the disclosure of medical or other information to individuals or
entities located outside of the United States.

HIPAA Administrative Simplification

HIPAA also mandated a package of interlocking administrative simplification rules to establish standards and requirements
for the electronic transmission of certain healthcare claims and payment transactions. These regulations are intended to encourage
electronic commerce in the healthcare industry and apply directly to Covered Entities. Some of our businesses, including our
healthcare clearinghouse operations, are considered Covered Entities under HIPAA and its implementing regulations.
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Transaction Standards. The standard transaction regulations established under HIPAA, or Transaction Standards,
mandate certain format and data content standards for the most common electronic healthcare transactions, using technical
standards promulgated by recognized standards publishing organizations. These transactions include healthcare claims,
enrollment, payment and eligibility. The Transaction Standards are applicable to that portion of our business involving the
processing of healthcare transactions among payors, providers, patients and other healthcare industry constituents. Failure to
comply with the Transaction Standards may subject us to civil and potentially criminal penalties and breach of contract claims. The
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, is responsible for enforcing the Transaction Standards.

Payors who are unable to exchange data in the required standard formats can achieve Transaction Standards compliance by
contracting with a clearinghouse to translate between standard and non-standard formats. As a result, use of a clearinghouse has
allowed numerous payors to establish compliance with the Transaction Standards independently and at different times, reducing
transition costs and risks. In addition, the standardization of formats and data standards envisioned by the Transaction Standards
has only partially occurred. However, PPACA requires HHS to establish operating rules to promote uniformity in the implementation
of each standardized electronic transaction. PPACA sets forth a schedule with staggered deadlines for the development of and
compliance with operating rules for the other standardized electronic transactions, with all operating rules finalized and requiring
compliance by December 31, 2015. On June 30, 2011, HHS released an interim final rule that would require health plans,
healthcare clearinghouses, and certain healthcare providers to implement operating rules for two electronic transactions, relating to
whether a patient is eligible for healthcare coverage and the status of claims submitted to an insurer, by January 1, 2013. Under
PPACA, payors and service contractors of payors, including, in some cases, us, will be required to certify compliance with these
standards to HHS. The compliance date for the certification requirement depends on the type of transaction, with the earliest
certification required by December 31, 2013. We cannot provide assurance regarding how the CMS will enforce the Transaction
Standards. We continue to work with payors, healthcare information system vendors and other healthcare constituents to
implement fully the Transaction Standards.

In January 2009, CMS published a final rule adopting updated standard code sets for diagnoses and procedures known as
the ICD-10 code sets. A separate final rule also published by CMS in January 2009 resulted in changes to the formats to be used
for electronic transactions, known as Version 5010. The use of Version 5010 became mandatory on January 1, 2012, but CMS
delayed enforcement until July 1, 2012. The use of the ICD-10 code sets was originally required by October 1, 2013, but HHS
extended this deadline twice, with the implementation date now set for October 1, 2015. It is not known wither HHS will further the
delay implementation of the ICD-10 code sets. We have been modifying and will continue to modify our systems and processes to
prepare for and implement these changes.

Health Plan and Other Entity Identifiers. HHS has promulgated regulations implementing the establishment of a unique
health plan identifier, or HPID. Similar to a provider’'s national provider identifier, the HPID provides an identification system for
health plans to use for electronic transactions. HHS has also promulgated regulations implementing another entity identifier, or
OEID, that serves as an identifier for entities that are not health plans, health care providers or individuals. These other entities,
which include third-party administrators, transaction vendors, and clearinghouses, are not required to obtain an OEID, but they
could obtain and use one if they needed to be identified in standardized transactions. The impact of the HPID and OEID process on
our business is unclear at this time.
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Financial Services Related Laws and Rules

Financial services and electronic payment processing services are subject to numerous laws, regulations and industry
standards, some of which might impact our operations and subject us, our vendors and our customers to liability as a result of the
payment distribution and processing solutions we offer. Although we do not act as a bank, we offer solutions that involve banks, or
vendors who contract with banks and other regulated providers of financial services. As a result, we might be impacted by banking
and financial services industry laws, regulations and industry standards, such as licensing requirements, solvency standards,
requirements to maintain the privacy and security of nonpublic personal financial information and Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation deposit insurance limits. In addition, our patient billing and payment distribution and processing solutions might be
impacted by payment card association operating rules, certification requirements and rules governing electronic funds transfers. If
we fail to comply with applicable payment processing rules or requirements, we might be subject to fines and changes in
transaction fees and may lose our ability to process credit and debit card transactions or facilitate other types of billing and payment
solutions. Moreover, payment transactions processed using the Automated Clearing House Network, or ACH, are subject to
network operating rules promulgated by the National Automated Clearing House Association and to various federal laws regarding
such operations, including laws pertaining to electronic funds transfers, and these rules and laws might impact our billing and
payment solutions. Further, our solutions might impact the ability of our payor customers to comply with state prompt payment laws.
These laws require payors to pay healthcare claims meeting the statutory or regulatory definition of a “clean claim” to be paid within
a specified time frame.

Banking Regulation

The Goldman Sachs Group, affiliates of which owned approximately 33.3% of the voting and economic interest in our
business as of December 31, 2014, is regulated as a bank holding company and a financial holding company under the Bank
Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended, or the BHC Act. Due to the size of its voting and economic interest, we are deemed to
be controlled by The Goldman Sachs Group and are therefore considered to be a “subsidiary” of The Goldman Sachs Group under
the BHC Act. As a result, although we do not engage in banking operations, we are subject to regulation, supervision, examination
and potential enforcement action by the Federal Reserve and to most banking laws, regulations and orders that apply to The
Goldman Sachs Group. In addition, certain restrictions applicable to Goldman Sachs under the BHC Act are expected to apply to
the Company as well, and we may be subject to regulatory oversight and examination because we are a technology service
provider to regulated financial institutions. The bank regulatory framework is intended primarily to protect the safety and soundness
of depository institutions, the federal deposit insurance system, and depositors rather than our stockholders. Because of The
Goldman Sachs Group’s status as a bank holding company, we have agreed to certain covenants for the benefit of The Goldman
Sachs Group that are intended to facilitate its compliance with the BHC Act.

In addition, the Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, or Dodd-Frank Act, was signed into law by President
Obama on July 21, 2010, including Title VI known as the “Volcker Rule”. US financial regulators approved final rules to implement
the Volcker Rule in December 2013. The Volcker Rule, in relevant part, restricts banking entities from proprietary trading (subject to
certain exemptions) and from acquiring or retaining any equity, partnership or other interests in, or sponsoring, a private equity
fund, subject to satisfying certain conditions, and from engaging in certain transactions with funds.

We will continue to be deemed to be controlled by The Goldman Sachs Group for purposes of the BHC Act and, therefore,
we will continue to be subject to regulation by the Federal Reserve and to the BHC Act, as well as certain other banking laws,
regulations and orders that apply to The Goldman Sachs Group. We will remain subject to this regulatory regime until The Goldman
Sachs Group is no
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longer deemed to control us for bank regulatory purposes, which we do not generally have the ability to control and which will not
occur until The Goldman Sachs Group has significantly reduced its voting and economic interest in us. We cannot predict the
ownership level at which the Federal Reserve would consider us no longer controlled by The Goldman Sachs Group, but it could be
less than 10%.

The Goldman Sachs Group and its subsidiaries, including Benefitfocus, generally may conduct only activities that are
authorized for a bank holding company or a “financial holding company” under the BHC Act. The scope of services we may provide
to our customers is limited under the BHC Act to those which are (i) financial in nature or incidental to financial activities (including
data processing services such as those that we provide with our software solutions) or (ii) complementary to a financial activity and
which do not pose a substantial risk to the safety and soundness of depository institutions or the financial system generally. We
believe that our current and anticipated business activities are permitted under the BHC Act.

Any failure of The Goldman Sachs Group to maintain its status as a financial holding company could result in substantial
limitations on our activities and our growth. In particular, our permissible activities could be further restricted to only those that
constitute banking or activities closely related to banking. The Goldman Sachs Group’s loss of its financial holding company status
could be caused by several factors, including any failure by The Goldman Sachs Group’s bank subsidiaries to remain sufficiently
capitalized, by any examination downgrade of one of The Goldman Sachs Group’s bank subsidiaries, or by any failure of one of
The Goldman Sachs Group’s bank subsidiaries to maintain a satisfactory rating under the Community Reinvestment Act. In
addition, the Dodd-Frank Act broadened the requirements for maintaining financial holding company status by also requiring the
holding company to remain “well capitalized” and “well managed”. We have no ability to prevent such occurrences from happening.

The Federal Reserve has broad enforcement authority over us, including the power to prohibit us from conducting any
activity that, in the Federal Reserve’s opinion, is unauthorized or constitutes an unsafe or unsound practice in conducting our
business. The Federal Reserve may approve, deny or refuse to act upon applications or notices for The Goldman Sachs Group and
its subsidiaries to conduct new activities, acquire or divest businesses or assets, or reconfigure existing operations. The Federal
Reserve may also impose substantial fines and other penalties for violations of applicable banking laws, regulations and orders.
The Dodd-Frank Act strengthened the Federal Reserve’s supervisory and enforcement authority over a bank holding company’s
non-bank affiliates. We do not believe that any of our current or anticipated business activities will require Federal Reserve
approval.

There are limits on the ability of The Goldman Sachs Group’s bank subsidiaries to extend credit to or conduct other
transactions with us. In general, any loans to us from a The Goldman Sachs Group bank subsidiary must be on market terms and
secured by designated amounts of specified collateral and are limited to 10% of the lending bank’s capital stock and surplus.
Statutory changes made by the Dodd-Frank Act will place certain additional restrictions on transactions between us and The
Goldman Sachs Group in the future, which we do not expect to be material to us.

Geographic Areas

We operate solely in the United States. As such, we held substantially all our assets and generated all our revenue in the
United States during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in June 2000 as Benefitfocus.com, Inc., a South Carolina corporation. In September 2013, we
reincorporated in Delaware as Benefitfocus, Inc. Our principal executive offices
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are located at 100 Benefitfocus Way, Charleston, South Carolina 29492, and our phone number is (843) 849-7476. Our website
address is www.benefitfocus.com. The information on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not part of this report. We
currently employ approximately 1,312 associates.

Executive Officers
The following table sets forth information concerning our executive officers as of December 31, 2014:

Name Age Position

Shawn A. Jenkins 47 President and Chief Executive Officer, Director
Mason R. Holland, Jr. 50 Executive Chairman, Director

Milton A. Alpern 63  Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
Raymond A. August 53  Chief Operating Officer

Andrew L. Howell 48 Chief Commercial Officer

Donald R. Taylor, Jr. 54  Chief Technology Officer

Shawn A. Jenkins—President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director

Shawn Jenkins, one of our founders, has been our President and Chief Executive Officer and a member of our board of
directors since our founding in June 2000. Prior to founding Benefitfocus, from 1995 to 2000, he served as Vice President with
American Pensions, Inc., leading sales, operations, and technology. From 1994 to 1995, Mr. Jenkins was a program analyst with
Rockwell Automation, Inc. Mr. Jenkins serves on the Advisory Board for the School of Computing at Clemson University, Medical
University of South Carolina Foundation Board of Directors, College of Charleston Board of Governors, and Charleston Southern
University Board of Visitors. He previously served as Chairman of the Growing Forward Campaign for the Lowcountry Food Bank.
Mr. Jenkins received an M.B.A. from Charleston Southern University and a B.A. from Geneva College in Beaver Falls,
Pennsylvania.

Mason R. Holland, Jr.—Executive Chairman of the Board

Mason Holland, one of our founders, has been our Executive Chairman and a member of our board of directors since our
founding in June 2000. Mr. Holland is responsible for the coordination of strategic partnerships with industry leaders and client
relations and serves on the nominating and corporate governance committee of our board. Mr. Holland founded American
Pensions, Inc. in 1988, serving as its Chairman and President from 1988 to 2003. Mr. Holland's other ventures have included
establishing Holland Properties, LLC, a real estate development firm, in 1989, and acquiring Eclipse Aerospace, Inc., a jet aircraft
manufacturer, in May 2009, for which he serves as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Holland attended Old Dominion
University in Norfolk, Virginia.

Milton A. Alpern—Chief Financial Officer

Milt Alpern has served as our Chief Financial Officer since January 2012. Prior to joining Benefitfocus, from April 2008 to
December 2011, he was the Chief Financial Officer for ITA Software, Inc., a SaaS provider of technology solutions to the travel
industry, which was acquired by Google in 2011, where he was responsible for leading all financial and administrative functions for
the company. Prior to ITA Software, from 2003 to 2008, Mr. Alpern served as the Chief Financial Officer for Applix, Inc., a publicly
held international provider of business performance management and business intelligence software where he directed all finance,
human resources, legal activities, and financial community relationships. From 1998 to 2002, Mr. Alpern served as the Chief
Financial Officer at Eprise Corporation, a publicly held provider of business website content management software and solutions,
where he was a member of the management team leading the company’s successful initial public offering. Mr. Alpern holds a B.S.
in accounting from Montclair State University.
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Raymond A. August—Chief Operating Officer

Raymond August was appointed as our Chief Operating Officer in August of 2014. Prior to joining Benefitfocus, Mr. August
served as the General Manager of the Computer Sciences Corp., or CSC, Financial Services Group since October 2012. Prior to
that, from March 2008 to September 2012, he served as CSC'’s President of the Financial Services Group. Since July 2013 he has
served as a member of the Executive Advisory council for Arthur Ventures Private Equity Fund. Mr. August earned a B.S. in
Accounting and Management Science from the University of South Carolina and is a Certified Public Accountant.

Andrew L. Howell—Chief Commercial Officer

Andy Howell has served as our Chief Commercial Officer since August of 2014. During his tenure at Benefitfocus, he
previously served as our Chief Operating Officer from June 2010 to August 2014, Senior Vice President and General Manager of
the insurance carrier business unit from June 2009 to June 2010, as well as Senior Vice President and General Counsel from April
2007 to June 2009. Prior to joining Benefitfocus, Mr. Howell served from July 2002 to March 2007 as Vice President and General
Counsel at Blackbaud, Inc., a publicly held software company. Prior to joining Blackbaud, he was a practicing attorney with
Sutherland Asbill & Brennan LLP, where he focused on corporate and technology law. Mr. Howell received a B.A. in economics
from Washington & Lee University and a J.D. from Mercer University.

Donald R. Taylor, Jr.—Chief Technology Officer

Don Taylor has served as our Chief Technology Officer since February 2008. As a software industry veteran of more than 25
years, Mr. Taylor brings expertise from his experience developing and providing advanced software solutions to the healthcare,
banking, and logistics industries. Prior to joining Benefitfocus, from 2001 to 2006, Mr. Taylor was the founder and Chief Technology
Officer of Boxcar Central, Inc., which developed a multi-tenant suite of SaaS applications for the third-party logistics market.

Mr. Taylor received an A.S. from Charleston Southern University.

As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately 1,314 full-time associates, or employees, including approximately 576
engaged in technology development and deployment. None of our associates is represented by a labor union and we consider our
current relations with our associates to be good.
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Item 1A. RISK FACTORS.

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties
described below, together with all of the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the consolidated financial
statements and the related notes, before deciding to invest in shares of our common stock. If any of the following risks were to
materialize, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and future growth prospects could be materially and adversely
affected. In that event, the market price of our common stock could decline and you could lose part or all of your investment in our
common stock.

Risks Related to Our Business
We have had a history of losses, and we might notb e able to achieve or sustain profitability.

We experienced net losses of $63.2 million, $30.4 million, and $14.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013,
and 2012, respectively. We cannot predict if we will achieve sustained profitability in the near future or at all. We expect to make
significant future expenditures to develop and expand our business. In addition, as a public company, we incur significant legal,
accounting, and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. These increased expenditures will make it harder for
us to achieve and maintain future profitability. Our recent growth in revenue and number of customers might not be sustainable,
and we might not achieve sufficient revenue to achieve or maintain profitability. We could incur significant losses in the future for a
number of reasons, including the other risks described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and we may encounter unforeseen
expenses, difficulties, complications and delays and other unknown events. Accordingly, we might not be able to achieve or
maintain profitability and we may incur significant losses for the foreseeable future.

Our quarterly operating results have fluctuated in the past and might continue to fluctuate, causing t he value of our
common stock to decline substantially.

Our quarterly operating results might fluctuate due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control. As a
result, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis might not be meaningful. You should not rely on our past results
as indicative of our future performance. Moreover, our stock price might be based on expectations of future performance that are
unrealistic or that we might not meet and, if our revenue or operating results fall below the expectations of investors or securities
analysts, the price of our common stock could decline substantially. For example, on March 7, 2014, the first trading day after we
publically announced December 31, 2013 results and 2014 guidance, our stock price dropped almost $5.00 per share, or 7.3%, to
$63.45.

Our operating results have varied in the past. In addition to other risk factors listed in this section, some of the important
factors that may cause fluctuations in our quarterly operating results include:
* the extent to which our products and services achieve or maintain market acceptance;

* our ability to introduce new products and services and enhancements to our existing products and services on a timely
basis;

* new competitors and the introduction of enhanced products and services from competitors;
* the financial condition of our current and potential customers;

* changes in customer budgets and procurement policies;

¢ the amount and timing of our investment in research and development activities;

* technical difficulties with our products or interruptions in our services;
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e our ability to hire and retain qualified personnel, including the rate of expansion of our sales force;
¢ changes in the regulatory environment related to benefits and healthcare;

* regulatory compliance costs;

* the timing, size, and integration success of potential future acquisitions; and

* unforeseen legal expenses, including litigation and settlement costs.

In addition, a significant portion of our operating expense is relatively fixed in nature, and planned expenditures are based in
part on expectations regarding future revenue. Accordingly, unexpected revenue shortfalls might decrease our gross margins and
could cause significant changes in our operating results from quarter to quarter. If this occurs, the trading price of our common
stock could fall substantially, either suddenly or over time.

As a result of our variable sales and implementatio  n cycles, we might not be able to recognize revenue to offset
expenditures, which could result in fluctuations in our quarterly results of operations or otherwise h arm our future
operating results.

The sales cycle for our products and services can be variable, averaging four months in our employer market segment and
15 months in our carrier market segment, each from initial contact to contract execution. During the sales cycle, we expend time
and resources, and we do not recognize any revenue to offset such expenditures.

After a customer contract is signed, we provide an implementation process for the customer during which we establish and
test appropriate integrations, connections and registrations, load data into our system, and train customer personnel. Our
implementation cycle is also variable, typically ranging from four to five months for employer implementations and from eight to 10
months for complex carrier implementations, each from contract execution to completion of implementation. Some of our new
customer projects are complex and require a lengthy set-up period and significant implementation work. During the implementation
cycle, we expend substantial time, effort, and financial resources implementing our products and services, but accounting principles
do not allow us to recognize the resulting revenue until implementation is complete and the services are available for use, at which
time we begin recognition of implementation revenue over the longer of the life of the contract or the expected life of the customer
relationship. Each customer’s situation is different, and unanticipated difficulties and delays might arise as a result of failure by us or
by the customer to complete our respective responsibilities. If implementation periods are extended, revenue recognition could be
delayed and our financial condition might be adversely affected. In addition, cancellation of any implementation after it has begun
might result in lost time, effort, and expenses invested in the cancelled implementation process and lost opportunity for
implementing paying clients in that same period of time.

These factors might contribute to continuing losses and substantial fluctuations in our quarterly operating results. As a result,
in future quarters, our operating results could fall below the expectations of securities analysts or investors, in which event our stock
price would likely decline.

Because we recognize revenue and expense relatingt o monthly subscriptions and professional services o ver varying
periods, downturns or upturns in sales are not imme diately reflected in full in our operating results.

As a SaaS company, we recognize our subscription revenue monthly for the term of our contracts and recognize the majority
of our professional services revenue ratably over the longer of the contract term or the estimated expected life of the customer
relationship. As a result, a portion of the revenue
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we report each quarter is the recognition of deferred revenue from contracts we entered into during previous quarters.
Consequently, a shortfall in demand for our software solutions and professional services or a decline in new or renewed contracts
in any one quarter might not significantly reduce our revenue for that quarter, but could negatively affect our revenue in future
quarters. Accordingly, the effect of significant downturns in new or renewed sales of our products and services is not reflected in full
in our results of operations until future periods. Our revenue recognition model also makes it difficult for us to rapidly increase our
revenue through additional sales in any period, because revenue from new customers must be recognized over the applicable term
of the contracts or the estimated expected life of the customer relationship period. In addition, we recognize professional services
expenses as incurred, which could cause professional services gross margin to be negative.

We operate in a highly competitive industry, and if we are not able to compete effectively, our busine  ss and operating
results will be harmed.

The benefits management software market is highly competitive and is likely to attract increased competition, which could
make it hard for us to succeed. Small, specialized providers continue to become more sophisticated and effective. In addition, large,
well-financed, and technologically sophisticated software companies might focus more on our market. The size and financial
strength of these entities is increasing as a result of continued consolidation in both the IT and healthcare industries. We expect
large integrated software companies to become more active in our market, both through acquisitions and internal investment. As
costs fall and technology improves, increased market saturation might change the competitive landscape in favor of our
competitors.

Some of our current large competitors have greater name recognition, longer operating histories, and significantly greater
resources than we do. As a result, our competitors might be able to respond more quickly and effectively than we can to new or
changing opportunities, technologies, standards, or customer requirements. In addition, current and potential competitors have
established, and might in the future establish, cooperative relationships with vendors of complementary products, technologies, or
services to increase the availability of their products in the marketplace. Accordingly, new competitors or alliances might emerge
that have greater market share, a larger customer base, more widely adopted proprietary technologies, greater marketing expertise,
greater financial resources, and larger sales forces than we have, which could put us at a competitive disadvantage. Further, in light
of these advantages, even if our products and services are more effective than those of our competitors, current or potential
customers might accept competitive offerings in lieu of purchasing our offerings. Increased competition is likely to result in pricing
pressures, which could negatively impact our sales, profitability, or market share. In addition to new niche vendors, who offer stand-
alone products and services, we face competition from existing enterprise vendors, including those currently focused on software
solutions that have information systems in place with potential customers in our target market. These existing enterprise vendors
might promise products or services that offer ease of integration with existing systems and which leverage existing vendor
relationships. In addition, large insurance carriers often have internal technology staffs and proprietary software for benefits
management, making them less likely to buy our solutions.

The market for our products and services is immatur e and volatile, and if it does not develop or if it develops more slowly
than we expect, the growth of our business will be harmed.

The cloud-based benefits management software market is relatively new and unproven, and it is uncertain whether it will
achieve and sustain high levels of demand and market acceptance. Our success will depend to a substantial extent on the
willingness of employers, carriers, and consumers to increase their use of benefits management software. Many employers and
carriers have invested substantial personnel and financial resources to integrate internally developed solutions or traditional
enterprise software into their businesses for benefits management, and therefore might be reluctant or
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unwilling to migrate to our cloud-based solutions. Furthermore, some businesses might be reluctant to use cloud-based solutions
because they have concerns about the security of their data and the reliability of the technology delivery model associated with
these solutions. If employers, carriers and consumers do not perceive the benefits of our solutions, then our market might not
develop at all, or it might develop more slowly than we expect, either of which could significantly adversely affect our operating
results. In addition, we have limited insight into trends that might develop and affect our business. We might make errors in
predicting and reacting to relevant business trends, which could harm our business. If any of these risks occur, it could materially
adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

The SaasS pricing model is evolving and our failure to manage its evolution and demand could leadtolo ~ wer than expected
revenue and profit.

We derive most of our revenue growth from subscription offerings and, specifically, SaaS offerings. This business model
depends heavily on achieving economies of scale because the initial upfront investment is costly and the associated revenue is
recognized on a ratable basis. If we fail to achieve appropriate economies of scale or if we fail to manage or anticipate the evolution
and demand of the SaaS pricing model, then our business and operating results could be adversely affected.

If we do not continue to innovate and provide produ cts and services that are useful to consumers, empl oyers, insurance
carriers, and brokers and provide high quality supp ort services, we might not remain competitive, and our revenue and
operating results could suffer.

Our success depends in part on providing products and services that consumers, employers, insurance carriers, and brokers
will use to manage benefits. We must continue to invest significant resources in research and development in order to enhance our
existing products and services and introduce new high quality products and services that customers will want. If we are unable to
predict user preferences or industry changes, or if we are unable to modify our products and services on a timely basis, we might
lose customers. Our operating results would also suffer if our innovations are not responsive to the needs of our customers, are not
appropriately timed with market opportunity, or are not effectively brought to market. As technology continues to develop, our
competitors might be able to offer results that are, or that are perceived to be, substantially similar to or better than those generated
by us. This would force us to compete on additional product and service attributes and to expend significant resources in order to
remain competitive.

In addition, we may experience difficulties with software development, industry standards, design, or marketing that could
delay or prevent our development, introduction, or implementation of new solutions and enhancements. The introduction of new
solutions by competitors, the emergence of new industry standards, or the development of entirely new technologies to replace
existing offerings could render our existing or future solutions obsolete.

Our success also depends on providing high quality support services to resolve any issues related to our products and
services. High quality education and customer support is important for the successful marketing and sale of our products and
services and for the renewal of existing customers. If we do not help our customers quickly resolve issues and provide effective
ongoing support, our ability to sell additional products and services to existing customers would suffer and our reputation with
existing or potential customers would be harmed.

If we are unable to retain our existing customers, our revenue and results of operations would be adve rsely affected.

We sell our products and services pursuant to agreements that are generally one year for employers and three to five years
for carriers. While our employer contracts generally automatically
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renew on an annual basis, our carrier customers have no obligation to renew their contracts after their contract period expires, and
these contracts may not be renewed on the same or on more profitable terms if at all. Additionally, some of our carrier customers
are able to terminate their respective contracts without cause or for convenience, although generally our carrier contracts are only
cancellable by the carrier in an instance of our uncured breach. As a result, our ability to grow depends in part on the continuance
and renewal of our carrier contracts. We may not be able to accurately predict future trends in customer renewals, and our
customers’ renewal rates may decline or fluctuate because of several factors, including their level of satisfaction or dissatisfaction
with our services, the cost of our services, the cost of services offered by our competitors, or reductions in our customers’ spending
levels. If our carrier customers terminate or do not renew their contracts for our services, renew on less favorable terms, or do not
purchase additional functionality or products, our revenue may grow more slowly than expected or decline, and our profitability and
gross margins may be harmed.

A significant amount of our revenue is derived from our largest customers, and any reduction in revenu e from any of
these customers would reduce our revenue and netin ~ come.

Our ten largest customers by revenue in the past three years accounted for approximately 40.4%, 47.4% and 58.6% of our
consolidated revenue in each of 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Our largest customer by revenue in the past three years
accounted for approximately 9.4%, 9.5% and 10.5% of our revenue in each of 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. If any of our
large customers or strategic partners decides not to renew its contracts with us, or to renew on less favorable terms, our business,
revenues, reputation, and our ability to obtain new customers could be materially and adversely affected.

If the number of individuals covered by our employe r and carrier customers decreases or the number of products or
services to which our employer and carrier customer s subscribe decreases, our revenue will decrease.

Under most of our customer contracts, we base our fees on the number of individuals to whom our customers provide
benefits and the number of products or services subscribed to by our customers. Many factors may lead to a decrease in the
number of individuals covered by our customers and the number of products or services subscribed to by our customers, including:

 failure of our customers to adopt or maintain effective business practices;
* changes in the nature or operations of our customers;

e government regulations; and

* increased competition or other changes in the benefits marketplace.

If the number of individuals covered by our customers or the number of products or services subscribed to by our customers
decreases for any reason, our revenue will likely decrease.

Failure to manage our rapid growth effectively coul d increase our expenses, decrease our revenue, and prevent us from
implementing our business strategy.

We have been experiencing a period of rapid growth, which puts strain on our business. To manage this and our anticipated
future growth effectively, we must continue to maintain and enhance our IT infrastructure, financial and accounting systems, and
controls. We also must attract, train, and retain a significant number of qualified sales and marketing personnel, customer support
personnel, professional services personnel, software engineers, technical personnel, and management personnel. Failure to
effectively manage our rapid growth could lead us to over-invest or under-invest in development and operations, result in
weaknesses in our infrastructure, systems, or controls, give rise to operational mistakes, losses, loss of productivity or business
opportunities, and result in loss of
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employees and reduced productivity of remaining employees. Our growth could require significant capital expenditures and might
divert financial resources from other projects such as the development of new products and services. If our management is unable
to effectively manage our growth, our expenses might increase more than expected, our revenue could decline or might grow more
slowly than expected, and we might be unable to implement our business strategy. The quality of our products and services might
suffer, which could negatively affect our reputation and harm our ability to retain and attract customers.

Economic uncertainties or downturns in the general economy or the industries in which our customers op erate could
disproportionately affect the demand for our soluti ons and negatively impact our results of operations

General worldwide economic conditions have experienced a significant downturn, and market volatility and uncertainty
remain widespread, making it extremely difficult for our customers and us to accurately forecast and plan future business activities.
In addition, these conditions could cause our customers or prospective customers to decrease headcount, benefits, or HR budgets,
which could decrease corporate spending on our products and services, resulting in delayed and lengthened sales cycles, a
decrease in new customer acquisition, and/or loss of customers. Furthermore, during challenging economic times, our customers
may have difficulty gaining timely access to sufficient credit or obtaining credit on reasonable terms, which could impair their ability
to make timely payments to us and adversely affect our revenue. If that were to occur, our financial results could be harmed.
Further, challenging economic conditions might impair the ability of our customers to pay for the products and services they already
have purchased from us and, as a result, our write-offs of accounts receivable could increase. We cannot predict the timing,
strength, or duration of any economic slowdown or recovery. If the condition of the general economy or markets in which we
operate worsens, our business could be harmed.

We depend on our senior management team, and the lo  ss of one or more key associates or an inability to attract and
retain highly skilled associates could adversely af fect our business.

Our success depends largely upon the continued services of our key executive officers. We also rely on our leadership team
in the areas of research and development, marketing, services, and general and administrative functions, and on mission-critical
individual contributors in research and development. From time to time, there may be changes in our executive management team
resulting from the hiring or departure of executives, which could disrupt our business. The loss of one or more of our executive
officers or key associates could have a serious adverse effect on our business.

To continue to execute our growth strategy, we also must attract and retain highly skilled personnel. Competition is intense
for engineers with high levels of experience in designing and developing software and Internet-related services. We might not be
successful in maintaining our unique culture and continuing to attract and retain qualified personnel. We have from time to time in
the past experienced, and we expect to continue to experience in the future, difficulty in hiring and retaining highly skilled personnel
with appropriate qualifications. The pool of qualified personnel with SaaS experience and/or experience working with the benefits
market is limited overall and specifically in Charleston, South Carolina, where our principal office is located. In addition, many of the
companies with which we compete for experienced personnel have greater resources than we have and are located in geographic
areas, like Silicon Valley, that may attract more qualified technology workers.

In addition, in making employment decisions, particularly in the Internet and high-technology industries, job candidates often
consider the value of the stock options they are to receive in connection with their employment. Volatility in the price of our stock
might, therefore, adversely affect our ability to attract or retain highly skilled personnel. Furthermore, the requirement to expense
stock
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options might discourage us from granting the size or type of stock option awards that job candidates require to join our company. If
we fail to attract new personnel or fail to retain and motivate our current personnel, our business and future growth prospects could
be severely harmed.

If we fail to maintain awareness of our brand cost-  effectively, our business might suffer.

We believe that maintaining awareness of our brand in a cost-effective manner is critical to continuing the widespread
acceptance of our existing solutions and is an important element in attracting new customers. Furthermore, we believe that the
importance of brand recognition will increase as competition in our market increases. Successful promotion of our brand will
depend largely on the effectiveness of our marketing efforts and on our ability to provide reliable and useful services at competitive
prices. Our efforts to build and maintain our brand nationally have involved significant expenses. Brand promotion activities may not
yield increased revenue, and even if they do, any increased revenue may not offset the expenses we incur in maintaining our
brand. If we fail to successfully maintain our brand, or incur substantial expenses in an unsuccessful attempt to maintain our brand,
we may fail to attract enough new customers or retain our existing customers to the extent necessary to realize a sufficient return
on our brand-building efforts, and our business could suffer.

Our growth depends in part on the success of our st rategic relationships with third parties.

In order to grow our business, we anticipate that we will continue to depend on our relationships with third parties, including
Mercer LLC, or Mercer, and its affiliates and others such as technology and content providers, and third party system integrators.
Identifying partners, and negotiating and documenting relationships with them, requires significant time and resources. Our recently
expanded relationship with and sale of stock to Mercer increases our reliance on it and related risks, including Mercer's competitors
being less likely to do business with us. Our competitors might be effective in providing incentives to third parties to favor their
products or services or to prevent or reduce subscriptions to our products and services. In addition, acquisitions of our partners by
our competitors could result in a decrease in the number of our current and potential customers, as our partners may no longer
facilitate the adoption of our applications by potential customers. If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our
relationships with third parties, our ability to compete in the marketplace or to grow our revenue could be impaired and our
operating results may suffer. Even if we are successful, we cannot assure you that these relationships will result in increased
customer use of our applications or increased revenue.

If we are required to collect sales and use taxes i  n additional jurisdictions, we might be subject to liability for past sales
and our future sales may decrease.

We might lose sales or incur significant expenses if states successfully impose broader guidelines on state sales and use
taxes. A successful assertion by one or more states requiring us to collect sales or other taxes on the licensing of our software or
sale of our services could result in substantial tax liabilities for past transactions and otherwise harm our business. For example, in
the quarter ended September 30, 2014, New York gave us notice it is auditing us, and as a result we increased our sales tax
reserve by $0.3 million. Each state has different rules and regulations governing sales and use taxes, and these rules and
regulations are subject to varying interpretations that change over time. We review these rules and regulations periodically and,
when we believe we are subject to sales and use taxes in a particular state, voluntarily engage state tax authorities in order to
determine how to comply with their rules and regulations. We cannot assure you that we will not be subject to sales and use taxes
or related penalties for past sales in states where we currently believe no such taxes are required.

Vendors of services, like us, are typically held responsible by taxing authorities for the collection and payment of any
applicable sales and similar taxes. If one or more taxing authorities determines that taxes should have, but have not, been paid with
respect to our services, we might be liable for past
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taxes in addition to taxes going forward. Liability for past taxes might also include substantial interest and penalty charges. Our
customer contracts typically provide that our customers must pay all applicable sales and similar taxes. Nevertheless, our
customers might be reluctant to pay back taxes and might refuse responsibility for interest or penalties associated with those taxes.
If we are required to collect and pay back taxes and the associated interest and penalties, and if our clients fail or refuse to
reimburse us for all or a portion of these amounts, we will incur unplanned expenses that may be substantial. Moreover, imposition
of such taxes on us going forward will effectively increase the cost of our software and services to our customers and might
adversely affect our ability to retain existing customers or to gain new customers in the areas in which such taxes are imposed.

We might not be able to utilize a significant porti on of our net operating loss or other tax credit ca rryforwards, which
could adversely affect our profitability.

As of December 31, 2014, we had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards due to prior period losses, which if not
utilized will begin to expire in 2022 for federal and state purposes. We also have South Carolina jobs tax credit and headquarters
tax credit carryforwards, which if not utilized will begin to expire in 2020. These tax credit carryforwards could expire unused and be
unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities, which could adversely affect our profitability.

In addition, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, our ability to utilize net
operating loss carryforwards or other tax attributes in any taxable year may be limited if we experience an “ownership change”. A
Section 382 “ownership change” generally occurs if one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders who own at least 5% of our
stock increase their ownership by more than 50 percentage points over their lowest ownership percentage within a rolling three-
year period. Similar rules might apply under state tax laws. Future issuances of our stock could cause an “ownership change”. It is
possible that an ownership change, or any future ownership change, could have a material effect on the use of our net operating
loss carryforwards or other tax attributes, which could adversely affect our profitability.

We might be unable to adequately protect, and we mi  ght incur significant costs in enforcing, our intel lectual property and
other proprietary rights.

Our success depends in part on our ability to enforce our intellectual property and other proprietary rights. We rely on a
combination of trademark, trade secret, copyright, patent, and unfair competition laws, as well as license and access agreements
and other contractual provisions, to protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights. In addition, we attempt to protect
our intellectual property and proprietary information by requiring employees and consultants to enter into confidentiality,
noncompetition, and assignment of inventions agreements. Our attempts to protect our intellectual property might be challenged by
others or invalidated through administrative process or litigation. While we have three U.S. and one Chinese patent granted and a
number of applications pending, we might not be able to obtain meaningful patent protection for our software. In addition, if any
patents are issued in the future, they might not provide us with any competitive advantages, or might be successfully challenged by
third parties. Agreement terms that address non-competition are difficult to enforce in many jurisdictions and might not be
enforceable in certain cases. To the extent that our intellectual property and other proprietary rights are not adequately protected,
third parties might gain access to our proprietary information, develop and market products or services similar to ours, or use
trademarks similar to ours, each of which could materially harm our business. Existing U.S. federal and state intellectual property
laws offer only limited protection. Moreover, the laws of other countries in which we might in the future conduct operations or
contract for services might afford little or no effective protection of our intellectual property. The failure to adequately protect our
intellectual property and other proprietary rights could materially harm our business.
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In addition, if we resort to legal proceedings to enforce our intellectual property rights or to determine the validity and scope
of the intellectual property or other proprietary rights of others, the proceedings could be burdensome and expensive, even if we
were to prevail. Any litigation that is necessary in the future could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could
have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results or financial condition.

We might be sued by third parties for alleged infri ngement of their proprietary rights.

The software and Internet industries are characterized by the existence of a large number of patents, trademarks, and
copyrights and by frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights. We have
received in the past, and might receive in the future, communications from third parties claiming that we have infringed the
intellectual property rights of others. Our technologies might not be able to withstand any third-party claims or rights against their
use. Any intellectual property claims, with or without merit, could be time-consuming and expensive to resolve, divert management
attention from executing our business plan, and require us to pay monetary damages or enter into royalty or licensing agreements.
In addition, many of our contracts contain warranties with respect to intellectual property rights, and most require us to indemnify
our clients for third-party intellectual property infringement claims, which would increase the cost to us of an adverse ruling on such
a claim.

Moreover, any settlement or adverse judgment resulting from such a claim could require us to pay substantial amounts of
money or obtain a license to continue to use the software or information that is the subject of the claim, or otherwise restrict or
prohibit our use of it. We might not be able to obtain a license on commercially reasonable terms, if at all, from third parties
asserting an infringement claim; we might not be able to develop alternative technology on a timely basis, if at all; and we might not
be able to obtain a license to use a suitable alternative technology to permit us to continue offering, and our clients to continue
using, our affected services. Accordingly, an adverse determination could prevent us from offering our services to others.

Failure to adequately expand our direct sales force will impede our growth.

We believe that our future growth will depend on the continued development of our direct sales force and its ability to obtain
new customers and to manage our existing customer base. ldentifying and recruiting qualified personnel and training them in the
use of our software requires significant time, expense, and attention. It can take six months or longer before a new sales
representative is fully trained and productive. Our business may be adversely affected if our efforts to expand and train our direct
sales force do not generate a corresponding increase in revenues. In particular, if we are unable to hire and develop sufficient
numbers of productive direct sales personnel or if new direct sales personnel are unable to achieve desired productivity levels in a
reasonable period of time, sales of our products and services will suffer and our growth will be impeded.

We might require additional capital to support busi ness growth, and this capital might not be availabl e.

We intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and might require additional funds to respond to
business challenges or opportunities, including the need to develop new products and services or enhance our existing services,
enhance our operating infrastructure, and acquire complementary businesses and technologies. Accordingly, we might need to
engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. If we raise additional funds through further issuances of equity or
convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities we issue could
have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of our common stock. Any debt financing secured by us in the
future could involve restrictive
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covenants relating to our capital-raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which might make it more difficult for
us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. In addition, we might not be
able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to us, if at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on
terms satisfactory to us when we require it, our ability to continue to support our business growth and to respond to business
challenges could be significantly limited.

Any future litigation against us could be costly an d time-consuming to defend.

We may become subject, from time to time, to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business
such as claims brought by our clients in connection with commercial disputes or employment claims made by our current or former
associates. Litigation might result in substantial costs and may divert management’s attention and resources, which might seriously
harm our business, overall financial condition, and operating results. Insurance might not cover such claims, might not provide
sufficient payments to cover all the costs to resolve one or more such claims, and might not continue to be available on terms
acceptable to us. A claim brought against us that is uninsured or underinsured could result in unanticipated costs, thereby reducing
our operating results and leading analysts or potential investors to reduce their expectations of our performance, which could
reduce the trading price of our stock.

If we acquire companies or technologies in the futu re, they could prove difficult to integrate, disrup t our business, dilute
stockholder value, and adversely affect our operati ng results and the value of our common stock.

As part of our business strategy, we might acquire, enter into joint ventures with, or make investments in complementary
companies, services, and technologies in the future. For example, in 2010, we acquired 100% of the net assets of Beninform
Holdings, Inc., including its wholly owned subsidiary Benefit Informatics, Inc., and the intellectual property assets of BeliefNetworks,
Inc. We spent considerable time, effort, and money pursuing these companies and successfully integrating them into our business.
Acquisitions and investments involve numerous risks, including:

* difficulties in identifying and acquiring products, technologies or businesses that will help our business;

« difficulties in integrating operations, technologies, services and personnel;

* diversion of financial and managerial resources from existing operations;

* risk of entering new markets in which we have little to no experience; and

. gela_\ys in customer purchases due to uncertainty and the inability to maintain relationships with customers of the acquired
usinesses.

If we fail to properly evaluate acquisitions or investments, we might not achieve the anticipated benefits of any such
acquisitions, we might incur costs in excess of what we anticipate, and management resources and attention might be diverted from
other necessary or valuable activities.

Future sales to customers outside the United States or with international operations might expose us t o risks inherent in
international sales which, if realized, could adver  sely affect our business.

An element of our growth strategy is to expand internationally. Operating in international markets requires significant
resources and management attention and will subject us to regulatory, economic, and political risks that are different from those in
the United States. Because of our limited experience with international operations, our international expansion efforts might not be
successful in creating
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demand for our products and services outside of the United States or in effectively selling our solutions in the international markets
we enter. In addition, we will face risks in doing business internationally that could adversely affect our business, including:

* the need to localize and adapt our solutions for specific countries, including translation into foreign languages and
associated expenses;

» data privacy laws which require that customer data be stored and processed in a designated territory;

« difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;

» different pricing environments, longer sales cycles and longer accounts receivable payment cycles and collections issues;
* new and different sources of competition;

* weaker protection for intellectual property and other legal rights than in the United States and practical difficulties in
enforcing intellectual property and other rights outside of the United States;

* laws and business practices favoring local competitors;

¢ compliance challenges related to the complexity of multiple, conflicting and changing governmental laws and regulations,
including employment, tax, privacy, and data protection laws and regulations;

* increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities;
* restrictions on the transfer of funds;

* adverse tax consequences; and

* unstable regional economic and political conditions.

If we denominate our international contracts in local currencies, fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar and foreign
currencies might impact our operating results when translated into U.S. dollars.

Risks Related to Our Products and Services Offering s

If our security measures are breached or fail, and unauthorized persons gain access to customers’ and consumers’ data,
our products and services might be perceived as not being secure, customers and consumers might curtai | or stop using
our products and services, and we might incur signi ficant liabilities.

Our products and services involve the storage and transmission of customers’ and consumers’ confidential information,
which may include sensitive individually identifiable information that is subject to stringent legal and regulatory obligations. Because
of the sensitivity of this information, security features of our software are very important. If our security measures are breached or
fail and/or are bypassed as a result of third-party action, employee error, malfeasance, or otherwise, someone might be able to
obtain unauthorized access to our customers’ confidential information and/or patient data. As a result, our reputation could be
damaged, our business might suffer, information might be lost, and we could face damages for contract breach, penalties for
violation of applicable laws or regulations, and significant costs for remediation and remediation efforts to prevent future
occurrences.

In addition, we rely on various third parties, including employers’ HR departments, carriers, and other third-party service
providers and consumers themselves, as users of our system for key activities to protect and promote the security of our systems
and the data and information accessible within them, such as administration of enroliment, consumer status changes, claims, and
billing. On occasion,
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people have failed to perform these activities. For example, employers sometimes have failed to terminate the login/password of
former employees, or permitted current employees to share login/passwords. When we become aware of such breaches, we work
with employers to terminate inappropriate access and provide additional instruction in order to avoid the reoccurrence of such
problems. Although to date these breaches have not resulted in claims against us or in material harm to our business, failures to
perform these activities might result in claims against us, which could expose us to significant expense, legal liability, and harm to
our reputation, which might result in loss of business.

Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not
recognized until launched against a target, we might not be able to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate
preventive measures. If an actual or perceived breach of our security occurs, the market perception of the effectiveness of our
security measures could be harmed and we could lose sales and customers. Any significant violations of data privacy could result
in the loss of business, litigation and regulatory investigations and penalties that could damage our reputation and adversely impact
our results of operations and financial condition. In addition, our customers might authorize or enable third parties to access their
information and data that is stored on our systems. Because we do not control such access, we cannot ensure the complete
integrity or security of such data in our systems.

Failure by our customers to obtain proper permissio ns and waivers might result in claims against us or may limit or
prevent our use of data, which could harm our busin ess.

We require our customers to provide necessary notices and to obtain necessary permissions and waivers for use and
disclosure of information on the Benefitfocus platform, and we require contractual assurances from them that they have done so
and will do so. If, however, despite these requirements and contractual obligations, our customers do not obtain necessary
permissions and waivers, then our use and disclosure of information that we receive from them or on their behalf might be limited or
prohibited by state or federal privacy laws or other laws. This could impair our functions, processes and databases that reflect,
contain, or are based upon such data and might prevent use of such data. In addition, this could interfere with, or prevent creation
or use of, rules, analyses, or other data-driven activities that benefit us and our business. Moreover, we might be subject to claims
or liability for use or disclosure of information by reason of lack of valid notices, agreements, permissions or waivers. These claims
or liabilities could subject us to unexpected costs and adversely affect our operating results.

Our proprietary software might not operate properly , Which could damage our reputation, give rise to ¢ laims against us, or
divert application of our resources from other purp oses, any of which could harm our business and oper ating results.

Proprietary software development is time-consuming, expensive, and complex. Unforeseen difficulties can arise. We might
encounter technical obstacles, and it is possible that we discover problems that prevent our proprietary applications from operating
properly. If they do not function reliably or fail to achieve customer expectations in terms of performance, customers could assert
liability claims against us and/or attempt to cancel their contracts with us. This could damage our reputation and impair our ability to
attract or maintain customers.

Moreover, benefits management software as complex as ours has in the past contained, and may in the future contain, or
develop, undetected defects or errors. Material performance problems or defects in our products and services might arise in the
future. Errors might result from the interface of our services with legacy systems and data, which we did not develop and the
function of which is outside of our control. Defects or errors might arise in our existing or new software or service
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processes. Because changes in employer, carrier, and legal requirements and practices relating to benefits are frequent, we are
continuously discovering defects and errors in our software and service processes compared against these requirements and
practices. Undiscovered vulnerabilities could expose our software to unscrupulous third parties who develop and deploy software
programs that could attack our software or result in unauthorized access to customer data. Defects and errors and any failure by us
to identify and address them could result in loss of revenue or market share, liability to customers or others, failure to achieve
market acceptance or expansion, diversion of development and other resources, injury to our reputation, and increased service and
maintenance costs. Defects or errors in our product or service processes might discourage existing or potential customers from
purchasing services from us. Correction of defects or errors could prove to be impossible or impracticable. The costs incurred in
correcting any defects or errors or in responding to resulting claims or liability might be substantial and could adversely affect our
operating results.

In addition, customers that rely on our products and services to collect, manage, and report benefits data might have a
greater sensitivity to service errors and security vulnerabilities than customers of software products in general. We market and sell
services that, among other things, provide information to assist care providers in tracking and treating ill patients. Any operational
delay in or failure of our software service processes might result in the disruption of patient care and could cause harm to our
business and operating results.

Our customers might assert claims against us in the future alleging that they suffered damages due to a defect, error, or
other failure of our product or service processes. A product liability claim or errors or omissions claim could subject us to significant
legal defense costs and adverse publicity regardless of the merits or eventual outcome of such a claim.

Various events could interrupt customers’ access to the Benefitfocus platform, exposing us to signific ant costs.

The ability to access the Benefitfocus platform is critical to our customers. Our operations and facilities are vulnerable to
interruption and/or damage from a humber of sources, many of which are beyond our control, including, without limitation: (i) power
loss and telecommunications failures, (ii) fire, flood, hurricane, and other natural disasters, (iii) software and hardware errors,
failures or crashes in our own systems or in other systems, (iv) computer viruses, denial-of-service attacks, hacking and similar
disruptive problems in our own systems and in other systems, and (v) civil unrest, war, and/or terrorism. We have implemented
various measures to protect against interruptions of customers’ access to our platform. If customers’ access is interrupted because
of problems in the operation of our facilities, we could be exposed to significant claims by customers, particularly if the access
interruption is associated with problems in the timely delivery of funds due to customers or medical information relevant to patient
care. Our plans for disaster recovery and business continuity rely on third-party providers of related services. If those vendors fail
us at a time when our systems are not operating correctly, we could incur a loss of revenue and liability for failure to fulfill our
obligations. Any significant instances of system downtime could negatively affect our reputation and ability to retain customers and
sell our services, which would adversely impact our revenue.

In addition, retention and availability of patient care and physician reimbursement data are subject to federal and state laws
governing record retention, accuracy, and access. Some laws impose obligations on our customers and on us to produce
information for third parties and to amend or expunge data at their direction. Our failure to meet these obligations might result in
liability, which could increase our costs and reduce our operating results.
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We rely on data center providers, Internet infrastr  ucture, bandwidth providers, third-party computer h ardware and
software, other third parties, and our own systems for providing services to our customers, and any fa ilure or interruption
in the services provided by these third parties or our own systems could expose us to litigation and n egatively impact our
relationships with customers, adversely affecting o ur brand and our business.

We serve all our customers from two data centers, one located in Raleigh, North Carolina and the other located in Charlotte,
North Carolina. While we control and have access to our servers, we do not control the operation of these facilities. The owners of
our data center facilities have no obligation to renew their agreements with us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If we are
unable to renew these agreements on commercially reasonable terms, or if one of our data center operators is acquired, we may be
required to transfer our servers and other infrastructure to new data center facilities, and we may incur significant costs and
possible service interruption in connection with doing so. Problems faced by our third-party data center locations, with the
telecommunications network providers with whom we or they contract, or with the systems by which our telecommunications
providers allocate capacity among their customers, including us, could adversely affect the experience of our customers. Our third-
party data centers operators could decide to close their facilities without adequate notice. In addition, any financial difficulties, such
as bankruptcy faced by our third-party data centers operators or any of the service providers with whom we or they contract may
have negative effects on our business, the nature and extent of which are difficult to predict.

In addition, our ability to deliver our web-based services depends on the development and maintenance of the infrastructure
of the Internet by third parties. This includes maintenance of a reliable network backbone with the necessary speed, data capacity,
bandwidth capacity, and security. Our services are designed to operate without interruption in accordance with our service level
commitments. However, we have experienced and expect that we will experience future interruptions and delays in services and
availability from time to time. In the event of a catastrophic event with respect to one or more of our systems, we may experience an
extended period of system unavailability, which could negatively impact our relationship with customers. To operate without
interruption, both we and our service providers must guard against:

» damage from fire, power loss, natural disasters and other force majeure events outside our control;

* communications failures;

* software and hardware errors, failures, and crashes;

* security breaches, computer viruses, hacking, denial-of-service attacks, and similar disruptive problems; and

 other potential interruptions.

We also rely on computer hardware purchased or leased and software licensed from third parties in order to offer our
services, including software from Oracle Corporation and Microsoft Corporation, and routers and network equipment from Cisco
and Hewlett-Packard Company. These licenses are generally commercially available on varying terms. However, it is possible that
this hardware and software might not continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Any loss of the right to

use any of this hardware or software could result in delays in the provisioning of our services until equivalent technology is either
developed by us, or, if available, is identified, obtained and integrated.

We exercise limited control over third-party vendors, which increases our vulnerability to problems with technology and
information services they provide. Interruptions in our network access and services might in connection with third-party technology
and information services reduce our revenue, cause us to issue refunds to customers for prepaid and unused subscription services,
subject
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us to potential liability, or adversely affect our renewal rates. Although we maintain insurance for our business, the coverage under
our policies might not be adequate to compensate us for all losses that may occur. In addition, we might not be able to continue to
obtain adequate insurance coverage at an acceptable cost, if at all.

The use of open source software in our products and solutions may expose us to additional risks and ha rm our
intellectual property rights.

Some of our products and solutions use or incorporate software that is subject to one or more open source licenses. Open
source software is typically freely accessible, usable, and modifiable. Certain open source software licenses require a user who
intends to distribute the open source software as a component of the user’s software to disclose publicly part or all of the source
code to the user’s software. In addition, certain open source software licenses require the user of such software to make any
derivative works of the open source code available to others on potentially unfavorable terms or at no cost.

The terms of many open source licenses to which we are subject have not been interpreted by U.S. or foreign courts.
Accordingly, there is a risk that those licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions
on our ability to commercialize our solutions. In that event, we could be required to seek licenses from third parties in order to
continue offering our products or solutions, to re-develop our products or solutions, to discontinue sales of our products or
solutions, or to release our proprietary software code under the terms of an open source license, any of which could harm our
business. Further, given the nature of open source software, it may be more likely that third parties might assert copyright and other
intellectual property infringement claims against us based on our use of these open source software programs.

While we monitor the use of all open source software in our products, solutions, processes, and technology and try to ensure
that no open source software is used in such a way as to require us to disclose the source code to the related product or solution
when we do not wish to do so, it is possible that such use may have inadvertently occurred in deploying our proprietary solutions. In
addition, if a third-party software provider has incorporated certain types of open source software into software we license from
such third party for our products and solutions without our knowledge, we could, under certain circumstances, be required to
disclose the source code to our products and solutions. This could harm our intellectual property position and our business, results
of operations, and financial condition.

Risks Related to Regulation

Government regulation of the areas in which we oper  ate creates risks and challenges with respect to ou r compliance
efforts and our business strategies.

The employee benefits industry is highly regulated and is subject to changing political, legislative, regulatory, and other
influences. Existing and new laws and regulations affecting the employee benefits industry could create unexpected liabilities for us,
cause us to incur additional costs and restrict our operations. These laws and regulations are complex and their application to
specific services and relationships are not clear. In particular, many existing laws and regulations affecting employee benefits, when
enacted, did not anticipate the services that we provide, and these laws and regulations might be applied to our services in ways
that we do not anticipate. Our failure to accurately anticipate the application of these laws and regulations, or our failure to comply,
could create liability for us, result in adverse publicity, and negatively affect our business. Some of the risks we face from the
regulation of employee benefits are as follows:

* PPACA. Governmental oversight punctuated with the passage of the PPACA, has led to an increasingly intricate
regulatory framework under which health benefits are delivered, accessed, and maintained. Although many of the
provisions of PPACA do not directly apply to
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us, PPACA might affect the business of many of our customers. Carriers and large employers might experience changes
in the numbers of individuals they insure as a result of Medicaid expansion and the creation of state and national
exchanges, though it is unclear how many states will decline to implement the Medicaid expansion or adopt state-specific
exchanges. Although we are unable to predict with any reasonable certainty or otherwise quantify the likely impact of
PPACA on our business model, financial condition, or results of operations, changes in the business of our customers and
the number of individuals they insure may negatively impact our business. Congress also has repeatedly but
unsuccessfully attempted to repeal PPACA and we are unable to predict the impact. Moreover, a lawsuit challenging the
legality of health insurance exchanges will likely be decided by the U.S. Supreme Court this summer. Should the U.S.
Supreme Court determine that government exchanges are unlawful, the business of some of our customers could be
substantially affected.

* False or Fraudulent Claim Laws . There are numerous federal and state laws that forbid submission of false information
or the failure to disclose information in connection with submission and payment of claims for reimbursement from the
government. In some cases, these laws also forbid abuse of existing systems for such submission and payment. Although
our business operations are generally not subject to these laws and regulations, any contract we have with a government
entity requires us to comply with these laws and regulations. Any failure of our services to comply with these laws and
regulations could result in substantial liability, including but not limited to criminal liability, could adversely affect demand
for our services, and could force us to expend significant capital, research and development, and other resources to
address the failure. Any determination by a court or regulatory agency that our services with government clients violate
these laws and regulations could subject us to civil or criminal penalties, invalidate all or portions of some of our
government client contracts, require us to change or terminate some portions of our business, require us to refund
portions of our services fees, cause us to be disqualified from serving not only government clients but also all clients doing
business with government payers, and have an adverse effect on our business.

¢ HIPAA and Other Privacy and Security Requirements . There are numerous U.S. federal and state laws and regulations
related to the privacy and security of personal health information. In particular, regulations promulgated pursuant to HIPAA
established privacy and security standards that limit the use and disclosure of individually identifiable health information,
and require the implementation of administrative, physical, and technological safeguards to ensure the confidentiality,
integrity, and availability of individually identifiable health information in electronic form. Health plans, healthcare
clearinghouses, and most providers are considered by the HIPAA regulations to be “Covered Entities”. With respect to our
operations as a healthcare clearinghouse, we are directly subject to the privacy regulations established under HIPAA, or
Privacy Standards, and the security regulations established under HIPAA, or Security Standards. In addition, our carrier
customers, or payors, are considered to be Covered Entities and are required to enter into written agreements with us,
known as Business Associate Agreements, under which we are considered to be a “Business Associate” and that require
us to safeguard individually identifiable health information and restrict how we may use and disclose such information.
ARRA and the HIPAA Omnibus Final Rules extended the direct application of certain provisions of the Privacy Standards
and Security Standards to us when we are functioning as a Business Associate of our carrier customers. ARRA and the
HIPAA Omnibus Final Rule also subject Business Associates to direct oversight and audit by HHS.

Violations of the Privacy Standards and Security Standards might result in civil and criminal penalties, and ARRA
increased the penalties for HIPAA violations and strengthened the enforcement provisions of HIPAA. For example, ARRA
authorizes state attorneys general to bring civil actions seeking either injunctions or damages in response to violations of
Privacy Standards and Security Standards that threaten the privacy of state residents.
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We might not be able to adequately address the business risks created by HIPAA implementation. Furthermore, we are
unable to predict what changes to HIPAA or other laws or regulations might be made in the future or how those changes
could affect our business or the costs of compliance.

Some payors and clearinghouses interpret HIPAA transaction requirements differently than we do. Where payors or
clearinghouses require conformity with their interpretations as a condition of a successful transaction, we seek to comply
with their interpretations.

In addition to the Privacy Standards and Security Standards, most states have enacted patient confidentiality laws that
protect against the disclosure of confidential medical and/or health information, and many states have adopted or are
considering further legislation in this area, including privacy safeguards, security standards, and data security breach
notification requirements. Such state laws, if more stringent than HIPAA requirements, are not preempted by the federal
requirements and we are required to comply with them.

Failure by us to comply with any state standards regarding patient privacy may subject us to penalties, including civil
monetary penalties and, in some circumstances, criminal penalties. Such failure may injure our reputation and adversely
affect our ability to retain customers and attract new customers.

* Medicare and Medicaid Regulatory Requirements . We have contracts with insurance carriers who offer Medicare
Managed Care (also known as Medicare Advantage or Medicare Part C) and Medicaid Managed Care benefits plans. We
also have contracts with insurance carriers who offer Medicare prescription drug benefits (also known as Medicare Part D)
plans. The activities of the Medicare plans are regulated by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, the
federal agency that provides oversight of the Medicare and Medicaid programs. The Medicaid Managed Care plans are
regulated by both CMS and the individual states where the plans are offered. Some of the activities that we might perform,
such as the enrollment of beneficiaries, may be subject to CMS and/or state regulation, and such regulations may force us
to change the way we do business or otherwise restrict our ability to provide services to such plans. Moreover, the
regulatory environment with respect to these programs has become, and will likely continue to become, increasingly
complex.

* Financial Services-Related Laws and Rules . Financial services and electronic payment processing services are subject
to numerous laws, regulations and industry standards, some of which might impact our operations and subject us, our
vendors, and our customers to liability as a result of the payment distribution and processing solutions we offer. Although
we do not act as a bank, we offer solutions that involve banks, or vendors who contract with banks and other regulated
providers of financial services. As a result, we might be impacted by banking and financial services industry laws,
regulations, and industry standards, such as licensing requirements, solvency standards, requirements to maintain the
privacy and security of nonpublic personal financial information, and Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation deposit
insurance limits. In addition, our patient billing and payment distribution and processing solutions might be impacted by
payment card association operating rules, certification requirements, and rules governing electronic funds transfers. If we
fail to comply with applicable payment processing rules or requirements, we might be subject to fines and changes in
transaction fees and may lose our ability to process credit and debit card transactions or facilitate other types of billing and
payment solutions. Moreover, payment transactions processed using the ACH are subject to network operating rules
promulgated by the National Automated Clearing House Association and to various federal laws regarding such
operations, including laws pertaining to electronic funds transfers, and these rules and laws might impact our billing and
payment solutions. Further, our solutions might impact the ability of our payor customers to comply with state prompt
payment laws. These laws require payors to pay healthcare claims meeting the statutory or regulatory definition of a
“clean claim” within a specified time frame.
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* Insurance Broker Laws . Insurance laws in the United States are often complex, and states have broad authority to
adopt regulations regarding brokerage activities. These regulations typically include the licensing of insurance brokers and
agents and govern the handling and investment of client funds held in a fiduciary capacity. Although we believe our
activities do not currently constitute the provision of insurance brokerage services, regulations may change from state to
state, which could require us to comply with such expanded regulation.

* ERISA. The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or ERISA, regulates how employee
benefits are provided to or through certain types of employer-sponsored health benefits plans. ERISA is a set of laws and
regulations that is subject to periodic interpretation by the U.S. Department of Labor as well as the federal courts. In some
circumstances, and under certain customer contracts, we might be deemed to have assumed duties that make us an
ERISA fiduciary, and thus be required to carry out our operations in a manner that complies with ERISA in all material
respects. We believe that our current operations do not render us subject to ERISA fiduciary obligations, and therefore
that we are in material compliance with ERISA and that any such compliance does not currently have a material adverse
effect on our operations. However, there can be no assurance that continuing ERISA compliance efforts or any future
changes to ERISA will not have a material adverse effect on us.

e Third-Party Administrator Laws . Numerous states in which we do business have adopted regulations governing entities
engaged in third-party administrator, or TPA, activities. TPA regulations typically impose requirements regarding
enroliment into benefits plans, claims processing and payments, and the handling of customer funds. Although we do not
believe we are currently acting as a TPA, changes in state regulations could result in us being obligated to comply with
such regulations, which might require us to obtain licenses to provide TPA services in such states.

We are subject to banking regulations that may limi t our business activities.

The Goldman Sachs Group, affiliates of which owned approximately 33.3% of the voting and economic interest in our
business at December 31, 2014, is regulated as a bank holding company and a financial holding company under the BHC Act. The
BHC Act imposes regulations and requirements on The Goldman Sachs Group and on any company that is deemed to be
controlled by The Goldman Sachs Group under the BHC Act and the regulations of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System, or the Federal Reserve. Due to the size of its voting and economic interest, we are deemed to be controlled by The
Goldman Sachs Group and are therefore considered to be a “subsidiary” of The Goldman Sachs Group under the BHC Act. We will
remain subject to this regulatory regime until The Goldman Sachs Group is no longer deemed to control us for purposes of the BHC
Act, which we do not generally have the ability to control and which will not occur until The Goldman Sachs Group has significantly
reduced its voting and economic interest in us.

As a controlled subsidiary of The Goldman Sachs Group, we are restricted from engaging in activities that are not
permissible under the BHC Act, or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. Permitted activities for a bank holding
company or any controlled subsidiary generally include activities that the Federal Reserve has previously determined to be closely
related to banking, financial in nature or incidental or complementary to financial activities, including data processing services such
as those that we provide with our software solutions. Restrictions placed on The Goldman Sachs Group as a result of supervisory
or enforcement actions under the BHC Act or otherwise may restrict us or our activities in certain circumstances, even if these
actions are unrelated to our conduct or business. Further, as a result of being subject to regulation and supervision by the Federal
Reserve, we may be required to obtain the prior approval of the Federal Reserve before engaging in certain new activities or
businesses, whether organically or by acquisition. The Federal
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Reserve could exercise its power to restrict us from engaging in any activity that, in the Federal Reserve’s opinion, is unauthorized
or constitutes an unsafe or unsound business practice. To the extent that these regulations impose limitations on our business, we
could be at a competitive disadvantage because some of our competitors are not subject to these limitations.

Additionally, any failure of The Goldman Sachs Group to maintain its status as a financial holding company could result in
further limitations on our activities and our growth. In particular, our permissible activities could be restricted to only those that
constitute banking or activities closely related to banking. The Goldman Sachs Group’s loss of its financial holding company status
could be caused by several factors, including any failure by The Goldman Sachs Group’s bank subsidiaries to remain sufficiently
capitalized, by any examination downgrade of one of The Goldman Sachs Group’s bank subsidiaries, or by any failure of one of
The Goldman Sachs Group’s bank subsidiaries to maintain a satisfactory rating under the Community Reinvestment Act. In
addition, the Dodd-Frank Act broadened the requirements for maintaining financial holding company status by also requiring the
holding company to remain “well capitalized” and “well managed”. We have no ability to prevent such occurrences from happening.

As a subsidiary of a bank holding company, we are subject to examination by the Federal Reserve and required to provide
information and reports for use by the Federal Reserve under the BHC Act. In addition, we may be subject to regulatory oversight
and examination because we are a technology service provider to regulated financial institutions. The Federal Reserve may also
impose substantial fines and other penalties for violations of applicable banking laws, regulations and orders. Further, the Dodd-
Frank Act, including Title VI thereunder known as the “Volcker Rule”, and related financial regulatory reform call for the issuance of
numerous regulations designed to increase and strengthen the regulation of bank holding companies, including The Goldman
Sachs Group and its affiliates. U.S. financial regulators approved the final rules to implement the Volcker Rule in December 2013.
The Volker Rule, in relevant part, restricts banking entities from proprietary trading (subject to certain exemptions) and from
acquiring or retaining any equity, partnership or other interests in, or sponsoring, a private equity fund, subject to satisfying certain
conditions, and from engaging in certain transactions with funds.

We have agreed to certain covenants for the benefit of The Goldman Sachs Group that are intended to facilitate its
compliance with the BHC Act, but that may impose certain obligations on our company. In particular, The Goldman Sachs Group
has rights to conduct audits on, and access certain information of, our company and certain rights to review the policies and
procedures that we implement to comply with the laws and regulations that relate to our activities. In addition, we are obligated to
provide The Goldman Sachs Group with notice of certain events and business activities and cooperate with The Goldman Sachs
Group to mitigate potential adverse consequences resulting therefrom.

Potential regulatory requirements placed on our sof tware, services, and content could impose increased costs on us,
delay or prevent our introduction of new service ty pes, and impair the function or value of our existi ng service types.

Our products and services are and are likely to continue to be subject to increasing regulatory requirements in a number of
ways. As these requirements proliferate, we must change or adapt our products and services to comply. Changing regulatory
requirements might render our services obsolete or might block us from accomplishing our work or from developing new services.
This might in turn impose additional costs upon us to comply or to further develop our products and services. It might also make
introduction of new product or service types more costly or more time-consuming than we currently anticipate. It might even prevent
introduction by us of new products or services or cause the continuation of our existing products or services to become unprofitable
or impossible.
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Potential government subsidy of services similar to ours, or creation of a single payor system, might reduce customer
demand.

Recently, entities including brokers and U.S. federal and state governments have offered to subsidize adoption of online
benefits platforms or clearinghouses. In addition, federal regulations have been changed to permit such subsidy from additional
sources subject to certain limitations. To the extent that we do not qualify or participate in such subsidy programs, demand for our
services might be reduced, which may decrease our revenue. In addition, prior proposals regarding healthcare reform have
included the concept of creation of a single payor for healthcare insurance. This kind of consolidation of critical benefits activity
could negatively impact the demand for our services.

Our services present the potential for embezzlement | identity theft, or other similar illegal behavior by our associates with
respect to third parties.

Among other things, certain services offered by us involve collecting payment information from individuals, and this
frequently includes check and credit card information. Even though we do not handle direct payments, our services also involve the
use and disclosure of personal and business information that could be used to impersonate third parties, commit identity theft, or
otherwise gain access to their data or funds. If any of our associates take, convert, or misuse such funds, documents, or data, we
could be liable for damages, and our business reputation could be damaged or destroyed. Moreover, if we fail to adequately
prevent third parties from accessing personal and/or business information and using that information to commit identity theft, we
might face legal liabilities and other losses than can have a negative impact on our business.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

Our stock price may be volatile or may decline rega  rdless of our operating performance, and you may no t be able to resell
your shares at or above the price at which you purc hase it.

The stock market historically has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. As a result of this volatility, you might
not be able to sell your common stock at or above the price at which you purchase it. The public market for our stock is very new.
From our IPO in September 2013 through December 31, 2014, the per share trading price of our common stock has been as high
as $77.00 and as low as $20.82. It might continue to fluctuate significantly in response to various factors, some of which are
beyond our control. These factors include:

* our operating performance and the operating performance of similar companies;

* the overall performance of the equity markets;

e announcements by us or our competitors of acquisitions, business plans, or commercial relationships;
* threatened or actual litigation;

* changes in laws or regulations relating to the sale of health insurance;

e any major change in our board of directors or management;

* publication of research reports or news stories about us, our competitors, or our industry, or positive or negative
recommendations or withdrawal of research coverage by securities analysts;

* large volumes of sales of our shares of common stock by existing stockholders; and
* general political and economic conditions.

In addition, the stock market in general, and the market for Internet-related companies in particular, has experienced extreme
price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or
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disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. These fluctuations might be even more pronounced in the
relatively new trading market for our stock. Additionally, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies
following periods of volatility in the overall market and in the market price of a company’s securities. This litigation, if instituted
against us, could result in substantial costs, divert our management’s attention and resources, and harm our business, operating
results, and financial condition.

We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, consequently, your ability to ach ieve a return on
your investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not currently intend to do so for the
foreseeable future. We currently intend to invest our future earnings, if any, to fund our growth. Therefore, you are not likely to
receive any dividends on your common stock for the foreseeable future, and the success of an investment in shares of our common
stock will depend upon future appreciation in its value, if any. There is no guarantee that shares of our common stock will
appreciate in value or even maintain the price at which our stockholders purchased their shares.

Our stock price could decline due to the large numb er of outstanding shares of our common stock eligib le for future sale.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market or the market perception that the holder or
holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock. These sales could
also make it more difficult for us to sell equity or equity-related securities in the future at a time and price that we deem appropriate.

As of December 31, 2014, we had an aggregate of 25,608,937 shares of common stock outstanding. Of these shares,
approximately 15,649,749 shares became eligible for sale on October 14, 2014, upon the expiration of lock-up agreements with the
underwriters for our secondary offering, subject in some cases to volume and other restrictions of Rule 144 under the Securities
Act. As of December 31, 2014, there were outstanding options and restricted stock units to purchase 3,103,251 shares of our
common stock that, if exercised or vested, as applicable, will result in these additional shares becoming available for sale subject in
some cases to Rule 144. On November 12, 2013, we also registered an aggregate of 6,249,766 shares of our common stock that
we may issue under our stock plans. These shares can be freely sold in the public market upon issuance, unless they are held by
“affiliates”, as that term is defined in Rule 144 of the Securities Act. If a large number of these shares are sold in the public market,
the sales could reduce the trading price of our common stock.

A limited number of stockholders will have the abil ity to influence the outcome of director elections and other matters
requiring stockholder approval.

As of December 31, 2014, our directors, executive officers, and their affiliated entities beneficially owned more than 63% of
our outstanding common stock. In particular, GS Capital Partners VI Parallel, L.P., GS Capital Partners VI Offshore Fund, L.P., GS
Capital Partners VI Fund, L.P., and GS Capital Partners VI GmbH & CO. KG, which are affiliates of Goldman, Sachs & Co. and
which we refer to as the Goldman Funds, collectively beneficially owned approximately 33.3%. These stockholders, if they act
together, could exert substantial influence over matters requiring approval by our stockholders, including the amendment of our
certificate of incorporation and bylaws, and the approval of mergers or other business combination transactions.

Additionally, the Goldman Funds, Oak Investment Partners XllI, L.P., Mason R. Holland, Jr., our Executive Chairman and a
director, and Shawn A. Jenkins, our President and Chief Executive Officer and a director, entered into a voting agreement for the
election of directors. As of December 31, 2014,
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these stockholders collectively beneficially owned more than 63% of our common stock. Pursuant to the voting agreement, the
parties agree to vote all of their shares to elect two directors nominated by the Goldman Funds, one director nominated by Oak
Investment Partners, and each of Messrs. Holland and Jenkins to our board of directors. As a result, these stockholders will have
significant influence on the outcome of director elections. This concentration of ownership might discourage, delay, or prevent a
change in control of our company, which could deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to receive a premium for their stock as
part of a sale of our company and might reduce our stock price. These actions may be taken even if they are opposed by other
stockholders.

We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules, and take ad  vantage of
exemptions from certain corporate governance requir ements.

As of December 31, 2014, more than 63% of the voting power of our outstanding common stock was beneficially owned by a
group of our significant stockholders consisting of Oak Investment Partners XlI, L.P., the Goldman Funds, and Messrs. Holland and
Jenkins. Under the NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power is held by an
individual, group or another company is a “controlled company” and is exempt from the corporate governance requirements that a
majority of our directors be independent, as defined in the NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules, and that our compensation and
nominating and corporate governance committees consist entirely of independent directors. We currently rely on the “controlled
company” exemption under the NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules. While a majority of the members of our board of directors and
all of the members of our compensation committee are independent directors, our nominating and corporate governance committee
does not consist entirely of independent directors. Accordingly, while we remain a controlled company and during any transition
period following a time when we are no longer a controlled company, you will not have the same protections afforded to
stockholders of companies that are subject to all of the NASDAQ Stock Market's corporate governance requirements.

Provisions in our restated certificate of incorpora tion and amended and restated bylaws and Delaware |  aw might
discourage, delay, or prevent a change in control o f our company or changes in our management and, the  refore, depress
the trading price of our common stock.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law might discourage, delay, or prevent a merger,
acquisition, or other change in control that stockholders consider favorable, including transactions in which you might otherwise
receive a premium for your shares of our common stock. These provisions might also prevent or frustrate attempts by our
stockholders to replace or remove our management. These provisions include:

* limitations on the removal of directors;
¢ advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations;
* limitations on the ability of stockholders to call special meetings;

* The Goldman Sachs Group and its affiliates cease to own at least 35% of our voting equity, the inability of stockholders to
act by written consent;

* the inability of stockholders to cumulate votes at any election of directors;

* the classification of our board of directors into three classes with only one class, representing approximately one-third of
our directors, standing for election at each annual meeting; and

* the ability of our board of directors to make, alter or repeal our bylaws.

Our Board of Directors has the ability to designate the terms of and issue new series of preferred stock without stockholder
approval. In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from
engaging in a business combination with an
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interested stockholder, generally a person which together with its affiliates owns, or within the last three years has owned, 15% of
our voting stock, for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder,
unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed manner.

The existence of the foregoing provisions and anti-takeover measures could limit the price that investors are willing to pay in
the future for shares of our common stock. They could also deter potential acquirers of our company, thereby reducing the
likelihood that you could receive a premium for your common stock in an acquisition.

Our business is subject to changing regulations reg arding corporate governance, disclosure controls, i nternal control
over financial reporting, and other compliance area s that will increase both our costs and the risk of noncompliance.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange
Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Act, and the rules and regulations of our stock
exchange. The requirements of these rules and regulations will increase our legal, accounting, and financial compliance costs, will
make some activities more difficult, time-consuming, and costly, and may also place undue strain on our personnel, systems, and
resources.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and
internal control over financial reporting. Commencing with our fiscal year ending December 31, 2014, we must perform system and
process evaluation and testing of our internal control over financial reporting to allow management to report on the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Our compliance with
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act will require that we incur substantial accounting expense and expend significant
management efforts. Prior to our IPO, we had never been required to test our internal controls within a specified period, and, as a
result, we may experience difficulty in meeting these reporting requirements in a timely manner.

We are required to disclose changes made to our internal control and procedures on a quarterly basis. However, our
independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act until the later of the year following our first annual report
required to be filed with the SEC or the date we are no longer an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart Our
Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, if we take advantage of the exemption available under the JOBS Act to the auditor
attestation requirement in Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. If we are not able to comply with the requirements of
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in a timely manner, the market price of our stock could decline and we could be subject to
sanctions or investigations by the stock exchange on which our common stock is listed, the SEC, or other regulatory authorities,
which would require additional financial and management resources.

Failure to develop and maintain adequate financial controls could cause us to have material weaknesses , Which could
adversely affect our operations and financial posit ion.

As previously reported, in the first quarter of 2014, we identified a material weakness in internal controls over the accounting
for leasing transactions which resulted in the identification of a material error in the accounting for our headquarters lease executed
in May 2005. We might in the future discover other material weaknesses that require remediation. In addition, an internal control
system, no matter how well-designed, cannot provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or
that all control issues and instances of fraud will be detected. If we are not able to
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comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in a timely manner, or if we are unable to maintain proper
and effective internal controls, we might not be able to produce timely and accurate financial statements. If that were to happen, the
market price of our stock could decline and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the stock exchange on which our
common stock is listed, the SEC, or other regulatory authorities.

Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls, or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement,
could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. Any failure to implement and maintain
effective internal controls also could adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations regarding the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting that we are required to include in our periodic reports filed with the SEC under
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures or internal control over financial reporting
could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information, which would likely have a negative
effect on the trading price of our common stock. Implementing any appropriate changes to our internal controls may require specific
compliance training of our directors, officers, and employees, entail substantial costs in order to modify our existing accounting
systems, and take a significant period of time to complete. Such changes may not be effective, however, in maintaining the
adequacy of our internal controls, and any failure to maintain that adequacy, or consequent inability to produce accurate financial
statements on a timely basis, could increase our operating costs and could materially impair our ability to operate our business. In
the event that we are not able to demonstrate compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in a timely manner, that our
internal controls are perceived as inadequate, or that we are unable to produce timely or accurate financial statements, investors
may lose confidence in our operating results and our stock price could decline.

We are an emerging growth company and we cannot be certain if the reduced disclosure requirements appl icable to
emerging growth companies will make our common stoc k less attractive to investors.

We are an emerging growth company. Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or revised
accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail
ourselves of this exemption from new or revised accounting standards and, therefore, we will be subject to the same new or revised
accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.

For as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we intend to take advantage of certain other exemptions
from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies including, but not limited to, reduced disclosure
obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, exemptions from the requirements of
holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not
previously approved, and exemptions from the requirements of auditor attestation reports on the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we will rely on these
exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our
common stock and our stock price may be more volatile.

We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the end of the fiscal year in which the market value of our
common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of June 30 of that fiscal year, (ii) the end of the fiscal year in
which we have total annual gross revenue of $1 billion or more during such fiscal year, (iii) the date on which we issue more than
$1 billion in non-convertible debt in a three-year period, or (iv) September 17, 2018.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publish r esearch or reports about our business, or publish i naccurate or
unfavorable research or reports about our business, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock depends, to some extent, on the research and reports that securities or industry
analysts publish about us and our business. We do not have any control over these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who
cover us downgrade our common stock or change their opinion of our common stock, our stock price would likely decline. If one or
more of these analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the
financial markets, which could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2. Properties

As of December 31, 2014, our corporate headquarters occupied approximately 65,000 square feet in a facility on the Daniel
Island Executive Center campus in Charleston, South Carolina under a lease expiring in 2021, and we had a second facility on the
Daniel Island Executive Center campus that occupied approximately 78,000 square feet under a lease expiring in 2024. As of
December 31, 2014, we had also executed a lease that commenced January 1, 2015 and runs for 15 years, to extend our campus
in Charleston, South Carolina with a Customer Success Center of approximately 145,000 square feet and, at our option and under
new leases, have either a four-story office building of approximately 145,000 square feet and/or a two-story welcome center of
approximately 18,500 square feet built.

As of December 31, 2014, we also leased facilities in Greenville, South Carolina, San Francisco, California, and Tulsa,
Oklahoma.

We believe that our current and planned facilities are sufficient for our needs. We may add other facilities or expand existing
facilities as we expand our associate base and geographic markets in the future, and we believe that suitable additional space will
be available as needed to accommodate any such expansion of our operations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we might become involved in legal or regulatory proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our
business. We are not currently a party to any material litigation or regulatory proceeding and we are not aware of any pending or
threatened litigation or regulatory proceeding against us that could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating
results, financial condition or cash flows.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Rela  ted Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equ ity Securities

Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock has been listed on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “BNFT” since September 18, 2013.
Prior to that date, there was no public trading market for our common stock. The following table sets forth for the periods indicated

the high and low intraday sales prices per share of our common stock as reported on the NASDAQ Global Market.

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 2013

Third quarter (from September 18, 2013) $55.87 $41.50
Fourth quarter $60.48 $37.32
Year Ended December 31, 2014

First quarter $77.00 $45.15
Second quarter $49.34 $27.52
Third quarter $47.75 $26.79
Fourth quarter $34.28 $20.82

As of December 31, 2014, we had 84 holders of record of our common stock. The actual number of stockholders is greater
than this number of record holders and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners but whose shares are held in street name
by brokers and other nominees. This number of holders of record also does not include stockholders whose shares may be held in

trust by other entities.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our common stock. We currently intend to retain all of our future
earnings, if any, generated by our operations for the development and growth of our business for the foreseeable future. The

decision to pay dividends is at the discretion of our board of directors and depends upon our financial condition, results of

operations, capital requirements, and other factors that our board of directors deems relevant.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or incorporated by reference into
any of our other filings under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except to the extent we specifically
incorporate it by reference into such filing.

This chart compares the cumulative total return on our common stock with that of the S&P 500 Index and the S&P 1500
Application Software Index. The chart assumes $100 was invested at the close of market on September 18, 2013, in the common
stock of Benefitfocus, Inc., the S&P 500 Index and the S&P 1500 Application Software Index, and assumes the reinvestment of any
dividends. The stock price performance on the following graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.
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Company / Index 9/18/2013 9/30/2013 12/31/2013 3/31/2014  6/30/2014 9/30/2014 12/31/2014
Benefitfocus, Inc. $100.00 $91.80 $107.82 $ 87.71 $ 86.31 $ 50.31 $ 61.33
S&P 500 Index $100.00 $97.45 $107.12 $108.51 $113.60 $114.30 $119.32
S&P 1500 Application Software Index $100.00 $99.07 $107.46 $107.29 $112.30 $113.71 $120.00

Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by Item 5 of Form 10-K regarding equity compensation plans is incorporated herein by reference to
“ltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters”.

Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stoc k

On September 17, 2013, our Registration Statement on Form S-1, (File No. 333-190610) was declared effective in
connection with our IPO, pursuant to which 5,675,250 shares of common stock were registered, including the full exercise of the
underwriters’ over-allotment option. Of the shares registered, we sold 3,000,000 shares of common stock at a price to the public of
$26.50 per share for an aggregate price of $79,500,000. Selling shareholders sold the remaining 2,675,250 shares registered at the
same per share price for an aggregate price of $70,894,000. The offering closed on September 23, 2013, and, as a result, we
received net proceeds of $70,064,000 (after underwriters’ discounts and commissions of $5,565,000 and additional offering related
costs of $3,871,000). The joint managing underwriters of the offering were Goldman Sachs & Co., Deutsche Bank Securities Inc.
and Jefferies LLC.

49



Table of Contents

Of the expenses incurred by us in connection with our IPO, $134,000 were paid to or for the underwriters and $52,000 were
paid to a related party vendor for private air travel. This vendor is owned and controlled by the Executive Chairman of our board of
directors, who beneficially owns greater than 10% of our common stock.

There was no material change in the use of proceeds from our IPO as described in our final prospectus filed pursuant to
Rule 424(b) of the Securities Act with the SEC on September 18, 2013. From the effective date of the registration statement
through December 31, 2014, we have used the net proceeds from our IPO for working capital purposes and other general
corporate purposes, including executing our growth strategy, developing new products and services, and funding additional capital
expenditures, potential acquisitions, and investments. We have invested the funds received in short-term, interest bearing,
investment-grade securities.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

CONSOLIDATED SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data for the years December 31, 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011, and 2010 and the
selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2014, 2013, 2012, 2011, and 2010 are derived from our audited
consolidated financial statements. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in the future. The
selected consolidated financial data should be read together with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations”, our consolidated financial statements, related notes, and other financial information included elsewhere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenue (1) $ 137,420 $ 104,752 $ 81,739 $ 68,783 $ 67,122
Cost of revenue (2) 87,470 62,411 44,400 42,133 38,870
Gross profit 49,950 42,341 37,339 26,650 28,252
Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing (2) 48,467 36,072 27,905 22,553 14,174

Research and development (2) 41,729 23,532 14,621 9,120 8,650

General and administrative (2) 18,657 10,974 7,494 5,821 6,038

Impairment of goodwiill — — — 1,670 —

Change in fair value of contingent

consideration — (43) 121 503 —
Total operating expenses 108,853 70,535 50,141 39,667 28,862

Loss from operations (58,903) (28,194) (12,802) (13,017) (610)
Total other expense, net (4,251) (2,198) (1,987) (2,012) (1,855)
Loss before income taxes (63,154) (30,392) (14,789) (15,029) (2,465)
Income tax expense (benefit) 25 (31) 84 35 10
Net loss $ (63,179) $ (30,361) $ (14,873) $ (15,064) $ (2,475)
Net loss per common share—basic and

diluted $ (2.51) $ (2.99) $ (3.09) $ (3.09) $ (0.39)
Weighted-average common shares

outstanding—basic and diluted 25,207,099 10,144,243 4,812,632 4,875,157 6,405,944
Other Financial Data
Adjusted gross profit (3) $ 58,886 $ 49,735 $ 45,161 $ 33,283 $ 34,682
Adjusted EBITDA (4) $ (43,844) $ (18,915) $ (3,594) $ (3,455) $ 6,785

(1) Inthe first quarter of 2011 we increased the estimated expected life of our customer relationships for both employer and
carrier customers. This change extended the term over which we will recognize our deferred revenue and results in less
revenue recognized in each period.
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(2) Cost of revenue and operating expenses include stock-based compensation expense as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Cost of revenue $ 986 $ 274 $ 195 $ 252 $ 352

Sales and marketing 1,395 171 68 102 77

Research and development 1,376 255 130 121 87

General and administrative 1,831 502 319 246 519

(3) We define adjusted gross profit as gross profit before depreciation and amortization expense, as well as stock-based
compensation expense. Please see “Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted EBITDA” below for more information and for a
reconciliation of adjusted gross profit to gross profit, the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and

presented in accordance with GAAP.

(4) We define adjusted EBITDA as net loss before net interest and other expense, taxes, and depreciation and amortization
expense, adjusted to eliminate stock-based compensation expense and expense related to the impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets. See “Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted EBITDA” below for more information and for a reconciliation of
adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with

GAAP.

Our Segments

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Revenue from external customers by segment:

Employer $ 62,016 $ 40,656 $23,760 $15,938 $ 9,356

Carrier 75,404 64,096 57,979 52,845 57,766
Total net revenue from external customers $137,420 $104,752 $81,739 $68,783 $67,122
Gross profit by segment

Employer $ 16,186 $ 13,316 $ 9,810 $ 6,059 $ 3,121

Carrier 33,764 29,025 27,529 20,591 25,131
Total gross profit by segment $ 49,950 $ 42,341 $37,339 $26,650 $28,252
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

As of December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 51,074 $ 65,645 $ 19,703 $ 15,856 $ 18,166
Marketable securities 5,135 13,168 — — —
Accounts receivable, net 21,311 23,668 13,372 9,060 7,163
Total assets 140,018 139,611 58,226 52,842 53,343
Deferred revenue, total 94,510 80,221 57,520 42,773 32,952
Total liabilities 182,841 128,179 89,357 69,809 55,433
Total redeemable convertible preferred stock — — 135,478 135,478 135,478
Common stock 26 24 6,109 4,923 3,574
Additional paid-in capital 223,409 214,487 — — —
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity (42,823) 11,432 (166,609) (152,445) (137,569)
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Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted EBITDA

Within this prospectus we use adjusted gross profit and adjusted EBITDA to provide investors with additional information
regarding our financial results. Adjusted gross profit and adjusted EBITDA are non-GAAP financial measures. We have provided
below reconciliations of these measures to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures, which for adjusted gross profit
is gross profit, and for adjusted EBITDA is net loss.

We have included adjusted gross profit and adjusted EBITDA in this Annual Report on Form 10-K because they are key
measures used by our management and board of directors to understand and evaluate our core operating performance and trends,
to prepare and approve our annual budget, and to develop short- and long-term operational plans. In particular, we believe that the
exclusion of the expenses eliminated in calculating adjusted gross profit and adjusted EBITDA can provide a useful measure for
period-to-period comparisons of our core business. Accordingly, we believe that adjusted gross profit and adjusted EBITDA provide
useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our operating results.

Our use of adjusted gross profit and adjusted EBITDA as analytical tools has limitations, and you should not consider them in
isolation or as substitutes for analysis of our financial results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

* although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized might have to
be replaced in the future, and adjusted gross profit and adjusted EBITDA do not reflect cash capital expenditure
requirements for such replacements or for new capital expenditure requirements;

* adjusted gross profit and adjusted EBITDA do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;
* adjusted gross profit and adjusted EBITDA do not reflect the potentially dilutive impact of stock-based compensation;

* adjusted gross profit and adjusted EBITDA do not reflect interest or tax payments that would reduce the cash available to
us; and

* other companies, including companies in our industry, might calculate adjusted gross profit and adjusted EBITDA or
similarly titled measures differently, which reduces their usefulness as comparative measures.
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Because of these and other limitations, you should consider adjusted gross profit and adjusted EBITDA alongside other
GAAP-based financial performance measures, including various cash flow metrics, gross profit, net income (loss) and our other
GAAP financial results. The following table presents a reconciliation of adjusted gross profit to gross profit and adjusted EBITDA to

net loss for each of the periods indicated:

Reconciliation from Gross Profit to Adjusted Gross
Profit:
Gross profit
Depreciation
Amortization of software development costs
Amortization of acquired intangible assets
Stock-based compensation expense
Adjusted gross profit

Reconciliation from Net Loss to Adjusted EBITDA:
Net loss
Depreciation
Amortization of software development costs
Amortization of acquired intangible assets
Interest income
Interest expense on building lease financing obligations
Interest expense on other borrowings
Income tax expense
Stock-based compensation expense
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
Total net adjustments

Adjusted EBITDA

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

$ 49,950 $ 42,341 $ 37,339 $ 26,650 $28,252
5,459 4,257 4,228 4,096 4,272
2,257 2,618 3,145 2,009 1,690
234 245 254 276 116
986 274 195 252 352
$ 58,886 $ 49,735 $ 45,161 $ 33,283 $34,682
$(63,179)  $(30,361)  $(14,873)  $(15,064)  $(2,475)
6,931 5,231 5,080 3,225 3,197
2,257 2,618 3,145 1,903 1,656
305 323 335 2,178 1,756
(77) (46) (53) (151) (364)
3,624 1,768 1,774 1,771 1,759
682 381 202 203 211
25 (31) 84 35 10
5,588 1,202 712 721 1,035
— — — 1,724 —
$ 19,335 $ 11,446 $ 11,279 $ 11,609 $ 9,260
$(43,844)  $(18,915) $ (3,594) $ (3,455) $ 6,785
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Fin  ancial Condition and Results of Operations

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our
consolidated financial statements and the related notes and other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this report including
information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties. You should review the “Risk Factors” section of this report beginning on page 23 for a discussion of important factors
that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements
contained in the following discussion and analysis.

Overview

We are a leading provider of cloud-based benefits software solutions for consumers, employers, insurance carriers, and
brokers. The Benefitfocus platform provides an integrated suite of solutions that enables our employer and insurance carrier
customers to more efficiently shop, enroll, manage, and exchange benefits information. Our web-based platform has a user-friendly
interface designed to enable the insured consumers to access all of their benefits in one place. Our comprehensive solutions
support core benefits plans, including healthcare, dental, life, and disability insurance, and voluntary benefits plans, such as critical
illness, supplemental income, and wellness programs. As the number of employer benefits plans has increased, with each plan
subject to many different business rules and requirements, demand for the Benefitfocus platform has grown.

We serve two separate but related market segments. Our fastest growing market segment, the employer market, consists of
employers offering benefits to their employees. Within this segment, we mainly target large employers with more than 1,000
employees, of which we believe there are approximately 18,000 in the United States. In our other market segment, we sell our
solutions to insurance carriers, enabling us to expand our overall footprint in the benefits marketplace by aggregating many key
constituents, including consumers, employers, and brokers. Our business model capitalizes on the close relationship between
carriers and their members, and the carriers’ ability to serve as lead generators for potential employer customers. Carriers pay for
services at a rate reflective of the aggregated nature of their customer base on a per application basis. Carriers can then deploy
their applications to employer groups and members. As employers become direct customers through our employer segment, we
provide them our platform offering that bundles many software applications into a comprehensive benefits solution through HR
InTouch Marketplace (now known as Benefitfocus Marketplace). We believe our presence in both the employer and insurance
carrier markets gives us a strong position at the center of the benefits ecosystem.

We sell our software solutions and related services primarily through our direct sales force. We derive most of our revenue
from software services fees, which primarily consist of monthly subscription fees paid to us for access to and usage of our cloud-
based benefits software solutions, and related professional services. Software services fees paid to us from our employer
customers are generally based on the number of employees covered by the relevant benefits plans at contracted rates for a
specified period of time, which is usually one year. Software services fees paid to us from our carrier customers are based on the
number of members contracted to use our solutions at contracted rates for a specified period of time, which usually ranges from
three to five years. Our carrier contracts are
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generally only cancellable by the carrier in an instance of our uncured breach, although some of our carrier customers are able to
terminate their respective contracts without cause or for convenience. Software services revenue accounted for approximately 91%,
93%, and 93% of our total revenue during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Another component of our revenue is professional services. We derive the majority of our professional services revenue from
the implementation of our customers onto our platform, which typically includes discovery, configuration and deployment,
integration, testing, and training. In general, it takes from four to five months to implement a new employer customer’s benefits
systems and eight to 10 months to implement a new carrier customer’s benefits systems. We also provide customer support
services and customized media content that supports our customers’ effort to educate and communicate with consumers.
Professional services revenue accounted for approximately 9%, 7%, and 7% of our total revenue during the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Increasing our base of large employer customers is an important source of revenue growth for us. We actively pursue new
employer customers in the U.S. market, and we have increased the number of large employer customers utilizing our solutions from
121 as of December 31, 2009 to 553 as of December 31, 2014, a 35.5% compound annual growth rate. We believe that our
continued innovation and new solutions, such as online benefits marketplaces, also known as private exchanges, enhanced mobile
offerings, and more robust data analytics capabilities will help us attract additional large employer customers and increase our
revenue from existing customers.

We believe that there is a substantial market for our services, and we have been investing in growth over the past four years.
In particular, we have continued to invest in technology and services to better serve our larger employer customers, which we
believe are an important source of growth for our business. We have also substantially increased our marketing and sales efforts
and expect those increased efforts to continue. As we have invested in growth, we have had operating losses in each of the last
four years, and expect our operating losses to continue for the foreseeable future. Due to the nature of our customer relationships,
which have been very stable with relatively few customer losses over the past years, and the subscription nature of our financial
model, we believe that our current investment in growth should lead to substantially increased revenue, which will allow us to
achieve profitability in the relatively near future. Of course, our ability to achieve profitability will continue to be subject to many
factors beyond our control.

Key Financial and Operating Performance Metrics

We regularly monitor a number of financial and operating metrics in order to measure our current performance and project
our future performance. These metrics help us develop and refine our growth strategies and make strategic decisions. We discuss
revenue, gross margin, and the components of operating loss, as well as segment revenue and segment gross profit, in
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Components of Operating Results”. In
addition, we utilize other key metrics as described below.
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Number of Large Employer and Carrier Customers

We believe the number of large employer and carrier customers is a key indicator of our market penetration, growth, and
future revenue. We have aggressively invested in and intend to continue to invest in our direct sales force to grow our customer
base. We generally define a customer as an entity with an active software services contract as of the measurement date. The
following table sets forth the number of large employer and carrier customers for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Number of customers:
Large employer 553 393 286
Carrier 43 40 34

Software Services Revenue Retention Rate

We believe that our ability to retain our customers and expand the revenue they generate for us over time is an important
component of our growth strategy and reflects the long-term value of our customer relationships. We measure our performance on
this basis using a metric we refer to as our software services revenue retention rate. We calculate this metric for a particular period
by establishing the group of our customers that had active contracts for a given period. We then calculate our software services
revenue retention rate by taking the amount of software services revenue we recognized for this group in the subsequent
comparable period (for which we are reporting the rate) and dividing it by the software services revenue we recognized for the
group in the prior period.

For 2014, 2013 and 2012 our software services revenue retention rate exceeded 95%.

Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted gross profit represents our gross profit before depreciation and amortization, as well as stock-based compensation
expense. Adjusted EBITDA represents our earnings before net interest and other expense, taxes, and depreciation and
amortization expense, adjusted to eliminate stock-based compensation and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets. Adjusted
gross profit and adjusted EBITDA are not measures calculated in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting
principles, or GAAP. Please refer to “Selected Consolidated Financial Data—Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted EBITDA” in this
report for a discussion of the limitations of adjusted gross profit and adjusted EBITDA and reconciliations of adjusted gross profit to
gross profit and adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the most comparable GAAP measurements, respectively, for 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Components of Operating Results
Revenue

We derive the majority of our revenue from software services fees, which consist primarily of monthly subscription fees paid
to us by our employer and carrier customers for access to, and usage of, our cloud-based benefits software solutions for a specified
contract term. We also derive revenue from professional services fees, which primarily include fees related to the implementation of
our customers onto our platform. Our professional services typically include discovery, configuration and deployment, integration,
testing, and training.
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue between software services and professional services for the
periods indicated (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Software services $125,083 $ 97,713 $75,931
Professional services 12,337 7,039 5,808
Total revenue $137,420 $104,752 $81,739

We generally recognize software services fees monthly based on the number of employees covered by the relevant benefits
plans at contracted rates for a specified period of time, provided that an enforceable contract has been signed by both parties,
access to our software has been granted to the customer and is available for their use, the fee for the software services is fixed or
determinable, and collection is reasonably assured. We defer recognition of our professional services fees paid by customers in
connection with implementation of our software services, or implementation fees, and recognize them, beginning once the software
services have commenced, ratably over the longer of the contract term or the estimated expected life of the customer relationship.
We will periodically evaluate the term over which revenue is recognized for most professional services as we gain more experience
with customer contract renewals.

We generally invoice our employer and carrier customers for software services in advance, in monthly installments. We
invoice our employer customers for implementation fees at the inception of the arrangement. We generally invoice our carrier
customers for implementation fees at various contractually defined times throughout the implementation process. Implementation
fees that have been invoiced are initially recorded as deferred revenue until recognized as described above.

Overhead Allocation

Expenses associated with our facilities, IT costs, and depreciation and amortization, are allocated between cost of revenue
and operating expenses based on employee headcount determined by the nature of work performed.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of salaries and other personnel-related costs, including benefits, bonuses, and stock-
based compensation, for associates providing services to our customers and supporting our SaaS platform infrastructure.
Additional expenses in cost of revenue include co-location facility costs for our data centers, depreciation expense for computer
equipment directly associated with generating revenue, infrastructure maintenance costs, amortization expenses associated with
capitalized software development costs, allocated overhead, and other direct costs.

Our cost of revenue is expensed as we incur the costs. However, the related revenue from fees we receive for our
implementation services performed before a customer is operating on our platform is deferred until the commencement of the
monthly subscription and recognized as revenue ratably over the longer of the related contract term or the estimated expected life
of the customer relationship. Therefore, the cost incurred in providing these services is expensed in periods prior to the recognition
of the corresponding revenue. Our cost associated with providing implementation services has been significantly higher as a
percentage of revenue than our cost associated with providing our monthly subscription services due to the labor associated with
providing implementation services.

We plan to continue to expand our capacity to support our growth, which will result in higher cost of revenue in absolute
dollars. However, we expect cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue to
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decline and gross margins to increase primarily from the growth of the percentage of our revenue from large employers and the
realization of economies of scale driven by retention of our customer base.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses consist of sales and marketing, research and development, and general and administrative expenses.
Salaries and personnel-related costs are the most significant component of each of these expense categories. We expect to
continue to hire new associates in these areas in order to support our anticipated revenue growth. As a result, we expect our
operating expenses to increase in both aggregate dollars and as a percentage of revenue in the near term, but to decrease over
the longer term as we achieve economies of scale.

Sales and marketing expense.  Sales and marketing expense consists primarily of salaries and other personnel-related
costs, including benefits, bonuses, stock-based compensation, and commissions for our sales and marketing associates. We
record expense for commissions at the time of contract signing. Additional expenses include advertising, lead generation,
promotional event programs, corporate communications, travel, and allocated overhead. For instance, our most significant
promotional event is One Place, which we have held annually in the second quarter and in 2015 will hold in the first quarter. We
expect our sales and marketing expense to increase in both absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue in the foreseeable
future as we further increase the number of our sales and marketing professionals and expand our marketing activities in order to
continue to grow our business.

Research and development expense. Research and development expense consists primarily of salaries and other
personnel-related costs, including benefits, bonuses, and stock-based compensation for our research and development associates.
Additional expenses include costs related to the development, quality assurance, and testing of new technology, and enhancement
of our existing platform technology, consulting, travel, and allocated overhead. We believe continuing to invest in research and
development efforts is essential to maintaining our competitive position. We expect our research and development expense to
increase in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue for the near term, but decrease as a percentage of revenue over the
longer term as we achieve economies of scale.

General and administrative expense. General and administrative expense consists primarily of salaries and other
personnel-related costs, including benefits, bonuses, and stock-based compensation for administrative, finance and accounting,
information systems, legal, and human resource associates. Additional expenses include consulting and professional fees,
insurance and other corporate expenses, and travel. We expect our general and administrative expenses to increase in absolute
terms as a result of operating as a public company and will include costs associated with compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
and other regulations governing public companies, increased costs of directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, increased
professional services expenses, and costs associated with an enhanced investor relations function.

Other Income and Expense

Other income and expense consists primarily of interest income and expense, accretion of contingent consideration, and
gain (loss) on disposal of fixed assets. Interest income represents interest received on our cash and cash equivalents. Interest
expense consists primarily of the interest incurred on outstanding borrowings under our financing obligations, existing notes and
credit facilities.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense consists of U.S. federal and state income taxes. We incurred minimal income tax expense for 2014,
2013, and 2012. Net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax
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purposes were $68,235 million at December 31, 2014. State net operating loss carryforwards were approximately $61,583 million at
December 31, 2014. Federal net operating loss carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in 2022, if not utilized. State net
operating losses will expire at various dates beginning in 2022, if not utilized. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce deferred
tax assets to the amount we believe is more likely than not to be realized.

Results of Operations
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data
The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of operations data for each of the periods indicated (in thousands).

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Revenue $137,420 $104,752 $ 81,739
Cost of revenue (1) 87,470 62,411 44,400
Gross profit 49,950 42,341 37,339
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing (1) 48,467 36,072 27,905
Research and development (1) 41,729 23,532 14,621
General and administrative (1) 18,657 10,974 7,494
Change in fair value of contingent consideration — (43) 121
Total operating expenses 108,853 70,535 50,141
Loss from operations (58,903) (28,194) (12,802)
Other income (expense):
Interest income 77 46 53
Interest expense on building lease financing obligations (3,624) (1,768) (1,774)
Interest expense on other borrowings (682) (381) (202)
Other expense (22) (95) (64)
Total other expense, net (4,251) (2,198) (1,987)
Loss before income taxes (63,154) (30,392) (14,789)
Income tax expense (benefit) 25 (32) 84
Net loss $(63,179) $(30,361) $(14,873)

(1) Cost of revenue and operating expenses include stock-based compensation expense as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Cost of revenue $ 986 $ 274 $ 195
Sales and marketing 1,395 171 68
Research and development 1,376 255 130
General and administrative 1,831 502 319
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The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of operations data as a percentage of revenue for each of the

periods indicated (as a percentage of revenue).

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Change in fair value of contingent consideration
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense on building lease financing obligations
Interest expense on other borrowings
Other expense
Total other expense, net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net loss

Our Segments

The following table sets forth segment results for revenue and gross profit for the periods indicated (in thousands):

Revenue from external customers by segment:
Employer
Carrier
Total net revenue from external customers
Gross profit by segment
Employer
Carrier
Total gross profit by segment

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
63.7 59.6 54.3
36.3 40.4 45.7
35.3 34.4 34.1
30.4 22.5 17.9
13.6 10.5 9.2
— — 0.1
79.2 67.3 61.3
(42.9) (26.9) (15.7)
0.1 — 0.1
(2.6) (1.7) (2.2)
(0.5) (0.4) (0.2)
— (0.2) (0.2)
(3.1 (2.1) (2.4)
(46.0) (29.0) (18.1)
— — 0.1
(46.0)% (29.0)% (18.2)%
Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
$ 62,016 $ 40,656 $23,760

75,404 64,096 57,979
$137,420 $104,752 $81,739
$ 16,186 $ 13,316 $ 9,810

33,764 29,025 27,529
$ 49,950 $ 42,341 $37,339
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Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 201 3

Revenue
Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013
Percentage of Percentage of Period -to-Period Change
Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage
(in thousands)

Software services $125,083 91.0% $ 97,713 93.3% $27,370 28.0%
Professional services 12,337 9.0 7,039 6.7 5,298 75.3
Total revenue $137,420 100.0% $104,752 100.0% $32,668 31.2%

Growth in software services revenue was primarily attributable to the addition of new customers, as the number of large
employer and carrier customers increased to 596 as of December 31, 2014 from 433 as of December 31, 2013. Our professional
services revenue increased in absolute terms between the year ended December 31, 2013 and the year ended December 31,
2014, primarily due to revenue recognized from newly completed implementations of $3.2 million in addition to $2.1 million from the
acceleration of the customer relationship period for customers that did not renew their contracts.

Segment Revenue

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Percentage of Percentage of Period -to-Period Change
Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage
(in thousands)
Employer $ 62,016 45.1% $ 40,656 38.8% $21,360 52.5%
Carrier 75,404 54.9 64,096 61.2 11,308 17.6
Total revenue $137,420 100.0% $104,752 100.0% $32,668 31.2%

The growth in our employer revenue was primarily attributable to a $20.0 million increase in our employer software services
revenue driven primarily by an increase in the number of large employer customers using our platform as of December 31, 2014 as
compared to December 31, 2013. Additionally, employer professional services contributed an increase of $1.4 million primarily
related to newly completed implementations.

The growth in our carrier revenue was primarily attributable to an increase of $7.3 million in our carrier software services
revenue driven primarily by an increase in software services revenue from recent customer product implementations during the
year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2013. The remaining increase of $4.0 million is
related to carrier professional services and is comprised of an increase of $1.9 million in revenue related to customers who went
live on the platform and $2.1 million related to the acceleration of the customer relationship period for customers that did not renew
their contracts.

Cost of Revenue

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Percentage of Percentage of Period -to-Period Change
Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage
(in thousands)
Cost of revenue $87,470 63.7% $62,411 59.6% $25,059 40.2%
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The increase in cost of revenue was in part attributable to an $18.6 million increase in salaries and personnel-related costs
and professional fees, including an increase of $0.7 million related to stock-based compensation, of which $16.0 million was
associated with increased client service capacity to support our growing number of customers and an increase in engineering costs
of $1.2 million. Also, we experienced a $6.4 million increase in infrastructure maintenance costs to support our platform and
additional depreciation and amortization and facilities costs related to the increase in the number of employees.

Gross Profit

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Percentage of Percentage of Period -to-Period Change
Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage
(in thousands)
Software services $ 75,235 60.1% $ 61,564 63.0% $13,671 22.2%
Professional services (25,285) (205.0) (19,223) (273.1) (6,062) 31.5
Gross profit $ 49,950 36.3% $ 42,341 40.4% $ 7,609 18.0%

The increase in software services gross profit in absolute terms was driven by a $27.4 million, or 28.0%, increase in software
services revenue. This increase was partially offset by a $13.7 million, or 37.9%, increase in software services cost of revenue.
Software services cost of revenue included $0.4 million and $0.1 million of stock-based compensation expense for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and $7.2 million and $6.7 million of depreciation and amortization for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

The increase in professional services gross loss was driven by an $11.4 million, or 43.3%, increase in professional services
cost of revenue, partially offset by an increase in professional services revenue of $5.3 million. Professional services cost of
revenue included $0.5 million and $0.2 million of stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013, respectively. In addition, professional services cost of revenue included $0.8 million and $0.4 million in depreciation and
amortization for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. As discussed in “Components of Operating Results—
Cost of Revenue”, our cost of revenue is expensed as we incur the costs. However, the related revenue from fees we receive for
our implementation services performed before a customer is operating on our platform is deferred until the commencement of the
monthly subscription and recognized as revenue ratably over the longer of the related contract term or the estimated expected life
of the customer relationship, which is 10 years for the years presented. Therefore, the cost incurred in providing these services is
expensed in periods prior to the recognition of the corresponding revenue. For this reason, as well as due to the personnel-related
costs associated with providing implementation services, our cost associated with providing implementation services has been
significantly higher as a percentage of related revenue than our cost associated with providing our monthly subscription services.

Segment Gross Profit

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Percentage of Percentage of Period -to-Period Change
Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage
(in thousands)
Employer $16,186 26.1% $13,316 328% $ 2,870 21.6%
Carrier 33,764 44.8 29,025 45.3 4,739 16.3
Gross profit $49,950 36.3% $42,341 404% $ 7,609 18.0%
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Employer gross profit increased in absolute terms by $2.9 million, or 21.6%, between the year ended December 31, 2013
and the year ended December 31, 2014. The $21.4 million, or 52.5%, increase in employer revenue was offset by an $18.5 million,
or 67.6%, increase in employer cost of revenue. The increase in cost of revenue is attributable to costs associated with supporting
the increased number of employer customers live on the platform and the increased cost of providing services, including customer
implementations. Our employer gross profit included $3.5 million and $2.5 million of depreciation and amortization for the years
ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. In addition, our employer gross profit included $0.5 million and
$0.1 million of stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Carrier gross profit increased by $4.7 million, or 16.3%, between the year ended December 31, 2013 and the year ended
December 31, 2014. The $11.3 million, or 17.6%, increase in carrier revenue was offset by a $6.6 million, or 18.7%, increase in
carrier cost of revenue. The increase in cost of revenue is attributable to costs associated with supporting the increased number of
carrier customers live on the platform and the increased cost of providing services, including customer implementations. Our carrier
gross profit included $4.5 million and $4.6 million in depreciation and amortization for the years ended December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013, respectively. In addition, our carrier gross profit included $0.4 million and $0.2 million of stock-based
compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Operating Expenses

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Percentage of Percentage of Period -to-Period Change
Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage
(in thousands)
Sales and marketing $48,467 35.3% $36,072 34.4% $12,395 34.4%
Research and development $41,729 30.4% $23,532 22.5% $18,197 77.3%
General and administrative $18,657 13.6% $10,974 10.5% $ 7,683 70.0%

The increase in sales and marketing expense was primarily attributable to a $7.7 million increase in salaries and personnel-
related costs, including an increase in stock-based compensation of $1.2 million, due to sales and marketing associates hired to
continue driving revenue growth and $1.8 million related to sales and marketing events, $1.9 million related to increases in facilities
and overhead allocation, recruiting and other operating costs driven by an increase in the number of employees, and $0.8 million in
travel-related costs.

The increase in research and development expense was primarily attributable to a $10.8 million increase in salaries and
personnel-related costs, including an increase in stock-based compensation of $1.1 million, due to additional research and
development headcount. Additionally, we experienced a $5.5 million increase in engineering consulting fees for assistance in
product development and $1.8 million related to increases in facilities and overhead allocation, other operating costs, and travel-
related costs driven by an increase in the number of employees.

The increase in general and administrative expense was primarily attributable to a $3.1 million increase in consulting and
professional fees and insurance related to being a publicly traded company, including $0.7 million in costs related to our follow-on
offering on July 17, 2014. We also experienced a $3.0 million increase in salaries and personnel-related costs, including a $1.3
million increase in stock-based compensation expense due to increased headcount. In addition, we experienced a $1.2 million
increase related primarily to increases in facilities and overhead costs.
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Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 201 2

Revenue
Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012
Percentage of Percentage of Period -to-Period Change
Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage
(in thousands)

Software services $ 97,713 93.3% $75,931 92.9% $21,782 28.7%
Professional services 7,039 6.7 5,808 7.1 1,231 21.2
Total revenue $104,752 100.0% $81,739 100.0% $23,013 28.2%

Growth in both software services and professional services revenues year over year was primarily attributable to the addition
of new customers, as the number of large employer and carrier customers increased to 433 as of December 31, 2013 from 320 as
of December 31, 2012.

Segment Revenue

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Percentage of Percentage of Period -to-Period Change
Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage
(in thousands)
Employer $ 40,656 38.8% $23,760 29.1% $16,896 71.1%
Carrier 64,096 61.2 57,979 70.9 6,117 10.6
Total revenue $104,752 100.0% $81,739 100.0% $23,013 28.2%

The growth in employer revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2012
was primarily attributable to a $16.5 million increase in our employer software services revenue driven primarily by an increase in
the number of large employer customers using our platform as of December 31, 2013 as compared to December 31, 2012. The
growth in carrier revenue year over year was primarily attributable to an increase of $5.3 million in our carrier software services
revenue, driven primarily by an increase in the number of carrier customers using our platform as well as an increase in the number
of products being utilized by our carrier customers during the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2012.

Cost of Revenue

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Percentage of Percentage of Period -to-Period Change
Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage
(in thousands)
Cost of revenue $62,411 59.6% $44,400 54.3% $18,011 40.6%

The increase in cost of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2012
was primarily attributable to a $10.7 million increase in salaries and personnel-related costs and a $4.6 million increase in
professional fees. Customer services salaries and personnel-related costs increased $6.8 million and professional fees increased
by $2.6 million to support a growing number of customers and to prepare for and assist with an open enroliment period at a large
customer. Engineering salaries and personnel-related costs increased $3.4 million and professional fees increased by $1.8 million
to perform customer implementations for a certain large
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employer customer and for our Marketplace product at carrier customers. In addition, we experienced a $0.4 million increase in
telecommunications and other expense related to increased open enroliment volume and $0.6 million increase in travel expenses to
client sites. Further, we experienced a $1.3 million increase in infrastructure maintenance costs to support our products and
platform and a $0.8 million increase in facilities expenses as a result of adding office space. Additional hiring led to a $0.2 million
increase in recruiting costs. These increases were partially offset by a net decrease of $0.5 million in amortization expense primarily
due to an impairment charge during the year ended December 31, 2012 related to capitalized software development costs offset by
additions to property and equipment related to our growth.

Gross Profit

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Percentage of Percentage of Period -to-Period Change
Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage
(in thousands)
Software services $ 61,564 63.0%  $47,115 62.0% $14,449 30.7%
Professional services (19,223) (273.1) (9,776) (168.3) (9,447) 96.6
Gross profit $ 42,341 40.4% $37,339 45.7% $ 5,002 13.4%

The increase in software services gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2012 was driven by a $21.8 million, or 28.7%, increase in software services revenue, partially offset by a $7.3
million, or 25.5%, increase in software services cost of revenue. Software services cost of revenue included $93,000 and $100,000
of stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively; and $6.7 million and $7.2
million of depreciation and amortization for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The net decrease in
depreciation and amortization expense was primarily due to an impairment charge during the year ended December 31, 2013
related to capitalized software development costs partially offset by additions to property and equipment related to our growth.

The increase in professional services gross loss for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2012 was driven by a $10.7 million, or 68.5%, increase in professional services cost of revenue, partially offset by a
$1.2 million, or 21.2%, increase in professional services revenue. Professional services cost of revenue included $181,000 and
$95,000 of stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. In addition,
professional services cost of revenue included approximately $0.4 million in depreciation and amortization for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Segment Gross Profit

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Percentage of Percentage of Period -to-Period Change
Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage
(in thousands)
Employer $13,316 32.8% $ 9,810 413% $ 3,506 35.7%
Carrier 29,025 45.3 27,529 47.5 1,496 5.4
Gross profit $42,341 40.4% $37,339 457% $ 5,002 13.4%

The increase in employer gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the year ended December 31,
2012 was driven by a $16.9 million, or 71.1%, increase in employer revenue, partially offset by a $13.4 million, or 96.0%, increase
in employer cost of revenue. The
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increase in cost of revenue was primarily attributable to costs associated with providing implementation services, which increased
due to a higher number of new individual employer customer implementations. Our employer gross profit included $2.5 million and
$1.9 million of depreciation and amortization for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. In addition, our
employer gross profit included $115,000 and $60,000 of stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31,
2013 and 2012, respectively.

The increase in carrier gross profit year over year was driven by a $6.1 million, or 10.6%, increase in carrier revenue,
partially offset by a $4.6 million, or 15.2%, increase in carrier cost of revenue. The increase in cost of revenue is primarily
attributable to new individual carrier customer and product implementations, including our Marketplace product. Our carrier gross
profit included $4.6 million and $5.7 million in depreciation and amortization for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively. In addition, our carrier gross profit included $159,000 and $135,000 of stock-based compensation expense for the
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Operating Expenses

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Percentage of Percentage of Period -to-Period _Change
Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage
(in thousands)
Sales and marketing $36,072 34.4% $27,905 341% $ 8,167 29.3%
Research and development $23,532 22.5% $14,621 179% $ 8911 60.9%
General and administrative $10,974 10.5% $ 7,494 92% $ 3,480 46.4%

The increase in sales and marketing expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2012 was primarily attributable to a $5.1 million increase in commissions and sales bonus expenses due to
increased sales year over year. We also hired sales and marketing personnel to continue driving revenue growth, leading to a $1.5
million increase in salaries and personnel related costs. The additional hiring resulted in a $0.5 million increase in recruiting costs.

The increase in research and development expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2012 was primarily attributable to a $6.0 million increase in salaries and personnel-related costs, a $0.3 million
increase in recruiting costs, and a $1.7 million increase in engineering consulting fees, all related to continued product development
and feature enhancement. Additionally, we experienced a $0.3 million increase in travel expenses to client sites and a $0.3 million
increase in facilities expenses and depreciation as a result of adding office space and equipment to accommodate increased
headcount.

The increase in general and administrative expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2012 was primarily attributable to a $1.8 million increase in salaries and personnel-related costs associated with an
increase in general and administrative personnel to support our growing business and an increase in performance-driven
management bonuses. We also experienced a $0.2 million increase in stock-based compensation expense due to grants made in
October 2012, May 2013, and August 2013 to incentivize our management. In addition, we experienced a $0.8 million increase in
consulting and professional fees and a $0.3 million increase in travel costs incurred in connection with our IPO. Further, other
operating expense increased by $0.2 million year over year primarily due to increased insurance costs.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgme nts and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial
statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses. In accordance with GAAP, we base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we
believe reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results might differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions.

While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe the following accounting policies are critical to the process of
making significant judgments and estimates in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition and Deferred Revenue

We derive the majority of our revenue from software services fees, which consist primarily of monthly subscription fees paid
to us by our customers for access to, and usage of, our cloud-based benefits software solutions for a specified contract term. We
also derive revenue from professional services which primarily include fees related to the implementation of our customers onto our
platform, which typically includes discovery, configuration and deployment, integration, testing, and training.

We recognize revenue when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, we have provided the service, the fees to be
paid by the customer are fixed and determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. We consider that delivery of our cloud-
based software services has commenced once we have granted the customer access to our platform.

We generally recognize software services fees monthly based on the number of employees covered by the relevant benefits
plans at contracted rates for a specified period of time once the criteria for revenue recognition described above have been
satisfied. We defer recognition of our professional services fees and begin recognizing them once the services are performed and
related software services have commenced, ratably over the longer of the contract term or the estimated expected life of the
customer relationship.

We estimate our customer relationship period based on various factors including, but not limited to, contract terms, contract
extensions and renewals, customer attrition, the nature and pace of technology advancements and obsolescence, and the
anticipated impact of demand, competition, and other regulatory and economic factors.

Most of our deferred revenue relates to professional services performed for our carrier customers, which require a more
extensive and lengthy implementation. We will evaluate the term over which revenue is recognized for our implementation fees as
we gain more experience with customer contract renewals.

In January 2015, we adjusted the estimated expected life of the customer relationship period for both segments. This change
in estimate was the result of analyzing recent quantitative and qualitative observations in the market and factors impacting our
business. This change in estimate shortens the term over which deferred revenue will be recognized from 10 to 7 years and will be
applied prospectively to unamortized professional services fees over the longer of the contract term or the adjusted estimated
expected life of the customer relationship.

Accounts Receivable and Allowances for Doubtful Acc ounts and Returns

We state accounts receivable at realizable value, net of an allowance for doubtful accounts that we maintain for estimated
losses expected to result from the inability of some customers to make
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payments as they become due. We base our estimated allowance on our analysis of past due amounts and ongoing credit
evaluations. Historically, our actual collection experience has not varied significantly from our estimates, due primarily to our credit
and collection policies and the financial strength of our customers.

The allowances for returns are accounted for as reductions of revenue and are estimated based on the Company’s periodic
assessment of historical experience and trends. The Company considers factors such as the time lag since the initiation of revenue
recognition, historical reasons for adjustments, new customer volume, complexity of billing arrangements, timing of software
availability, and past due customer billings.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of consideration transferred in a business combination over
the fair value of assets acquired, net of liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized, but is subject to an annual impairment test.
We test goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level annually on October 31, or more frequently if events or changes in
business circumstances indicate the asset might be impaired.

When testing goodwill for impairment, we first perform an assessment of qualitative factors, including but not limited to,
macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, company-specific events, changes in strategy and circumstances,
revenue, and operating margins. If qualitative factors indicate that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the relevant
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, we test goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level using a two-step approach.
In step one, we determine if the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the unit’'s carrying value. If step one indicates that the fair
value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, we perform step two, determining the fair value of goodwill and, if the
carrying value of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value, recording an impairment charge.

We have determined that we have two operating segments, employer and carrier. Further, we have identified that the
employer operating segment contains a component, Benefit Informatics. To determine the fair value of our reporting units, we
primarily use a discounted cash flow analysis, which requires significant assumptions and estimates about future operations.
Significant judgments inherent in this analysis include the determination of an appropriate discount rate, estimated terminal value
and the amount and timing of expected future cash flows.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have issued two types of stock-based awards under our stock plans: stock options and restricted stock units. Stock-
based awards granted to associates, directors, and non-associate third parties are measured at fair value at each grant date. We
recognize stock-based compensation expense, net of forfeitures, ratably over the requisite service period of the option award.
Generally, options vest 25% on the one-year anniversary of the grant date with the balance vesting over the following 36 months.
We previously granted options that vest 100% on the fifth anniversary of the grant date. Restricted stock unit awards generally vest
25% on each anniversary of the grant date over 4 years.

Determination of the Fair Value of Stock-Based Compensation Grants

Prior to our IPO, we were a private company with no active public market for our common stock. We have periodically
determined for financial reporting purposes the estimated per share fair value of our common stock at various dates using
contemporaneous valuations performed in accordance with
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the guidance outlined in the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practice Aid, “Valuation of Privately Held Company
Equity Securities Issued as Compensation,” or the Practice Aid. When determining the fair market value of our common stock, we
considered what we believe to be comparable publicly traded companies, discounted free cash flows, and an analysis of our
enterprise value.

Since our IPO, we determined fair value for restricted stock unit awards based on the closing price of our common stock on
the date of grant or, if not a trading day, the trading day preceding the grant date.

The determination of the fair value of stock-based compensation arrangements is affected by a number of variables,
including estimates of the fair value of our common stock, expected stock price volatility, risk-free interest rate, and the expected life
of the award. We value stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which was developed for use in estimating the
fair value of traded options that are fully transferable and have no vesting restrictions. Black-Scholes and other option valuation
models require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility.

The following summarizes the assumptions used for estimating the fair value of stock options granted during the periods
indicated (we did not grant any stock options in 2014):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Risk-free interest rate 1.0%-1.7% 0.8% - 1.2%
Expected term (years) 6.08 6.08
Expected volatility 52% 53% - 55%
Dividend yield 0% 0%
Weighted-average grant date fair value per share $ 7.71 $ 4.24

We have assumed no dividend yield because we do not expect to pay dividends in the foreseeable future, which is
consistent with our past practice. The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on observed interest rates for constant maturity
U.S. Treasury securities consistent with the expected life of our associate stock options. The expected life represents the period of
time the stock options are expected to be outstanding and is based on the simplified method. Under the simplified method, the
expected life of an option is presumed to be the midpoint between the vesting date and the end of the contractual term. We used
the simplified method due to the lack of sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to otherwise
estimate the expected life of the stock options. Expected volatility is based on historical volatilities for publicly traded stock of
comparable companies over the estimated expected life of the stock options. The list of comparable companies we used to
determine expected volatility was consistent with those used to determine the corresponding fair value of our common stock at
each grant date.

We based our estimate of pre-vesting forfeitures, or forfeiture rate, on our analysis of historical behavior by stock award
holders. We apply the estimated forfeiture rate to the total estimated fair value of the awards, as derived from the Black-Scholes
model, to compute the stock-based compensation expense, net of pre-vesting forfeitures, to be recognized in our consolidated
statements of operations.

Based upon our closing stock price on December 31, 2014 of $32.84, the aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding options to
purchase shares of our common stock as of December 31, 2014 was $60.7 million, of which $53.7 million related to vested options
and $7.0 million to unvested options. The aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding restricted stock units as of December 31, 2014
was $23.7 million, of which all were unvested.

70



Table of Contents

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases, as well as for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. We measure deferred tax assets
and liabilities using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which we expect to recover or settle those
temporary differences. We recognize the effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities in the results of
operations in the period that includes the enactment date. We reduce the measurement of a deferred tax asset, if necessary, by a
valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that we will not realize some or all of the deferred tax asset.

We account for uncertain tax positions by recognizing the financial statement effects of a tax position only when, based upon
technical merits, it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination. We recognize potential accrued
interest and penalties associated with unrecognized tax positions within our global operations in income tax expense.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources of Liquidity

As of December 31, 2014, our primary sources of liquidity were our cash and cash equivalents totaling $51.1 million and $5.1
million in marketable securities, $21.3 million in accounts receivables, net of allowance, and unused revolving line of credit of $12.5
million. The terms of our revolving line of credit are described in Note 8 of our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Prior to our IPO, we funded our operations primarily through cash from operating activities, bank and subordinated debt
borrowings, and private placements of redeemable convertible preferred stock. From 2007 to 2010, we raised $135.5 million from
the sale of redeemable convertible preferred stock to third parties.

On September 23, 2013, we closed our IPO in which we sold 3,000,000 shares of common stock at a public offering price of
$26.50 per share, resulting in net proceeds of $70.1 million. See Note 1 of our consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional details regarding our IPO.

In February 2015, the existing revolving line of credit was replaced with a senior revolving line of credit, or Senior Revolver,
with a syndicate of lenders led by the existing lender. The three-year Senior Revolver has a borrowing limit of $60.0
million. Borrowing capacity under the Senior Revolver is subject to a borrowing base limit that is a function of our monthly recurring
revenue as adjusted to reflect lost customer revenue during the previous three calendar months. Therefore, credit available under
the line of credit may be less than the $60 million borrowing limit. The outstanding indebtedness under the existing revolving line of
credit was repaid with proceeds from the Senior Revolver and the existing revolving line of credit was terminated. Interest is
payable monthly. Advances under the Senior Revolver bear interest at the prime rate as published in the Wall Street Journal plus a
margin based on our liquidity that ranges between 1.0% and 1.5%. We are charged for amounts unused under this arrangement at
a rate based on our liquidity of 0.300% to 0.375% per year. Any outstanding principal is due at the end of the term.

We are bound by customary affirmative and negative covenants in connection with the Senior Revolver, including financial
covenants related to liquidity and EBITDA. In the event of a default, the lenders may declare all obligations immediately due and
stop advancing money or extending credit under the line of credit. The line of credit is collateralized by substantially all of our
tangible and intangible assets, including intellectual property and the equity of our subsidiaries.

71



Table of Contents

On February 24, 2015, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement to sell shares of our common stock to Mercer, one
of our customers. Pursuant to the agreement, on the same date, we sold 2,817,526 shares of our common stock to Mercer for
$26.50 per share or an aggregate of approximately $74.7 million. At the same time, we also issued Mercer a warrant to purchase
up to an additional 580,813 shares of our common stock for $26.50 per share at any time during the 30-month term of the warrant.
The agreement, among other things, includes certain standstill provisions and prevents Mercer from disposing of its shares of our
common stock until the earlier of December 31, 2017, the expiration or termination of the Mercer Exchange Software as a Service
Agreement, as amended between us and Mercer Health & Benefits, LLC, the date on which Mercer and its affiliates own less than
75% of the shares it purchased pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, and the date on which Mercer and its affiliates own
less than 5% of our outstanding common stock. We received all of the proceeds from this sale of shares and will use the proceeds
for working capital and other general corporate purposes.

Based on our current level of operations and anticipated growth, we believe our future cash flows from operating activities
and existing cash balances, which include the net proceeds from our IPO, will be sufficient to meet our cash requirements for at
least the next 12 months.

Going forward, we may access capital markets to raise additional equity or debt financing for various business reasons,
including required debt payments and acquisitions. The timing, term, size, and pricing of any such financing will depend on investor
interest and market conditions, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain any such financing.

Cash Flows
Our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Cash (used in) provided by:

Operating activities $(18,878) $ 1,067 $12,408
Investing activities (1,953) (22,077) (6,308)
Financing activities 6,260 66,952 (2,253)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents $(14,571) $ 45,942 $ 3,847

Operating Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2014, our operating activities used $18.9 million of cash, as $24.8 million of cash provided
by changes in working capital and $19.5 million in adjustments for non-cash items, were more than offset by a net loss of $63.2
million. Adjustments for non-cash items primarily consisted of depreciation and amortization expense of $9.5 million, non-cash
stock compensation expense of $5.6 million, change in fair value and accretion of warrant of $0.7 million, and accrual of interest on
financing obligations of $3.6 million. The cash provided by changes in working capital primarily consisted of an increase in deferred
revenue of $14.3 million, an increase in accrued compensation and benefits of $3.2 million, an increase in accrued expenses of
$2.5 million, and a decrease in accounts receivable of $2.4 million. The increase in deferred revenue was a result of contracts
closed during the period with associated upfront fees, which will be recognized as revenue, ratably over the customer relationship
period, beginning once the software services have commenced. The increase in accrued compensation and benefits resulted from
an increase in the number of associates. The decrease in accounts receivable resulted from normal timing of customer payments.
The increase in accrued expenses resulted from an increase in cost of revenue and operating expenses.
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For the year ended December 31, 2013, net cash and cash equivalents provided by operating activities of $1.1 million
consisted of a net loss of $30.4 million more than offset by $19.4 million of cash provided by changes in working capital and $12.1
million in adjustments for non-cash items. Adjustments for non-cash items primarily consisted of depreciation and amortization
expense of $8.2 million, accrued interest on financing obligation of $1.8 million, non-cash stock compensation expense of $1.2
million, and a change in fair value and accretion of warrant of $0.9 million. The cash provided by changes in working capital
primarily consisted of an increase in deferred revenue of $22.7 million, an increase in accrued compensation and benefits of $4.5
million, and an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $3.5 million. The increase in deferred revenue was a result
of contracts closed during the period with associated upfront fees, which will be recognized as revenue ratably over the customer
relationship period beginning once the software services have commenced. The increase in accrued compensation and benefits
resulted from normal fluctuation in payroll dates and an increase in the number of associates. The increase in accounts payable
resulted from an increase in cost of revenue and operating expenses. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in
operating cash flow due to a $10.3 million increase in accounts receivable. The increase in accounts receivable was primarily
attributable to the growth of our revenue and fees.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, our net cash and cash equivalents provided by operating activities of $12.4 million
consisted of a net loss of $14.9 million, more than offset by $15.4 million of cash provided by changes in working capital and $11.8
million in adjustments for non-cash items. Adjustments for non-cash items primarily consisted of depreciation and amortization
expense of $8.6 million, accrued interest on financing obligation of $1.8 million, non-cash stock compensation expense of $0.7
million and the change in fair value of contingent consideration of $0.2 million. The increase in cash resulting from changes in
working capital primarily consisted of an increase in deferred revenue of $14.7 million and an increase in accrued compensation
and benefits of $3.1 million as a result of increased headcount. The increase in deferred revenue was a result of contracts closed
during the period with associated upfront fees, which will be recognized as revenue, ratably over the customer relationship period,
beginning once the software services have commenced. In addition, we experienced an increase in accounts payable and accrued
expenses of $1.4 million, primarily driven by increased operating costs during the period. These increases were partially offset by a
decrease in operating cash flow due to a $4.4 million increase in accounts receivable, primarily driven by increased revenue during
the year as we continue to expand our operations.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $2.0 million for 2014. For the year ended December 31, 2014, net cash used for
the purchase of property and equipment was $9.8 million partially offset by the cash provided by net maturity of short-term
investments held to maturity of $7.9 million.

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $22.1 million for 2013. We purchased corporate bonds in the amount of $13.2
million. In addition, we spent $8.9 million to purchase property and equipment. For the year ended December 31, 2012, net cash
used in investing activities was $6.3 million, for the purchase of property and equipment.

Financing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2014, net cash provided by financing activities was $6.3 million, consisting of a $14.0
million draw on revolving line of credit and $2.8 million in proceeds from exercises of stock options, offset by $8.2 million in
payments on financing and capital lease obligations and payments on revolving line of credit of $2.1 million.
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On March 28, 2014, a major customer exercised its warrant through a cashless exercise in accordance with the warrant’s
terms, resulting in the issuance of 455,521 shares of common stock. The measured value of the warrant became fully recognized
against revenue in October 2014.

Net cash provided by financing activities totaled $67.0 million for 2013, which resulted primarily from $70.1 million in
proceeds from our IPO, net of issuance costs, $12.2 million in proceeds from line of credit and notes payable borrowings and $0.7
million from exercises of stock options, partially offset by $15.8 million in repayments of notes payable, line of credit, and financing
and capital lease obligations and $0.3 million in payments of contingent consideration.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, net cash used in financing activities was $2.3 million, consisting of $4.2 million in
repayments of debt and financing and capital lease obligations, $0.6 million in repurchases of our common stock and $2.1 million in
payments of contingent consideration related to an acquisition during the year ended December 31, 2010. These amounts were
partially offset by $4.5 million in proceeds from notes payable borrowing and $0.1 million in cash received upon the exercise of
stock options.

Operating and Capital Expenditure Requirements

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents balances and cash generated from operations will be sufficient to
meet our anticipated cash requirements through at least the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements will depend on many
factors, including our customer growth rate, subscription renewal activity, the timing and extent of development efforts, the
expansion of sales and marketing activities, the introduction of new and enhanced services offerings, and the continuing market
acceptance of our services. We might require additional capital beyond our currently anticipated amounts. If our available cash and
cash equivalents balances are insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements, we may seek to sell equity or convertible debt
securities or enter into an additional credit facility. The sale of equity and convertible debt securities may result in dilution to our
stockholders and those securities may have rights senior to those of our common shares. If we raise additional funds through the
issuance of convertible debt securities, these securities could contain covenants that would restrict our operations. Additional
capital may not be available on reasonable terms, or at all.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Our principal commitments consist of obligations under our outstanding debt facilities, non-cancelable leases for our office
space and computer equipment and purchase commitments for our co-location and other support services. The following table
summarizes these contractual obligations at December 31, 2014. Future events could cause actual payments to differ from these
estimates.

Payment due by period

Less than 1 More than 5

Contractual Obligations Total year 1-3 years 3-5 years years
(in thousands)

Long-term debt—Revolving line of credit (1) $ 17,657 $ — $17,657 $ — $ —
Operating lease obligations (2) 39,401 3,857 7,846 7,588 20,110
Capital lease obligations 4,944 2,621 2,321 2 —
Financing obligations, build-to-suit leases (2) 87,111 5,863 12,259 13,006 55,983
Financing obligations, other 2,790 1,599 1,191 — —
Purchase commitments 5,001 2,621 2,380 — —
Total $156,904 $ 16,561 $43,654 $20,596 $ 76,093

(1) Repayment of the revolving line of credit is due at end of the term in 2016. Early repayment is allowed. Interest is paid
monthly.

74



Table of Contents

(2)  Includes future minimum payments totaling $81.5 million for office space that was under construction as of December 31,
2014. During January 2015, the Company occupied the additional office space constructed under the 15-year build-to-suit
lease, signed in December 2013.

In February 2015, the Company replaced its existing revolving line of credit, or Revolver, with the Senior Revolver involving a
syndicate of lenders led by the existing lender. The three-year Senior Revolver has a borrowing limit of $60 million. Borrowing
capacity under the Senior Revolver is subject to a borrowing base limit that is a function of our monthly recurring revenue as
adjusted to reflect lost customer revenue during the previous three calendar months. Therefore, credit available under the Senior
Revolver may be less than the $60 million borrowing limit. The outstanding indebtedness under the Revolver will be repaid with
proceeds from the Senior Revolver. Interest is payable monthly. Advances under the Senior Revolver bear interest at the prime rate
as published in the Wall Street Journal plus a margin based on our liquidity that ranges between 1.0% and 1.5%. We are charged
for amounts unused under this arrangement at a rate based on our liquidity of 0.300% to 0.375% per year. Any outstanding
principal is due at the end of the term.

On December 13, 2013, we entered into a 15 year build-to-suit lease for additional office space at our Charleston, South
Carolina campus. The estimated rentable area of the building to be constructed is approximately 145,000 square feet and the lease
commenced on January 1, 2015. Future minimum under the arrangement payments total $81.5 million are included in the
contractual obligations table above. Under this lease agreement we executed an option to lease two additional adjacent buildings.
The annual cost of the option is $466,000 per year for term of the option which is three years. Additionally, we may incur a
termination fee if we terminate the option or let the option expire. The termination fee of $757,000 will be prorated through the date
of termination or expiration. As of December 31, 2014, we recognized a liability related to the option in the amount of $489,000. No
amounts have been recognized related the to the termination fee. However, if we had terminated the option effective December 31,
2014, we would have incurred expense in the amount of $265,000.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2014, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of SEC
Regulation S-K, such as the use of unconsolidated subsidiaries, structured finance, special purpose entities or variable interest
entities other than as disclosed in Note 15 for which we are not the primary beneficiary of, nor do we have a controlling financial
interest in, any variable interest entity. Accordingly, we have not consolidated any variable interest entities.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, which amends the revenue
recognition requirements in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC. This statement requires that an entity recognize
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The statement shall be applied using one of two methods:
retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented, or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying this
statement recognized at the date of initial application. The Company has not yet determined which method it will apply. This
statement is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within that reporting
period. Early adoption is not permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on the Company’s
consolidated financial position and results of operations.
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We are evaluating other accounting standards and exposure drafts that have been issued or proposed by the FASB or other
standards setting bodies that do not require adoption until a future date to determine whether adoption will have a material impact
on our consolidated financial statements.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures A bout Risk

Market risk is the risk of loss to future earnings, values or future cash flows that may result from changes in the price of a
financial instrument. The value of a financial instrument might change as a result of changes in interest rates, exchange rates,
commodity prices, equity prices and other market changes. We do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative, hedging
or trading purposes, although in the future we might enter into exchange rate hedging arrangements to manage the risks described
below.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates. Borrowings under the revolving line of credit with Silicon
Valley Bank, which was entered into in August 2013, bear interest at rates that are variable. Increases in the LIBOR or Prime Rate
would increase the amount of interest payable under this line of credit. Borrowings outstanding under our previous credit
arrangements were not subject to interest rate risk because they bore interest at fixed rates.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

We are subject to interest rate risk in connection with borrowings under our revolving line of credit, which are subject to a
variable interest rate. At December 31, 2014, we had borrowings under our revolving line of credit of $17.7 million. As a result, each
change of one percentage point in interest rates would result in an approximate $177,000 change in our annual interest expense on
our outstanding borrowings at December 31, 2014. Any debt we incur in the future may also bear interest at variable rates.

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations. We
continue to monitor the impact of inflation in order to minimize its effects through pricing strategies, productivity improvements and
cost reductions. If our costs were to become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such
higher costs through price increases. Our inability or failure to do so could harm our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this Item is set forth in the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto beginning at
page F-1 of this Report.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountan  ts on Accounting and Financial Disclosures
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our President and Chief Executive Officer,
and our Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered
by this report.

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any disclosure controls
and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired
control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource
constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures
relative to their costs.

Based on their evaluation and given the remediation of our material weakness in internal controls over the accounting for
leasing transactions as of September 30, 2014, our President and Chief Executive Officer, and our Chief Financial Officer,
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to, and are effective to, provide assurance at a reasonable
level that the information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our President and Chief Executive Officer, and our Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures as of December 31, 2014.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management, including out President and Chief Executive Officer, and our Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under
the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and that our
receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and
(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our President and Chief Executive Officer,
and our Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014, based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) (1992 framework). Based on this evaluation
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under the Internal Control—Integrated Framework and given the remediation of our material weakness in internal controls over the
accounting for leasing transactions as of September 30, 2014, our President and Chief Executive Officer, and our Chief Financial
Officer, have concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2014.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

No change in internal control over financial reporting occurred during the most recent fiscal quarter with respect to our
operations, which has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Attestation Report of Registered Public Accounting Firm

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm
due to an exemption established by the JOBS Act for emerging growth companies.

Item 9B. Other Information
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

On February 24, 2015, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with Mercer LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company and a wholly owned subsidiary of Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc., a Delaware corporation, or the Investor. Pursuant
to the Securities Purchase Agreement, we sold and issued to the Investor 2,817,526 shares of our common stock for $26.50 per
share or an aggregate of $74,664,439. At the same time, we also issued Mercer a warrant, or the Warrant, to purchase an
additional 580,813 shares of our common stock for $26.50 per share at any time during the 30-month term of the Warrant.

The offer and sale of the shares of our common stock and Warrant to Mercer are exempt from registration under the
Securities Act pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 promulgated thereunder, based on the fact that the
sale was to only one accredited investor.

The Securities Purchase Agreement provides as follows:

Board Observer Right . Until the earlier of (i) the expiration or termination of the Alliance Agreement (as defined below) and
(ii) the first date on which the Investor and its affiliates own less than (A) 75% of the shares of our common stock acquired on
February 24, 2015 or (B) 5% of our common stock outstanding, in each case in this clause (ii), for a period of at least 45
consecutive days, or the Termination Date, the Investor is entitled to designate an observer as outlined in the Securities Purchase
Agreement, to attend all meetings of our board of directors and its committees, subject to certain exceptions.

Standstill . Until the Termination Date and subject to certain exceptions as set forth in the Securities Purchase Agreement,
the Investor and its affiliates are restricted from, among other things, acquiring additional shares of our common stock such that
they beneficially own more than 17.5% of our common stock outstanding and any shares issuable pursuant to the Warrant without
consent of our board of directors, proposing to enter into, directly or indirectly, any merger or business combination involving our
company, taking certain actions to seek control of our management, board of directors or policies, soliciting proxies with respect to
our common stock, or joining a group for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting or disposing of our common stock. These
standstill restrictions immediately terminate in circumstances including, but not limited to, any public third-party proposal or
announcement relating to a merger of business combination with our company or certain third parties acquiring shares representing
15% or more of our common stock outstanding.
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Lockup . Until the earlier of the Termination Date or December 31, 2017, the Investor will not sell, transfer or otherwise
dispose of, directly or indirectly, any shares of our common stock or enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers to
another person any of the economic consequences of ownership thereof, except: to our company; in response to a tender or
exchange offer for our common stock; as part of a merger or other transaction in which all outstanding shares of our common stock
are converted into or exchanged for other consideration and is approved by our stockholders; transfers to affiliates of the Investor in
accordance with the Securities Purchase Agreement; or with approval of our board of directors.

Right of Notice . Until the Termination Date, in the event that our board of directors initiates or participates in a process with
respect to a transaction that would result in a sale of substantially all the assets of our company or would result in a change of
control of our company, the Investor is entitled to notice of such process and to participate in such process on terms at least as
favorable as the most favorable terms offered to any third party participating therein.

In addition, for the same period, we have agreed not to enter into any agreement providing for a change of control, unless we
notify the Investor in writing at least five business days before taking such action, and consider in good faith any offer or proposal
made by the Investor within such period.

Right of First Offer . We have granted the Investor a right of first offer with respect to certain new issuances of our equity
securities, as have our majority stockholder and other large stockholders with respect to sales of their shares of our common stock
pursuant to Right of First Offer Agreement. In general, we and the applicable stockholders are required to offer the Investor the right
to purchase any shares of our common stock or other equity securities of our company that we or such stockholders propose to
issue or sell, at a price we or the stockholders, as applicable, specify, and if the Investor declines to purchase such shares or other
securities at such price, we or the stockholders may issue or sell such securities to one or more third parties at a price no less than
the price offered to the Investor. These rights of first offer are subject to the limitation on acquisitions of additional shares of
common stock by the Investor under the standstill restrictions described above, and are also subject to certain other exceptions,
including only applying to 50% of shares or other securities proposed to be sold by any stockholder in a registered offering or
certain other similar forms of sales. These rights of first offer will remain in effect until the Termination Date, subject to certain
exceptions.

Other Provisions . The Securities Purchase Agreement contains customary representations, warranties, covenants and other
agreements of each of the parties thereto.

Amendment to Rights Agreement

On February 24, 2015, the parties to our existing Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated September 18, 2013, or Rights
Agreement, entered into an amendment to the Rights Agreement to (i) provide that the Investor is now party to and bound by the
Rights Agreement, (ii) alter the thresholds surrounding registration rights of the stockholders who are party to the Rights
Agreement, and (iii) eliminate the termination period of the Rights Agreement.

Alliance Agreement

In connection with the Securities Purchase Agreement, we entered into an amendment of the Mercer Exchange Software as
a Service Agreement, or Alliance Agreement, with Mercer Health & Benefits LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and an
affiliate of the Investor, or Mercer Health. The amendment to the Alliance Agreement, among other things, expands certain terms
and conditions of the existing relationship between our company and Mercer Health.
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The description of the Securities Purchase Agreement, Warrant, Right of First Offer Agreement and the amendment to the
Rights Agreement, collectively, the Transaction Documents, is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full and complete terms of
such agreements, which are filed as exhibits hereto and incorporated herein by reference. The representations, warranties and
covenants contained in the Transaction Documents are made only for purposes of that agreement and as of specific dates, are
solely for the benefit of the parties to such Transaction Documents, may be subject to limitations agreed upon by the parties,
including being qualified by confidential disclosures made for the purposes of allocating contractual risk between the parties instead
of establishing these matters as facts, and may be subject to standards of materiality applicable to the parties that differ from those
applicable to investors. Investors should not rely on the representations, warranties and covenants or any description thereof as
characterizations of the actual state of facts or condition of the parties to the Transaction Documents or any of their respective
subsidiaries or affiliates. Moreover, information concerning the subject matter of the representations, warranties and covenants may
change after the date of the Transaction Documents, and such subsequent information may not be fully reflected in public
disclosures by the parties to the Transaction Documents.
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PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporat e Governance

Information required by this Item concerning our directors is incorporated by reference from the sections captioned “Election
of Directors” and “Corporate Governance Matters” contained in our proxy statement related to the 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders currently scheduled to be held on June 12, 2015 which we intend to file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K.

Our board of directors has determined that of the members of the Audit Committee, Messrs. Pelzer, Swad and Dennerline
are independent within the meaning of the NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules and meet the additional test for independence for
audit committee members imposed by Securities and Exchange Commission regulation and the NASDAQ Stock Market listing
rules. Our board has also determined that the Mr. Pelzer is an “audit committee financial expert” as defined in Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of
Regulation S-K.

We have adopted a code of ethics relating to the conduct of our business by all of our employees, officers, and directors, as
well as a code of conduct specifically for our principal executive officer and senior financial officers. Each of these policies is posted
on our website, www.benefitfocus.com .

The information required by this Item concerning our executive officers is set forth at the end of Part | of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

The information required by this Item concerning compliance with Section 16(a) of the United States Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended, is incorporated by reference from the section of the proxy statement captioned “Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance”.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information under the sections captioned “Executive
Compensation” and “Director Compensation” in the proxy statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial O  wners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter s

The following table sets forth the indicated information as of December 31, 2014 with respect to our equity compensation
plans:

Number of
securities
remaining available
Number of securities to Weighted -average for future issuance
be issued upon exercise exercise price of under equity
of outstanding options, outstanding options, compensation
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights plans
Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders
2012 Stock Plan, as amended 1,370,413 $ 4.95 1,966,602
Amended and Restated 2000 Stock
Option Plan 1,732,838 $ 6.24 —
Total 3,103,251 $ 5.67 1,966,602
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Our equity compensation plans consist of the 2012 Stock Plan, as amended and the Amended and Restated 2000 Stock
Option Plan, which were approved by our stockholders. We do not have any equity compensation plans or arrangements that have
not been approved by our stockholders.

The other information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information under the section captioned
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” contained in the proxy statement.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transact ions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information under the section captioned “Certain
Relationships and Related Party Transactions” and “Corporate Governance Matters” in the proxy statement.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information under the section captioned “Audit
Committee Report” in the proxy statement.
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PART IV
Iltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Schedules

(a) 1. Financial Statements.
The following statements are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and

2012 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and

2012 F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7

2. Financial Statement Schedules.
Schedule IlI-Valuation and Qualifying Accounts F-35

Schedules not listed above have been omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is not applicable or is shown
in the financial statements or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit (Unless Otherwise Indicated)
Number Exhibit Title Form File Exhibit Filing Date
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated August 29, S-1/A 333-190610 2.1 September 5, 2013

2013 by and among Benefitfocus.com, Inc.,
Benefitfocus, Inc., and Benefitfocus Mergeco, Inc.

3.1.3 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Benefitfocus, 10-Q — 3.1.3 November 12, 2013
Inc.
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Benefitfocus, Inc. S-1/A 333-190610 3.2 September 5, 2013
4.1 Specimen Certificate for Common Stock. S-1/A 333-190610 4.1 September 5, 2013
4.3 Form of Second Amended and Restated Investors’ S-1/A 333-190610 4.3 September 16, 2013
Rights Agreement, dated , 2013, by and

among Benefitfocus, Inc. and certain stockholders
named therein.

4.3.1 First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated — — — Filed herewith
Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated February 24,
2015, by and among Benefitfocus, Inc. and certain
stockholders named therein.

4.5 Warrant for the Purchase of Shares of Common — — — Filed herewith
Stock of Benefitfocus, Inc. issued February 24, 2015.
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Exhibit
Number

10.2

10.3
10.4
10.5

10.6

10.7
10.7.1
10.8
10.9

10.10

10.11
10.12
10.13

10.14

10.15

Exhibit Title

Form of Second Amended and Restated Voting
Agreement, dated , 2013, by and among
Benefitfocus, Inc., and certain stockholders named therein.

Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Option Plan.#
2012 Stock Plan, as amended.#

Form of Grant Notice and Stock Option Agreement under
the Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Option Plan.#

Form of Grant Notice and Stock Option Agreement under
the 2012 Stock Plan, as amended.#

Form of Management Incentive Bonus Program.#
Benefitfocus, Inc. Management Incentive Bonus Program.#

Employment Agreement, dated January 19, 2007, by and
between Benefitfocus.com, Inc. and Mason R. Holland,
Jr.#

Employment Agreement, dated January 19, 2007, by and
between Benefitfocus.com, Inc. and Shawn A. Jenkins.#

Employment Agreement, dated November 16, 2011, by
and between Benefitfocus.com, Inc. and Milton A. Alpern.#

Form of Employment Agreement.#
Form of Indemnification Agreement.#

Lease between Daniel Island Executive Center, LLC and
Benefitfocus.com, Inc., dated as of January 1, 2009, as
amended.

Lease between Daniel Island Executive Center, LLC and
Benefitfocus.com, Inc., dated as of May 31, 2005.

Master Business Agreement between Aetna Life Insurance
Company and Benefitfocus.com, Inc., dated as of
November 28, 2006.7
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Form

S-1/A

S-1
DEF 14A
S-1

S-1

S-1
DEF 14A
S-1

S-1

S-1
S-1
S-1

S-1

S-1

Incorporated by Reference
(Unless Otherwise Indicated)

File

333-190610

333-190610

333-190610

333-190610

333-190610

333-190610

333-190610

333-190610

333-190610
333-190610
333-190610

333-190610

333-190610

Exhibit
10.2

10.3

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11
10.12
10.13

10.14

10.15

Filing Date

September 5,
2013

August 14, 2013
April 25, 2014
August 14, 2013

August 14, 2013

August 14, 2013
April 25, 2014
August 14, 2013
August 14, 2013

August 14, 2013

August 14, 2013
August 14, 2013
August 14, 2013

August 14, 2013

August 14, 2013
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Exhibit

Number

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

21.1
23.1
31.1

31.2

Exhibit Title

Master Guidance Line of Credit Agreement between
Benefitfocus.com, Inc. and NBSC, a division of Synovus
Bank, dated as of November 21, 2012 and the form of the
Security Agreement and Promissory Notes thereunder.

Loan and Security Agreement between Silicon Valley
Bank, Benefitfocus.com, Inc., Benefit Informatics, Inc.,
and Benefitfocus, Inc., dated as of August 27, 2013.

Second Amendment Agreement between Silicon Valley
Bank, Benefitfocus.com, Benefit Informatics, Inc., and
Benefitfocus, Inc., dated December 10, 2013.

Lease between DIEC Il, LLC and Benefitfocus.com, Inc.,
dated as of December 13, 2013.

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 24,
2015, by and among Benefitfocus, Inc. and Mercer LLC.

Right of First Offer Agreement, dated as of February 24,
2015, by and among Benefitfocus, Inc., Mercer LLC, GS
Capital Partners VI Parallel, L.P., GS Capital Partners VI
GmbH & Co. KG, GS Capital Partners VI Fund, L.P., GS
Capital Partners VI Offshore Fund, L.P., Oak Investment
Partners XlI, Limited Partnership and certain stockholders
named therein.

List of Subsidiaries of Registrant.
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

Certification of the President and Chief Executive Officer
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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Form

S-1/A

8-K

10-K

Incorporated by Reference
(Unless Otherwise Indicated)

File

333-190610

333-190610

Exhibit
10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

Filing Date
August 14, 2013

September 5, 2013

December 12, 2013

March 21, 2014
Filed herewith

Filed herewith

Filed herewith
Filed herewith
Filed herewith

Filed herewith
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit (Unless Otherwise Indicated)
Number Exhibit Title Form File Exhibit Filing Date
321 Certification of the President and Chief — — — Filed herewith

Executive Officer, and the Chief Financial
Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document. — — — Filed herewith
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema — — — Filed herewith
Document.
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation — — — Filed herewith
Linkbase Document.
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase — — — Filed herewith
Document.
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase — — — Filed herewith
Document.
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation — — — Filed herewith
Linkbase Document.
# Management contract or compensatory plan.
t The registrant has received confidential treatment with respect to portions of this exhibit. Those portions have been omitted

from the exhibit and filed separately with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Sections 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Benefitfocus, Inc.

Date: February 27, 2015 By: /s/ Milton A. Alpern

Milton A. Alpern
Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons
on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Capacity Date
/sl Mason R. Holland, Jr. Chairman of the Board of Directors February 27, 2015
Mason R. Holland, Jr.
President and Chief Executive February 27, 2015
/s/ Shawn A. Jenkins Officer (principal executive officer) and
Shawn A. Jenkins Director
/sl Milton A. Alpern Chief Financial Officer (principal financial and February 27, 2015
Milton A. Alpern accounting officer)
/s/ Douglas A. Dennerline Director February 27, 2015
Douglas A. Dennerline
/sl Joseph P. DiSabato Director February 27, 2015
Joseph P. DiSabato
/s/ Ann H. Lamont Director February 27, 2015
Ann H. Lamont
/s/ A. Lanham Napier Director February 27, 2015
A. Lanham Napier
/sl Francis J. Pelzer V Director February 27, 2015
Francis J. Pelzer V
/sl Stephen M. Swad Director February 27, 2015

Stephen M. Swad
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Benefitfocus, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Benefitfocus, Inc. as of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders’ (deficit) equity and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule
listed in the Index at Item 15(a)(2). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of Benefitfocus, Inc. at December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as
a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
February 27, 2015
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BENEFITFOCUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

As of December 31,

2014 2013
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 51,074 $ 65,645
Marketable securities 5,135 13,168
Accounts receivable, net 21,311 23,668
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,242 4,322
Total current assets 81,762 106,803
Property and equipment, net 54,021 27,444
Intangible assets, net 951 1,256
Goodwill 1,634 1,634
Other non-current assets 1,650 2,474
Total assets $ 140,018 $ 139,611
Liabilities and stockholders ' (deficit) equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 5,589 $ 4,354
Accrued expenses 9,171 3,911
Accrued compensation and benefits 17,374 14,183
Deferred revenue, current portion 20,384 15,158
Financing and capital lease obligations, current portion 4,197 4,288
Total current liabilities 56,715 41,894
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 74,126 65,063
Revolving line of credit 17,657 5,757
Financing and capital lease obligations, net of current portion 32,240 14,263
Other non-current liabilities 2,103 1,202
Total liabilities 182,841 128,179
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ (deficit) equity:
Preferred stock, par value $0.001, 5,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013 — —
Common stock, par value $0.001, 50,000,000 shares authorized, 25,608,937 and 24,495,651
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively 26 24
Additional paid-in capital 223,409 214,487
Accumulated deficit (266,258) (203,079)
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity (42,823) 11,432
Total liabilities and stockholders’ (deficit) equity $ 140,018 $ 139,611

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BENEFITFOCUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHEN SIVE LOSS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Change in fair value of contingent consideration
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense on building lease financing obligations
Interest expense on other borrowings
Other expense
Total other expense, net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net loss

Comprehensive loss

Net loss per common share:
Basic and diluted

Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted

Year Ended December 31,

2014
$ 137,420
87,470
49,950

48,467
41,729
18,657

108,853
(58,903)

77
(3,624)

(682)

(22)

(4,251)
(63,154)

25

$  (63,179)

$ (63,179
$ (2.51)

25,207,099

2013
$ 104,752
62,411
42,341

36,072
23,532
10,974

B (X))
70,535

(28,194)

46
(1,768)

(381)

(95)

(2,198)
(30,392)

(31)
$ (30,363
$  (30,361)

$ (2.99)

10,144,243

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2012

$ 81,739
44,400
37,339

27,905
14,621
7,494
121

50,141
(12,802)

53
(1,774)
(202)

(64)

(1,987)
(14,789)
__ 84
$ (14,873)

$ (14,873)
$  (3.09)

4,812,632
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BENEFITFOCUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' (DEFICIT) EQUITY

(in thousands, except share data)

Common Stock, Common Stock, Additional Total
No Par Value $0.001 Par Value Paid-in Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Par Value Shares Par Value Capital Deficit (Deficit) Equity
Balance, December 31, 2011 4,805,957 $ 4,923 — 3 - % = $ (157,368) $ (152,445)
Exercise of stock options 50,410 108 — — — — 108
Repurchase of common stock (64,020) (122) — — — 477) (599)
Stock-based compensation expense — 712 — — — — 712
Accretion of customer warrant — 488 — — — — 488
Net loss — — — — — (14,873) (14,873)
Balance, December 31, 2012 4,792,347 $ 6,109 — 3 — 3 — $ (172,718) $ (166,609)
Exercise of stock options 71,694 168 129,750 — 531 — 699
Issuance of common stock 5,000 68 — — — — 68
Effects of corporate restructuring (4,869,041) (7,328) 4,869,041 5 7,323 — —
Initial public offering, net of issuance costs — — 3,000,000 3 70,061 — 70,064
Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred
stock — — 16,496,860 16 135,461 — 135,477
Stock-based compensation expense — 537 — — 665 — 1,202
Accretion of customer warrant — 446 — — 446 — 892
Net loss — — — — — (30,361) (30,361)
Balance, December 31, 2013 — $ — 24,495,651 $ 24 $ 214,487 $ (203,079) $ 11,432
Exercise of stock options — — 642,152 1 2,817 — 2,818
Issuance of common stock upon vesting of restricted
stock units, net of shares surrendered for taxes — — 15,613 — (226) — (226)
Issuance of common stock for cashless exercise of
warrant — — 455,521 1 1) — —
Stock-based compensation expense — — — — 5,588 — 5,588
Accretion of customer warrant — — — — 744 — 744
Net loss — — — — — (63,179) (63,179)
Balance, December 31, 2014 = $ — 25,608,937 $ 26 $ 223,409 $ (266,258) $ (42,823)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BENEFITFOCUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss

(in thousands)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash and cash equivalents (used in) provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense
Change in fair value and accretion of warrant
Interest accrual on financing obligation
Change in fair value of contingent consideration
Provision for doubtful accounts
Loss on disposal or impairment of property and equipment
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net
Accrued interest on short-term investments
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other non-current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Accrued compensation and benefits
Contingent consideration related to acquisition
Deferred revenue
Other non-current liabilities
Net cash and cash equivalents (used in) provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of short-term investments held to maturity
Proceeds from maturity of short-term investments held to maturity
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Net cash and cash equivalents used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of issuance costs
Draws on revolving line of credit
Payments on revolving line of credit
Proceeds from notes payable borrowing
Repayment of notes payable
Proceeds from exercises of stock options
Proceeds from issuance of common stock (excluding IPO)
Remittance of taxes upon vesting of restricted stock units
Repurchases of common stock
Payments of contingent consideration
Payments on financing and capital lease obligations
Net cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in) financing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalent s
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Supplemental disclosure of non -cash investing and financing activities

Property and equipment acquisitions in accounts payable and accrued expenses

Property and equipment acquired with financing and capital lease obligations

Post contract support acquired with financing obligations

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Income taxes paid

Interest paid

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
$(63,179)  $(30,361)  $(14,873)
9,493 8,172 8,560
5,588 1,202 712
744 892 488
3,624 1,768 1,774
— 17) 188

— (32) 08

25 65 17
2,357 (10,264) (4,411)
162 — —
833 (1,440) 639
824 — —
(199) 2,625 862
2,469 904 532
3,192 4,521 3,102
— — (320)
14,288 22,701 14,747
901 331 293
(18,878) 1,067 12,408
(12,959)  (13,168) —
20,830 — —
(9,824) (8,918) (6,308)
— 9 —
(1,953)  (22,077) (6,308)
— 70,064 —
14,000 10,757 —
(2,100) (5,000) —
— 1,465 4,535

= (7,447) (1,074)
2,817 699 108
(226) — —

— — (599)

— (311) (2,078)
(8,231) (3,343) (3,145)
6,260 66,952 (2,253)
(14,571) 45,942 3,847
65,645 19,703 15,856
$51,074 $65645 $ 19,703
$ 4226 $ 524 0§ —
$21739 $ 5440 $ 132
$ 754 $ 3872 $ —
$ 38 $ 169 $ 40
$ 2449 $ 2146 $ 10973

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BENEFITFOCUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands, except share and per shared  ata)

1. Organization and Description of Business

Benefitfocus, Inc. (the “Company”) is a leading provider of cloud-based benefits software solutions for consumers,
employers, insurance carriers and brokers delivered under a software-as-a-service (“SaaS”) model. The financial statements of the
Company include the financial position and operations of its wholly owned subsidiaries, Benefitfocus.com, Inc., Benefit Informatics,
Inc. and BenefitStore, Inc.

Corporate restructuring

The Company, a Delaware corporation, was originally a wholly owned subsidiary of Benefitfocus.com, Inc., the South
Carolina corporation that conducts the business of the Company. On March 13, 2013, the board of directors of each of
Benefitfocus, Inc. and Benefitfocus.com, Inc. approved a corporate restructuring to be effected prior to the completion of the
Company’s initial public offering (“IPO”) of shares of its common stock. On September 13, 2013, the Company restructured its
organization by merging Benefitfocus.com, Inc. with a newly formed South Carolina corporation, which was a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. As a result of the corporate restructuring, Benefitfocus.com, Inc. became a wholly owned operating
subsidiary of the Company. Additionally, the common and preferred stockholders of Benefitfocus.com, Inc. became common and
preferred stockholders, respectively, of Benefitfocus, Inc. and warrants that were exercisable for common shares of
Benefitfocus.com, Inc. became exercisable for common shares of Benefitfocus, Inc. Similarly, holders of options to purchase
common shares of Benefitfocus.com, Inc. became holders of options to purchase shares of common stock of Benefitfocus, Inc.

Initial Public Offering

In September 2013, the Company completed its IPO in which it issued and sold 3,000,000 shares of common stock and
existing shareholders sold 2,675,250 shares of common stock at a public offering price of $26.50 per share. The Company did not
receive any proceeds from the sale of common stock by the existing shareholders. The Company received net proceeds of $70,064
after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $5,565 and other offering expenses of $3,871. Upon the closing of the
IPO, all shares of the Company’s then-outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock automatically converted into 16,496,860
shares of its $0.001 par value common stock.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries.
All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. We are not the primary beneficiary of, nor do we
have a controlling financial interest in, any variable interest entity. Accordingly, we have not consolidated any variable interest
entity.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Such estimates include revenue
recognition and the customer relationship
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BENEFITFOCUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands, except share and per shared  ata)

period, allowances for doubtful accounts and returns, valuations of deferred income taxes, long-lived assets, warrants, the useful
lives of assets, capitalizable software development costs and the related amortization, contingent consideration, stock-based
compensation, and the recognition and impairment assessment of acquired intangibles and goodwill. Determination of these
transactions and account balances are based on the Company’s estimates and judgments. These estimates are based on the
Company'’s knowledge of current events and actions it may undertake in the future as well as on various other assumptions that it
believes to be reasonable. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.

Revenue and Deferred Revenue

The Company derives the majority of its revenue from software services fees, which consist primarily of monthly subscription
fees paid by customers for access to and usage of the Company’s cloud-based benefits software solutions for a specified contract
term. The Company also derives revenue from professional services which primarily include fees related to the integration of
customers’ systems with the Company’s platform, which typically includes discovery, configuration, deployment, testing, and
training.

The Company recognizes revenue when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the service has been provided, the
fees to be paid by the customer are fixed and determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. The Company considers
delivery of its cloud-based software services has commenced once it has granted the customer access to its platform.

The Company’s arrangements generally contain multiple elements comprised of software services and professional services.
The Company evaluates each element in an arrangement to determine whether it represents a separate unit of accounting. An
element constitutes a separate unit of accounting when the delivered item has standalone value and delivery of the undelivered
element is probable and within the Company’s control. The Company’s professional services are not sold separately from the
software services and there is no alternative use for them. As such, the Company has determined that the professional services do
not have standalone value. Accordingly, software services and professional services are combined and recognized as a single unit
of accounting.

The Company generally recognizes software services fees monthly based on the number of employees covered by the
relevant benefits plans at contracted rates for a specified period of time, once the criteria for revenue recognition described above
have been satisfied. The Company defers recognition of revenue for professional services fees and begins recognizing such
revenue once the services are performed and the related software services have commenced, ratably over the longer of the
contract term or the estimated expected life of the customer relationship. Costs incurred by the Company in connection with
providing such professional services are charged to expense as incurred and are included in “Cost of revenue.”

In January 2015, the Company adjusted the estimated expected life of its customer relationship. This change in estimate was
the result of analyzing quantitative and qualitative observations in the market and the Company’s business. This change shortens
the term over which deferred revenue will be recognized from 10 to 7 years and will be applied prospectively to unamortized
professional services fees over the longer of the contract term or the adjusted estimated expected life of the customer relationship.
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BENEFITFOCUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands, except share and per shared  ata)

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of employee compensation, professional services, data center co-location costs,
networking expenses, depreciation expense for computer equipment directly associated with generating revenue, amortization
expense for capitalized software development costs, and infrastructure maintenance costs. In addition, the Company allocates a
portion of overhead, such as rent, additional depreciation and amortization expense, and employee benefit costs, to cost of revenue
based on headcount.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of bank checking accounts and money market accounts. The Company considers all
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities consist of short-term investments in corporate securities. The Company classifies its marketable
securities as held-to-maturity at the time of purchase. As a result, the marketable securities are recorded at amortized cost and any
gains or losses realized upon maturity are reported in other expense, net in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents
and accounts receivable. All of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents are held at financial institutions that management
believes to be of high credit quality. The bank deposits of the Company might, at times, exceed federally insured limits and are
generally uninsured and uncollateralized. The Company has not experienced any losses on cash and cash equivalents to date. To
manage accounts receivable risk, the Company evaluates the creditworthiness of its customers and maintains an allowance for
doubtful accounts.

Accounts receivable were unsecured and were derived from revenue earned from customers located in the United States.
Accounts receivable from one customer, Aetna, represented 13.3% and 11.3% of the total accounts receivable at December 31,
2014 and 2013, respectively.

No customer represented more than 10% of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. Revenue from
one customer, Aetna, represented 10.5% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2012. Revenue from this customer is
reported in the Company’s Carrier segment.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Acco unts and Returns

Accounts receivable is stated at realizable value, net of allowances for doubtful accounts and returns. The Company utilizes
the allowance method to provide for doubtful accounts based on management’s evaluation of the collectability of amounts due, and
other relevant factors. Bad debt expense is recorded in general and administrative expense on the consolidated statements of
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BENEFITFOCUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands, except share and per shared  ata)

operations and comprehensive loss. The Company’s estimate is based on historical collection experience and a review of the
current status of accounts receivable. Historically, actual write-offs for uncollectible accounts have not significantly differed from the
Company’s estimates. The Company removes recorded receivables and the associated allowances when they are deemed
permanently uncollectible. However, higher than expected bad debts may result in future write-offs that are greater than the
Company’s estimates. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $10 as of December 31, 2014 and 2013.

The allowances for returns are accounted for as reductions of revenue and are estimated based on the Company’s periodic
assessment of historical experience and trends. The Company considers factors such as the time lag since the initiation of revenue
recognition, historical reasons for adjustments, new customer volume, complexity of billing arrangements, timing of software
availability, and past due customer billings. The allowance for returns was $1,653 and $800 as of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, including capitalized software development costs, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and amortization. Expenditures for major additions and improvements are capitalized. Depreciation and amortization is recognized
over the estimated useful lives of the related assets using the straight-line method.

The estimated useful lives for significant property and equipment categories are generally as follows:

Computers and related equipment 3-7 years

Furniture and fixtures 7 years

Other equipment 5-12 years

Purchased software and licenses 1-7 years

Vehicles 5 years

Buildings 30 years

Leasehold improvements Lesser of estimated useful life of asset or lease term

Useful lives of significant assets are periodically reviewed and adjusted prospectively to reflect the Company’s current
estimates of the respective assets’ expected utility. Costs associated with maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.

In the event the Company has been deemed the owner for accounting purposes of construction projects in build-to-suit lease
arrangements, the estimated construction costs incurred to date are recorded as assets in Property and Equipment, net. Upon
occupancy of facilities under build-to-suit leases, the Company assesses whether arrangements qualify for sales recognition under
the sale-leaseback accounting guidance. If the Company continues to be the deemed owner for accounting purposes, the cost of
the building is depreciated over its estimated useful life.

Capitalized Software Development Costs

The Company capitalizes certain costs related to its software developed or obtained for internal use. Costs related to
preliminary project activities and post-implementation activities are expensed as
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BENEFITFOCUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands, except share and per shared  ata)

incurred. Internal and external costs incurred during the application development stage, including upgrades and enhancements
representing modifications that will result in significant additional functionality, are capitalized. Software maintenance and training
costs are expensed as incurred. Capitalized costs are recorded as part of property and equipment and are amortized on a straight-
line basis over the software’s estimated useful life which is three years. The Company evaluates these assets for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances occur that could impact the recoverability of these assets.

Identifiable Intangible Assets

Identifiable intangible assets with finite lives are recorded at their fair values at the date of acquisition and are amortized on a
straight-line basis over their respective estimated useful lives, which is the period over which the asset is expected to contribute
directly or indirectly to future cash flows. The estimated remaining useful lives used in computing amortization range from 1 to 4
years.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Goodwill

The Company reviews long-lived assets and definite-lived intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of the long-lived asset is measured
by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset or asset group to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be
generated. If such assets are not recoverable, the impairment to be recognized, if any, is measured as the amount by which the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds the estimated fair value (discounted cash flow) of the assets or asset group. Assets held for
sale are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value, less costs to sell.

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of consideration transferred in a business combination over
the fair value of assets acquired, net of liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized; rather, goodwill is tested for impairment at the
reporting unit level as of October 31 of each year, or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more
likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value.

The Company performs a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a
reporting unit is less than its carrying value before performing a two-step approach to testing goodwill for impairment for each
reporting unit. The reporting units are determined by the components of the Company’s operating segments that constitute a
business for which both (1) discrete financial information is available and (2) segment management regularly reviews the operating
results of that component. If it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, the
Company performs the impairment test by applying a fair-value-based test. The first step measures for impairment by applying fair-
value-based tests at the reporting unit level. The second step (if necessary) measures the amount of impairment by applying fair-
value-based tests to the individual assets and liabilities within each reporting unit.

As part of determining its reporting units, the Company has identified two operating segments, Employer and Carrier. To
determine the fair value of the Company’s reporting units, the Company has used a discounted cash flow analysis, which requires
significant assumptions and estimates about future operations. Significant judgments inherent in this analysis include the
determination of an appropriate discount rate, estimated terminal value and the amount and timing of expected future cash
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BENEFITFOCUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands, except share and per shared  ata)

flows. The Company may also determine fair value of its reporting units using a market approach by applying multiples of earnings
of peer companies to its operating results.

Financing Obligations

In its build-to-suit lease arrangements where the Company is involved in the construction of its buildings, the Company is
deemed the owner for accounting purposes during the construction period. The Company records an asset for the amount of the
total project costs in Property and Equipment, net and the related financing obligation in Financing and Capital Lease Obligations
on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Once construction is complete, the Company determines if the asset qualifies for sale-
leaseback accounting treatment. If the arrangement does not qualify for sale-lease back treatment, the Company continues to
reduce the obligation over the lease term as payments are made and depreciates the asset over its useful life. The Company does
not report rent expense for the portion of the rent payment determined to be related to the assets which are owned for accounting
purposes. Rather, this portion of the rent payment under the lease is recognized as a reduction of the financing obligation and as
interest expense.

Financing obligations also include liabilities for service agreements related to property and equipment under capital leases.

Sales Commissions
Sales commissions are expensed when the sales contract is executed by the customer.

Advertising

The Company expenses advertising costs as they are incurred. Direct advertising costs for 2014, 2013, and 2012 were $394,
$265, and $257, respectively.

Comprehensive Loss
The Company’s net loss equals comprehensive loss for all periods presented.

Stock-Based Employee Compensation

Stock-based employee compensation is measured based on the grant-date fair value of the awards and recognized in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss over the period during which the award holder is required to
perform services in exchange for the award, which is the vesting period. Compensation expense is recognized over the vesting
period of the applicable award using the straight-line method. Compensation costs related to restricted stock units (‘(RSUS’) is
recorded based on the market price on the grant date. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model for estimating
the fair value of stock options. The use of the option valuation model requires the input of subjective assumptions, including the
estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock in the periods preceding the IPO, the expected life of the option and the
expected stock price volatility based on peer companies. Additionally, the recognition of stock-based compensation expense
requires the estimation of the number of options that will ultimately vest and the number of options that will ultimately be forfeited.
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BENEFITFOCUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands, except share and per shared  ata)

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method for income tax accounting. This method requires the recognition of
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting
and tax basis of assets and liabilities, as well as for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured using the tax rates that are expected to apply to taxable income for the years in which those tax assets and liabilities
are expected to be realized or settled. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount the
Company believes is more likely than not to be realized. The tax benefits of uncertain tax positions are recognized only when the
Company believes it is more likely than not that the tax position will be upheld on examination by the taxing authorities based on the
merits of the position. The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized income tax benefits in
income tax expense.

Basic and Diluted Net Loss per Common Share

The Company uses the two-class method to compute net loss per common share because the Company has issued
securities, other than common stock, that contractually entitle the holders to participate in dividends and earnings of the Company.
The two-class method requires earnings for the period to be allocated between common stock and participating securities based
upon their respective rights to receive distributed and undistributed earnings. Holders of each series of the Company’s redeemable
convertible preferred stock are entitled to participate in distributions, when and if declared by the board of directors that are made to
common stockholders, and as a result are considered participating securities.

Under the two-class method, for periods with net income, basic net income per common share is computed by dividing the
net income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during
the period. Net income attributable to common stockholders is computed by subtracting from net income the portion of current year
earnings that the participating securities would have been entitled to receive pursuant to their dividend rights had all of the year’s
earnings been distributed. No such adjustment to earnings is made during periods with a net loss, as the holders of the participating
securities have no obligation to fund losses. Diluted net loss per common share is computed under the two-class method by using
the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding plus, for periods with net income attributable to common
stockholders, the potential dilutive effects of stock awards and warrants. In addition, the Company analyzes the potential dilutive
effect of the outstanding participating securities under the “if-converted” method when calculating diluted earnings per share, in
which it is assumed that the outstanding participating securities convert into common stock at the beginning of the period. The
Company reports the more dilutive of the approaches (two-class or “if-converted”) as its diluted net income per share during the
period. Due to net losses for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 basic and diluted loss per share were the same,
as the effect of potentially dilutive securities would have been anti-dilutive.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, which amends the revenue
recognition requirements in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC). This statement requires that an entity recognize
revenue to depict the transfer of promised
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goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services. The statement shall be applied using one of two methods: retrospectively to each prior reporting period
presented, or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying this statement recognized at the date of initial application.
The Company has not yet determined which method it will apply. This statement is effective for annual reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within that reporting period. Early adoption is not permitted. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on the Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations.

3. Net Loss Per Common Share

Diluted loss per common share is the same as basic loss per common share for all periods presented because the effects of
potentially dilutive items were anti-dilutive given the Company’s net loss. The following common share equivalent securities have
been excluded from the calculation of weighted-average common shares outstanding because the effect is anti-dilutive for the
periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,

Anti -Dilutive Common Share Equivalents 2014 2013 2012
Redeemable convertible preferred stock:

Series A — — 14,055,851

Series B — — 2,441,009
Restricted stock units 720,370 97,700 —
Stock options 2,382,881 3,058,795 3,121,064
Warrant to purchase common stock — 500,000 500,000
Total anti-dilutive common share equivalents 3,103,251 3,656,495 20,117,924

Basic and diluted net loss per common share is calculated as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Numerator:
Net loss $ (63,179) $ (30,361) $ (14,873)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ 63,179) $ (30,361) $ (14,873)
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted 25,207,099 10,144,243 4,812,632
Net loss per common share, basic and diluted $ (2.51) $ (2.99) $ 3.09)

4. Marketable Securities

Marketable securities consist of corporate bonds and are classified as held-to-maturity. The amortized cost basis and net
carrying amount of marketable securities was $5,135 and $13,168 and the aggregate fair value, determined by Level 2 inputs, was
$5,134 and $13,166, as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The gross unrealized holding gains were $0 and $0 and the
gross
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unrealized losses were $1 and $2, as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Corporate bonds held in marketable securities
have contractual maturities of between 1 and 3 months as of December 31, 2014.

The following table presents information about the Company’s investments that were in an unrealized loss position and for
which an other-than-temporary impairment has not been recognized in earnings as of December 31:

2014 2013
Aggregate fair value of investments with unrealized losses (1) $5,135 $1,281
Aggregate amount of unrealized losses (1) (2)

(1) Investments have been in a continuous loss position for less than 12 months

5. Fair Value Measurement

The carrying amounts of certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, net accounts
receivable, accounts payable and other accrued liabilities, and accrued compensation and benefits, approximate fair value due to
their short-term nature. The carrying value of the Company’s financing obligations and revolving line of credit approximates fair
value, considering the borrowing rates currently available to the Company for financing obligations with similar terms and credit
risks.

The Company uses a three-tier fair value hierarchy to classify and disclose all assets and liabilities measured at fair value on
a recurring basis, as well as assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis, in periods subsequent to their
initial measurement. The hierarchy requires the Company to use observable inputs when available, and to minimize the use of
unobservable inputs when determining fair value. The three tiers are defined as follows:

Level 1. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2. Other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.

Level 3. Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data, which require the Company to develop its own
assumptions.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value ona  Recurring Basis

The Company evaluates its financial assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements on a recurring basis to
determine the appropriate level to classify them for each reporting period. This determination requires significant judgments to be
made.
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The following tables present information about the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis using the above categories, as of December 31, 2014 and 2013.

December 31, 2014

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash Equivalents:

Money market mutual funds (1) $50,695 $ — $ — $50,695
Total assets $50,695 $ — $ — $50,695

December 31, 2013

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash Equivalents:

Money market mutual funds (1) $65,443 $ — $ — $65,443
Total assets $65,443 $ — $ — $65,443

(1) Money market funds are classified as cash equivalents in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. As short-term, highly
liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash, with remaining maturities of three months or less at the time
of purchase, the Company’s cash equivalent money market funds have carrying values that approximate fair value.

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis Using Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)

The following table presents the changes in the Company’s Level 3 instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis
for the year ended December 31, 2013 (no such assets in 2014):

2013
Balance of contingent consideration at beginning of period $ 328
Change in fair value (43)
Accretion of discount 26
Payment (311)
Balance of contingent consideration at end of period $ —
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6. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the following as of December 31:

2014 2013
Building, leased $ 7,965 $ 7,965
Computers and related equipment 18,871 13,954
Purchased software and licenses 20,392 17,556
Software developed 18,397 16,182
Furniture and fixtures 3,834 2,717
Leasehold improvements 3,334 1,730
Other equipment 2,009 1,922
Vehicles 111 111
Construction in progress 24,296 1,781
Total property and equipment, at cost 99,209 63,918
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (45,188) (36,474)
Property and equipment, net $ 54,021 $ 27,444

Depreciation and amortization expense on property and equipment was $9,188, $7,849 and $8,225, for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Property and equipment at December 31, 2014 and 2013 includes fixed assets
acquired under capital lease agreements of $8,569 and $8,463, respectively. Accumulated depreciation of assets under capital
leases totaled $1,521 and $2,033 as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Amortization of assets under capital leases is
included in depreciation expense.

During 2012, the Company determined it was no longer probable that certain software developed for internal use and certain
purchased software would produce expected cash flows for the remainder of their respective useful lives. As a result, the Company
recognized an impairment charge related to these long-lived assets totaling $1,051 in the Employer segment, for the year ended
December 31, 2012.

The Company capitalized software development costs of $2,215 and $2,751 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013, respectively. Amortization of capitalized software development costs totaled $2,257, $2,618 and $3,145 during the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The net book value of capitalized software development costs was $4,134
and $4,101 at December 31, 2014, and 2013, respectively.

7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Company’s goodwill balance of $1,634 is solely attributable to the Employer reporting unit. There have been no changes
in the carrying amount of goodwill in the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

F-17



Table of Contents

BENEFITFOCUS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands, except share and per shared  ata)

Information regarding the Company’s acquisition-related intangible assets is as follows:

Trademarks

Customer agreements
Non-compete agreements
Total

Trademarks

Customer agreements
Non-compete agreements
Total

As of December 31, 2014

Weighted -

Average

Remaining

Gross

Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Useful Life

Amount Amortization Amount (in years)
$ 240 $ (212) $ 28 0.6
2,060 (1,137) 923 3.6
126 (126) — —
$2,426 $ (1,475) $ 951 3.5

As of December 31, 2013

Weighted -

Average

Remaining

Gross

Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Useful Life

Amount Amortization Amount (in years)
$ 240 $ (164) $ 76 1.6
2,060 (880) 1,180 4.6
126 (126) — —
$2,426 $ (1,170) $ 1,256 4.4

Amortization expense of acquisition-related intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was
$305, $323 and $335, respectively. As of December 31, 2014, expected amortization expense for the intangible assets for each of

the next five years and thereafter was as follows:

2015
2016
2017
2018
2019

Total

There were no impairments of intangible assets during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

8. Revolving Line of Credit and Notes Payable

$286
257
257
151

$951

During 2013, the Company transitioned its general business financing from its existing master credit facility to a revolving line

of credit at a different bank.

At January 1, 2013, the Company had a $6,000 master credit facility under which two senior secured promissory notes
totaling $4,535 were outstanding (“Credit Facility Notes”). In March 2013 and June 2013, the Company borrowed an additional

$874 and $591, respectively, under two additional senior secured
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promissory notes bearing interest at fixed annual rates ranging from 3.6% to 3.7% and repayable in equal monthly installments of
principal and interest through dates ranging from December 2015 to July 2016.

On August 27, 2013, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank for a revolving line of
credit of up to $35,000 for working capital, to fund general business requirements, and to repay the indebtedness under the master
credit facility and other senior secured promissory notes.

In August 2014, the borrowing limit under the Company’s line of credit increased from $15,000 to $35,000 in accordance with
the terms of the agreement as amended on December 10, 2013. Borrowing capacity under the line of credit is subject to a
borrowing base limit that is a function of the Company’s monthly recurring revenue as adjusted to reflect lost customer revenue
during the previous quarter. Therefore, credit available under the line of credit may be less than the specified limit.

Advances can be designated as LIBOR advances or prime rate advances. LIBOR advances bear interest at 2.75% plus the
greater of 0.50% or current LIBOR for the applicable period, generally 30 days, adjusted for certain regulatory reserve
requirements. The LIBOR rate is adjusted approximately monthly. Prime Rate advances bear interest at the prime rate as published
in the Wall Street Journal. The line of credit has an annual commitment fee of $70 and an unused line of credit fee of a rate of
0.20% per year.

The Company made customary affirmative and negative covenants in connection with the loan and security agreement,
including financial covenants related to liquidity and revenue growth. In the event of a default, Silicon Valley Bank may declare all
obligations immediately due and stop advancing money or extending credit under the line of credit. The line of credit is
collateralized by substantially all of the Company’s tangible and intangible assets, including any proceeds of intellectual property
(but not the underlying intellectual property itself), and the Company has agreed not to encumber any of its intellectual property
without Silicon Valley Bank’s prior written consent. As of December 31, 2014, the Company was in compliance with the covenants.

On August 30, 2013, the Company borrowed $5,757 under this line of credit, which it used to repay all of the amounts
outstanding under its master credit facility and two senior promissory notes with its previous lender. In September 2013, the
Company borrowed and repaid an additional $5,000 under this line of credit.

In June 2014, the Company borrowed $7,000 under its line of credit, which was used to fund the general operations of the
Company. In December 2014, the Company borrowed an additional $7,000 to fund the general operations of the Company and
repaid $2,100 under its line of credit.

As of December 31, 2014, the amount outstanding under this line of credit was $17,657 and the amount available to borrow
was $12,507. The amount outstanding, which represents principal and currently bears interest at 3.25%, is due August 27, 2016.
No other amounts are due in any other year.

9. Commitment and Contingencies
Operating Lease Commitments

In September 2014, the Company entered into an amendment to its operating lease for office space in Greenville, South
Carolina. The amendment expands the space leased, extends the term of the lease for five years to February 2020, and grants the
Company the right to extend the lease for five
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additional one-year periods. The amended lease contains a free-rent period and a provision for escalating rent payments.
Accordingly, rent expense will be recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Monthly lease payments under the
amended lease will begin February 2015. Expenses under this lease will total approximately $95 per quarter.

In February 2013, the Company entered into an amendment to a 2009 operating lease for additional office space. The lease
commenced January 1, 2014 and will terminate in 2024 as stated in the original agreement.

In August 2013, the Company entered into an amendment to a 2012 office lease agreement for its facility in Tulsa,
Oklahoma. Under the terms of the lease agreement, the Company has committed to extend its lease term to April 2015.

The Company also leases office facilities under various non-cancelable operating lease agreements with original lease
periods expiring between 2017 and 2029. Some of the leases provide for renewal terms at the Company’s option. Certain future
minimum lease payments due under these operating lease agreements contain free rent periods or escalating rent payment
provisions. These leases generally do not contain purchase options. Rent expense on these operating leases is recognized over
the term of the lease on a straight-line basis.

Rent expense totaled $4,099, $2,517 and $1,946 for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Future minimum lease payments are as follows:

Operating
Leases

Year Ending December 31,
2015 $ 3,857
2016 3,912
2017 3,934
2018 3,747
2019 3,841
Thereafter 20,110
Total minimum lease payments $39,401

Financing and Capital Lease Obligations

The Company has entered into various capital lease arrangements to obtain property and equipment for operations. These
agreements range from 12 months to 5 years with interest rates ranging from 3.0% to 12.4%. The leases are secured by the
underlying leased property and equipment.

In September 2014, the Company entered into an agreement for support services for call hosting. The Company recorded
this agreement as a financing obligation. Total payments under this one-year agreement total $150. As of December 31, 2014,
financing obligations include $113 under this agreement.
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In April 2014, the Company entered into a lease with a 3-year term for data processing equipment and software. The total
payments under the lease are $3,779, including a down payment of $1,340 and aggregate monthly payments of $2,439. The lease
provides for a bargain purchase option at the end of its 3 year term. As of December 31, 2014, capital lease obligations include
amounts under this lease of $1,803.

Related to the April 2014 capital lease, the Company recorded a financing obligation for support services for data processing
equipment. Total payments under this three-year arrangement are $629, including a down payment of $223 and aggregate monthly
payments of $406. As of December 31, 2014, financing obligations include $300 under this agreement.

In November 2013, the Company entered into a lease with a term of 3 years to finance data processing equipment and
software. The total payments under the lease are $4,160. The present value of the lease payments exceeds the fair value of assets
leased at inception. The Company accounts for this arrangement as a capital lease. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, capital
lease obligations include amounts under this lease of $2,355 and $3,988, respectively.

Related to the November 2013 capital lease, the Company entered into a 3 year financing obligation for support services of
data and processing equipment. The total payments under the arrangement are $4,039. The Company accounts for this
arrangement as a financing obligation. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, financing obligations include $2,287 and $3,872,
respectively, under this agreement.

In March 2013, the Company entered into a lease with a term of 3 years to finance data processing equipment and software.
The total payments under the lease are $1,117. The lease provides for a bargain purchase option at the end of its term. The
Company accounts for this arrangement as a capital lease. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, capital lease obligations include
amounts under this lease of $448 and $785, respectively.

The Company entered into additional various leases with terms ranging from one year or less to five years to finance data
processing equipment and software. The leases contain terms that either provide for the title to pass to the Company at the end of
its term, or the lease term exceeds 75% of economic life of the asset, or the present value of the minimum lease payments exceeds
90% of the fair value of assets leased. The Company accounts for these arrangements as capital leases. As of December 31, 2014
and 2013, capital lease obligations include amounts under these leases of $135 and $216, respectively.

In 2011, the Company entered into a lease with a term of 3 years to finance data processing equipment. The lease provides
for a bargain purchase option at the end of the term. The total payments under the lease are $3,005. The Company accounts for
this arrangement as a capital lease. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, capital lease obligations include amounts under this lease
of $0 and $465, respectively.

Financing obligations were $31,697 and $13,097, as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and consist of
obligations for build-to-suit lease arrangements and the support components of a software financing arrangement. The aggregate
amount of future minimum payments for financing obligations was $89,901 at December 31, 2014 which includes aggregate
payments of $14,357 related to the headquarters building build-to-suit arrangement and $72,754 related to assets
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under construction under a build-to-suit lease entered into in December 2013. Details of the build-to-suit lease arrangements are
disclosed in Note 15 “Related Parties.” Financing Obligations are allocated as follows:

As of December 31,

2014 2013
Headquarters building, build-to-suit $ 8,873 $ 9,023
Software support 2,700 3,872
Construction in progress, build-to-suit 20,124 202
Total financing obligations $31,697 $13,097
Less: current portion (1,720) (1,702)
Financing obligations, net of current portion $29,977 $11,395

Future minimum lease payments are as follows:
Capital Financing
Leases Obligations

Year Ending December 31,
2015 $ 2,621 $ 7,462
2016 1,998 7,185
2017 323 6,265
2018 2 6,407
2019 — 6,599
Thereafter — 55,983
Total minimum lease and financing obligation payments 4,944 $ 89,901
Less: imputed interest (204)
Less: current portion (2,477)
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion $ 2,263

Contractual Commitments

In December 2013, the Company entered into a 15 year lease for additional office space at its Charleston, South Carolina
campus. Under the build-to-suit arrangement, the leased premises will be constructed by and leased from an entity with which two
of the Company’s significant stockholders and executives are affiliated. The lease payments will commence in January 2015. The
total minimum payments under the arrangement are $81,487 based on an estimated rentable area of approximately 145,000
square feet. In connection with the lease, the Company entered into an option to lease space in two additional adjacent buildings.
The option term is 36 months and requires the Company to incur costs annually prior to the exercise of the option in the amount of
up to $466 per year. If the Company terminates the option or does not exercise the option prior to expiration it will incur termination
fees pro-rated through the dates of termination or expiration. The maximum liability for termination fees is $757. The commitment
for the lease and pro-rated termination fees is not accrued in the consolidated balance sheet of the Company. Had the Company
terminated the options effective December 31, 2014, the liability for the termination fee would have been $265. The pro-rated
commitment for the annual option expense is accrued in other non-current liabilities in the balance sheet. The minimum
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lease payments related to this lease have been excluded from the future minimum lease payment schedule above.

The Company also has $5,001 of non-cancellable contractual commitments as of December 31, 2014 related to the
purchase of software and colocation services. These commitments are not accrued in the consolidated balance sheet of the
Company.

Legal Contingencies

The Company may become a party to a variety of legal proceedings that arise in the normal course of business. While the
results of such normal course legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes, based on current
knowledge, that the final outcome of any matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial
position, results of operations or cash flows.

10. Stock-Based Compensation
Employee Stock-based Compensation Plan

The Company maintains the Amended and Restated Benefitfocus.com, Inc. 2000 Stock Option Plan (the “2000 Plan”) and
the Benefitfocus.com, Inc. 2012 Stock Plan, as amended (the “2012 Plan”), pursuant to which the Company has reserved
5,069,853 shares of its common stock for issuance to its employees, directors and non-employee third parties. The 2012 Plan,
effective on January 31, 2012, serves as the successor to the 2000 Plan and permits the granting of incentive stock options, non-
statutory stock options, stock bonuses, stock purchase rights, stock appreciation rights, and restricted stock units and awards. No
new awards will be issued under the 2000 Plan as of the effective date of the 2012 Plan. Outstanding awards under the 2000 Plan
continue to be subject to the terms and conditions of the 2000 Plan. Shares available for grant under the 2000 Plan, which were
reserved but not issued or subject to outstanding awards under the 2000 Plan as of the effective date, were added to the reserves
of the 2012 Plan. As of December 31, 2014, the Company had 1,966,602 shares allocated to the 2012 Plan, but not yet issued.

The terms of the stock-based award grants, including the exercise price per share and vesting periods, are determined by
the Chairman of the Board who is delegated the authority by the Company’s board of directors. Stock options are granted at
exercise prices not less than the estimated fair market value of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant. The grant date
value of restricted stock units is equal to the closing price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant, or, if not a trading day, the
closing price of the previous trading day. Generally, the Company issues previously unissued shares for the exercise of stock
options or exchange of restricted stock units; however, previously acquired shares may be reissued to satisfy future issuances. The
options and restricted stock unit awards typically vest quarterly over a four-year period. The options expire 10 years from the grant
date. Compensation expense for the fair value of the stock-based awards at their grant date is recognized ratably over the vesting
schedule.
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The Company has issued two types of awards under these plans: options and restricted stock units. The following table sets
forth the number of awards outstanding for each award type is as follows:

Outstanding at December 31,

Award type 2014 2013 2012
Stock options 2,382,881 3,058,795 3,121,064
Restricted stock units 720,370 97,700 —

Stock-based compensation expense related to stock-based awards is included in the following line items in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31:

2014 2013 2012
Cost of revenue $ 986 $ 274 $195
Sales and marketing 1,395 171 68
Research and development 1,376 255 130
General and administrative 1,831 502 319

$5,588 $1,202 $712

The total compensation cost related to non-vested awards not yet recognized as of December 31, 2014 was $23,767 and will
be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 3.4 years.

Restricted Stock Units

During 2014, the Company granted restricted stock units under the 2012 Plan. Restricted stock units granted to employees
vest in equal annual installments generally over 4 years from the grant date. The fair value of the stock at the time of grant is
amortized based on a straight-line basis over the period of vesting. Income tax benefits resulting from vesting of restricted stock are
recognized in the period the unit is exchanged to the extent the expense has been recognized.

The summary of unvested restricted stock units is as follows:

Weighted

average

Restricted grant date

stock units fair value
Unvested at December 31, 2013 97,700 $ 48.31
Granted 679,587 37.97
Forfeited (33,175) 46.87
Vested (23,742) 48.23
Unvested at December 31, 2014 720,370 $ 38.63

As of December 31, 2014, the number and intrinsic value of restricted stock units expected to vest was 662,186 and
$21,746, respectively. The aggregate fair value of restricted stock units vested during the year ended December 31, 2014 was
$661. No restricted stock units vested during 2013 or 2012.
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Stock options
The following is a summary of the option activity for the year ended December 31, 2014:

Weighted -
Average
Weighted - Remaining
Average Contractual
Number of Exercise Term Aggregate
Options Price (in years) Intrinsic Value
Outstanding balance at December 31, 2013 3,058,795 $ 6.75
Granted — —
Exercised (642,152) 4.39
Forfeited (31,664) 9.98
Expired (2,098) 1.38
Outstanding balance at December 31, 2014 2,382,881 $ 7.39 4.0 $ 60,652
Exercisable at December 31, 2014 2,064,624 $ 6.84 3.4 $ 53,690
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2014 2,374,256 $ 7.37 4.0 $ 60,465

The aggregate intrinsic value of employee options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012
was $23,397, $6,448 and $293, respectively.

The Company values stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which requires the input of subjective
assumptions, including the per share fair value as a private company, risk-free interest rate, expected life, expected stock price
volatility and dividend yield. Prior to the IPO, the Company was a private company with no active public market for its common
stock. The Company has periodically determined for financial reporting purposes the estimated per share fair value of its common
stock at various dates using contemporaneous valuations performed in accordance with the guidance outlined in the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practice Aid, “Valuation of Privately Held Company Equity Securities Issued as
Compensation.” When determining the fair market value of its common stock, the Company considered what it believes to be
comparable publicly traded companies, discounted free cash flows, and an analysis of its enterprise value. The risk-free interest
rate assumption is based upon observed interest rates for constant maturity U.S. Treasury securities consistent with the expected
term of the Company’s employee stock options. The expected life represents the period of time the stock options are expected to
be outstanding and is based on the simplified method. Under the simplified method, the expected life of an option is presumed to be
the mid-point between the vesting date and the end of the contractual term. The Company used the simplified method due to the
lack of sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to otherwise estimate the expected life of the
stock options. The Company has a limited history of trading as a public company, therefore expected volatility was based on
historical volatilities for publicly traded stock of comparable companies over the estimated expected life of the stock options. The
Company assumed no dividend yield because it does not expect to pay dividends in the near future, which is consistent with the
Company’s history of not paying dividends.
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The following table summarizes the assumptions used for estimating the fair value of stock options granted for the years
ended December 31, (No options granted in 2014):

2013 2012
Risk-free interest rate 1.0% - 1.7% 0.8% - 1.2%
Expected term (years) 6.08 6.08
Expected volatility 52% 53% - 55%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%
Weighted-average grant date fair value per share $ 7.71 $ 4.24

11. Stockholders’ Deficit
Preferred stock

Upon the closing of the IPO, all shares of the Company’s then-outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock
automatically converted into 16,496,860 shares of its $0.001 par value common stock. Subsequent to this conversion, the
Company restated its certificate of incorporation and reduced number of authorized shares of preferred stock from 21,496,860 to
5,000,000. The Company’s preferred stock is undesignated.

Common Stock
The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote for each share. The voting, dividend and liquidation rights of the
holders of common stock are subject to and qualified by the rights, powers and preferences of the holders of preferred stock.

At December 31, 2014, the Company had reserved a total of 5,069,853 of its authorized 50,000,000 shares of common stock
for future issuance as follows:

Outstanding stock options 2,382,881
Restricted stock units 720,370
Possible future issuance under stock option plans 1,966,602
Total common shares reserved for future issuance 5,069,853

During 2009, in connection with a new five-year contract executed with a major customer, the Company issued a warrant to
the customer for the right to purchase 500,000 shares of common stock at $5.48 per share. The warrant was issued from the
incentive stock option pool of shares approved by the Company’s board of directors and had a term of 10 years. Under the terms of
the warrant, the warrant expires in 10 years. The customer was originally entitled to exercise the warrant in its entirety in 9.5 years.
Earlier exercise rights for all or part of the warrants are triggered under certain conditions, the most relevant of which are, on or
after the third anniversary date of the issuance date if an IPO has occurred and immediately prior to the closing of a defined
Corporate Transaction. In the event the customer cancels the contract prior to the end of the five-year term, one half of the warrants
would have been forfeited. In March 2013, the Company made this warrant fully exercisable. In March 2014, the customer
exercised the warrant through a cashless exercise in accordance with the warrant’'s terms. The Company issued 455,521 shares to
satisfy its obligation under the warrant.
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The Company used an option pricing model to determine the fair value of the common stock warrant. Significant inputs
included an estimate of the fair value of the Company’s common stock, the remaining contractual life of the warrant, an estimate of
the probability and timing of a liquidity event, a risk-free rate of interest and an estimate of the Company’s stock volatility using the
volatilities of guideline peer companies. The value of the exercisable portion of the warrant is not dependent on the customer’s
fulfillment of the contract and was measured on the issuance date, with the total fair value at issuance being recognized as a
reduction to revenue over the contract period on the straight line basis. The remaining half of the warrant that was dependent on
contract fulfillment by the customer was re-measured each quarter, with the resulting increment or decrement in value recognized
as a revenue reduction on the straight line basis beginning in the quarter of the revaluation through the end of the contract. The
related reduction of revenue during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $744, $892, and $488, respectively.
As of October 31, 2014, the fair value of the warrant had been fully recognized.

12. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company maintains a qualified defined contribution plan under Section 401(k) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code (the
“401(k) Plan”) covering substantially all employees. Employees are eligible to participate in the 401(k) Plan after one day of service
and upon attainment of age 21, and may elect to defer an amount or percentage of their annual compensation up to amounts
prescribed by law. The Company makes discretionary matching contributions to employee plan accounts. During each of the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Company matched 50% of the employees’ contribution, with the match limited to
3% of qualifying compensation. Employee vesting in matching company contributions occurs at a rate of 20% per year after
achieving two years of service. Starting in 2014, employees vesting in company contributions began after one year of service.
During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, employer matching contributions were $2,083, $1,339 and $1,013,
respectively.

13. Income Taxes

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. for federal and various state jurisdictions. The Company is subject to U.S.
federal income tax examination for calendar tax years 2007 through 2013 as well as state income tax examinations for various
years depending on statutes of limitations of those jurisdictions.

The following summarizes the components of income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31:

2014 2013 2012
Current:
Federal $ — $ — $ —
State and local 25 (31) 84
Total current expense (benefit) $ 25 $ (31 $ 84
Deferred:
Federal $ — $ — $ —
State and local — — —
Total deferred taxes $ — $ — $ —
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Reconciliation between the effect of applying the federal statutory rate and the effective income tax rate used to calculate the
Company'’s income tax provision is as follows for the years ended December 31:

2014 2013 2012
Federal statutory rate 34.0% 34.0% 34.0%
Effect of:
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 4.8% 3.2% 3.5%
Change in tax rates 0.4% 0.4% 2.6%
State tax credits 0.4% 0.9% 0.0%
Change in valuation allowance (39.3%) (33.5%) (38.7%)
Uncertain tax positions 0.0% (0.9%) 0.0%
Contingent consideration amortization 0.0% 0.0% (0.4%)
Stock-based compensation (0.2%) (0.9%) (1.2%)
Other permanent items (0.1%) (0.4%) (0.4%)
Deferred tax true-up 0.0% (2.7%) 0.0%
Income tax provision effective rate 0.0% 0.1% (0.6%)

The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax asset and liability were as follows as of December 31:

2014 2013
Deferred tax assets relating to:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 26,132 $ 15,553
Deferred revenue 23,612 16,779
Commissions and incentive accrual 1,771 463
Deferred rent 816 1,027
State tax credits 3,195 2,961
Stock-based compensation 1,993 1,615
Compensation and other accruals 3,964 1,361
Total gross deferred tax assets 61,483 39,759
Deferred tax liabilities:
Prepaid expenses $ — $ (727)
Property and equipment, financing obligations and intangible assets (2,514) (4,610)
Total gross deferred tax liabilities (2,514) (5,337)
Deferred tax assets less liabilities 58,969 34,422
Less: valuation allowance (58,969) (34,422)
Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ — $ —

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company’s gross deferred tax was reduced by a valuation allowance of $58,969
and $34,422 respectively.

The valuation allowance increased by $24,547 and $10,191 during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. The valuation allowance increase resulted primarily from changes in the deferred tax assets related to the net
operating loss carryforwards and deferred revenue.
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In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the
generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management
considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making
this assessment. Based upon the level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income over the periods in
which the deferred tax assets are deductible, management believes it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize the
benefits of these deductible differences in the future. In recognition of this risk, the Company has provided a full valuation allowance
on the deferred tax assets relating to net operating loss carryforwards. The Company’s $30,749 of federal and state net operating
losses include excess tax benefits related to deductions from the exercise of nonqualified stock options. The tax benefit of these
deductions has not been recognized in deferred tax assets. If utilized, $5,024 of benefits from these deductions will be recorded as
adjustments to taxes payable and additional paid-in-capital.

Net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes were approximately $68,235 and $41,374 at December 31,
2014 and 2013, respectively. State net operating loss carryforwards were $61,583 and $33,665 at December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively. The federal net operating loss carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in 2022 through 2033, if not utilized.
Net operating loss carryforwards and credit carryforwards reflected above may be limited due to historical and future ownership
changes.

South Carolina jobs tax credit and headquarters tax credit carryovers of $5,277 and $4,497 were available at December 31,
2014 and 2013, respectively. Headquarters credits are expected to be used to offset future state income tax license fees. The
credits expire in various amounts during 2020 through 2028.

The Company follows FASB ASC 740-10 for accounting for unrecognized tax benefits. As of December 31, 2014, the
Company had gross unrecognized tax benefits of $437.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows for the year ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013 (no unrecognized tax benefits in 2012):

2014 2013
Balance at beginning of year $ 437 $ —
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year — —
Additions for tax positions in prior years — 437
Reductions for tax positions of prior years — —
Reductions for tax positions due to lapse of statute — —
Settlements — —

Balance at end of year $ 43 $ 43

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, none of the $437 liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits could impact the Company’s
effective tax rate, if recognized. The Company does not expect the unrecognized tax benefits to change within the next twelve
months.
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The Company is subject to U.S. income taxes, as well as various taxes state and local jurisdictions. With few exceptions, the
Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state, and local income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before the tax
year ended December 31, 2011, although carryforward attributes that were generated prior to 2011 may still be adjusted upon
examination by the taxing authorities if they either have been used or will be used in a future period.

14. Segments and Geographic Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which discrete financial information is available that is
evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”") for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial
performance. The Company’s CODM, the Chief Executive Officer, reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis,
accompanied by information about operating segments, for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance.

The Company’s reportable segments are based on the type of customer. The Company determined its operating segments
to be: Employer, which derives substantially all of its revenue from customers that use the Company’s services for the provision of
benefits to their employees, and administrators acting on behalf of employers; and Carrier, which derives substantially all of its
revenue from insurance companies that provide coverage at their own risk.

During 2014, the Company changed how it evaluates its operating segments. It no longer reports operating income by
segment to the CODM. Segments are evaluated based on gross profit. The Company does not allocate interest income, interest
expense or income tax expense by segment. Accordingly, the Company does not report such information. Additionally, Employer
and Carrier segments share the majority of the Company’s assets. Therefore, no segment asset information is reported.

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Revenue from external customers by segment:

Employer $ 62,016 $ 40,656 $23,760

Carrier 75,404 64,096 57,979
Total net revenue from external customers $137,420 $104,752 $81,739
Depreciation and amortization by segment:

Employer $ 4,392 $ 3,035 $ 2,337

Carrier 5,101 5,137 6,223
Total depreciation and amortization $ 9,493 $ 8,172 $ 8,560
Gross profit by segment

Employer $ 16,186 $ 13,316 $ 9,810

Carrier 33,764 29,025 27,529
Total gross profit by segment $ 49,950 $ 42,341 $37,339

Substantially all assets were held and all revenue was generated in the United States during the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012.
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15. Related Parties
Related Party Leasing Arrangements

The Company leases its office space at its Charleston, South Carolina headquarters campus under the terms of two non-
cancellable leases from an entity with which two of the Company’s directors, significant stockholders, and executives are affiliated.
The Company’s headquarters building is accounted for as a build-to-suit lease and recorded as a financing obligation in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Additional office space is accounted for as an operating lease. Both the financing obligation and the
operating lease have 15-year terms which started in 2006 and 2009, respectively. The Company has an option to renew the leases
for five additional years. The arrangements provide for 3.0% fixed annual rent increases.

In February 2013, the Company entered into an amendment to a 2009 operating lease agreement. Under terms of the
agreement, the Company committed to rent additional space under the agreement. Payments for the additional space commenced
in January 2014.

Furthermore, as disclosed in Note 9 “Commitments and Contingencies”, the Company entered into a 15-year build-to-suit
lease in December 2013 for additional office space to expand its headquarters campus. The leased premises are being constructed
and leased from an entity with which two of the Company’s significant stockholders and executives are affiliated. Because the
Company is involved extensively in the construction of the premises and is deemed the “owner” for accounting purposes during the
construction period, it is required to capitalize the project costs during the construction on its Consolidated Balance Sheet. The
lease will commence in January 2015. As of December 31, 2014, financing obligations included $20,124 related to this build-to-suit
lease.

The Company has options to lease two additional office facilities from the leasing entity with which two of the Company’s
directors, significant stockholders and executives are affiliated. The leasing entity meets the criteria to be a variable interest entity.
The Company is not the primary beneficiary of the leasing entity, as the activities that are most significant to the leasing entity’s
economic performance, consisting of financing, development, management, and sale of office facilities, are directed by another
party. As such, the Company is not required to consolidate the entity as the primary beneficiary. The lease terms would not include
a residual value guarantee, fixed-price purchase option, or similar feature that would obligate the Company to absorb decreases in
value or would entitle the Company to participate in increases in the value of the office facilities. The Company has not and does
not intend to provide financial or other support to the leasing entity. The Company’s maximum exposure, assuming the exercise of
the options, would consist of carrying fees paid for the options, rent to be paid over the 15-year term of the leases, construction cost
overruns, and operating expenses in excess of a certain threshold. The Company’s maximum exposure currently cannot be
quantified.

Payments related to these agreements were $5,634, $3,729, and $3,834 for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012, respectively. Amounts due to the related parties were $1,807 and $268 as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
Amounts due to the related parties were recorded as $949 in “Accounts Payable” and $858 in “Accrued Expenses” as of
December 31, 2014 and $268 in “Accounts Payable” as of December 31, 2013.
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Related Party Travel Expenses

The Company utilizes the services of a private air transportation companies that are owned and controlled by one of the
Company’s significant stockholders and executives. Expenses related to these companies were $438, $345 and $125 for the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 respectively, and consist of air travel related to the operations of the business. Amounts
due to the related party were $44 as of December 31, 2014 and $25 as of December 31, 2013.

16. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

The following tables set forth selected unaudited quarterly statements of operations data for each of the eight quarters in the
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Quarter Ended

December 31, September 30, December 31, September 30,
June 30, March 31, June 30, March 31,
2014 (b) 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013 2013

Consolidated Statements

of Operations Data:
Revenue $ 40,187 $ 34,200 $ 32,337 $ 30,696 $ 30,256 $ 26,317 $ 24,332 $ 23,847
Gross profit 16,335 10,845 11,300 11,470 10,783 10,146 10,010 11,402
Total operating expenses 28,241 28,607 28,711 23,294 18,474 16,504 19,091 16,466
Operating loss (11,906) (17,762) (17,411) (11,824) (7,691) (6,358) (9,081) (5,064)
Net loss $ (13,689) $ (18,888) $ (18,2000 $ (12,402) % (8,282) % (6,836) $ (9,628) $ (5,615)
Net loss per common

share (a) (0.54) (0.74) (0.72) (0.51) (0.34) (1.08) (2.00) (2.17)
Weighted-average common

shares outstanding—

basic and diluted 25,569,203 25,503,194 25,200,093 24,541,359 24,474,566 6,320,731 4,809,518 4,798,043

(@ Quarterly and year-to-date computations of per share amounts are made independently. Therefore, the sum of the per-share
amounts for the quarters may not agree with per share amounts for the year.

(b)  During the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company recorded a cumulative adjustment to correct prior period errors that related
to an overstatement of amortization of certain capitalized software costs. The impact of these items on the Company'’s
Consolidated Statement of Operations decreased cost of revenue, increased gross profit, and decreased loss from
operations, loss before income taxes, and net loss by $628. The Company did not adjust the prior periods as it concluded
that such adjustments were not material to the current or prior period Consolidated Financial Statements.

The quarterly unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the audited
consolidated financial statements included in this report and include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring
adjustments, that we consider necessary for a fair presentation of such information when read in conjunction with our annual
audited consolidated financial statements (as restated) and notes appearing in this report. The operating results for any quarter do
not necessarily indicate the results for any subsequent period or for the entire fiscal year.
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17. Subsequent Events
Restricted Stock Units

During January 2015, the Company granted 26,050 restricted stock units to employees with an aggregate grant date fair
value of $815. These restricted stock units vest in equal annual installments generally over 4 years from the grant date. The
Company amortizes the fair value of the stock subject to the restricted stock units at the time of grant on a straight-line basis over
the period of vesting. The Company recognizes the income tax benefits resulting from vesting of restricted stock units in the period
they vest, to the extent the compensation expense has been recognized.

Build-to-Suit Lease

During January 2015, the Company began to occupy the additional office space constructed under the 15-year build-to-suit
lease signed in December 2013. During the construction of the premises, the Company was deemed the “owner” for accounting
purposes due to its extensive involvement in the construction process. Upon completion, the Company was also deemed the
“owner” for accounting purposes. As such, $18,243 included in “Construction-in-Progress” related to the construction of this
premises at December 31, 2014, will be allocated to “Buildings, leased.” Any additional capitalizable costs incurred as part of the
completion of construction will be allocated to the asset. Also, related to occupying this building, other amounts included in
“Construction-in-Progress” at December 31, 2014 will be allocated to the applicable property and equipment category as follows:
$2,346 to “Furniture and fixtures,” $2,277 to “Leasehold improvements,” and $764 to “Computers and related equipment.”

Revolving Line of Credit

In February 2015, the Company replaced its existing revolving line of credit (“Revolver”) with a senior revolving line of credit
(“Senior Revolver”) with a syndicate of lenders led by the existing lender. Outstanding balances under the Revolver were repaid
with proceeds from the Senior Revolver and the Revolver was terminated. The three-year Senior Revolver has a borrowing limit of
$60,000. Borrowing capacity under the Senior Revolver is subject to a borrowing base limit that is a function of the Company’s
monthly recurring revenue as adjusted to reflect lost customer revenue during the previous three calendar months. Therefore, credit
available under the Senior Revolver may be less than the $60,000 borrowing limit. Interest is payable monthly. Advances under the
Senior Revolver bear interest at the prime rate as published in the Wall Street Journal plus a margin based on the Company’s
liquidity that ranges between 1.0% and 1.5%. The Company is charged for amounts unused under this arrangement at a rate based
on its liquidity of 0.300% to 0.375% per year. Any outstanding principal is due at the end of the term.

The Company is bound by customary affirmative and negative covenants in connection with the Senior Revolver, including
financial covenants related to liquidity and EBITDA. In the event of a default, the lenders may declare all obligations immediately
due and stop advancing money or extending credit under the line of credit. The line of credit is collateralized by substantially all of
the Company’s tangible and intangible assets, including intellectual property and the equity of subsidiaries.
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Common Stock

On February 24, 2015, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement to sell shares of its common stock to
Mercer, LLC (“Mercer”), a customer of the Company. Pursuant to the agreement, on the same date, the Company sold 2,817,526
shares of its common stock to Mercer for $26.50 per share or an aggregate of $74,664. At the same time, the Company also issued
Mercer a warrant to purchase up to an additional 580,813 shares of its common stock for $26.50 per share at any time during the
30-month term of the warrant. The agreement, among other things, includes certain standstill provisions and prevents Mercer from
disposing of its shares of Company common stock until the earlier of December 31, 2017, the expiration or termination of the
Mercer Exchange Software as a Service Agreement, as amended between the Company and Mercer Health & Benefits, LLC, the
date on which Mercer and its affiliates own less than 75% of the shares it purchased pursuant to the Securities Purchase
Agreement, and the date on which Mercer and its affiliates own less than 5% of the outstanding common stock of the Company.
The Company received all of the proceeds from this sale of shares and will use the proceeds for working capital and other general
corporate purposes.
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Schedule [I—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts (int  housands)
Balance at
Lo Additions
Beginning Additions Charged
Charged To Against
of Period Expense Revenue
Allowance for doubtful accounts and returns:
Year Ended December 31, 2014 $ 810 $ 94 $ 4,585
Year Ended December 31, 2013 $ 900 $ (22) $ 2,315
Year Ended December 31, 2012 $ 358 $ 98 $ 1,330
Balance at
segning  Addiors
Costs and
of Period Expenses (1) Deductions
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance:
Year Ended December 31, 2014 $34,422 $ 24,547 $ —
Year Ended December 31, 2013 $24,231 $ 10,191 $ —
Year Ended December 31, 2012 $18,510 $ 5721 $ —

(1) Increase in valuation allowance is related to the generation of net operating losses and other deferred tax assets.
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Deductions

$ (3,826)
$ (2,383)
$ (886)

Balance
at End of
Period

$ 58,969
$ 34,422
$ 24,231

Balance
at End of

Period

$1,663
$ 810
$ 900
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Linkbase Document.
# Management contract or compensatory plan.
t The registrant has received confidential treatment with respect to portions of this exhibit. Those portions have been omitted

from the exhibit and filed separately with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.



Exhibit 4.3.1

FIRST AMENDMENT TO
SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREE MENT

This FIRST AMENDMENT TO SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATEINVESTORS’ RIGHTS AGREEMENT (this Amendment
") is made as of the 24 day of February, 2015 ly@nong Benefitfocus, Inc., a Delaware corporaftba “ Company”) and each of the
undersigned Investors.

RECITALS

WHEREAS , on September 18, 2013, the Company, GS Capitaié?a VI Fund, L.P., GS Capital Partners VI OffghBund, L.P., GS
Capital Partners VI GmbH & Co. KG, and GS CapitaitRers VI Parallel, L.P., Oak Investment PartpdisLimited Partnership, Mason R.
Holland, Jr. and Shawn Jenkins entered into a SEAomended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreelftieat’ Rights Agreement”);

WHEREAS , Section 5.6 of the Rights Agreement provides thatCompany and the holders of sixty-six and twas percent (66-
2/3%) of the Registrable Securities then outstajndam amend the Rights Agreement by written conset

WHEREAS , in connection with the transactions contempldigthe Securities Purchase Agreement (tBecurities Purchase
Agreement”), dated as of the date hereof, by and among thmagainy and Mercer LLC, a Delaware limited liabiltlympany and a wholly
owned subsidiary of Marsh & McLennan Companies,, ladelaware corporation fercer ), all of the parties to the Rights Agreement
desire to amend the Rights Agreement to, among thiregs, grant Mercer certain registration rigivith respect to the capital stock of the
Company, add Mercer as an Investor to the Righteémgent, and amend the duration of registratidntsignder the Rights Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE , the parties hereby agree as follows:

1. Capitalized TermsAll capitalized terms used herein that are nbeowise defined herein shall have the meaninggsdito them in
the Rights Agreement unless the context hereofiregjotherwise.

2. Amendments Effective upon the consummation of the transasticontemplated by the Securities Purchase Agreg(then Closing
"), the Rights Agreement shall be amended as fallow

(a) The definition of “Registrable Securities” ir@ion 1.29 of the Rights Agreement is hereby aredrahd restated in its entirety
to read:

“1.29. “ Registrable Securities’ means (i) the Common Stock issuable or issuedhgomversion of the Preferred Stock;
(i) any Common Stock issued as (or issuable uperconversion or exercise of any warrant, rightber security that is
issued as) a dividend or other distribution witbpect to, or in exchange for or in replacementhaf,share:



referenced in clause (i) above; (iii) any Commoocgtotherwise held by executive-level employeethefCompany;

(iv) any Common Stock held by Mason Holland or Shawnkins or their Affiliates; and (v) any Commdodck held by, or
issuable upon the conversion or exercise of anyamgrright or other security issued to, Merceit®Affiliates; excluding ir
all cases, however, all shares of Common Stock nela Person that, together with its Affiliates|dsless than 5% of the
outstanding capital stock of the Company, and asgiftrable Securities sold by a Person in a trdiogain which the
applicable rights under this Agreement are notgags pursuant to Section 5.1.”

(b) The first sentence of Section 2.1(b) of thetfR&gAgreement is hereby amended and restated éntit®ty to read:

“If at any time when it is eligible to use a ForrBSegistration statement, the Company receivesjaast from Holders of at
least five percent (5%) of the Registrable Seasgithen outstanding that the Company file a ForBr&gistration statement
with respect to outstanding Registrable Securéfesich Holders having an anticipated aggregaterioff price, net of
Selling Expenses, of at least $5,000,000, theiCdrapany shall (i) within ten (10) days after théedsuch request is given,
give a Demand Notice to all Holders other thanltfigéating Holders; and (ii) as soon as practicabled in any event within
forty-five (45) days after the date such requegiven by the Initiating Holders, file a Form S&jistration statement under
the Securities Act covering all Registrable Se@sitequested to be included in such registratioarty other Holders, as
specified by notice given by each such Holder éo@ompany within twenty (20) days of the date tieenand Notice is
given, and in each case, subject to the limitatmfr8ection 2.1(cand_Section 2.3

(c) The reference to “Section 4.9” in Section 2o0i@he Rights Agreement is hereby deleted and ceplavith a reference to
“Section 5.9

(d) Section 2.11 of the Rights Agreement is hemddeted in its entirety and replaced with “2.11s&wed.”.
(e) Section 2.13 of the Rights Agreement is hedddgted in its entirety and replaced with “2.13s&wed.”.

(f) Schedule A (Investors) to the Rights Agreenieiitereby amended to include Mercer and its addresisted below its signature
hereto.

3. Joinder to Rights Agreement

(a) At the Closing, Mercer shall become an “Investmder the Rights Agreement. From and after thasi@g, Mercer agrees to be
bound by, and shall have the benefit of, the teantsprovisions thereof applicable to Investors, twedparties acknowledge and agree that all
references in the Rights Agreement to the terméstor” shall be deemed to include Mercer.
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(b) From and after the Closing, Mercer shall alawehthe benefit of the terms and provisions ofiSast4.1, 4.3(a), 4.3(b) and 4.8
of the Rights Agreement applicable to the Desigh&8 Entity, the GS Investors or the GS Group gradrts Affiliates, and the parties
acknowledge and agree that such Sections shal} &ppercer on anutatis mutandibasis, and for so long as Mercer holds Registrable
Securities, notwithstanding Section 4.6 of the Righkgreement.

4. RepresentationsEach party represents and warrants to each péngr that (i) such party has the requisite corfgmpartnership or
other entity power and authority to enter into thimendment, (ii) the execution and delivery of tAimendment by such party has been duly
authorized by all necessary corporate, partneishgiher entity action on the part of such parhd &ii) this Amendment has been duly
executed by such party and is the valid and bindlviggation of such party enforceable against quantty in accordance with its terms.

5. Termination This Amendment shall terminate and be of no furfbrce or effect if and at such time as the SgearPurchase
Agreement is terminated in accordance with its tepmior to the Closing.

6. Entire AgreementExcept as modified by this Amendment, all of thiems and conditions of the Rights Agreement gleaflain
unchanged and are and shall continue in full faroe effect.

7. Governing Law This Amendment shall be governed by, and condtin@ccordance with, the laws of the State of Newk,
regardless of the laws that might otherwise gowertter applicable principles of conflicts of law.

8. Counterparts; FacsimileThis Amendment may be executed in two or morentarparts, each of which shall be deemed an ofigui
all of which together shall constitute one andsame instrument. This Amendment may also be exgauté delivered by facsimile signature
and in two or more counterparts, each of whichldfetleemed an original, but all of which togetbleall constitute one and the same
instrument.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]

3



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlniendment as of the date first written above.

THE COMPANY: BENEFITFOCUS, INC.
By: /sl Mason R. Holland, Jr.
Name: Mason R. Holland, Jr.
Title: Executive Chairman of the Board

Address 100 Benefitfocus Wa
Charleston, SC 294¢

[Additional Signature Page Follows]

Signature Page tFirst Amendment to SecoAmended and Restated Inves’ Rights Agreemer



INVESTORS: GS CAPITAL PARTNERS VI FUND, L.P.

By: GSCP VI Advisors, L.L.C
its General Partne

/sl Joseph P. DiSabato

Name Joseph P. DiSaba
Title: Vice Presiden

GS CAPITAL PARTNERS VI OFFSHORE FUND, L.P.

By:  GSCP VI Offshore Advisors, L.L.C
its General Partne

/sl Joseph P. DiSabato

Name Joseph P. DiSaba
Title: Vice Presiden

GS CAPITAL PARTNERS VI GMBH & CO. KG

By:  GS Advisors VI, L.L.C
its Managing Limited Partne

/s/ Joseph P. DiSabato

Name Joseph P. DiSaba
Title:  Vice Presiden

GS CAPITAL PARTNERS VI PARALLEL, L.P.

By:  GS Advisors VI, L.L.C
its General Partne

/sl Joseph P. DiSabato

Name Joseph P. DiSaba
Title: Vice Presiden

[Additional Signature Page Follows]

Signature Page tFirst Amendment to SecoAmended and Restated Inves' Rights Agreemer



OAK INVESTMENT PARTNERS XII, LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP

By: Oak Associates XII, LLC, its General Part

By: /s/ Ann H. Lamont

Name: Ann H. Lamonti
Title: Managing Membe

/s/ Mason R. Holland, Jr.

Mason R. Holland, Ji

/s/ Shawn Jenkins

Shawn Jenkin
[Additional Signature Page Follows]

Signature Page tFirst Amendment to SecoAmended and Restated Inves’ Rights Agreemer



MERCER: MERCER LLC

By:  /s/ Julio Portalatin

Name Julio Portalatir
Title: President and Chief Executive Offic

Signature Page to First Amendment to Second Ameanii&Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement



Exhibit 4.5
BENEFITFOCUS, INC.

WARRANT FOR THE PURCHASE OF SHARES OF
COMMON STOCK OF BENEFITFOCUS, INC.

February 24, 2015

No. 001 Warrant to Purchase
580,813 Share

THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE BEEN ACQUIRE D FOR INVESTMENT AND HAVE NOT BEEN
REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED. SUCH SHARES MAY NOT BE SOLD, PLEDGED,
OR TRANSFERRED IN THE ABSENCE OF SUCH REGISTRATION OR A VALID EXEMPTION FROM THE
REGISTRATION AND PROSPECTUS DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS O F SAID ACT.

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, BENEFITFOCUS, INC. , a Delaware corporation (theCompany”), hereby certifies that Mercer LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (together witls sBuccessor or permitted assigns, thlder "), is entitled, subject to the provisions of this
Warrant, to purchase from the Company, at the tispesified herein, 580,813 fully paid and non-asskle shares of Common Stock of the
Company, par value $0.001 per share (t@®fmon Stock”), at a purchase price per share equal to thedsePrice (as hereinafter defined).
The number of shares of Common Stock to be receiped the exercise of this Warrant for the Purcludsghares of Common Stock (this “
Warrant ") and the price to be paid for a share of CommumtiSare subject to adjustment from time to timbéeinafter set forth.

1. Definitions. The following terms, as used herein, have thiefohg meanings:

“ Affiliate " means any Person that, directly or indirectlyotigh one or more intermediaries, controls or igradled by or is under
common control with a Person; provided that neitherHolder nor any of its Affiliates, on the oranid, nor the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, on the other hand, shall be deembd #ffiliates of one another. For purposes heré&mftrol” when used with respect to any
Person means the power to direct the managemenmtdicies of such Person, directly or indirecthhether through the ownership of voting
securities, by contract or otherwise, and the téruaastrolling” and “controlled” have correlative rarings.

“ Board " means the Company’s Board of Directors.

“ Business Day means any day other than Saturday, Sunday or déheon which commercial banks in The City of Néark are
authorized or required by applicable law to ren@ased.

“ Closing Date” means the date of issuance of this Warrant tdbleler.

“ Common Stock” has the meaning set forth in the Pream



“ Company” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“ Company Existing Control Group ” means Mason R. Holland, Jr., Shawn A. Jenking Gbldman Sachs Group, Inc. and Oak
Investment Partners XII, L.P.

“ Current Market Price Per Common Share” means, on any determination date, the volume ktedjaverage price per share of
Common Stock for the 20 consecutive trading dayséadiately prior to such date. If, on any determoratate, the shares of Common Stock
are not listed and traded on a national secustiehange, then the Current Market Price Per Comaiame shall be as determined in good
by the Board by application of a reasonable vatmathethod consistently applied and taking into @eration all available information
material to the value of the Company and its subsek; factors to be considered may include, adiegble, the value of tangible and
intangible assets of the Company and its subsatiathe present value of future cash flows of tam@any and its subsidiaries, the market
value of stock or equity interests in similar caqg@dns which can be readily determined througtectije means (such as through trading
prices on an established securities market or aruabpaid in an arm’s length private transactiamyg other relevant factors such as control
premiums or discounts for lack of marketability.

“ Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
“ Exercise Price” means $26.50 per Warrant Share, as the same enagijbsted from time to time as provided in thisrkAfat.

“ Expiration Time " means 5:00 p.m. New York City time on the dat& fls 30 months after the Closing Date, or if sdaf is not a
Business Day, then 5:00 p.m. New York City timetlom next succeeding Business Day.

“ Holder " has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
“ Purchase Agreement means the Securities Purchase Agreement datefiRebruary 24, 2015 between the Company and theeo

“ Person” means any individual, corporation, limited liahjlcompany, partnership, joint venture, trust,ammrated or unincorporated
association, joint stock company, unincorporateghoization, a government or any department, sufidivior agency thereof, or other entity
any kind.

“ Rights Agreement” means the Second Amended and Restated InveRimyists Agreement dated as of September 18, 2018ndy
between the Company and the Company Existing Co@taup, as amended by the First Amendment to dw&d Amended and Restated
Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated as of Februdr2R15, among the Company, the Holder and the @agngxisting Control Group.

“ Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933.

“ Warrant ” has the meaning set forth in the Pream



“ Warrant Shares” means the shares of Common Stock deliverable upanmtise of this Warrant, as the same may be adjisten time
to time as provided in this Warrant.

2. Exercise of Warrant

(a) The Holder is entitled to exercise this Wariianthole or in part at any time, or from time ime, at or prior to the
Expiration Time. To exercise this Warrant, the Holdhall (i) deliver to the Company (A) an execufédrrant Exercise Notice
substantially in the form attached_as Exhibito&his Warrant and (B) the original executed Wiatrtagether with an executed
Warrant Exercise Subscription Form substantiallthinform attached as ExhibittB this Warrant and (ii) pay to Company an
amount equal to the aggregate Exercise Price.

(b) At the election of the Holder, the ExercisecBnmay be paid either by wire transfer of immedjadsailable funds to an
account designated by the Company or by certifreafficial bank check or bank cashier's check pdgab the order of the
Company. Unless the Holder requests delivery oftfagrant Shares in a different name than the Ha@deme, the Company shall
pay any and all documentary, stamp or similar issueansfer taxes payable in respect of the issukelivery of the Warrant
Shares.

(c) If the Holder exercises this Warrant in pdristWarrant shall be surrendered by the Holdeh¢éoGompany and a new
Warrant of the same tenor and for the unexercisedber of Warrant Shares shall be executed by timepaay as promptly as
reasonably practicable. The Company shall regibenew Warrant in the name of the Holder or irhst@me or names of its
transferee pursuant to Sectioa$may be directed in writing by the Holder andwelthe new Warrant to the Person or Persons
entitled to receive the same as promptly as reddppaacticable.

(d) Upon surrender of this Warrant in conformityttwihe foregoing provisions, the Company shall getyntransfer to the
Holder of this Warrant appropriate evidence of osh@ of the shares of Common Stock or other sgesiror property (including
any money) to which the Holder is entitled, registeor otherwise placed in, or payable to the oafiethe name or names of the
Holder or its transferee pursuant to Secti@snay be directed in writing by the Holder, andllstteliver such evidence of
ownership and any other securities or propertylifoing any money) to the Person or Persons entitiedceive the same, together
with an amount in cash in lieu of any fraction afteare as provided in Section 4

3. Reservation of Share¥he Company hereby agrees that at all times thexk Ise reserved for issuance upon exercise oMizgant
such number of its authorized but unissued shdr€®mmon Stock or any other securities of the Camgfeom time to time issuable upon
exercise of this Warrant as shall be sufficierppéomit the exercise in full of this Warrant. Alldushares shall be duly authorized and, when
issued and paid for upon exercise of the Warrduat) e newly, duly and validly issued, fully padd nonassessable, free and clear of all |
and will not be subject to preemptive rights, rigbf first refusal, any similar rights of stockhetd or any other limitation or restriction, except
as provided for in the Purchase Agreement or Rigbteement, and except as a result of the sharmgsdbeen issued pursuant to an
exemption from registration under the Securities..




4. Fractional SharesNo fractional shares or scrip representing fraeti@hares shall be issued upon the exercise of¢hisant, and in
lieu of delivery of any such fractional share toieththe Holder may be entitled upon any exercisthisfWarrant, the Company shall pay to
Holder an amount in cash equal to such fractiortipligd by the Current Market Price Per Common 8har the Business Day immediately
preceding the date on which the Holder deliverswaerant Exercise Notice pursuant to Section 2(a)

5. Transfer or Assignment of Warrant by the Holder

(a) Each taker and holder of this Warrant, by tglinholding the same, consents and agrees thadfstered holder hereof
may be treated by the Company and all other Pedealing with this Warrant as the absolute owneediefor any purpose and as
the Person entitled to exercise the rights repteddmereby.

(b) The Holder agrees that this Warrant and ther&viShares shall be subject to the same restrictia sales, transfers and
other dispositions as are applicable to the shaEr€ommon Stock acquired by the Holder pursuar@dction 4.9 of the Purchase
Agreement;_providethat the exception to such restrictions set fantBéction 4.9(i) of the Purchase Agreement shalapply to
this Warrant or the Warrant Shares.

(c) Without limiting Section 5(b) this Warrant shall be subject to the restrictiondransfer set forth in Section 2.12 of the
Rights Agreement.

(d) Upon a valid exchange, transfer or assignmétiti® Warrant and surrender of this Warrant to@uenpany, together with
a duly executed Warrant Assignment Form substéntiathe form attached as Exhibit,Ghe Company shall, as promptly as
practicable and without charge, execute and deiveew Warrant in the name of the assignee ormasggnamed in such Warrant
Assignment Form and, if the Holderéntire interest is not being assigned, in theenahthe Holder, and this Warrant shall prom
be canceled.

6. Loss or Destruction of Warrant/pon receipt by the Company of evidence satisfgdioit (in the exercise of its reasonable disoreti
of the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation ofsthiVarrant, and (in the case of loss, theft orrdesibn) of reasonably satisfactory
indemnification, and upon surrender and cancehatiothis Warrant, if mutilated, the Company sleadecute and deliver a new Warrant of like
tenor and date




7. Anti-Dilution Provisions

(a) Common Stock Dividends, Subdivisions or Combinatitithe Company shall at any time after the date=bf (x) declare
and pay a dividend or make a distribution on Com@tatk payable in Common Stock, (y) subdivide dit #pe outstanding shares
of Common Stock into a greater number of sharg€g)azombine or reclassify the outstanding shargSafhmon Stock into a
smaller number of shares, then in each such case:

(i) the number of Warrant Shares issuable uponcése=of this Warrant thereafter shall be propostety adjusted so
that the exercise of this Warrant after such esbatl entitle the Holder to receive the aggregatalver of shares of
Common Stock that such Holder would have beenledtio receive had such Holder exercised this Wiainramediately
prior to such event; and

(ii) the Exercise Price thereafter shall be adjdisteequal the product of the Exercise Price ir@ffmmediately prior
to such event multiplied by a fraction (A) the nuater of which shall be the number of Warrant Skassuable upon the
exercise of this Warrant immediately prior to seelent and (B) the denominator of which shall berthmber of Warrant
Shares issuable upon the exercise of this Wamamiediately following such event.

Any adjustment made pursuant to this Section Sifa)l become effective immediately after the aglile record date, in the case of a
dividend or distribution, or immediately after thpplicable effective date, in the case of a subiiwi split, combination or
reclassification.

(b) Consolidation, Merger or Sale of Assdtsthe event of any consolidation of the Companthywor merger of the Company
into, any other Person, any merger of another Rdrgo the Company (other than a merger which ada¢sesult in any
reclassification, conversion, exchange or candgefiatf outstanding shares of Common Stock) or @y ar transfer of all or
substantially all of the assets of the Companyhé&Rerson formed by such consolidation or resuftimign such merger or to any
other Person that acquires such assets pursuanytsuch sale or transfer of all or substantidllpfthe assets of the Company, as
the case may be, then the Holder shall have tihe thigreafter to exercise this Warrant for the land amount of securities, cash
and/or other property receivable upon such conatitid, merger, sale or transfer by a holder ofrtlnaber of shares of Common
Stock for which this Warrant may have been exedcisenediately prior to such consolidation, mergale or transfer. In
determining the kind and amount of securities, @asifor other property receivable upon such codatitin, merger, sale or
transfer, if the holders of Common Stock have thktrto elect as to the consideration to be reckiygon the consummation of st
consolidation, merger, sale or transfer, then tiresicleration that the Holder shall be entitledetceive upon exercise shall be
deemed to be the kind and amount of consideratiogived by the majority of all holders of Commonc&tthat affirmatively make
an election (or of all such holders if none makekattion). Adjustments for events subsequentdceffective date of such a
consolidation, merger, sale or transfer of asdei be as nearly equivalent as may be practidabiiee adjustments provided for in
this Warrant. In any such event, effective provisighall be made in the certificate of incorporatio other organizational or
charter documents of the resulting or survivingoooation, in any contract of sale, merger, convegatease, transfer or otherwise
so that the provisions set forth herein for thetgtion of the rights of the Holder shall thereaftentinue to be applicable; and any
such resulting or surviving corporation shall exgsfg assume the obligation to deliver, upon exerasch shares of stock, other
securities, cash and propet




(c) Certain Determinationg-or purposes of any computation of any adjustmemqired under this Section 7
(i) adjustments shall be made successively wher@aweevent giving rise to such an adjustment sielr;

(ii) if any portion of any consideration to be ra@a by the Company in a transaction giving rissuoh an adjustment
shall be in a form other than cash, the fair mavisghie of such non-cash consideration shall beetlin such computation.
Such fair market value shall be determined by tharB;_providedhat if the Holder objects to any such determimgtguch
fair market value shall be as determined by anpeddent appraiser retained by the Holder and redbpsatisfactory to the
Company, the expense of which shall be shared lgdguathe Company and the Holder. The Holder shalhotified
promptly of any consideration other than cash todoeived by the Company and furnished with a detsen of the
consideration and the fair market value thereofletermined in accordance with the foregoing pionis;

(iii) such calculations shall be made to the ndawas-tenth of a cent or to the nearest one-hutidiefch share, as the
case may be;

(iv) the number of Shares outstanding at any gtirae shall not include shares owned or held byoottie account of
the Company; and

(v) no adjustment in the Exercise Price or the nemab Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise dMheant, as the
case may be, shall be required if the amount df sggustment would be less than one-tenth of a@eobe-hundredth of a
share, as the case may be; provitted any adjustments which by reason of this Secti{g)(v)are not required to be made
shall be carried forward and taken into accourarnin subsequent adjustment.

(d) Certificates as to Adjustmentdpon the occurrence of any and each adjustmehet&xercise Price or the number of
Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of this Whittee Company shall promptly compute such adjestrin accordance with tl
terms hereof and furnish to the Holder a certiéicsgtting forth such adjustment and showing inaealsle detail the facts upon
which such adjustment is based.

(e) Notices. In the event that the Company shall propose wtiare to effect any of the events described intiSas 7(a)
through_(b)that would result in an adjustment to the Exer€igee, the number of Warrant Shares issuable upercise of this
Warrant or a change in the type of securities operty to be delivered upon exercise of this Warrdme Company shall send not
to the Holder in the manner set forth in Section $0ch notice shall be sent at least 15 days twitite effective date of any such
event and shall specify such effective date. Inethent that the Company shall issue a dividendhmralistribution, the Company
shall send notice to the Holder in the mannerah fin_ Section 10 Such notice shall be sent at least ten days fwitire applicabl
record date and shall specify such record datal@date on which suc



dividend or other distribution is to be made. lhcalses, such notice shall specify such eventaaaeable detail, including the effi
on the Exercise Price and the number, kind or @éssgcurities or other property issuable upon @serof this Warrant.

8. Furnishing of Information The Company covenants to timely file its ExchaAgereports and furnish such information as reegliiby
Section 4.2 of the Purchase Agreement.

9. Rights of the HolderPrior to any exercise of this Warrant, the Holdwalknot, by virtue hereof, be entitled to any tgbf a
shareholder of the Company, including, without tation, the right to vote, to receive dividendstrer distributions, to exercise any
preemptive right or to receive any notice of magtiof shareholders or any notice of any proceedifitise Company except as may be
specifically provided for herein.

10. Notices Any and all notices or other communications orwdglies required or permitted to be provided hereustiall be in writing
and shall be deemed given and effective on théesadf (a) the date of transmission, if such reetic communication is delivered via facsimile
at the facsimile number specified in this SectiOrpfior to 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on a BusaseDay, (b) the next Business Day after
the date of transmission, if such notice or commatidn is delivered via facsimile at the facsinmlember specified in this Section &6 a day
that is not a Business Day or at or later than $:6@ (New York City time) on any Business Day, tf@ Business Day following the date of
deposit with a nationally recognized overnight dé@uservice, and (d) upon actual receipt by théyparwhom such notice is required to be
given. Notice via electronic mail must be suppletadrby another of the above methods. The addrefsasanile numbers and email addresse
for such notices and communications are as follewbject to change as the applicable party mayafterespecify for such purpose by notic
the other parties hereto:

To the Company:

Benefitfocus, Inc.

100 Benefitfocus Way

Charleston, SC 29492

Attention: Paris Cavic, General Counsel
Telephone No.: (843) 849-7476
Facsimile No.: (843) 849-6062

E-mail: paris.cavic@benefitfocus.com

With copies to:

Wyrick Robbins Yates & Ponton LLP
4101 Lake Boone Trail, Suite 300
Raleigh, NC 27607

Attention: Donald R. Reynolds
Telephone No.: (919) 781-4000
Facsimile No.: (919) 781-4865
E-mail: dreynolds@wyrick.cor



To the Holder:

Mercer LLC

1166 Avenue of the Americas

New York, NY 10036

Attention: Rian Miller, General Counsel
Telephone No.: (212) 345-1835
Facsimile No.: (212) 345-4433

E-mail: rian.miller@mercer.com

With copies to:

Mercer LLC

1166 Avenue of the Americas

New York, NY 10036

Attention: Margaret M. O'Brien, Global Chief CouthséHealth & Benefits
Telephone No.: (212) 345-5120

Facsimile No.: (212) 345-5627

E-mail: margaret.o’brien@mercer.com

Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP

450 Lexington Avenue

New York, NY 10017

Attention: Phillip R. Mills
Telephone No.: (212) 450-4000
Facsimile No.: (212) 701-5800
E-mail: phillip.mills@davispolk.com

11. Amendments; WaiverdNo provision of this Warrant may be waived or anhed except in a written instrument signed, indhase of
an amendment, by the Company and the Holder, atittinase of a waiver, by the party against whanthiver is to be effective. No waiver
of any default with respect to any provision, caioti or requirement of this Warrant shall be deemaele a continuing waiver in the future «
waiver of any subsequent default or a waiver of atimer provision, condition or requirement herewf; shall any delay or omission of either
party to exercise any right hereunder in any maimpair the exercise of any such right.

12. Successors and Assignshis Warrant shall be binding upon and inurenethenefit of the parties and their successorgpanditted
assigns. The Company may not assign, delegatédervaise transfer this Warrant or any rights or gdions hereunder without the prior
written consent of the Holder. Any assignment, gaton or other transfer in violation of the for@mgpprovisions of this Section ¥hall be
null and voidab initio .

13. Governing Law; Venue; Service of Process; Wadfelury Trial. ALL QUESTIONS CONCERNING THE CONSTRUCTION,
VALIDITY, ENFORCEMENT AND INTERPRETATION OF THIS WARRANT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARBNITHOUT




GIVING EFFECT TO THAT BODY OF LAWS PERTAINING TO CRFLICT OF LAWS. EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY
CONSENTS AND SUBMITS TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTIONF THE STATE AND FEDERAL COURTS SITTING IN THE
STATE OF DELAWARE FOR THE ADJUDICATION OF ANY DISPTE HEREUNDER OR IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR WITH
ANY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY (INCLUDING WITHRESPECT TO THE ENFORCEMENT HEREOF), AND
HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, AND AGREES NOT TO ASSERIN ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING, ANY CLAIM THAT
IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE THAT IT IS NOT PERSONALY SUBJECT TO THE JURISDICTION OF ANY SUCH COURT,
AND ANY OBJECTION THAT IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVETO THE LAYING OF THE VENUE OF ANY SUCH SUIT,
ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN ANY SUCH COURT OR THAT AN®UCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING BROUGHT IN ANY
SUCH COURT HAS BEEN BROUGHT IN AN INCONVENIENT FORW. EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES
PERSONAL SERVICE OF PROCESS AND CONSENTS TO PROCBEBG SERVED IN ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR
PROCEEDING BY MAILING A COPY THEREOF VIA REGISTEREDR CERTIFIED MAIL OR OVERNIGHT DELIVERY (WITH
EVIDENCE OF DELIVERY) TO SUCH PARTY AT THE ADDRESB EFFECT FOR NOTICES TO IT UNDER THIS WARRANT AND
AGREES THAT SUCH SERVICE SHALL CONSTITUTE GOOD ANBUFFICIENT SERVICE OF PROCESS AND NOTICE THEREOF.
NOTHING CONTAINED HEREIN SHALL BE DEEMED TO LIMIT N ANY WAY ANY RIGHT TO SERVE PROCESS IN AN®
MANNER PERMITTED BY LAW. THE COMPANY AND THE HOLDERHEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVE ALL RIGHTS TO A TRIAL
BY JURY IN CONNECTION WITH ANY DISPUTE HEREUNDER ORNY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

14. Execution This Warrant may be executed in two or more oceqoatrts, all of which when taken together shakttesidered one and
the same agreement and shall become effective wdamnterparts have been signed by each party ane to the other party, it being
understood that both parties need not sign the sanmgerpart. In the event that any signature lisgled by facsimile transmission or email
attachment, such signature shall create a valicbarding obligation of the party executing (or ohage behalf such signature is executed)
the same force and effect as if such facsimilenmibattached signature page were an original tfere

15. Other Definitional and Interpretive Provisianhe words “hereof”, “herein” and “hereunder” andrds of like import used in this
Warrant shall refer to this Warrant as a whole aotto any particular provision of this Warrantf&ences to Sections and Exhibits are to
Sections and Exhibits of this Warrant unless otlexwspecified. All Exhibits annexed hereto or refdrto herein are hereby incorporated in
made a part of this Warrant as if set forth in hiérein. Any capitalized terms used in any ExHiloit not otherwise defined therein, shall have
the meaning as defined in this Warrant. Any singtédem in this Warrant shall be deemed to inclddeplural, and any plural term the singu
Whenever the words “include”, “includes” or “inclung” are used in this Warrant, they shall be deetoduk followed by the words “without
limitation”, whether or not they are in fact follea by those words or words of like import. “Writf@written” and comparable terms refer to
printing, typing and other means of reproducingdsafincluding electronic media) in a visible forReferences to any statute shall be deeme

to refer to such statute as amended from timerie &ind to any rules or regulatic




promulgated thereunder. References to any Perstudinthe successors and permitted assigns oP#rabn. References from or through any
date mean, unless otherwise specified, from anddntg or through and including, respectively.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blar



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has duly causesl\tfiarrant to be signed by its duly authorized effiand to be dated as of the
date first indicated above.

BENEFITFOCUS, INC

By: /s/ Mason R. Holland, Jr
Name Mason R. Holland, Ji
Title: Executive Chairman of the Boa

[Signature Page to Warran



Acknowledged and Agreed:
MERCER LLC

By: /s/ Julio Portalatin

Name: Julio Portalatir
Title: President and Chief Executive
Officer

[Signature Page to Warran



Exhibit A
WARRANT EXERCISE NOTICE

(To be delivered prior to exercise of the Warrant
by execution of the Warrant Exercise Subscriptiomt)

To: Benefitfocus, Inc

The undersigned hereby notifies you of its intamtio exercise the Warrant to purchase shares oif@omStock, par value $0.001 per
share, of Benefitfocus, Inc. The undersigned inteindexercise the Warrant to purchase shares (the Warrant Shares”) at $
per Share (the Exercise Price currently in effecspant to the Warrant). As indicated below, theassigned intends to pay the aggregate
Exercise Price for the Warrant Shares in by wiaadfer of immediately available funds or by cegtifior official bank or bank cashier’s check.

Date

(Signature of Ownel

(Street Address

(City) (State) (Zip Coc
Payment O $ wire transfer of immediately availalblinds

O $ certified or official bank or banksteers check



Exhibit B
WARRANT EXERCISE SUBSCRIPTION FORM

(To be executed only upon exercise of the Warrant
after delivery of Warrant Exercise Notice)

To: Benefitfocus, Inc

The undersigned irrevocably exercises the Wariarhie purchase of shares (thédfrant Shares”) of Common Stock, par
value $0.001 per share, of Benefitfocus, Inc. {t@@mpany”) at $ per Share (the Exercise Price culyen effect pursuant to the
Warrant) and herewith makes payment of $ cHgayment being made as specified in the undezdigmpreviously delivered Warrant
Exercise Notice), all on the terms and conditigmec#fied in the within the Warrant, surrenders tMarrant and all right, title and interest
therein to the Company and directs that the WaiBaatres deliverable upon the exercise of this Wiailra registered or placed in the name an
at the address specified below and delivered theret

Date

(Signature of Ownel

(Street Address

(City) (State) (Zip Coc

Securities and/or check to be issued to:

Please insert social security or identifying number

Name

Street Address:

City, State and Zip Code:




Any unexercised portion of the Warrant evidencedhgywithin Warrant to be issued to:

Please insert social security or identifying number

Name

Street Address:

City, State and Zip Code:




Exhibit C
WARRANT ASSIGNMENT FORM
Dated ,
FOR VALUE RECEIVED,
hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto
(the “Assigne€’),

(please type or print in block letters)

(insert address)

its right to purchase up to shares of Common Stepkesented by this Warrant and does hereby irehpconstitute and appoint
Attorneg,transfer the same on the books of the Compattyfuil power of substitution in the premises.

Signature




Exhibit 10.20
SECURITIES PURCHASE AGREEMENT

This Securities Purchase Agreement (tiagf'eement ") is dated as of February 24, 2015, by and amosgefitfocus, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (the ‘Company "), and Mercer LLC, a Delaware limited liability sgany (the ‘Investor ") and a wholly owned subsidiary of
Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc., a Delaware catfon (“ Parent ).

BACKGROUND

A. The Company and the Investor are executing afideating this Agreement in reliance upon the exgampfrom registration afforded
by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 (tHgecurities Act ), and/or Rule 506 of Regulation D Regulation D ") as promulgated by tt
United States Securities and Exchange Commissien“@EC ") under the Securities Act.

B. The Investor wishes to purchase, and the Compastyes to sell and issue to the Investor, uponéiras and subject to the conditions
stated in this Agreement, an aggregate of 2,817s626es of the Common Stock (as adjusted by ack sit, dividend or other distribution,
recapitalization or similar event, theSshares”) and the Warrant (as defined below).

NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual conats contained in this Agreement, and for oth@dgand valuable
consideration the receipt and adequacy of whicthareby acknowledged, the Company and the Invesi@e as follows:

ARTICLE |
DEFINITIONS

1.1 Definitions. In addition to the terms defined elsewhere is thjreement, the following terms have the meanindigated:

“ Affiliate " means any Person that, directly or indirectlyotigh one or more intermediaries, controls or igradled by or is under
common control with a Person; provididt neither the Investor nor any of its Affiliates the one hand, nor the Company or any Subgidiar
on the other hand, shall be deemed to be Affiliafesne another. For purposes hereof, “control” mhsed with respect to any Person means
the power to direct the management and policiesioh Person, directly or indirectly, whether throdige ownership of voting securities, by
contract or otherwise, and the terms “controlliagl “controlled” have correlative meanings.

“ Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“ Alliance Agreement” means the Mercer Exchange Software as a Serteeinent, dated as of April 1, 2013, between the
Company and Mercer Health & Benefits LLC, a Delaavidmited liability company, and amended througé tlate hereof, including all
exhibits, schedules and annexes thereto, and asd@eh@nd/or restated from time to time.

“ Applicable Law " collectively means, with respect to any Persay, and all domestic or foreign federal, state caldaws
(statutory, common or otherwise), codes, rL



regulations, and governmental, judicial or admraiste decrees, orders and decisions that arecayidi to such Person, this Agreement, the
other Transaction Documents, including the U.S n@nalLeach-Bliley Act of 1999, the U.S. Fair Credieporting Act of 1970, the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of B)%he Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, th8.UBank Secrecy Act, orders and
guidelines of the Office of Foreign Assets Contmtl the USA Patriot Act, and any other applicala&grotection, privacy, consumer
protection or confidentiality laws or regulatiomsquding the rules and regulations of any selfatatpry organization to which such Person or
its securities are subject, including all applieabtading Markets).

“ beneficial owner,” “ beneficially owns,” “ beneficial ownership” and terms of similar import have the meaning sehfm Rule
13d-3 under the Exchange Act (i) assuming theciiversion into, and exchange and exercise forestiEd Common Stock of all Equity
Securities beneficially owned by the applicablesBarand (ii) determined without regard for the nemiif days in which such Person has the
right to acquire such beneficial ownership; proditieat, for purposes of any determination of the fieia® ownership of any securities by the
Investor Group, any securities beneficially owngdahy members of any Investor 13D Group other thermembers of the Investor Group
shall not be deemed to be beneficially owned byinkiestor Group unless members of the Investor @Gtave a pecuniary interest in such
securities.

“ Board " has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2
“ Board Observer Letter Agreement” means the letter agreement substantially in thefattached hereto as Exhibit A

“ Business Day means any day other than Saturday, Sunday or ddeon which commercial banks in The City of Néark are
authorized or required by Applicable Law to remelizsed.

“ Change of Control” of a party means any of the following transactiqa$:a merger, consolidation or other reorganiratimles:
securities representing more than fifty percen@gp0f the total combined voting power of the votsegurities of the successor entity are
immediately thereafter beneficially owned, direailyindirectly and in substantially the same prdipor, by the Persons who beneficially ow
that party’s outstanding voting securities immegliaprior to such transaction; (b) a sale, tranefesther disposition of twenty percent
(20%) or more of that party’s consolidated assmt¢¢) any transaction or series of transactionsymnt to which any Person or any group of
Persons (other than the Company Existing Controu@rwith respect to the Company) comprising a tigfowithin the meaning of Rule 13d-5
(b)(2) of the Exchange Act becomes directly orriadily the beneficial owner of securities possagsiore than twenty percent (20%) of the
total combined voting power of that party’s sedast(as measured in terms of the power to vote rggpect to the election of the board of
directors or other similar governing body) outsiagdmmediately after the consummation of suchgeation or series of transactions, whethe
such transaction involves a direct issuance fraah plarty or the acquisition of outstanding secesitield by one or more of that pastgxistinc
stockholders.

“ Closing” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(a)



“ Closing Date” means the date on which the Closing occurs.

“ Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.

“ Common Stock” means the common stock of the Company, par vdu@01 per share.
“ Company” has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“ Company Existing Control Group " means Mason R. Holland, Jr., Shawn A. Jenking Gbldman Sachs Group, Inc. and Oak
Investment Partners XII, L.P., and any and all Iffes of any of them.

“ Competing Bid” shall mean an offer by any member of the Inve&ooup or any Investor 13D Group to acquire Voisigck of
the Company that, if consummated, would result@hange of Control of the Company; providkdt such offer follows a publicly announced
offer by any Person (other than any member of tikedtor Group or any Investor 13D Group) thatpiisummated, would result in a Change
of Control of the Company.

“DGCL"” has the meaning set forth_in Section 3.1(q)

“ Disclosure Materials” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(h)

“ Equity Securities” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1

“ Exceptions Letter” has the meaning set forth in the lead-in paragtagSection 3.1
“ Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

“ Excluded Securities” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.5

“ Exercise Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2

“ First Amendment to the Rights Agreement’ means the First Amendment to the Second Amenddd=estated InvestorRights
Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, amongahgp@ny, the Investor and the Company Existing @b@roup.

“Fundamental Representations’has the meaning set forth_in Section 7..10
“ GAAP " has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(h)

“ Governmental Authority " means any domestic or foreign federal, stat@oallgovernmental, regulatory or administrative
authority, department, court, agency or officiatluding any political subdivision thereof, or amyn-governmental self-regulatory
organization, agency, commission or authority.

“ Insolvent” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(i)
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“ Intellectual Property ” means any and all rights, title and interestnd & all intellectual property or similar prop@aey rights
arising under the Applicable Law of the United 8satany other jurisdiction or any treaty regiménéernational convention throughout the
world, including without limitation: (i) patents drpatent continuations, divisionals, reexaminatieu®stitutions and reissues; (ii) trademarks,
service marks, corporate names, trade names, seraines, brands, trade dress, designs, logos smddhdomain names, and the goodwill
associated therewith; (iii) copyrights, works oftearship, moral rights, data and database rightstrade secrets, know-how, innovations,
concepts, research and development, and inver(idmether or not patentable or reduced to practmel; (v) all applications, extensions,
renewals or translations and other derivative wadrthe foregoing in sub-clauses (i) through (iv).

“ Investor " has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

“ Investor Controlled Entity ” shall mean an entity of which the Investor cdlieely owns or controls, directly or indirectly, ho
less than a majority of the outstanding voting poamitled to vote in the election of directorssofch entity (or, in the event the entity is not a
corporation, the governing members, board or atheilar body of such entity).

“ Investor Group " means, collectively, Parent and its controlledildsdtes, including the Investor and the Investan@olled
Entities (other than any director, officer or enyade of any of the foregoing).

“ Investor Observer” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4

“ Investor 13D Group” means any 13D Group of which any member of thedtoreGroup is a member, other than any 13D G
whose only members are members of the Investorfrou

“ Lien " means, with respect to any asset, any pledge,d@tateral assignment, security interest, encumtearight of first refuse
preemptive rights, any other third-party right afy&ind, mortgage, deed of trust, title retentioonditional sale or other security arrangement,
or adverse claim of title.

“ Material Adverse Effect” means (i) a material adverse effect on the Iégalalidity, or enforceability of any of the Traaxdion
Documents, the Rights Agreement or the Alliancee®gnent, (ii) a material adverse effect on the te®floperations, assets, business or
condition (financial or otherwise) of the Compamgdhe Subsidiaries, taken as a whole on a corelicbasis, or (iii) a material adverse el
on the Company'’s ability to perform on a timely isats obligations under any of the Transaction loents, the Rights Agreement or the
Alliance Agreement.

“ Material Contract " has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(t)
“ Material Permits ” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(m)

“ Nasdaq” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(e)



“ Non-Voting Convertible Securities” means any securities of the Company that are exifle into, exchangeable for or
otherwise exercisable to acquire Voting Stock ef @ompany, including convertible securities, wasarights or options to purchase Voting
Stock of the Company.

“Organizational Documents” has the meaning set forth_in Section 3.1(b)

“ Person” means any individual, corporation, limited liahjilcompany, partnership, joint venture, trust,arporated or
unincorporated association, joint stock companyneorporated organization, a government or any deyent, subdivision or agency thereof,
or other entity of any kind.

“ Preferred Stock” means the preferred stock of the Company, parevéD.001 per share.

“ Proceeding” means an action, litigation, lawsuit, claim, saiitration, audit, examination, investigation oogeeding (includin
a partial proceeding, such as a deposition), whheth@menced or threatened in writing.

“ Proposed Registered Transfet has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2
“ Proposed Transfer” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2

“ Proposed Transfer Notice’ has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2

“ Purchase Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1

“ Regulation D" has the meaning set forth in the Background.

“ Rights Agreement” means the Second Amended and Restated InveRiists Agreement dated as of September 18, 2013, by
and between the Company and the Company Existimgr@ldsroup, as amended on the date hereof to nmaestor a party thereto.

“ ROFO " has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1

“ ROFO Agreement” means the Right of First Offer Agreement datedfathe date hereof among the Company, the Investdr
the Company Existing Control Group.

“ Rule 144" means Rule 144 promulgated by the SEC pursuathiet&ecurities Act, or any similar rule or regigdathereafter
adopted by the SEC having substantially the safeeteds such Rule.

“ SEC” has the meaning set forth in the Background.

“ SEC Reports” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(h)

“ Securities Act” has the meaning set forth in the Background.
“ Shares” has the meaning set forth in the Background.
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“ Subsidiary " means any entity (i) the securities or other ossh@ interests of which having ordinary voting govo elect a
majority of the board of directors or other perspagorming similar functions are at the time dihgor indirectly owned by the Company or
(ii) for which the Company directly or indirectlgisres as the managing member or general partner.

“ Tax ” means (i) any tax, governmental fee or other iksessment or charge of any kind whatsoever @imguvithholding on
amounts paid to or by any Person), together withiaterest, penalty, addition to tax or additioaatiount, and any liability for any of the
foregoing as transferee, (i) in the case of thenGany or any of the Subsidiaries, liability for fh@yment of any amount of the type described
in clause (i) as a result of being or having beefote the Closing a member of an affiliated, coidsdéd, combined or unitary group, or a party
to any agreement or arrangement, as a result ahwiaibility of the Company or any of the Subsidarto a taxing authority is determined or
taken into account with reference to the activibéany other Person and (iii) liability of the Cpemy or any of the Subsidiaries for the
payment of any amount as a result of being pargniotax sharing agreement.

“ Termination Date " has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4

“ 13D Group” means any group of Persons that would be requinetkr Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act to filgaement on
Schedule 13D or Schedule 13G with the SEC as a¢pémwithin the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of #hechange Act if such group
beneficially owned Voting Stock representing mdrant 5% of any class of Voting Stock then outstagdin

“ Total Current Voting Power ” shall mean, with respect to any entity, at tlmeetiof determination of Total Current Voting Power,
the total number of votes which may be cast irefleetion of members of the board of directors efdbrporation if all securities entitled to
vote in the election of such directors are preaentvoted (or, in the event the entity is not gpoaation, the governing members, board or ¢
similar body of such entity).

“ Trading Day " means (a) any day on which the Shares are Istepioted and traded on their primary Trading Mgr&e (b) if
trading ceases to occur on any Trading Market,Business Day.

“ Trading Market " means the over-the-counter market or any natieaalirities exchange, market or trading or quatdaaility
on which the Common Stock is then listed or quoted.

“ Transaction Documents’ means this Agreement, the Warrant, the First Admeent to the Rights Agreement, the ROFO
Agreement and the Board Observer Letter Agreement.

“ Transfer Agent " means Computershare or any successor transfat tagghe Company.

“ Voting Stock” means shares of Common Stock and any other siesuof the Company having the ordinary power ttevo the
election of members of the Board.



“ Warrant ” means the Warrant for the Purchase of Shareoofr@on Stock of the Company substantially in thenfattached as
Exhibit B hereto.

ARTICLE II
PURCHASE AND SALE

2.1 Purchase and Sale of the Shar®gbject to the terms and conditions of this Agreast, the Investor hereby agrees to purchase h&
Company hereby agrees to sell and issue to thetondhe Shares at a price per share equal t&@®26 cash, for the aggregate purchase price
of $74,664,439.00 in cash (thé’Urchase Price”).

2.2 Closing

(a) The closing (the Closing ") of the purchase and sale of the Shares herewsthddirtake place at the offices of Davis Polk &
Wardwell LLP, 450 Lexington Avenue, New York, Nevark, on the date hereof or the following Businesy [or at such other time or place
as the Investor and the Company may agree.

(b) At the Closing, the Company shall deliver te thvestor (i) appropriate evidence of the issuarfdhe Shares in uncertificated
form registered in the name of the Investor, (ideatificate executed by the secretary of the Com@and dated as of the Closing Date, as tc
certificate of incorporation, by-laws, foreign gifightion, incumbency of the Company'’s officers ayjmbd standing of the Company and the
resolutions adopted by the Company’s Board of Dinesc(the “Board ”) authorizing the transactions contemplated byThensaction
Documents, (iii) a certificate executed by an exi@ewfficer of the Company certifying that the citions set forth in Sections 5.1(@)d 5.1
(b) have been satisfied, (iv) the Warrant, duly exetlgthe Company, and (v) a Board Observer Lettge@ment, duly executed by the
Company.

(c) At the Closing, the Investor shall deliver e tCompany (i) the Purchase Price to the Compariteytransfer of immediately
available funds to an account specified by the Caomgpn writing at least two Business Days priottte Closing Date, (ii) a certificate execu
by an executive officer of the Investor certifyitigat the conditions set forth in Sections 5.2(@) 5.2(bhave been satisfied, (iii) the Warrant,
duly executed by the Investor, and (iv) a Boardeédbsr Letter Agreement, duly executed by the Irmeand the initial Investor Observer.
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ARTICLE Il
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

3.1 Representations and Warranties of the Comp&ngept as disclosed in the SEC Reports (but ékuiuthe “Risk Factors” section
contained in such SEC Reports, and excluding favi@oking statements identifying risks and uncettias that are not historical facts
contained in such SEC Reports) or the exceptidter ldelivered by the Company to the Investor corenily with the execution hereof (the “
Exceptions Letter "), the Company hereby represents and warrantsstdnivestor as of the date hereof and as of thsi@jdate as follows:

(a) Subsidiaries The Company has no Subsidiaries other than tigied on Exhibit 21.1 to the CompasyAnnual Report on For
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013. The Gompwns, directly or indirectly, all of the capittock or other equity interests of each
Subsidiary free and clear of any Lien and all #sied and outstanding shares of capital stockher euity interest of each Subsidiary are
validly issued and are fully paid, non-assessahtefeee of preemptive and similar rights. Thereraveutstanding (i) securities of the
Company or any Subsidiary convertible into or exajeable or exercisable for shares of capital stoakher equity interests of any Subsidiary
or (ii) options or other rights to acquire from fempany or any Subsidiary, or other obligationh&f Company or any Subsidiary to issue, an
capital stock, other equity interests or securiti@svertible into or exchangeable for capital stockther equity interests of any Subsidiary.
Neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiariesatly or indirectly owns any shares of capital ktocother equity interest in, or a
securities convertible into or exchangeable or @zable for any shares of capital stock or otheiitgdnterest in, any Person other than the
Subsidiaries. No Subsidiary has any outstanding alebther non-equity interests the holders of Wwhiave the right to vote, or are convertible
into or exchangeable or exercisable for capitatkstir other equity interests having the right téeyavith the stockholders of such Subsidiar
any matter.

(b) Organization and QualificatiarEach of the Company and its Subsidiaries is #ityetuly organized, validly existing and in
good standing under the Applicable Laws of thespligtion of its incorporation or organization (ggphbcable), with the requisite legal authority
to own or lease and use its properties and assétaarry on its business as currently condudtieither the Company nor any Subsidiary is
in violation of any of the provisions of its resfige certificate or articles of incorporation or-tawvs or other organizational or charter
documents (collectively, Organizational Documents™”). Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries iy dulalified to do business and is in
good standing as a foreign corporation or othetyeim each jurisdiction in which the nature of thesiness conducted or property owned by it
makes such qualification necessary, except wheréaiture to be so qualified or in good standirgyttee case may be, has not had and would
not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonaldyelipected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Tam@any has made available to the Inve
prior to the date hereof true and complete copiiés aertificate of incorporation and by-laws ifiext as of the date hereof.

(c) Authorization; EnforcementThe Company has the requisite corporate powegatttbrity to enter into and to consummate the
transactions contemplated by each of the TransaBt@uments and otherwise to carry out its oblaregtihereunder and thereunder. The
execution and delivery of each of the Transactioeunents by the Company and the consummationdfitlite transactions contemplated
hereby and thereby have been duly authorized liyeaktssary corporate action on the part of the @osnpnd no further consent or action is
required by the Company, its officers, the Boaritostockholders. The issuance of the SharestentMarrant do not require the approval of
the stockholders of the Company. Each of the Ti@iwaDocuments has been (or upon delivery will ey executed by the Company and is
or when delivered in accordance with the termsdfereill constitute, the valid and binding obligati of the Company enforceable against the
Company in accordance with its terms, except asledimited by (i) applicable bankruptcy, insolvgnoeorganization or other Applicable
Laws of general application relating to or affegtthe enforcement of creditors rights generallyl @i the effect of rules of law governing the
availability of specific performance and other ¢gbie remedies.




(d) No Conflicts. The execution, delivery and performance by then@any of the Transaction Documents and the constimmiay
the Company of the transactions contemplated heaabtythereby do not and will not (i) conflict with violate any provision of the Compasy’
or any Subsidiary’s Organizational Documents,r{igterially conflict with, or constitute a materddfault (or an event that with notice or lapse
of time or both would become a material defaultiem or give to others any material right of constermination, amendment, acceleration or
cancellation (with or without notice, lapse of timeboth) of any material right or obligation oktiCompany or any Subsidiary under, or give
rise to a loss of any material benefit to which @mmpany or any Subsidiary is entitled under, agrg@ment, credit facility, debt or other
instrument (evidencing a Company or Subsidiary deltherwise) to which the Company or any Subsydiga party or by which any prope
or asset of the Company or any Subsidiary is bauraffected, or (iii) result in a violation of afypplicable Law.

(e) Filings, Consents and Approvalshe Company is not required to obtain any apgraamsent, waiver, authorization or order
give notice to, make any filing or registration iyiany Governmental Authority or other Person,lmsesve any statutory waiting period relal
thereto, in connection with the execution, delivenperformance by the Company of the Transactioauinents or the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, dktaer (i) compliance with any applicable requirersesftthe HSR Act, (ii) any filings requir:
to comply with the Company’s registration obligatiounder the Rights Agreement, (iii) the applicatio the Nasdaq Global Select Market (*
Nasdaq ") for the listing of the Shares for trading thereorhe time and manner required thereby and (iW)gdl required under applicable U
federal and state securities laws.

(f) The Shares The Shares have been duly authorized and reséowvéssuance and, when issued and paid for inrdec@e with
the Transaction Documents, will be newly, duly &atidly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, &ma clear of all Liens and will not be
subject to preemptive rights, rights of first refysany similar rights of stockholders or any otlimitation or restriction, except as provided for
herein or in the Rights Agreement, and exceptrasalt of the Shares having been issued pursuamt éxemption from registration under the
Securities Act. The shares of Common Stock issualnisuant to the Warrant have been duly authodretreserved for issuance and, when
issued and paid for upon exercise of the Warraititber newly, duly and validly issued, fully paithéi nonassessable, free and clear of all Lien
and will not be subject to preemptive rights, rigbf first refusal, any similar rights of stockhetd or any other limitation or restriction, except
as provided for herein or in the Rights Agreemant except as a result of such shares having bsead pursuant to an exemption from
registration under the Securities Act.

(g) Capitalization As of February 23, 2015, the aggregate numbshafes and type of all authorized, issued andandsig
classes of capital stock, options and other seesiitf the Company (whether or not presently cditverinto or exercisable or exchangeable
for shares of capital stock of the Company) coasié(i) 50,000,000 authorized shares of CommogiStwith 25,642,334 shares of Common
Stock outstanding; (ii) 5,000,000 shares of Prefit@tock, none of which are outstanding; and&ii)36,456 shares of Common
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Stock reserved for issuance upon the exercise pf@me stock options and/or restricted stock usiilsce February 23, 2015, the Company
not issued or granted, as applicable, any capitaksoptions or other securities of the Companldhier or not presently convertible into or
exercisable or exchangeable for shares of capaek ©f the Company). All outstanding shares ofitzdystock have been duly authorized,
validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable ané lhaen issued in compliance with all applicabigées laws and regulations, the
Company’s Organizational Documents and all stodkdi@’ agreements now and at the relevant timesofisce in effect. Except as disclosed
in the first sentence of this Section 3.1(¢f)ere are no outstanding options, warrants, sighsubscribe to, calls, phantom stock rights or
commitments of any character whatsoever relatingrtgecurities, rights or obligations convertiloito or exercisable or exchangeable for, or
any agreement giving any Person any right to silteséor or acquire, or sell to the Company, or iggg the Company to repurchase or
redeem from any Person, any shares of Preferrezk Simmmon Stock or any other capital stock or o#tpiity interests of the Company, or
securities or rights convertible or exchangeale shares of Preferred Stock, Common Stock or #imgr@apital stock or other equity interests
of the Company. The Company has no outstandingatetither non-equity interests the holders of wiiakie the right to vote, or which are
convertible into or exchangeable or exercisablefgital stock or other equity interests havingrtghbt to vote, with the stockholders of the
Company on any matter. There are no anti-dilutioprize adjustment provisions contained in any ggcissued by the Company (or in any
agreement providing rights to security holders) tirdissuance and sale of the Shares will not atdithe Company to issue shares of Com
Stock or other securities to any Person (other thadnvestor) and will not result in a right ofyaimolder of securities to adjust the exercise,
conversion, exchange or reset price under suctrigesuTo the knowledge of the Company, exceplisslosed on Schedules 13D and
Schedules 13G on file with the SEC and except @unisto this Agreement, no Person or group of rdl&ersons beneficially owns or has the
right to acquire, by agreement with or by obligatiinding upon the Company, beneficial ownershima#xcess of five percent (5%) of the
outstanding Common Stock.

(h) SEC Reports; Financial Statementhe Company has timely filed all reports requitedbe filed by it under the Securities Act
and the Exchange Act. Such reports required taldx by the Company under the Securities Act ardikchange Act, including pursuant to
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, togettith any materials filed or furnished by the Canp under the Securities Act and the
Exchange Act, whether or not any such reports wemaired, being collectively referred to hereirttees“ SEC Reports ” and, together with the
Exceptions Letter, the Disclosure Materials”. As of their respective filing or effective datess applicable, the SEC Reports complied in all
material respects with the requirements of the s Act and the Exchange Act, as applicable, mote of the SEC Reports, when filed by
the Company or declared effective, as applicaldetained any untrue statement of a material facnuitted to state a material fact required to
be stated therein or necessary in order to makst#ttements therein, in the light of the circumsésnunder which they were made, not
misleading. The Company has made available tortxestor prior to the date hereof the current dradtef the date hereof of the Company’s
press release announcing its earnings, and the &uoyigpAnnual Report on Form 10-K, in each casetHlerfiscal year ended December 31,
2014, and neither such press release nor such Fodkhwill, when issued or filed, as applicable gafthe date hereof, differ in any material
respect from the last draft thereof made availtdbtbe Investor prior to the execution hereof. Tihancial statements of the Company inclu
in the SEC Reports comply
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in all material respects with applicable accountiaguirements and the rules and regulations oS8 with respect thereto as in effect at the
time of the filing of such SEC Reports. Such finahstatements have been prepared in accordanhdJmited States generally accepted
accounting principles applied on a consistent bédsigrg the periods involved GAAP "), except as may be otherwise specified in such
financial statements or the notes thereto and @xbhapunaudited financial statements may not doratth footnotes required by GAAP for
audited financial statements, and fairly presemtlimaterial respects the consolidated finanatelifion of the Company and its consolidated
Subsidiaries taken as a whole as of the datesahanel their consolidated results of operations eagh flows for the periods then ended,
subject, in the case of unaudited statements, tmaoimmaterial, year-end audit adjustments.

(i) No Change Except as otherwise disclosed in the SEC Repgirtse December 31, 2013, (A) there has been nut,evecurrenc
or development that, individually or in the aggregdas had or would reasonably be expected to adWaterial Adverse Effect, (B) the
Company and the Subsidiaries have conducted thsirective businesses in the ordinary course censisith past practice, and neither the
Company nor any of the Subsidiaries have incurmsdiabilities (contingent or otherwise) other th#wse arising from operations in the
ordinary course of business consistent with paattjme, and (C) the Company has not declared oeraag dividend or distribution of cash or
other property to its stockholders, or purchasedeemed, or made any agreements to purchase emede shares of its capital stock. The
Company is not currently negotiating with any Parsther than the Investor regarding any issuanahaiffes of capital stock of the Company
to such Person, and the Company has no current itct@o so. Neither the Company nor any of thes&liaries has taken any steps to seek
protection pursuant to any bankruptcy law nor dbesCompany believe that its or the Subsidiariestitors intend to initiate involuntary
bankruptcy Proceedings or have any knowledge ofactywhich would reasonably lead any such crediato so. Neither the Company nor
any of the Subsidiaries is Insolvent (as hereimafégined), and will not be Insolvent after giviaffect to the transactions contemplated hereby
to occur at the applicable Closing. For purposasigfSection 3.1(i) “ Insolvent ” means (i) the present fair saleable value ofapglicable
Person’s assets is less than the amount requinealyteuch Person’s total indebtedness, (ii) théiegige Person is unable to pay its debts and
liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwiae,such debts and liabilities become absolutevaatdred or (iii) the applicable Person has
unreasonably small capital with which to conduet blusiness in which it is engaged as such busisegsv conducted and is proposed to be
conducted.

(j) Litigation . There is not, and since January 1, 2011 hasew®i,lany material Proceeding pending or, to theviedge of the
Company, threatened against the Company or anyidaysor any of its properties. Neither the Companr any Subsidiary is, or since
January 1, 2011 has been, a party or subject toratgrial order, writ, injunction, judgment or deerof any court or government agency or
instrumentality. There is no material ProceedindghH®yCompany or any Subsidiary currently pending/loich the Company or any Subsidiary
intends to initiate.

(k) Key Employees There are no currently effective employment caets, offer letters containing economic terms, otiimg
agreements, deferred compensation arrangementss Iptans, incentive plans, profit sharing plansrament agreements or other employee
compensation plans or agreements containing tenchg@nditions that would result in
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the material payment to any employee or former eyg® of the Company or any of its Subsidiariesnyf material money or other property or
the acceleration, vesting or provision of any otheterial rights or benefits to any employee onfer employee of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries by virtue of the issuance of the Shptesuant to this Agreement or the other transasttontemplated or permitted by the
Transaction Documents (either alone or upon thermence of any other event). As of the date hemmkey employee of the Company or any
of the Subsidiaries has given notice, nor is thenany aware, that any such key employee intentistminate his or her employment with the
Company or any of the Subsidiaries.

() StockholdersAgreements Except as required pursuant to the Rights Agre¢ntiee Company is presently not under any
obligation, and has not granted any rights, tostegiany of the Company’s presently outstandingrites or any of its securities that may
hereafter be issued that have not expired or batisfied. Except for the Rights Agreement and thed®d Amended and Restated Voting
Agreement, dated September 23, 2013, by and betthegbompany and the Company Existing Control Gythire are no stockholders
agreements, voting agreements, right of first affeother similar agreements or understandings seipect to the Company’s capital stock to
which the Company is a party or, to the knowlediyjtne Company, between or among any of the Compastg’ckholders.

(m) Compliance with Laws; PermitS'he Company and each of its Subsidiaries issamte January 1, 2011 has been, in material
compliance with all Applicable Law. The Company atsdSubsidiaries possess all material certificaaeshorizations and permits issued by
appropriate Governmental Authority necessary taloohtheir respective businesses as describec iSHC Reports (Material Permits ™),
neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiariés igolation of any of the Material Permits anda@nlanuary 1, 2013, neither the Company
nor any Subsidiary has received any notice from@ayernmental Authority relating to any materiadlation of Applicable Law or the
revocation or modification of any Material Permit.

(n) Offering Valid. Assuming the accuracy of the representationsaarcanties of the Investor contained in Sectionh&ezof, the
offer, sale and issuance of the Shares will be @xdrom the registration requirements of the SdmsiAct, and will have been registered or
qualified (or are exempt from registration and dfieation) under the registration, permit or quiliftion requirements of all applicable state
securities laws.

(o) Private PlacementNeither the Company, nor any of its Affiliategrrany Person acting on its or their behalf, hagged in
any form of general solicitation or general adwéntj (within the meaning of Regulation D) in conti@t with the offer or sale of the Shares.
Neither the Company nor any of its Affiliates nany Person acting on the Comp’s behalf has, directly or indirectly, at any tim&hin the
past six months, made any offer or sale of anyritgar solicitation of any offer to buy any sedyrunder circumstances that would
(i) eliminate the availability of the exemption fnoregistration under Regulation D in connectiorhwvtfte offer and sale by the Company of the
Shares as contemplated hereby or (ii) cause tleeindf of the Shares pursuant to the Transactiorubeats to be integrated with prior
offerings by the Company for purposes of any Amgllie Law or stockholder approval provisions, inahgdunder the rules and regulations of
any Trading Market in a manner which would requaing stockholder approval.
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(p) Placement Ageid Fees The Company has not employed any broker, invastimenker, finder or other Person in a similar
capacity and has not incurred any liability for dimancial advisory fees, brokerage fees, commissar finder’s fees, and no broker,
investment banker, finder or other Person in alameiapacity has acted, directly or indirectly, floe Company or any of the Subsidiaries, in
connection with this Agreement or the transacticostemplated hereby. The Company shall pay, ardithel Investor harmless against, any
liability, loss or expense (including reasonableraiey’s fees and out-of-pocket expenses) arigingphnection with any claim for such fees
arising out of the transactions contemplated byTifamsaction Documents.

(q) Application of Takeover Protectionghe Company has no “poison pitt similar stockholder rights plan or agreemenrgfiect.
Assuming that the Investor’s representations andaméies in Section 3.2(gre true as of immediately prior to the executiod delivery of thi
Agreement, the Company has taken all actions napess exempt the Investor Group, the Transactionubnents and the transactions
contemplated or permitted hereby and thereby (tioly for the avoidance of doubt, the acquisitibamy additional shares of Voting Stock to
the extent permitted by Section 4.8om the restrictions on business combinationS&dtion 203 of the Delaware General Corporation La
(the “DGCL "); provided, however, that the Company has not waived any such prawsibat would apply to the extent that the Inveatat
the Investor Group acquire beneficial ownershimofe than 17.5% of the Company’s shares of ComntockShen outstanding or issuable
pursuant to the Warrant. Except for Section 20efDGCL, there is no control share acquisitiorsibess combination or other anti-takeover
provision under the Organizational Documents ofGleenpany or any of the Subsidiaries or the Appliedlaws of their respective states of
incorporation or otherwise, that is or could becapplicable to the Investor Group as a result eftthnsactions contemplated or permitted by
the Transaction Documents.

(n) Intellectual Property Section 3.1(rpf the Exceptions Letter sets forth a true and detegist of all Intellectual Property owned
by the Company or the Subsidiaries that has begsteeed, issued or is otherwise subject to a pendpplication, indicating for each item the
registration or application umber, the applicalliad jurisdiction, the recorded owner and the datt@pplication and registration or issuance.
The Company or one of the Subsidiaries owns diitsigtitle and interest in, or has legally obtaiaed maintained all necessary rights and
licenses to use for all purposes currently requinethe Company and the Subsidiaries, all IntallecProperty used or held for use in, or
otherwise necessary for, the conduct of the businéthe Company and the Subsidiaries. All curestdt former employees and independent
contractors of the Company and the Subsidiariesived in the development of material Company letellal Property and all other key
employees and senior executives have executedsantion assignment or other work made for hire @grent substantially in the form
disclosed to Investor prior to the date hereof @anithe extent that any such Intellectual Propesay bheen developed or created by a third party
(including any current or former employee or indegent contractor of the Company or any Subsidifoy)he Company or any of the
Subsidiaries, the Company or one of the Subsidiaaie the case may be, has a written agreemensugththird party with respect thereto, anc
the Company or one of the Subsidiaries therebyhbggned sufficient ownership of such IntellectBabperty to conduct its business as
currently conducted. The Company or a Subsidialgiysand exclusively owns all Intellectual Propeotyned or purported to be owned by the
Company or the Subsidiaries, and in each case sucis

13



Intellectual Property free and clear of all Liefis.the knowledge of the Company, all Intellectuadgerty owned by or exclusively licensed to
the Company or any of the Subsidiaries is valid em@rceable and there is, and since January B B84 been, no existing infringement by
another Person of any of the Intellectual Propeviped by or exclusively licensed to the Compangror of the Subsidiaries. Except as has nc
had and would not reasonably be expected to haswjdually or in the aggregate, a Material AdveEstect, the Company and each
Subsidiary is in compliance with all license contsato which the Company or any such Subsidiagyparty or otherwise bound. There are no
infringement or misappropriation Proceedings pegain to the knowledge of the Company, threatemainat the Company or any of the
Subsidiaries with respect to the conduct of thesipective businesses (including the provision gffanducts or services of the Company or
any of the Subsidiaries). Neither the Company mgraf the Subsidiaries, nor the conduct of thespeetive businesses (including the provi:
of any products or services of the Company or driie Subsidiaries), has infringed, misappropriaiedtherwise violated any Intellectual
Property of any third party in any material resp&tie Company and each Subsidiary has taken anglbactions reasonably necessary to
maintain, enforce and protect their rights in ang all Intellectual Property owned or licensedite €Company or any of the Subsidiaries,
including by taking reasonable measures to prabectonfidentiality of proprietary or confidentiaformation (including trade secrets and any
source code related to the software owned by ensied to the Company or any of the Subsidiarid®).Jompany and the Subsidiaries
maintain and enforce policies and procedures régguahta security, website and internet securitiyagy and the use of data that are
commercially reasonable, and, in any event, the i@y and each Subsidiary is in compliance withtied obligations under Applicable Law
and contractual obligations with respect to sucktens There has been no material breach or vimlaif any such website, database or sec
policy or any unauthorized access to, or use of,data used in the businesses of the Company,ubsi@aries or of any third party’s
proprietary or confidential information. To the kmledge of the Company, there are no viruses, wolmgan horses, self-help code or similar
programs which would restrict the proper use oeas¢o any material software used by the CompattyeoBubsidiaries. All material
databases, hardware, and software currently usétieb@ompany and the Subsidiaries perform in snbatacompliance with applicable
specifications and the Company has no knowledgmpfoperating problems which has had or would maisly be expected to have,
individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adweiffect in the use thereof. Neither the Companyamy of the Subsidiaries has modified,
conveyed or distributed any software owned by drth@m in a manner that obligates the Company grodithe Subsidiaries to (i) make
available or distribute such software in sourceecfaiim, (ii) license such software for the purposenaking derivative works or under terms
that allow reverse engineering, reverse assemhdysassembly of any kind or (jii) redistribute sisdftware at no charge. No source code of
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has be@aseld to any customer or other third party pursizseany escrow agreement or similar
arrangement.

(s) No Undisclosed LiabilitiesThere are no liabilities of the Company or anyhaf Subsidiaries of any kind whatsoever, whether
accrued, contingent, absolute, determined, detatoienor otherwise, other than (i) liabilities prded for in the consolidated balance sheet of
the Company and the Subsidiaries as of Septemh@03@ included in the SEC Reports or disclosetiémotes thereto, (i) liabilities that
have arisen since September 30, 2014 in the ogdatanse of business, (iii) liabilities incurreddonnection with the Transaction Documents
and (iv) liabilities that are not, individually or the aggregate, material to the Company and tifssiSiaries, taken as a whole.
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(t) Material Contracts (i) Each Material Contract is a valid, bindingddagally enforceable obligation of the Companynoe of the
Subsidiaries, as the case may be, and, to the kagelof the Company, of the other parties the(@l@ach Material Contract is in full force
and effect, and (iii) none of the Company or anyhef Subsidiaries is (with or without notice ordepf time, or both) in material breach or
default under any Material Contract and, to thevikedge of the Company, no other party to any Matebntract is (with or without notice or
lapse of time, or both) in material breach or difduereunder. None of the Company or the Subseahas party to any agreement that would,
after giving effect to the transactions contempldig the Transaction Documents, restrict in anpees(including by way of exclusivity
obligation) the ability of the Investor or its Affites to compete in any business or with any Peosan any geographical areaMaterial
Contract " means, any agreement the Company or any of thsiaries is a party to or bound by that (w) wolbddrequired to be filed by the
Company as a “Material Contract” pursuant to Itedi(®)(10) of Regulation S-K under the Securities, A¢) provided or provides for
aggregate payments from or receipt by the Compaiayy of the Subsidiaries of more than $2,000,00@d the most recently completed
fiscal year or over the remaining term of such @aett (y) constitutes a joint venture or partngrshri similar arrangement that is material to
business of the Company and the Subsidiaries, @ak@mwhole, or (z) includes provisions pursuanthiach (A) the Company or any of the
Subsidiaries has granted a license to, or cover@rb be sued under, any material IntellectuapBrty owned by the Company or any of the
Subsidiaries, except for non-exclusive licensestgito customers in the ordinary course of busigessistent with past practice, or (B) the
Company or any of the Subsidiaries has been granliednse to, or covenant not to be sued undgriaterial Intellectual Property owned by
a third party (other than licenses for any comnatmaif-the-shelf software that is generally avaiéabn non-discriminatory pricing terms).

(u) Tax Matters (i) All material Tax returns, statements, repamsl forms (including estimated Tax or informatieturns and
reports) required to be filed with any taxing auttyoby or on behalf of the Company or any Subsigdidave been filed when due in accordz
with all Applicable Laws; (ii) as of the time ofifig, such returns were true and complete in aliemal respects; (iii) all Taxes shown as due
and payable on such returns that have been filed baen timely paid, or withheld and remitted t® #ppropriate taxing authority, except for
Taxes that are being contested in good faith anapipyopriate proceedings and for which adequagzves in accordance with GAAP have
been established in the most recent financial si@tés contained in the SEC Reports. There is nit audxamination of any such return
presently in progress, nor is there any Proceepimgling or, to the knowledge of the Company, tlemed against or with respect to the
Company or any of the Subsidiaries in respect gflaax or Tax asset.

(v) Internal Accounting and Disclosure ControlBhe Company maintains a system of internal cootrer financial reporting (as
such term is defined in Rules 13a-15 and 15d-1®utie Exchange Act) sufficient to provide reasémalssurance regarding the reliability of
the Company’s financial reporting and the preparatif the Company’s financial statements for exdepurposes in accordance with GAAP
and that (a) transactions are executed in accoedaith management’s general or specific authowrati (b) transactions are recorded

15



as necessary to permit preparation of financiaéstants in conformity with GAAP and to maintainetssccountability, (c) access to assets is
permitted only in accordance with management’s g specific authorization, and (d) the recordedountability for assets is compared
with the existing assets at reasonable intervalsaapropriate action is taken with respect to affgrgnces. The Companydisclosure contrc
and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15 andlAadider the Exchange Act) are reasonably desitmedsure that all material information
required to be disclosed by the Company in thertspbfiles or furnishes under the Exchange Actisorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in th&CS rules and forms. The Company’s managementd@pleted an assessment of the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controlsrdinancial reporting as required by Section 40the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, and has adetlihat such internal controls were effective. Toenpany has disclosed, based on its
most recent evaluation of the Company’s internakti over financial reporting prior to the datedaf, to the Company’s auditors and audit
committee (i) any significant deficiencies and mialeveaknesses in the design or operation of th@@ny’s internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversafgct the Company’s ability to record, processnsarize and report financial information
and (ii) any fraud, whether or not material, thatdlves management or other employees who hawgnédisant role in the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Neither the Companor, to the knowledge of the Company, the Comijsaindependent auditors, has
identified or been made aware of any significarficiency or material weakness, in each case whahriot been subsequently remediated, in
the system of internal control over financial rejppay utilized by the Company and the Subsidiarieany fraud that involves the Company’s
management or other employees who have a roleiprigparation of financial statements with finahmporting oversight or the internal
control over financial reporting utilized by the @pany. The chief executive officer and chief finahofficer of the Company have evaluated
the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure odsfind procedures and, to the extent requireddpli¢able Laws, presented in any
applicable SEC Report that is an Annual or Quartedport on Form 10-K or Form 10-Q, or any amendriiggreto, its conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and promsias of the end of the period covered by sysbrter amendment based on such
evaluation (and as of the most recent evaluatiach) slisclosure controls and procedures were effectSince the date of the most recent
evaluation of such disclosure controls and procesiand internal controls, there have been no #gnif changes in such controls or in other
factors that could significantly affect discloswantrols and procedures or internal controls, idicig any corrective actions with regard to
significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

(w) Listing and Maintenance Requiremenithe Common Stock is registered pursuant to Sedtgb) of the Exchange Act, and
the Company has taken no action designed to, arthwthbiits knowledge is likely to have the effecttefrminating the registration of the
Common Stock under the Exchange Act nor has thep@agnreceived any notification that the SEC is eorglating terminating such
registration. The Company is in material compliangth the listing and maintenance requirementsamdother applicable rules and
regulations of Nasdag.
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3.2 Representations, Warranties and Covenantedhttestor. The Investor hereby represents and warrantst@€tmpany as of the d:
hereof and as of the Closing Date as follows:

(a) Organization; Authority The Investor is an entity duly organized, validiisting and in good standing under the Applicable
Laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, witte requisite corporate, partnership or othergpiitwer and authority to enter into and to
consummate the transactions contemplated by thes@iction Documents and otherwise to carry outlitgations thereunder. The purchase by
the Investor of the Shares hereunder has beeradtiyprized by all necessary corporate, partneshgther entity action on the part of the
Investor. This Agreement has been duly executeddatidered by the Investor and constitutes thedvatid binding obligation of the Investor
enforceable against it in accordance with its teemsept as may be limited by (i) applicable bapkey, insolvency, reorganization or other
Applicable Laws of general application relatingoraaffecting the enforcement of creditors rightagyally, and (i) the effect of rules of law
governing the availability of specific performarared other equitable remedies. The Investor isenptired to obtain any approval, consent,
waiver, authorization or order of, give noticedomake any filing or registration with, any Goverantal Authority or other Person, or observe
any statutory waiting period relating thereto, @amoection with the execution, delivery and perfongeby the Investor of the Transaction
Documents or the consummation of the transactiongeenplated hereby and thereby, other than (i) diermge with any applicable
requirements of the HSR Act and (ii) filings re@drunder applicable U.S. federal and state seesiféiwvs.

(b) No Public Sale or DistributionThe Investor is acquiring the Common Stock nahwi view towards, or for resale in connectior
with, the public sale or distribution thereof, egtpursuant to sales registered under the SeaAteor under an exemption from such
registration and in compliance with applicable f@dleand state securities laws, and the Investos doé have a present arrangement to effect
any distribution of the Shares to or through amgpe or entity.

(c) Investor StatusAt the time the Investor was offered the Shaitegas, and at the date hereof it is, an “accrediteestor” as
defined in Rule 501(a) under the Securities Ad tqualified institutional buyer” as defined in Rul44A(a) under the Securities Act.

(d) Experience of the Investofrhe Investor, either alone or together with @gresentatives, has such knowledge, sophisticatid
experience in business and financial matters $o bs capable of evaluating the merits and riskb@fprospective investment in the Shares,
and has so evaluated the merits and risks of swesiment. The Investor understands that it muest the economic risk of this investment in
the Shares, and is able to bear such risk andég@bfford a complete loss of such investment.

(e) Access to InformationThe Investor acknowledges that it has had adoetb® Disclosure Materials and certain information
about the Company and the Subsidiaries and thedergive financial condition, results of operatidmssiness, properties, management and
prospects sufficient to enable it to evaluateritestment. No information, inquiry, or investigaticonducted by or on behalf of the Investor or
its representatives or counsel before, on or #feedate hereof shall modify, amend or affect theestor’s right to rely on the truth, accuracy
and completeness of the Disclosure Materials aadCttmpany’s representations and warranties comtdimthe Transaction Documents.
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(f) Restricted SharesThe Investor understands that the Shares araaieazed as “restricted shares” under the U.Srédd
securities laws inasmuch as they are being acqfrioedthe Company in a transaction not involvingublic offering and that under such laws
and applicable regulations such securities mayebeld without registration under the Securities @l in certain limited circumstances.

(g) Placement Ageid Fees The Investor has not employed any broker, investrbanker, finder or other Person in a similar
capacity or incurred any liability for any finantadvisory fees, brokerage fees, commissions alefis fees, and no broker, investment ban
finder or other Person in a similar capacity has@adirectly or indirectly, for the Investor inroeection with this Agreement or the transact
contemplated hereby. The Investor shall pay, amdl the Company harmless against, any liabilityslosexpense (including reasonable
attorney’s fees and out-of-pocket expenses) arisimpnnection with any claim for such fees arising of the purchase of the Shares pursuar
to this Agreement.

(h) Litigation. There is no Proceeding pending or, to the Inveskmowledge, threatened against the Investongrsaibsidiary
thereof or any of its properties which in any marstellenge or seek to prevent, enjoin, alter oremially delay the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement.

(i) No Ownership of Company ShareAs of the date of this Agreement, neither theebtar, nor any other member of the Investor
Group or any Investor 13D Group, beneficially ovamy shares of Common Stock, or any other equityrtexs of the Company, or any
options, warrants or other rights to acquire egségurities of the Company or any other securdw ertible into equity securities of the
Company. Neither the Investor, nor any other menobée Investor Group or any Investor 13D Grougs purchased, sold, transferred, made
any short sale of, granted any option for the pasehof, or entered into any hedging or similargaation with the same economic effect as a
sale of, any equity securities or any options, a@is or other rights to acquire equity securitiethe Company.

ARTICLE IV
OTHER AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES

4.1 [Reserved].

4.2 Furnishing of InformationThe Company covenants to timely file (or obtaiteasions in respect thereof and file within thelagable
grace period) all reports required to be filed gy Company after the date hereof pursuant to tlebdhge Act. Upon the request of the
Investor, the Company shall deliver to the Investaritten certification of a duly authorized officas to whether it has complied with the
preceding sentence. As long as the Investor owaseStor any other shares of Common Stock, if thm@2my is not required to file reports
pursuant to the Exchange Act, it will prepare amghish to the Investor and make publicly availahlaccordance with Rule 144(c) such
information as is required for the Investor to slef Shares or any other shares of Common StookriRule 144. The Company further
covenants that it will take such further actiorttes Investor may reasonably request, all to therdxtecessary from time to time to enable suc
Person to sell such Shares and any other shaf@snofnon Stock without registration under the Semsifct within the limitation of the
exemptions provided by Rule 144,
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4.3 Integration The Company shall not, and shall use its comrakyaieasonably efforts to ensure that no Affilittereof shall, sell,
offer for sale or solicit offers to buy or other@isegotiate in respect of any security (as define&gkection 2 of the Securities Act) that would be
integrated with the offer or sale of the share€ofmmon Stock under the Transaction Documents ianer that would require the registral
under the Securities Act of the sale of the shtrdise Investor under the Transaction Documenthatrwould be integrated with the offer or
sale of the shares such that approval of the stddkls of the Company would be required pursuattieaules and regulations of any Trading
Market.

4.4 Board ObservationFrom the Closing Date until the earlier of (&g tixpiration or termination of the Alliance Agreathan
accordance with its terms and (b) the first datevbith the Investor Group beneficially owns lesartlii) 75% of the Shares or (ii) 5% of the
outstanding Common Stock, in each case in thisselgln), for a period of at least 45 consecutivesdthe earlier of such dates in (a) or (b), the
“ Termination Date”), the Company covenants and agrees that the tovedll have the right to designate (w) the CHiedecutive Officer of
the Investor (it being acknowledged and agreeddheth individual, even if he or she is not the Btee Observer at any time, shall be entitle
attend all meetings of the Board and its commitsesreceive all Board and committee materialndstathe same extent as the Investor
Observer at such time), (x) the Chief Financiali€eif of the Investor, (y) the Senior Partner Glddarketplace Leader (or equivalent position)
of the Investor, or (z) any senior Investor Grompaitive with appropriate knowledge of the Invesdooup’s relationship with the Company
under the Alliance Agreement who is, in the casthisfclause (z), reasonably acceptable to the @ommas an observer at all meetings of the
Board and its committees (thérivestor Ohserver ), who will initially be Sharon Cunninghis. The @pany agrees that the Investor Observelr
will receive the same notice of meetings or writtemsents of the Board and its committees as i siesignee were a member thereof and the
same written materials provided to members of thar® and its committees in connection with meetofgbe Board and its committees or
written consents of the Board and its committedb@same time such materials are distributed tmloees thereof, and the Company agrees
that the Investor Observer may share all suchiinéion and materials with the Investor. The Inveafgrees that the Investor Observer may b
excluded from such portions of any Board or conemitineeting and that such materials may be withhetd the Investor Observer, in each
case, as and solely to the extent the Board rebkodatermines, based on the advice of outside seluis necessary (i) to avoid any conflict of
interest with respect to any potential transackietween the Company and the Investor Group or wikerthat is to be discussed or addressed
in such materials, if and to the extent that suafflect would have disqualified the Investor Obsarfrom attending such meeting or receiving
such materials had the Investor Observer beereatdirof the Company at the relevant time, (iguth portion of the meeting or materials ¢
or will involve the disclosure of any confident@istomer lists, pricing, pricing strategy or salesnarketing plans of the Company or any of
the Subsidiaries, or (iii) to preserve the Comparattorney-client privilege; providdtat, before the Company may exclude the Investor
Observer from any portion of any Board or committeeeting or withhold from the Investor Observer &oard or committee materials
pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this secgéethe Company shall notify the Investor of itsedmination to do so, and consult with the
Investor to minimize or eliminate the need for segblusion or withholding. The Investor agrees
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not to, and agrees to instruct the Investor Obseretto, share any competitively sensitive infotimaor materials received from the Compi
or any of the Subsidiaries with any party withie thvestor or entity within its corporate organiaatthat should not have that information
under applicable anti-trust or similar competitlaws. The Investor agrees to cause (A) the inlitieéstor Observer to execute a Board
Observer Letter Agreement at or prior to the Clgsind (B) any subsequent Investor Observer to égecBoard Observer Letter Agreement
as a condition to the Company’s obligations hereunal permit such Investor Observer to attend Baadicommittee meetings and provide
such Investor Observer Board and committee maseffdle Investor agrees that it will be respondibitehe Investor Observer’s costs and
expenses in attending Board and committee meetings.

4.5 Listing of Common StockThe Company hereby agrees to use reasonableffm$s to maintain the listing of the Common Stack
Nasdaq or another national securities exchangeCbnepany further agrees, if the Company applidsaie the Common Stock traded on .
other Trading Market, it will include in such apgtion the Shares and any other shares of Comnoak &tquired by the Investor in
accordance with, and as permitted by, this Agre¢naaml will take such other action as is necessadesirable in the reasonable opinion of
the Investor to cause the Shares and any otherstizchs to be listed on such other Trading Markgtramptly as possible. The Company will
comply in all material respects with the Compamgigorting, filing and other obligations under thelaws or rules of the applicable Trading
Market.

4.6 No Impediment to Permitted Accumulation; Afiikeover Provisions

(a) The Company agrees that neither it nor anh®Subsidiaries shall (i) adopt any “poison pilt’similar stockholder rights plan
or agreement or any control share acquisition,fass combination or other anti-takeover provisindar the Organizational Documents of the
Company or any of the Subsidiaries, unless suah plgreement or provision expressly permits theliadgpn and ownership by the Investor
Group of the Shares and any additional shares thy&tock in accordance with, and as permittedtug, Agreement; and (ii) enter into any
agreement containing any provision pursuant to vthe acquisition and ownership by the Investoruprof the Shares and any additional
shares of Voting Stock in accordance with, andeamited by, this Agreement would require any comge other action by any Person,
constitute a default, whether with or without netar lapse of time or both, or give rise to anytigf termination, cancellation or acceleration
of any right or obligation of the Company or anytleé Subsidiaries, or to the loss of any benefithich the Company or any of the
Subsidiaries would otherwise be entitled, undehsagreement.

(b) If any “poison pill” or similar stockholder rigs plan or agreement or any control share acgnsibusiness combination or
other anti-takeover provision under the Organizetidocuments of the Company or any of the Subsatiaor the Applicable Laws of their
respective states of incorporation or otherwisdl fliemome applicable to any member of the Inve&mup, the Company shall grant such
approvals and take such actions as are necesghwyitin its control so that the transactions camtéated or permitted by the Transaction
Documents and the Rights Agreement may be consuathaatpromptly as practicable on the terms contenbhereby and thereby and
otherwise act to minimize the effects of any sueluse or regulation on such transactions; provitietithe Company shall not be required to
grant such approvals and/or take such actionstextent that they would permit the Investor antiier
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Investor Group to acquire beneficial ownership afrenthan 17.5% of the Company’s shares of CommookShen outstanding or issuable
pursuant to the Warrant; providetlowever, that the Company shall not grant any approvailkaartake any actions under any “poison pill” or
similar stockholder rights plan or agreement, or sunch control share acquisition, business comioinatr other anti-takeover provision, in
either case so as to permit any other Person or@r@Dp to acquire beneficial ownership of more th#@rb5% of the Company’s shares of
Common Stock then outstanding or issuable purgoahe Warrant, unless the Company grants suctoaglsrand/or takes such actions for
benefit of the Investor and the Investor Groupustisgantially the same time as, and on terms tlahailess favorable to the Investor and the
Investor Group than, such approvals and/or actipasted and/or taken for the benefit of such oBexson or 13D Group.

4.7 Notice of TransactionsNotwithstanding anything to the contrary heréigjuding Section 4.8(a)the Company agrees that until the
Termination Date:

(a) If the Company determines to explore a posgbdeess for a sale transaction that would, if asommated, constitute a Change
Control of the Company, the Company shall notify thvestor of such process and allow the Investgatticipate therein on terms and
conditions at least as favorable to the Investadhasnost favorable terms and conditions offereanty third party participating therein.

(b) The Company shall not enter into any agreermpemtiding for a Change of Control of the Companyless the Company notifi
the Investor in writing at least five Business Dag$ore taking such action of its intention to dq(is being understood and agreed that any
amendment to the financial or other material teofithe proposed Change of Control shall requirewa written notice from the Company and
the observation of a new five Business Day periodien this Section, and that if the Investor makesféer or proposal within any such five
Business Day period, the Board shall consider sidieh or proposal in good faith).

4.8 Standstill

(a) The Investor agrees that until the Terminabate, none of the Investor, Parent or any of ieptontrolled Affiliates, shall
directly or indirectly:

(i) except at the specific written request of thenpany or pursuant to a Competing Bid, proposenterento, directly or
indirectly, any merger or business combination imvg the Company or any of the Subsidiaries;

(i) otherwise act alone to publicly seek, or actoncert with others to seek, to control the manaent, Board or policies of
the Company;_providethat the actions permitted by clause (i) of thistie® 4.8(ajand the actions of the Investor Observer in
connection with serving as such shall be deemetwiolate this clause (ii);

(i) except as permitted by clause (i) of this i@t 4.8(a), acquire additional shares of Voting Stock withthg consent of
the Board if the effect of such acquisition woultb increase the percentage of Total Current \gd@iawer of the Company
represented by all Voting Stock beneficially owrgcthe Investor Group, including any Voting StosKuable upon the exercise of
any Non-Voting Convertible Shares, to more thab%of the sum of (A) the Company’s shares of Com@tmtk then
outstanding, and (B) any shares then issuable ant$a the Warrant;
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(iv) solicit or participate in the solicitation pfoxies with respect to any Voting Stock, or seekdvise or influence any
person with respect to the voting of any Votingc&t(other than as otherwise provided or contemglbtethis Agreement);

(v) deposit any Voting Stock in a voting trust except as otherwise provided or contemplated heseinject any Voting
Stock to any arrangement or agreement with ang fharty with respect to the voting of such Votirngd;

(vi) join a 13D Group (other than a group compusaolely of the Investor and its Affiliates) foretipurpose of acquiring,
holding, voting or disposing of Voting Stock or N®ioting Convertible Shares;

(vii) except at the specific written request of empany or pursuant to a Competing Bid, take atip@awhich would
reasonably be expected to require the Company ke ma@ublic announcement regarding the possihifity business combination
or merger involving the Company or any of its Sdlzsies;

(viii) publicly disclose any intention, plan or angement inconsistent with the foregoing;
(ix) knowingly advise, assist or encourage any oBersons in connection with any of the foregoing;

(x) publicly request that the Company (or its resppe directors, officers, affiliates, employeesagents), directly or
indirectly, amend or waive any provision of thicsen 4.8(a), unless and until the Person seeking such amertdmeraiver has
received the prior written invitation or approvéltibe Company.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in thisr&gment, (i) the prohibitions in this Article Bhall not affect the Investor’s ability to
hold the Shares, (ii) the prohibitions in this $@ti¥.8shall not prevent the Investor from making any aetitial offer or proposal to the Bo:
for a potential transaction (including a Chang€ontrol transaction), and (iii) if (w) a Change@dntrol of the Company has occurred, (x) the
Company has entered into an agreement providing @hange of Control of the Company, (y) a thirchyphas made a public offer or proposal
(including a tender or exchange offer) or publiahynounced an intention to make any such offer gpgsal that would, if consummated, result
in a Change of Control of the Company, or (z) aaysBn or 13D Group (other than (A) the Company tibdsControl Group, or (B) any
Person or 13D Group that files a statement on SdbelBG with the SEC and indicates on the covee plagreof that such Schedule 13G is
being filed pursuant to Rule 13d-1(b) under thelaxge Act) has acquired beneficial ownership ofinpStock representing 15% or more of
the Total Current Voting Power of the Company repreed by all Voting Stock, then, in each casaigmdlause (iii), the prohibitions in this
Section 4.&hall immediately terminate without further foraeedfect and the Investor shall be released fromg@nce therewith.

(b) In the event that the Company becomes awatdahbdnvestor Group’s beneficial ownership excebdgsownership limitations
under_Section 4.8(a)the Company will
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promptly provide written notice to the InvestorllIBwing delivery of such notice, at the option bétCompany, the Investor must either (i) sell
shares of Common Stock to the Company, as socgaasmably practicable after it receives noticeetbiefrom the Company, at the closing
price of the Common Stock on a Trading Market andhy prior to the date on which the Investor neeeBsuch notice, or (ii) sell such share

a third party as soon as reasonably practicabde edteiving such notice (which sale shall notdsdricted by Section 4)9in each case to
cause the Investor Group’s beneficial ownershipto@xceed such ownership limitations. If the Ingesiolates the provisions of clause (ii) of
Section 4.8(a) the sole and exclusive remedy of the Company beab require (including through an action seglspecific performance
under_Section 7.18the Investor to sell such shares of Common Stioakexceed the ownership limitations pursuanhéopreceding sentence
either to the Company or a third party, togethahweasonable attorney’s fees and expenses incdimectly by the Company in connection
with enforcing its rights under this Section 4.8(b)

4.9 LockUp . From the Closing Date until the earlier of (& frermination Date and (b) December 31, 2017,rifaedtor hereby agrees
not to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of,alyeor indirectly, any Shares or other shares efm@on Stock or enter into any swap or other
arrangement that transfers to another Person atheafconomic consequences of ownership therecépeXi) to the Company, (i) in response
to a tender or exchange offer for the Common Sfotlier than a tender or exchange offer by the loves any other member of the Investor
Group or any Investor 13D Group), (iii) as paraaherger or other transaction in which all outstagdhares of Common Stock of the
Company are converted into or exchanged for otbesideration and is approved by the stockholdete@fCompany, (iv) transfers to
Affiliates of the Investor in accordance with tleerhs of this Agreement, providéiaht such Affiliate agrees to be bound by the teofrihis
Agreement, or (v) with prior Board approval.

4.10 Press Releaseblo later than the Trading Day immediately follagithe execution of this Agreement, the Companyissle a
mutually acceptable press release disclosing #msactions contemplated by the Agreement and teméé Agreement. The Company and
Investor shall consult with each other in issuing aubsequent press releases with respect toathgeairtions contemplated hereby, and the
Company and the Investor shall not issue any sue$spelease or otherwise make any such publienstatt without the prior consent of the
other party, which consent shall not be unreasgnatthheld, conditioned or delayed, except if sdéclosure is required by Applicable Law,
in which case the disclosing party shall promptigyide the other party with prior notice of suctbpia statement or communication.

4.11 Information Rights The Company will furnish, or cause to be furnihe the Investor such additional information melifeg the
Investor’s investment in the Company as the Invasiay reasonably request, including such infornmasis is necessary or appropriate to
permit the Investor Group to comply on a timelyibagth their financial reporting obligations insgect of the Investor’s investment in the
Company.

4.12 Requlatory Filingslf any direct or indirect acquisition of Compasgrcurities by the Investor that is permitted orteoplated by th
Transaction Documents after the date hereof regjaing antitrust or other regulatory filings undgmpficable Law, then the Investor and the
Company agree to make any such required filingstamdoperate with each other in making any suafgi and obtaining and maintaining
any related regulatory approvals, consents,
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authorizations and the expiration or terminatiomo§ statutory waiting periods relating therete]uding providing one another any
information reasonably required from each othehwétspect thereto, in each case as promptly atigable.

ARTICLE V
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

5.1 Conditions Precedent to the Obligations ofittwestor. The obligation of the Investor to consummateGlesing is subject to the
satisfaction or waiver by the Investor of eachhaf following conditions:

(a) Representations and Warrantide representations and warranties of the Compantained herein shall be true and correct i
all material respects (other than those representaind warranties that are qualified by mateyiali Material Adverse Effect qualifiers,
which shall be true and correct in all respects, thie representations and warranties set fortleati@ 3.1(g)Capitalization), which shall be
true and correct in all bute minimigespects) as of the date hereof and as of thergl@&xate.

(b) Performance The Company shall have performed, satisfied amaptied in all material respects with all covenaatgeements
and conditions required by the Transaction Documtnmbe performed, satisfied or complied with bgtibr prior to the Closing.

(c) Other DocumentsThe Investor shall have received each of thevdebles, documents and instruments set forth éticd8e2.2

(b).

(d) Reqgulatory ApprovalsAny material approval, consent, waiver, authdrmaor order of any Governmental Authority or athe
Person required to consummate the transactionsmqtdted by this Agreement and the other Transa@mcuments shall have been obtainec
and remain in full force and effect, and all statytwaiting periods relating to such approvalshatizations and consents shall have expired ¢
been terminated.

(e) Qualification Under State Securities LawAll registrations, qualifications, permits andoapvals, if any, required to be obtair
prior to the Closing under applicable state selasriaws shall have been obtained for the lawfekekion, delivery and performance of this
Agreement and the other Transaction Documentgydiimay) the offer and sale of the Shares.

() No Litigation. No Proceeding shall be pending or, to the knogéeaf the Investor, threatened that questions afidity of this
Agreement or the other Transaction Documents origjind of the Company or the Investor to enter istich agreements or to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

(9) No Violation. No Applicable Law shall have been enacted, edteraleemed applicable by any Governmental Authavitich
would prohibit or make the transactions contempldutg this Agreement or the other Transaction Doqutsélegal.

(h) Nasdaqg Notification The Company shall have notified Nasdaq of theaisse of the Shares.

(i) Alliance Agreement The Alliance Agreement shall remain in full foraed effect.
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5.2 Conditions Precedent to the Obligations of@benpany. The obligation of the Company to consummate tlesifg is subject to the
satisfaction or waiver by the Company of each efftillowing conditions:

(a) Representations and Warrantid$e representations and warranties of the Investotained herein shall be true and correct in
all material respects as of the date hereof ard tiee Closing Date.

(b) Performance The Investor shall have performed, satisfied @miplied in all material respects with all coversam@igreements
and conditions required the Transaction Documenketperformed, satisfied or complied with by theelstor at or prior to the Closing.

(c) Other DocumentsThe Company shall have received each of the elables, documents and instruments set forth itidde2.2

().

(d) Requlatory ApprovalsAny material approval, consent, waiver, authdiimaor order of any Governmental Authority or athe
Person required to consummate the transactionsmqtdted by this Agreement and the other Transa@mcuments shall have been obtainec
and remain in full force and effect, and all statytwaiting periods relating to such approvalshatizations and consents shall have expired c
been terminated.

(e) Qualification Under State Securities LawAll registrations, qualifications, permits andpapvals, if any, required to be obtair
prior to the Closing under applicable state selasriaws shall have been obtained for the lawfekeion, delivery and performance of this
Agreement and the other Transaction Documentgydimy) the offer and sale of the Shares.

(f) No Litigation. No Proceeding shall be pending or, to the knogdeaf the Company, threatened that questions tlidityaof this
Agreement or the other Transaction Documents origid of the Company or the Investor to enter istich agreements or to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

(9) No Violation. No Applicable Law shall have been enacted, edteraleemed applicable by any Governmental Authavitich
would prohibit or make the transactions contempldutg this Agreement or the other Transaction Doaumélegal.

ARTICLE VI
RIGHT OF FIRST OFFER

6.1 Subsequent OfferingsSubject to the provisions of Section 4.8(#)e Investor will have the right of first offehé “ROFO ") to
purchase any and all shares of capital stock @rathuity securities, or options, warrants or ofeaurities directly or indirectly convertible
into or exchangeable or exercisable for sharespital stock or other equity securitiesHuity Securities”), that the Company proposes to
offer, other than the securities excluded by Sedii®hereof.
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6.2 ROFO Over Proposed Reaqistered Transfergonnection with any proposed sale, offer i désposition of or any other like trans
of any Equity Securities by the Company by mearsnofinderwritten public offering pursuant to areefive registration statement under the
Securities Act (a Proposed Registered Transfer ), the Company must deliver written notice to theestor setting forth the terms and
conditions of such Proposed Registered Transfer‘(Broposed Transfer Notice ”) not later than ten (10) Business Days priortie ¢arlier of
(i) the entry into a definitive agreement providiiog such Proposed Registered Transfer and (iiptimsummation of such Proposed Registere
Transfer. Such Proposed Transfer Notice shall afferdnvestor the right to purchase any or alhef Equity Securities proposed to be sold,
offered for sale, disposed of or otherwise tramsfitin such Proposed Registered Transfer at tiee per share of Common Stock in cash set
forth in the Proposed Transfer Notice, or in theecaf Equity Securities other than Common Stoak attmount therefor implied by such price
per share of Common Stock, as set forth in the ¢&®q Transfer Notice. To exercise its Right oftR0ffer under this Section 6,2he Investo
must deliver written notice that the Investor irderio exercise its Right of First Offer as to sBcbposed Registered Transfer (tHexercise
Notice”) to the Company within ten (10) Business Daysiafielivery of the Proposed Transfer Notice, wtshhll specify the number and
class or series of Equity Securities with respecthich the Investor desires to exercise its Rajliirst Offer; provided however, that the
Investor shall use its commercially reasonablerefftm, as soon as practicable after delivery efRhoposed Transfer Notice, either deliver an
Exercise Notice or notify the Company in writingtlit waives its right to deliver an Exercise Netitf the total number of Equity Securities
that the Investor has agreed to purchase in thecEBeeNotice is less than the total number of Bg8icurities set forth in the Proposed
Transfer Notice (or if the Investor does not timdsfliver an Exercise Notice or delivers a waiveit®fight to deliver an Exercise Notice), then
the Company shall be free to sell any Equity Séiesrihat the Investor has declined to purchaséf(tire Investor does not timely deliver an
Exercise Notice or delivers a waiver of its rightdeliver an Exercise Notice, all Equity Securites forth in the applicable Proposed Transfer
Notice) at a price in cash not less than the matdorth in the Proposed Transfer Notice by media underwritten public offering of su
securities pursuant to an effective registratiaeshent under the Securities Act and on such é¢hers and conditions as the Company see
it being understood and agreed that (A) any othéntare Proposed Registered Transfer or proposaky] sffer to sell, disposition of or any
other like transfer of any Equity Securities by @@mpany covered by Section §each, a ‘Proposed Transfer ") made or permitted to be
made by the Company shall remain subject to_thilerVI ; (B) such public offering shall be consummatechimitthirty (30) days after the
Investor declines to purchase the total numberquiity Securities set forth in the Proposed Tranifetice (or fails to timely deliver an
Exercise Notice or delivers a waiver of its rightdeliver an Exercise Notice), and if such offerimgot consummated within such thirty
(30) day period, such Proposed Registered Trasbfl again become subject to the Right of Firdedn the terms set forth herein; and
(C) the Company agrees not to propose to make epoBed Transfer unless it has boma fideintention to sell the applicable Equity
Securities at the time of such proposal. Sucld&@period shall be automatically extended in trenéthat the proposed issuance is delaye:
to regulatory review until five days after the cdetjpn of such review.

6.3 ROFO Over Proposed Unregistered Transfers

(a) If the Company proposes to engage in any trdieseinvolving the direct or indirect sale or issize of any Equity Securities
other than a transaction covered_by Sediéh
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it shall give the Investor written notice of itgéntion, describing the Equity Securities, the @and the terms and conditions upon which the
Company proposes to sell or issue the same. Thestorshall have ten (10) Business Days from thiegiof such notice to elect to purchase
all or any portion of the Equity Securities propi$e be sold or issued for the price and uponeh®g and conditions specified in the notice b
giving written notice to the Company and statingréin the quantity of such Equity Securities tqobechased.

(b) If the Investor fails to exercise its ROFO widspect to any portion of the Equity Securitifei@d to the Investor pursuant to
Section 6.3(a) the Company shall have thirty (30) days thereaftesell such portion of such Equity Securities atrice and upon terms and
conditions no more favorable to the purchaserstifahan specified in the Company’s notice to theebtor pursuant to Section 6.3(ereof.
If the Company has not sold such Equity Securiiggsin such thirty (30) days, the Company shall thareafter issue or sell any Equity
Securities, without first again complying with tifisticle VI . Such 30-day period shall be automatically extdridehe event that the proposed
issuance is delayed due to regulatory review fingl days after the completion of such review.

6.4 Transfer of ROFOThe ROFO of the Investor under this Article May be transferred to any Affiliate of the Invesfamovidedthat
such Affiliate agrees in writing to be subjecthe terms and conditions of this Agreement applEablthe Investor.

6.5 Excluded SecuritiesThe ROFO shall have no application to any offthlewing issuances of Equity Securities (colleetiy, the *
Excluded Securities™):

(a) to employees, directors or consultants pursigaatjuity incentive plans maintained by the Conypeamd registered with the SEC
on Form S-8; or

(b) solely as consideration for bona fide, armiggia business or asset acquisitions, mergerspolasitransactions, and not for
financing purposes;

providedthat, for the avoidance of doubt, subject to Seclid(a), nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the Inoefrom
purchasing additional shares of Voting Stock teetffany dilution resulting from any of the trangats listed in () through (b) above.

6.6 _Stockholder ApprovalNothing in contained in this Article \dhall require the Company to issue any Equity Seesito the Investor
if such issuance would require the Company to algtickholder approval of the issuance pursuatitegules of any Trading Market or under
Applicable Law.

6.7 Period The foregoing provisions of this Article ghall expire upon (a) the Termination Date, (b) braach by the Investor or its
Affiliates of Section 4.8 as amended, or (c) if the Investor delivers aarEige Notice, the Investor failing to acquire Brpity Securities that
are the subject of such Exercise Notice on thesema conditions set forth in the Exercise Notiéhiw the time frame set forth in this Article
VI; providedthat, notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) this Altid/I shall not terminate pursuant to Section 6) 4(b(c) unless the Company has
provided the Investor with reasonably detailed tenitnotice of the basis for such proposed termonadind the Investor has not cured the basis
for such proposed termination within fifteen (18Jendar days after receipt of such notice; andhig Article VI shall not terminate
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pursuant to Section 6.7(c) if the Investor failtmuire the Equity Securities that are the sulgéstich Exercise Notice on the terms and
conditions set forth in the Exercise Notice witttie relevant time frame due to the failure to ree@iny regulatory approval required for such
acquisition or any action or omission of the Companany Person other than the Investor and itdiats. In addition, if Section 4.8
terminated or suspended pursuant to its termsharetse, any obligation of the Company to complthvthis Article VI shall terminate with
respect to any Equity Securities to the extent @rad for so long as, immediately prior to sucimieation or suspension, the Investor would
have been prohibited from acquiring as a resuegftion 4.8 as amended.

ARTICLE VII
MISCELLANEOUS

7.1 Termination This Agreement may be terminated by the Companlieolnvestor, by written notice to the otherthié Closing has not
been consummated by the third Business Day follgwiie date of this Agreement; providit no such termination will affect the right afye
party to sue for any breach by the other partypéoties). This Section 7dnd the following provisions of Article V{lother than Section 7.13
(Remedies)) shall survive any termination hereatpant to Section 7.1

7.2 Fees and Expensefhe Company shall pay all Transfer Agent feesmngttaxes and other taxes and duties levied inemiimm with
the sale and issuance of the Shares pursuant Iyotm@any to the Investor. All other fees and expsrshall be paid by the party incurring
them.

7.3 Entire AgreementThe Transaction Documents, the Rights Agreemedtlae non-disclosure agreement dated as of M&cRAU11
between Benefitfocus.com, Inc. and Mercer HealtBefefits LLC, together with the exhibits and scHeduhereto, contain the entire
understanding of the parties with respect to thgesit matter hereof and thereof and supersedeiatl ggreements and understandings, oral ol
written, with respect to such matters, which theipa acknowledge have been merged into such dausiexhibits and schedules.

7.4 Notices Any and all notices or other communications divéeies required or permitted to be provided hedrr shall be in writing
and shall be deemed given and effective on théesadf (a) the date of transmission, if such robtc communication is delivered via facsimile
at the facsimile number specified in this Sectighpfior to 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on a Bus#seDay, (b) the next Business Day after
the date of transmission, if such notice or commatidn is delivered via facsimile at the facsinmlamber specified in this Section ‘ba a day
that is not a Business Day or at or later than $:6@ (New York City time) on any Business Day, tf@ Business Day following the date of
deposit with a nationally recognized overnight dé@uservice, and (d) upon actual receipt by théyparwhom such notice is required to be
given. Notice via electronic mail must be suppletadrby another of the above methods. The addrefsasanile numbers and email addresse
for such notices and communications are as follewbject to change as the applicable party mayafterespecify for such purpose by notic
the other parties hereto:

To the Company:

Benefitfocus, Inc.

100 Benefitfocus Way

Charleston, SC 29492

Attention: Paris Cavic, General Counsel
Telephone No.: (843) 849-7476
Facsimile No.: (843) 849-6062

E-mail: paris.cavic@benefitfocus.com
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With copies to:

Wyrick Robbins Yates & Ponton LLP
4101 Lake Boone Trail, Suite 300
Raleigh, NC 27607

Attention: Donald R. Reynolds
Telephone No.: (919) 781-4000
Facsimile No.: (919) 781-4865
E-mail: dreynolds@wyrick.com

To the Investor:

Mercer LLC

1166 Avenue of the Americas

New York, NY 10036

Attention: Rian Miller, General Counsel
Telephone No.: (212) 345-1835
Facsimile No.: (212) 345-4433

E-mail: rian.miller@mercer.com

With copies to:

Mercer LLC

1166 Avenue of the Americas

New York, NY 10036

Attention: Margaret M. O'Brien, Global Chief Couthsédealth & Benefits
Telephone No.: (212) 345-5120

Facsimile No.: (212) 345-5627

E-mail: margaret.o’brien@mercer.com

Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP

450 Lexington Avenue

New York, NY 10017

Attention: Phillip R. Mills
Telephone No.: (212) 450-4000
Facsimile No.: (212) 701-5800
E-mail: phillip.mills@davispolk.com
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7.5 Amendments; WaiverdNo provision of this Agreement may be waived meaded except in a written instrument signed, énddise
of an amendment, by the Company and the Investdrirathe case of a waiver, by the party againgimvthe waiver is to be effective. No
waiver of any default with respect to any provisioondition or requirement of this Agreement shalldeemed to be a continuing waiver in the
future or a waiver of any subsequent default oa#ver of any other provision, condition or requigathhereof, nor shall any delay or omission
of either party to exercise any right hereundeaarig manner impair the exercise of any such right.

7.6 Construction The headings herein are for convenience onlynat@onstitute a part of this Agreement and shatllbe deemed to
limit or affect any of the provisions hereof. Tl@guage used in this Agreement will be deemed théd&anguage chosen by the parties to
express their mutual intent, and no rules of stractstruction will be applied against any party.

7.7 Successors and Assignehis Agreement shall be binding upon and inurthéobenefit of the parties and their successats an
permitted assigns. The Company may not assigngdter otherwise transfer this Agreement or aglgtsi or obligations hereunder without
the prior written consent of the Investor. The lstee may assign its rights under this Agreemeiainip Affiliate of the Investor, provided) the
Investor agrees in writing with the transferee sgignee to assign such rights and a copy of sugeagent is furnished to the Company within
a reasonable time after such assignment, (ii) tragany is furnished with written notice of the naamel address of such transferee or assi
and (iii) at or before the time the Company receitree written notice contemplated by clause (iidhig sentence the transferee or assignee
agrees in writing to be bound by all of the promis contained herein. Any assignment, delegatiathar transfer in violation of the foregoing
provisions of this Section 7shall be null and voidb initio .

7.8 No ThirdParty Beneficiaries This Agreement is intended for the benefit of plagties hereto and their respective successors and
permitted assigns and is not for the benefit of,may any provision hereof be enforced by, any ofterson.

7.9 Governing Law; Venue; Service of Process; Waifelury Trial. ALL QUESTIONS CONCERNING THE CONSTRUCTION,
VALIDITY, ENFORCEMENT AND INTERPRETATION OF THIS AQGEEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARBVITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO THAT BODY OF LAWS
PERTAINING TO CONFLICT OF LAWS. EACH PARTY HEREBYRREVOCABLY CONSENTS AND SUBMITS TO THE EXCLUSIVE
JURISDICTION OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL COURTS SITT®IIN THE STATE OF DELAWARE FOR THE ADJUDICATION OF
ANY DISPUTE HEREUNDER OR IN CONNECTION HEREWITH O®ITH ANY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY
(INCLUDING WITH RESPECT TO THE ENFORCEMENT OF ANYFROTHE TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS), AND HEREBY
IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, AND AGREES NOT TO ASSERT IN ANBUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING, ANY CLAIM THAT IT MAY
NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE THAT IT IS NOT PERSONALLY SUEECT TO THE JURISDICTION OF ANY SUCH COURT, AN
ANY OBJECTION THAT IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO'HE LAYING OF THE VENUE OF ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION
OR PROCEEDING IN ANY SUCH COURT OR THAT ANY SUCH $TJ ACTION OR
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PROCEEDING BROUGHT IN ANY SUCH COURT HAS BEEN BROW(G IN AN INCONVENIENT FORUM. EACH PARTY HEREBY
IRREVOCABLY WAIVES PERSONAL SERVICE OF PROCESS ANIDONSENTS TO PROCESS BEING SERVED IN ANY SUCH SL
ACTION OR PROCEEDING BY MAILING A COPY THEREOF VIREGISTERED OR CERTIFIED MAIL OR OVERNIGHT DELIVER
(WITH EVIDENCE OF DELIVERY) TO SUCH PARTY AT THE ADRESS IN EFFECT FOR NOTICES TO IT UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT AND AGREES THAT SUCH SERVICE SHALL CONSTUTE GOOD AND SUFFICIENT SERVICE OF PROCESS AND
NOTICE THEREOF. NOTHING CONTAINED HEREIN SHALL BE BEMED TO LIMIT IN ANY WAY ANY RIGHT TO SERVE
PROCESS IN ANY MANNER PERMITTED BY LAW. THE COMPANYND INVESTOR HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVE ALL
RIGHTS TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN CONNECTION WITH ANY DSPUTE HEREUNDER OR ANY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED
HEREBY.

7.10_Survival The representations and warranties containdaisndgreement or in any certificate or other wigtidelivered pursuant
hereto or in connection herewith shall survive @esing until the eighteen (18) month anniversdrthe Closing Date; providetthat the
representations and warranties set forth in Sest3oh(b)(Organization and Qualification), 3.1(@uthorization; Enforcement), 3.1(frhe
Shares), 3.1(d)Capitalization), 3.1(pjPlacement Agent's Fees), 3.1(@pplication of Takeover Provisions) (the foregaiwgllectively, the “
Fundamental Representations ™), 3.2(a)(Organization; Authority) and 3.2(@lPlacement Agent’s Fees) shall survive until thedthnniversary
of the Closing Date. The covenants and agreemélte garties hereto contained in this Agreemerih @ny certificate or other writing
delivered pursuant hereto or in connection hereslitl survive the Closing indefinitely or for tehorter period explicitly specified therein,
except that for such covenants and agreementsuhate for such shorter period, breaches thereall survive indefinitely or until the latest
date permitted by law. Notwithstanding the precggirovisions of this Section 7.1@ny breach of representation, warranty, coveaant
agreement in respect of which indemnity may be Bbugder this Agreement shall survive the time hitciv it would otherwise terminate
pursuant to the preceding sentences, if notichefrtaccuracy or breach thereof giving rise to gsigtt of indemnity shall have been given to
the party against whom such indemnity may be sopgabt to such time.

7.11 Execution This Agreement may be executed in two or morentmparts, all of which when taken together shaltbnsidered one
and the same agreement and shall become effectige wounterparts have been signed by each partgediveéred to the other party, it being
understood that both parties need not sign the sanmgerpart. In the event that any signature lisgled by facsimile transmission or email
attachment, such signature shall create a valicbarding obligation of the party executing (or ohage behalf such signature is executed)
the same force and effect as if such facsimilenmibattached signature page were an original tfere

7.12 Severability If any provision of this Agreement is held toibealid or unenforceable in any respect, the validnd enforceability
of the remaining terms and provisions of this Agneet shall not in any way be affected or impaitegt¢éby and the parties will attempt to
agree upon a valid and enforceable provision thatreasonable substitute therefor, and upon seigy, shall incorporate such substitute
provision in this Agreement.
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7.13_RemediesIn addition to being entitled to exercise alhtig provided herein or granted by Applicable Lawveluding recovery of
damages, the Investor and the Company will beledtib seek specific performance under the TraifwaEtocuments. The parties agree that
monetary damages may not be adequate compensatianyf loss incurred by reason of any breach afjabbns described in the foregoing
sentence and hereby agrees to waive in any aaiapgcific performance of any such obligation éotthan in connection with any action for
temporary restraining order) the defense that &dgnat law would be adequate.

7.14 _Adjustments in Share Numbers and Pridaghe event of any stock split, subdivision,idend or distribution payable in shares of
Common Stock (or other securities or rights conbkrinto, or entitling the holder thereof to reseidirectly or indirectly shares of Common
Stock), combination or other similar recapitalizatior event occurring after the date hereof anat poi the Closing, each reference in any
Transaction Document to a number of shares orca eer share shall be amended to appropriatelyuatéor such event.

7.15_Other Definitional and Interpretive Provisionghe words “hereof”, “herein” and “hereunder” amdrds of like import used in this
Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whakénot to any particular provision of this Agreeméeferences to Articles, Sections,
Exhibits and Schedules are to Articles, Sectionijliits and Schedules of this Agreement unlessratise specified. All Exhibits and
Schedules annexed hereto or referred to hereiheasby incorporated in and made a part of this &guent as if set forth in full herein. Any
capitalized terms used in any Exhibit or Schedufenot otherwise defined therein, shall have thamrg as defined in this Agreement. Any
singular term in this Agreement shall be deemdddlude the plural, and any plural term the singWghenever the words “include”,
“includes” or “including” are used in this Agreemethey shall be deemed to be followed by the wéwdthout limitation”, whether or not the
are in fact followed by those words or words oéliknport. “Writing”, “written” and comparable termsfer to printing, typing and other means
of reproducing words (including electronic mediakivisible form. References to any statute sratldemed to refer to such statute as
amended from time to time and to any rules or @&iahs promulgated thereunder. References to amgatent or contract are to that
agreement or contract as amended, modified or esapgited from time to time in accordance with thimgehereof and thereof; providétht
with respect to any agreement or contract listedronSchedules hereto, all such amendments, maiiifits or supplements must also be liste
in the appropriate Schedule. References to anyRénslude the successors and permitted assigimbPerson. References from or through
any date mean, unless otherwise specified, fronmiraridding or through and including, respectively.

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have catisisdSecurities Purchase Agreement to be duly ézddwy their respective
authorized signatories as of the date first indidatbove.

COMPANY:
BENEFITFOCUS, INC.

By: /s/ Mason R. Holland, Jr.

Name: Mason R. Holland, Jr.

Title: Executive Chairman of the Board

Signature Page to Securities Purchase Agreel



INVESTOR:
MERCER LLC

By: /s/ Julio Portalatin

Name: Julio Portalatin

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

Signature Page to Securities Purchase Agreel



Exhibit A
February , 2015

Benefitfocus, Inc.

100 Benefitfocus Way
Charleston, South Carolina 29492
Attention: General Counsel

Re: Board Observer Rights and Obligatic

Dear Sir:

This letter will confirm the understanding amongribr LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (thavestor”) the undersigned (the
“Investor Observer”) and Benefitfocus, Inc., a Dedae corporation (the “Company”), regarding my ganas an observer to the Board of
Directors of the Company (the “Board”).

On the date hereof, the Investor purchased 2,86&bares of the common stock, $0.001 par valugseo€ompany pursuant to the terms
of a Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as ati&gh24, 2015 (the “Agreement”). | understand thaestor has designated me to serve as
the Investor Observer pursuant to Section 4.4@ftgreement. In connection with such service:

1. I understand that | shall be invited to attemerg meeting of the Board and its committees ima-woting observer capacity. |
understand that | shall be given, when given tedors of the Company, all notices of meetings witen consents of the Board and its
committees, the same written materials providetiémbers of the Board and its committees in conoeatith meetings of the Board
and its committees or written consents of the Baadl its committees, all of which shall be “Confitlal Information” for the purposes
of this letter and the attached Non-Disclosure &grent dated , by and betweameBgocus.com, Inc. and Mercer Health &
Benefits LLC, and, by virtue of its signature herghe Investor, as it may be amended from timare (“NDA”). | agree to be bound by
the terms of the NDA as a “Representative” thereuniir the benefit of the Company, which NDA igdtgy incorporated by reference. |
hereby agree to hold in confidence and trust &iriation so provided in accordance with the teafithe NDA, it being understood and
agreed that | may provide all such informatiol



Benefitfocus, Inc.

Investor. | understand and agree that, at the stquieghe Chairman of the Board or the Preside@@mneral Counsel of the Company, |
may be excluded from such portions of any Boardoonmittee meeting and that such materials may behefid from me, in each case
and solely to the extent the Board reasonably ohétes, based on the advice of outside counsegdessary (i) to avoid any conflict of
interest with respect to any potential transactietween the Company and the Investor Group orwtherthat is to be discussed or
addressed in such materials, if and to the extexttsuch conflict would have disqualified me frotieading such meeting or receiving
such materials had | been a director of the Comjgattiye relevant time, (ii) if such portion of theeeting or materials does or will
involve the disclosure of any confidential custorigs, pricing, pricing strategy or sales or mairkg plans of the Company or any of the
Subsidiaries (as such term is defined in the Pselareement), or (iii) to preserve the Companttasraey-client privilege; provided
that, before the Company may exclude me from amgiquoof any Board or committee meeting or withhéiisin me any Board or
committee materials pursuant to the foregoing @iowis of this sentence, the Company shall notiéyltivestor of its determination to do
so, and consult with the Investor to minimize am@hate the need for such exclusion or withholdingill not share any competitively
sensitive information or materials received frora @ompany or any of the Subsidiaries with any paitiiin the Investor or entity withi
its corporate organization that should not haveitifarmation under applicable anti-trust or simiémpetition laws. | understand that a
failure by the Company to give notice to me of atirgy of its Board or any of it committees shalhimway affect the validity of the
notice of such meeting for corporate law purposes.

2. I understand that my position as the Investosedier shall terminate upon the earlier to occui)dhe Termination Date (as
defined in the Agreement), (ii) designation by Istee of someone other than me to serve as thetn@dserver, (iii) termination by
Investor of my designation as the Investor Obse&r my resignation as the Investor Observenditérmination of my employment
with Investor and its affiliates. Investor or | Wilotify you in writing promptly in the event thahave resigned my position as the Inve
Observer or my designation as the Investor Obsenvaery employment with Investor and its affiliatehkile serving as the Investor
Observer is terminated by Investor.

[Signature Pages Follov



| understand that, upon my signature, this letige@ment shall become a binding agreement betweemchthe Company on and as of
the date hereof.

Very truly yours,

Investor Observis Signature

Investor Observis Name

Investor Observ(s Title with Investol

COMPANY:
BENEFITFOCUS, INC.

By:

Name:

Title:

The undersigned Investor hereby acknowledges arskado this letter and, by virtue of its signatieéow, confirms that it agrees to be a part
to and be bound by the terms of the NDA.

INVESTOR:
MERCER LLC

By:

Name:

Title:

[Signature Page to Board Observer Letter Agreement]



Exhibit 10.21
RIGHT OF FIRST OFFER AGREEMENT

THIS RIGHT OF FIRST OFFER AGREEMENT (theAgreement”) is made as of the 24th day of February 20151y @mong
Benefitfocus, Inc., a Delaware corporation (thédmpany”), Mercer LLC, a Delaware limited liability compgarf“ Mercer "), GS Capital
Partners VI Parallel, L.P., a Delaware limited parship (“GS Parallel”), GS Capital Partners VI GmbH & Co. KG, a Gernfiamted
partnership (‘GS GmbH "), GS Capital Partners VI Fund, L.P., a Delawamated partnership (GS Main "), GS Capital Partners VI Offshc
Fund, L.P., a Cayman Islands limited partnershi@$‘ Offshore”, and each of GS Parallel, GS GmbH, GS Main andd#Shore, a ‘GS
Fund "), Oak Investment Partners XIlI, Limited Partnepsta Delaware limited partnership (th®ak Fund "), and the Key Holders listed on
Schedule B.

WHEREAS, each Investor and Key Holder is the leyaher of the number of shares of Capital Stoclgf@ptions to purchase Common
Stock, set forth opposite the name of such Invemtdschedule A or the name of such Key Holder dre8ule B, as applicable;

WHEREAS, on the date hereof, the Company and Mexeeentering into a Securities Purchase Agreeftieat Securities Purchase
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company has agreed teeissmd sell, and Mercer has agreed to purchagbedrrms and subject to the
conditions set forth therein, the number of shaféSommon Stock set forth therein; and

WHEREAS, in connection with the transactions comitated by the Securities Purchase Agreement, thieepdereto desire to enter into
this Agreement with respect to the matters sehfoerein.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Company, Mercer, the Key Halderd the Investors agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
D EFINITIONS

“ Affiliate " means, with respect to any Person, any othemRaigectly or indirectly controlling, controlled/lor under common control
with such Person. For the purpose of this definjtibe term “control ” (including, with correlative meanings, the terinsontrolling ”, “
controlled by ” and “under common control with”), as used with respect to any Person, meansdsgegsion, directly or indirectly, of the
power to direct or cause the direction of the managnt and policies of such Person, whether thrduglownership of voting securities, by
contract or otherwise. For the avoidance of dofipgny account or any fund that is managed orsatl/by an Affiliate of a Person shall be an
Affiliate of such Person and (ii) accounts or furidat are managed or advised by the same PerdmnRersons who are Affiliates shall be
Affiliates of each other. Notwithstanding the fooéitg, an operating company (or any of its subsie&rthat is controlled by a fund or account

managed or advised by a Person, or Affiliates ohd®erson, shall not be deemed an Affiliate of deerson



“ Alliance Agreement” means the Mercer Exchange Software as a Serviceeinent, dated as of April 1, 2013, between thmag2my
and Mercer Health & Benefits LLC, a Delaware lindif@ability company, and amended through the datedf, including all exhibits,
schedules and annexes thereto, and as amended aastiabed from time to time.

“ beneficial owner,” * beneficially owns,” “ beneficial ownership” and terms of similar import have the meaningfegh in Rule 13d-
3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, andet (i) assuming the full conversion into, andrenge and exercise for, shares of
Common Stock of all shares of Capital Stock beredficowned by the applicable Person and (ii) deieed without regard for the number of
days in which such Person has the right to acquich beneficial ownership.

“ Business Day means any day other than a Saturday, Sundayyootirer day on which commercial banks in The CitiNew York are
authorized or required by applicable law to ren@ddased.

“ Capital Stock” means (a) shares of Common Stock, (b) sharesyobther class or series of capital stock of thenBany, (c) options,
warrants or other securities of the Company diyeatlindirectly exercisable or exchangeable forcamvertible into, shares of Common Stock
or any other class or series of capital stock ef@ompany and (d) shares of Common Stock or arer othss or series of capital stock of the
Company issued or issuable upon exercise, exchangmnversion, as applicable, of options, warrantsther securities of the Company, in
each case now owned or subsequently acquired bieypyolder, any Investor, or their respective ®830rs or permitted transferees or
assigns.

“ Common Stock” means shares of common stock of the Companyyagdae $0.001 per share.

“ Exercise Notice” means written notice from Mercer notifying the apgble Key Holders or Investors that Mercer intetadexercise it
Right of First Offer as to any or all of the TragmsEtock with respect to any Proposed Transfer.

“ Investors” means the Persons named on Schedule A hereto Reaison to whom the rights of an Investor aregassi pursuant to
Section 3.01 and each Person who hereafter becasigaatory to this Agreement pursuant to Secti6g.3

“ Key Holders” means the persons named on Schedule B heretoPeastn to whom the rights of a Key Holder are asigoursuant 1
Section 3.01 and each Person who hereafter becasigaatory to this Agreement pursuant to Secti6g.3

“ Person” means an individual, corporation, limited liabjlicompany, partnership, association, trust orro#iméity or organization,
including a government or political subdivisionasr agency or instrumentality thereof.
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“ Proposed Registered Transfef means any sale, offer to sell, disposition ofay other like transfer of any Transfer Stock of ah
the Key Holders or Investors proposed to be mad@adgns of (a) an underwritten public offering oftsigecurities pursuant to an effective
registration statement under the Securities Ag¢twith respect to Investors, but not Key Holdersake or other disposition of any Transfer
Stock in compliance with the requirements of Ruld br (c) a block trade to a market maker or broker

“ Proposed Transfer” means any Proposed Registered Transfer or Prdgdseegistered Transfer.

“ Proposed Transfer Notice’ means written notice from a Key Holder or Investetting forth the terms and conditions of a Pegub
Transfer (including, in the case of any Proposegiftered Transfer, the proposed plan of distribbutieerefor, and, in the case of any Propose
Unregistered Transfer, the identity of the propgsecthaser, if there is a proposed purchaser dirtigeof delivery of such notice).

“ Proposed Unregistered Transfel’ means any assignment, sale, offer to sell, pledgatgage, hypothecation, disposition of or any
other like transfer of any Transfer Stock (or amtgiest therein) of any of the Key Holders or tineektors that is proposed to be made and is
not a Proposed Registered Transfer.

“ Right of First Offer ” means the right, but not an obligation, of Mer@@rany Person to whom it is permitted to assigmights
hereunder pursuant to Section 5.08) to purchaseral} of the Transfer Stock with respect to agesed Transfer, on the terms and condition
specified in the Proposed Transfer Notice.

“ Rule 144" means Rule 144 under the Securities Act, as Rudh 144 may be amended (or any successor prowiserato).
“ Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“ Transfer Stock” means shares of Capital Stock owned by any Kelgétar any Investor, or their respective successopermitted
transferees or assigns to the extent such sucsesspermitted transferees or assigns are requinddr the terms of this Agreement to become
a party hereto, whether now owned or subsequeotjyieed by any such Person, or issued with regpeot upon conversion or exchange of,
such shares of Capital Stock (including, withomtitation, in connection with any stock split, statikidend, recapitalization, reorganization
the like).

ARTICLE 2
R 1GHTS OFF IRSTO FFER

Section 2.01Rights of First Offer On the terms and conditions set forth in thise®gnent, except as set forth in Section 3.01, eagh K
Holder and Investor hereby unconditionally andvioeably grants to Mercer a Right of First Offemptarchase all or any portion of Transfer
Stock that such Key Holder or Investor may proposeansfer in a Proposed Transfer at the same pnd on the same terms and conditior
those contained in the Proposed Transfer Notice.



Section 2.02Right of First Offer Over Proposed Registered Tfars Subject to Section 3.01, each Key Holder or ltegroposing to
make a Proposed Registered Transfer must deliPeoposed Transfer Notice to Mercer not later tlesin(10) Business Days prior to the ea
of (a) the entry into a definitive agreement pravigfor such Proposed Registered Transfer anchébgdnsummation of such Proposed
Registered Transfer. Such Proposed Transfer Nskia# offer Mercer the right to purchase any ooéfiifty percent (50%) of the total number
of shares of each class or series of Transfer Siombosed to be sold, offered for sale, disposeat otherwise transferred in such Proposed
Registered Transfer at the price per share of CamBtock in cash set forth in the Proposed Trari$étice or in the case of Transfer Stock
other than Common Stock, the amount per share éhjply such price per share of Common Stock, af®dhtin the Proposed Transfer Notice.
To exercise its Right of First Offer under this @&t 2.02, Mercer must deliver an Exercise Notwéhe applicable Key Holder or Investor
within ten (10) Business Days after delivery of Breposed Transfer Notice, which shall specifyrthmber of shares of each class or series @
Transfer Stock with respect to which Mercer desioesxercise its Right of First Offgorovided, howeverthat Mercer shall use its
commercially reasonable efforts to, as soon agipedude after delivery of the Proposed Transferitdgteither deliver an Exercise Notice or
notify the applicable Key Holder or Investor in timg that it waives its right to deliver an ExeiNotice. If the total number of shares of
Transfer Stock that Mercer has agreed to purchedeiExercise Notice is less than the total nunobshares of Transfer Stock set forth in the
Proposed Transfer Notice (or if Mercer does noetyimdeliver an Exercise Notice or delivers a waiwkits right to deliver an Exercise Notic
then the applicable Key Holder or Investor shalfriee to sell any shares of Transfer Stock thatdglehas declined to purchase (or, if Mercer
does not timely deliver an Exercise Notice or d&téva waiver of its right to deliver an Exercisdib®, all shares of Transfer Stock set forth in
the applicable Proposed Transfer Notice) at a pni@ash not less than the price set forth in tlup®&sed Transfer Notice by means of (x) an
underwritten public offering of such securities guant to an effective registration statement uthieSecurities Act, (y) a sale or disposition in
compliance with the requirements of Rule 144 ora(b)Jock trade, in each case, on such terms antit@ams as the applicable Key Holder or
Investor sees fit, it being understood and agrkatl(t) any other or future Proposed Transfer nadeermitted to be made by the Key Holder
or Investor shall remain subject to the terms amtltions of this Agreement, including this Arti@e (ii) such public offering, sale pursuant to
Rule 144 or block trade shall be consummated withiitly (30) calendar days after Mercer declinepdochase the total number of shares of
Transfer Stock set forth in the Proposed Transfardd (or fails to timely deliver an Exercise Neatior delivers a waiver of its right to deliver
an Exercise Notice), and if such offering is natgammated within such thirty (30) calendar dayqursuch Proposed Registered Transfer
shall again become subject to the Right of FirdeOdn the terms set forth herein; and (iii) eatthe Key Holders and Investors agrees not to
propose to make any Proposed Transfer unless libe lsas thebona fideintention to sell the applicable shares of TranSfeck at the time of
such proposal.



Section 2.03Right of First Offer Over Proposed Unregistered fisters. Subject to Section 3.01, each Key Holder or liegroposing
to make a Proposed Unregistered Transfer mustatediProposed Transfer Notice to Mercer not ldtan ten (10) Business Days prior to the
earlier of (x) the entry into a definitive agreerproviding for such Proposed Unregistered Tranafet (y) the consummation of such
Proposed Unregistered Transfer. Such Proposedféradetice shall (a) offer Mercer the right to ploase any or all of the total number of
shares of each class or series of Transfer Stacknfpinterest therein) proposed to be assignéd, sfiered for sale, pledged, mortgaged,
hypothecated, encumbered, disposed of or othetvdssferred in such Proposed Unregistered Traraifer (b) contain the other material te
and conditions (including the price in cash) of Breposed Unregistered Transfer. To exercise ghtRif First Offer under this Section 2.03,
Mercer must deliver an Exercise Notice to the ayafilie Key Holder or Investor within ten (10) Busiadays after delivery of the Proposed
Transfer Notice, which shall specify the numbeslodires of each class or series of Transfer Statkregpect to which Mercer desires to
exercise its Right of First Offer. If the total nher of shares of Transfer Stock that Mercer haseajto purchase in the Exercise Notice is les:
than the total number of shares of Transfer Stetkasth in the Proposed Transfer Notice (or if Bardoes not timely deliver an Exercise
Notice), then the applicable Key Holder or Investball be free to sell any shares of Transfer StbakMercer has declined to purchase (c
Mercer does not timely deliver an Exercise Notaleshares of Transfer Stock set forth in the ajgflle Proposed Transfer Notice) at a price il
cash not less than the price set forth in the Prepdransfer Notice and otherwise on terms anditonsl not materially more favorable to the
purchasers thereof than the terms and conditidrfeidk in the Proposed Transfer Notice, it beimglerstood and agreed that (i) any other or
future Proposed Transfer made or permitted to baéerby the applicable Key Holder or Investor shathain subject to the terms and condit
of this Agreement, including this Article 2; (iiush sale shall be consummated within sixty (60¢dhr days after Mercer declines to purct
the total number of shares of Transfer Stock st fio the Proposed Transfer Notice (or fails toely deliver an Exercise Noticepfovided
that such sixty (60) calendar day period shalllteraatically extended in the event that the prodasde is delayed due to regulatory review,
until five (5) calendar days after the completidrsach review, but in no event later than one haddwenty (120) calendar days after Mercer
has declined to purchase the total number of shrésansfer Stock set forth in the Proposed Tranblotice (or has failed to timely deliver an
Exercise Notice)), and if such sale is not consutethwithin such sixty (60) or one hundred twent®(Q)Lcalendar day period, as applicable,
such Proposed Unregistered Transfer shall agaionbesubject to the Right of First Offer on the teat forth herein; and (iii) each of the |
Holders and Investors agrees not to propose to makéroposed Transfer unless the seller halsdha fideintention to sell the applicable
shares of Transfer Stock at the time of such pralpos

Section 2.04Consideration; Closing (a) If Mercer timely delivers an Exercise Notigteshall be irrevocably bound to purchase the e
set forth in the Proposed Transfer Notice on thms$eand subject to the conditions set forth heaeith therein. The closing of the purchase of
Transfer Stock by Mercer shall take place, and all



payments from Mercer shall have been deliveretigapplicable Key Holder or Investor, as the caag be, (i) no later than thirty

(30) calendar days after the delivery of the Exaardilotice with respect to the Proposed TransfarisheaProposed Registered Transfer or (i
later than sixty (60) calendar days after delivafrthe Exercise Notice with respect to the Propdeeahsfer that is a Proposed Unregistered
Transfer (providedthat such sixty (60) calendar day period shalliteraatically extended in the event that the proggeechase is delayed
due to regulatory review, until five (5) calendaryd after the completion of such review, but irenent later than one hundred twenty
(120) calendar days after delivery of the Exerbiséice with respect to the Proposed Transfer).

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary heréinconnection with any sale by any Investor oy kiolder to Mercer pursuant to this
Agreement, such Investor or Key Holder shall bauegl to provide customary representations, waieargnd indemnities to Mercer only
concerning such Investor’s or Key Holder's powed anthority to enter into the sale agreementitlestb the shares of Common Stock sold in
such sale, the absence of any material consenigeddn connection with such sale, the absen@ngfcontravention of law in connection w
such sale, and that its holding of the TransfeclStnd that its receipt of the purchase price cm¢wiolate antimoney laundering, sanctions
similar laws (and shall not include representatiovesranties and indemnities relating to the bussnaf the Company) even if such Investor or
Key Holder proposes to make additional or differemresentations, warranties and indemnities kird party purchaser. In addition, in
connection with any sale by the Investors or Keydids to Mercer pursuant to this Agreement, the @amy shall be required to use
commercially reasonable efforts to assist Mercerthe applicable Investor or Key Holder to consur@nsaich sale.

Section 2.05Effect of Failure to Comply(a) Transfer Void Any Proposed Transfer not made in compliance thighrequirements of
this Agreement shall be null and vad initio, shall not be recorded on the books of the Comparitg transfer agent and shall not be
recognized by the Company.

(b) Violation of First Offer Right If any Key Holder or Investor becomes obligatedell any Transfer Stock to Mercer under this
Agreement and fails to deliver such Transfer Siackccordance with the terms of this Agreement,ddermay, at its option, in addition to all
other remedies it may have, send to such Key Hadémvestor the purchase price for such TransfeclSas is herein specified and request
that the Company transfer to the name of MercaherCompany’s books the certificate or certificatgwesenting the Transfer Stock to be
sold.

Section 2.06Standstill. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Agneat does or shall be deemed to amend or othemaskfy the
restrictions on Mercer’s acquisition of additioshbres of voting stock of the Company set fortBéction 4.8 of the Securities Purchase
Agreement (as amended, th&tandstill ”), and Mercer acknowledges and agrees that it sbékcquire any shares of Transfer Stock pursuatr
to any Right of First Offer hereunder to the extidwat any such acquisition would result in a violatof the Standstill. Notwithstanding
anything herein to the contrary, no Investor



or Key Holder shall be required to offer Mercerrasaof Transfer Stock pursuant to any Right oftkdfer hereunder (i) to the extent the
acquisition thereof by Mercer would result in alat@mn of the Standstill or (i) if the Standsti#i terminated or suspended pursuant to
Section 4.8 of the Securities Purchase Agreemeatharwise, to the extent that the acquisitiongb&by Mercer would have resulted in a
violation of the Standstill in the absence of staimination or suspension.

ARTICLE 3
E XEMPT T RANSFERS

Section 3.01Exempted TransfersNotwithstanding the foregoing or anything to tomtrary herein, the provisions of Sections 2.0022
and 2.03 shall not apply: (a) in the case of a Kelder or Investor that is an entity, upon a tranfy such Key Holder or Investor to its
stockholders, members, limited or other partnerstioer equity holders, (b) in the case of an Inwetftat is an entity, upon a transfer by such
Investor to any fund or other investment vehiclevbfch an Affiliate of such Investor serves as gle@eral partner, managing member, man
or in a similar capacity (each, am\ffiliated Fund ); provided, however, that such Investor will not be permitted to tf@nsny Transfer
Stock to an Affiliated Fund without Mercer’s priaritten consent where following such transfer alaanajority of the consolidated assets
owned by and/or held by such Affiliated Fund isfister Stock, (c) to a pledge of Transfer Stock tnaates a mere security interest in the
pledged Transfer Stockrovided, however, that, if such pledge is non-recourse, the pledige=of agrees in writing in advance to be bound
by and comply with all applicable provisions ofsifigreement to the same extent as if it were thelader or Investor making such pledge,
(d) in the case of a Key Holder or Investor tha isatural person, upon a transfer of Transferk3tgcsuch Key Holder or Investor made for
bona fideestate planning purposes, either during his otifegime or on death by will or intestacy to hiskwr spouse, child (natural or
adopted), or any other direct lineal descendastoh Key Holder or Investor (or his or her spoa#)of the foregoing collectively referred to
as “family members”), or any other relative/person approved by Merceamyr custodian or trustee of any trust, partnershipmited liability
company for the benefit of, or the ownership insésef which are owned wholly by, such Key Holdewestor or any such family members,
(e) pursuant to a merger, tender offer for anyahshares of Common Stock or other similar busir@snbination transaction involving the
Company, or (f) in the case of a Key Holder, to aale of Transfer Stock by such Key Holder purstaiule 144providedthat in the case ¢
clause(s) (a) (other than (x) with respect to tla& Gund or (y) with respect to any GS Fund, anydfer that such GS Fund reasonably
determines is necessary or advisable to redueainglte, modify or mitigate an adverse effect orhsBS& Fund or any of its Affiliates arising
from any law, regulation or interpretation therapplicable to such GS Fund or any of its Affiligtes long as such GS Fund intends to trar
assets, or has transferred assets, other thamadudition to, Transfer Stock in a similar manmeoider to reduce, eliminate, modify or mitigate
such adverse effect), (b), (c) (solely with resgecton-recourse pledges), and (d) only, the lorestall deliver prior written notice to Mercer
of such transfer or pledge, and such shares ofsteatock of the Investor or the Key Holder, agligpble, shall at all times remain subject to
the



terms and restrictions set forth in this Agreenserd the transferee thereof shall, as a conditicud transfer or pledge, deliver a counterpart
signature page to this Agreement to the othergmhereto as confirmation that such transfere¢ lsbdound by all the terms and conditions o
this Agreement as a Key Holder or an Investor, pdicable (but only with respect to the securisegransferred to the transferee), including
the obligations of a Key Holder or an Investor witspect to Proposed Transfers of such Transfek$tarsuant to Article 2; angrovided,
further, in the case of any transfer pursuant to claus€lgpor (d) only, that such transfer is made parg to a transaction in which there is no
consideration actually paid for such transfera#f,a result of a transaction described in clausef ¢his Section 3.01, the holders of the capital
stock of the Company receive shares of capitakstothe surviving entity in such transaction, loe tiltimate parent entity that directly or
indirectly owns the outstanding capital stock aftssurviving entity, that represent more than fifgrcent (50%) of the shares of capital stock
of such entity, then the Investors and the Key dddhgree to enter into an agreement substangialijar to this Agreement providing that the
shares of capital stock received by them as atrealich transaction will be subject to a righficst offer substantially similar to the terms «
conditions set forth herein. For the avoidanceafld, this Section 3.01 specifically allows the Graind to make transfers pursuant to clause
(a) above without the consent of Mercer and withbattransferee executing a counterpart signatage pereto or becoming subject to the
terms and provisions hereof.

Section 3.02Additional Acquisitions by Key Holders and Investdfor so long as this Agreement remains in efieath Key Holder
agrees to cause any of its Affiliates, and eaclestor agrees to cause any of its Affiliated Futlast, in either case, directly or indirectly
acquires any shares of Capital Stock after the liateof (other than any acquisition pursuant t@asfer in accordance with Section 3.01,
which shall be governed by and subject to the terhssich Section 3.01 instead of this Section 3t62)eliver, no later than the time of such
acquisition, a counterpart signature page to tigjigeAment as confirmation that such Affiliate orilkdted Fund, as applicable, shall be bound
by all the terms and conditions of this Agreemenadey Holder or Investor, as applicable (but amilyr respect to the securities so acquired)
including the obligations of a Key Holder or Inuastvith respect to Proposed Transfers of such Tear®&tock pursuant to Article 2pfovided
that the obligations of each GS Fund pursuantisoSkction 3.02 shall be limited to the AffiliatBdnds thereof that are managed by the
Merchant Banking Division of The Goldman Sachs @rdac. (each, an Affiliated MBD Fund ™)).

Section 3.030bligation Not to Make or Permit Certain Indireatansfers. For so long as this Agreement remains in efeeath of the
Key Holders and Investors agrees not to causeranipany direct or indirect sale, offer to sellspgosition of or any other like transfer of any
equity interests of any Affiliate, in the case afy&ey Holder, or any Investor or Affiliated Furitereof, in the case of any Investor, all or a
majority of whose consolidated assets directlyndirectly consist of Transfer Stoclpfovidedthat the obligations of each GS Fund pursua
this Section 3.03 shall be limited to the otherf@ds, any Affiliated Fund thereof to which any B$d has made a transfer pursuant to
Section 3.01 and the Affiliated MBD Funds).



ARTICLE 4
L EGEND

Each certificate or book entry representing shaf8sansfer Stock held by the Key Holders or Ineestissued to any permitted
transferee in connection with a transfer permitigcSection 3.01 hereof, to the extent that suchjigzd transferee is required to become a
party to this Agreement pursuant to Section 3.0hcguired by any Person in connection with an sifipn subject to Section 3.02 shall be
endorsed with the following legend:

THE SALE, PLEDGE, HYPOTHECATION OR TRANSFER OF THEECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS [CERTIFICATE]
[BOOK ENTRY] IS SUBJECT TO, AND IN CERTAIN CASES RFIBITED BY, THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF A
CERTAIN RIGHT OF FIRST OFFER AGREEMENT BY AND AMONGHE STOCKHOLDER, THE CORPORATION AND
CERTAIN OTHER HOLDERS OF STOCK OF THE CORPORATICBOPIES OF SUCH AGREEMENT MAY BE OBTAINED
UPON WRITTEN REQUEST TO THE SECRETARY OF THE CORP®IRON.

Each Key Holder and Investor agrees that the Cognpaay instruct its transfer agent to impose trangdstrictions on the shares represented
by certificates or book entries bearing the legesidrred to in this Article 4 above to enforce fitevisions of this Agreement, and the
Company agrees to promptly do so. The legend beakkmoved at the request of the holder upon tHiestato occur of (a) termination of this
Agreement, (b) transfer of Transfer Stock purstar@ection 2.02 or Section 2.03 or (c) transfeFrainsfer Stock pursuant to Section 3.01
unless such transferee is required to become w foetthis Agreement pursuant to Section 3.01.

ARTICLE 5
M ISCELLANEOUS

Section 5.01Term. (a) This Agreement shall automatically terminapen any termination of the Securities Purchasedgent in
accordance with its terms prior to the Closingdesned in the Securities Purchase Agreementgiitdounderstood and agreed that no
termination hereof pursuant to this Section 5.0&(&lll affect the validity of or otherwise have affect on any prior purchase of Transfer
Stock by Mercer pursuant to its Rights of Firstedffiereunder.

(b) After the Closing, this Agreement shall autoicalty terminate upon the earlier of (i) the expiwa or termination of the Alliance
Agreement in accordance with its terms, (i) thstfdate on which Mercer and its Affiliates benifiy own less than (A) seventy-five percent
(75)% of the shares of Common Stock acquired byckter



pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement)div@percent (5%) of the outstanding shares ah@mn Stock, in each case in this clause
(i), for a period of at least forty-five (45) cawutive calendar days, (iii) any breach by MeraatsoAffiliates of the Standstill and (iv) if
Mercer delivers an Exercise Notice, Mercer failtogacquire the shares of Transfer Stock that aretibject of such Exercise Notice on the
terms and conditions set forth in the Exercise dotithin the time frame set forth in Section 2&)4providedthat, notwithstanding the
foregoing, (A) this Agreement shall not terminateguant to Section 5.01(b)(iii) or (iv) unless #yplicable Investor or Key Holder has
provided Mercer with reasonably detailed writteticeof the basis for such proposed terminationMedcer has not cured the basis for such
proposed termination within fifteen (15) calendaysl after receipt of such notice; and (B) this Agnent shall not terminate pursuant to
Section 5.01(b)(iv) if Mercer fails to acquire thigares of Transfer Stock that are the subjectdi &xercise Notice on the terms and condit
set forth in the Exercise Notice within the timarfre set forth in Section 2.04(a) due to the faitareeceive any regulatory approval required
for such acquisition or any action or omission iy énvestor, Key Holder or Person other than Meerat its Affiliates. In addition, if the
Standstill is terminated or suspended pursuanetdi@ 4.8 of the Securities Purchase Agreemeattmrwise, any obligation of the Key
Holders or the Investors to comply with Section1?2 Bection 2.02 and Section 2.03 shall terminatk mispect to any Transfer Stock to the
extent that, and for so long as, immediately praosuch termination or suspension, Mercer wouldceHaeen prohibited from acquiring as a
result of the Standstill.

Section 5.02Stock Split All references to numbers of shares in this Agreet shall be appropriately adjusted to reflect stogk
dividend, split, combination or other recapitalinataffecting the Capital Stock and occurring after date of this Agreement.

Section 5.03Representations and WarrantieBach Key Holder and Investor represents and wegtthat as of the date hereof such Key
Holder or Investor is the sole legal owner of thares of Transfer Stock set forth opposite such Helgler's or Investos name on Schedule
or Schedule B hereto, as applicable, and that lmer&erson has any interest in such shares (dtaerst community property interest as to
which the holder thereof has acknowledged and dgreeriting to the restrictions and obligationgdwender and, with respect to the Investors
other than any Person who is a direct or indinee¢stor, manager, investment advisor, managing raembgeneral partner of such Investor or
any direct or indirect owner of such Person). Eafctne Company and Mercer represents and warrhatdrue and complete copies of the fina
form of the Securities Purchase Agreement and tli@nae Agreement have been made available to KagiHolder and Investor. Each party
hereto represents and warrants that (a) such pastyhe requisite corporate, partnership or othttyepower and authority or capacity, as
applicable, to enter into this Agreement, (b) tkecaition and delivery of this Agreement by suchyhbas been duly authorized by all
necessary corporate, partnership or other entttgraon the part of such party, and (c) this Agreathas been duly executed by such party
is the valid and binding obligation of such pamjarceable against such party in accordance vstteitms.
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Section 5.04Notices. All notices and other communications given or smadrsuant to this Agreement shall be in writind ahall be
deemed effectively given and received: (a) uposqeal delivery to the party to be notified, (b) wisent by confirmed electronic mail or
facsimile if sent during normal business hourshefitecipient, and if not so confirmed, then onrtegt Business Day, (c) five (5) calendar days
after having been sent by registered or certifi@d,meturn receipt requested, postage prepaift)oone (1) Business Day after deposit with a
nationally recognized overnight courier, specifyimaxt Business Day delivery, with written verificat of receipt. All communications shall be
sent to the respective parties at their addressta®rth on Schedule A or Schedule B hereof, agéise may be, or to such email address,
facsimile number or address as subsequently mddiffenritten notice given in accordance with thec&on 5.04. If notice is given to the
Company, it shall be sent to Benefitfocus, IncQ Benefitfocus Way, Charleston, SC 29492, Attentaris Cavic and a copy (which shall
constitute notice) shall also be sent to Wyrick Biob Yates & Ponton LLP, 4101 Lake Boone Trail t&300, Raleigh, NC 27607, Attn:
Donald R. Reynolds; if notice is given to the Ines, a copy (which shall not constitute noticeglshlso be given to the applicable party set
forth on Schedule A or Schedule B.; and if notegiven to Mercer, it shall be sent to Mercer LIIT66 Avenue of the Americas, New York,
NY 10036, Attention: Rian Miller, General Counsahd copies (which shall not constitute notice) Isslab be sent to Mercer LLC, 11/
Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10036, Attenti Margaret M. O’'Brien, Global Chief Counsel - ttha& Benefits, and Davis Polk &
Wardwell LLP, 450 Lexington Avenue, New York, NY QD7, Attn: Phillip R. Mills.

Section 5.05Entire Agreement This Agreement (including the Schedules heredojstitutes the full and entire understanding and
agreement between the parties with respect toubjest matter hereof, and any other written or aggeement relating to the subject matter
hereof existing between the parties are expressigaled.

Section 5.06Delays or OmissionsNo delay or omission to exercise any right, poareremedy accruing to any party under this
Agreement, upon any breach or default of any gblaety under this Agreement, shall impair any sughtr power or remedy of such non-
breaching or non-defaulting party nor shall it bastrued to be a waiver of any such breach or ttefanan acquiescence therein, or of or in
any similar breach or default thereafter occurrimgy; shall any waiver of any single breach or ditfae deemed a waiver of any other breac
default theretofore or thereafter occurring. Anyiwea, permit, consent or approval of any kind oamdtter on the part of any party of any
breach or default under this Agreement, or any aradn the part of any party of any provisions anditons of this Agreement, must be in
writing and shall be effective only to the extepésifically set forth in such writing. All remediesither under this Agreement or by law or
otherwise afforded to any party, shall be cumukatnd not alternative.

Section 5.07Amendment; Waiver and Terminatiofhis Agreement may be amended, modified or teateih (in addition to pursuant to
Section 5.01 above) and the observance of anyhereof may be waived (either generally or in aipaldr instance and either retroactively or
prospectively) only by a written instrument execuby (a)
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Mercer, (b) the Key Holders holding a majority bétshares of Transfer Stock then held by all oitbg Holders, (c) all of the Investors and
(d) the Company, solely to the extent such amentimardification, termination or waiver would enlarthe Company obligations hereund:t
Any amendment, modification, termination or waigereffected shall be binding upon the Companylrtestors, the Key Holders and Mer
and all of their respective successors and peminissigns whether or not such party, assigneeher shareholder entered into or approved
such amendment, modification, termination or waiddre Company shall give prompt written notice oy amendment, modification or
termination hereof or waiver hereunder to any pheseto that did not consent in writing to such adment, modification, termination or
waiver. No waivers of or exceptions to any ternrmdition or provision of this Agreement, in any arremore instances, shall be deemed to be
or construed as, a further or continuing waiveamy such term, condition or provision.

Section 5.08Assignment of Rightga) The terms and conditions of this Agreemeatishure to the benefit of and be binding upon the
respective successors and permitted assigns pfities. Nothing in this Agreement, express or ietplis intended to confer upon any party
other than the parties hereto or their respectiveessors and permitted assigns any rights, resjeatiigations, or liabilities under or by
reason of this Agreement, except as expressly geovin this Agreement.

(b) Except as permitted by Section 3.01, the riginis obligations of the Key Holders, the Investimd the Company hereunder are not
assignable, delegable or otherwise transferableowitMercer’s prior written consent, it being ackiedged and agreed that Mercer’s consent
to any such assignment, delegation or other transéy be conditioned upon any such transfereeigetglto Mercer and the Company of a
counterpart signature page hereto pursuant to wauich transferee shall confirm its agreement tsuigect to and bound by all of the
provisions set forth in this Agreement that werpl@gble to the transferor of such transferee.tReravoidance of doubt, nothing herein shall
prohibit the Key Holders and the Investors frormsferring their Transfer Stock as permitted hengidluding pursuant to Section 3.01, with
the consent of Mercer and without the transferegtng a counterpart signature page hereto if snosent and such counterpart signature
page are not required herein, including pursuafetction 3.01.

(c) Except in connection with an assignment, ddlegaor other transfer by Mercer by operation of k& the acquirer of Mercer, or by
Mercer to an Affiliate thereof, the rights and gliions of Mercer hereunder are not assignablegdéle or otherwise transferable without the
prior written consent of (i) the Key Holders holdia majority of the shares of Transfer Stock theld by all of the Key Holders, (ii) the
holders of a majority of the shares of Transfeicktinen held by all of the Investors and (iii) Bempany, it being acknowledged and agreed
that any such assignment, delegation or otherferashall be subject to and conditioned upon amp stansferees delivery to the Key Holder
the Investors and the Company of a counterparasige page hereto pursuant to which such transédraléconfirm its agreement to be sub
to and bound by all of the provisions set forthhis Agreement that were applicable to the trawsfef such transferee.

12



Section 5.09Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any prowsi hereof shall in no way affect the validity of@ceability of
any other provision.

Section 5.10Governing Law All questions concerning the construction, vajidenforcement and interpretation of this Agreetrsdnall
be governed by and construed in accordance withathe of the State of Delaware, without giving effeo that body of laws pertaining to
conflict of laws.

Section 5.11Titles and SubtitlesThe titles and subtitles used in this Agreemeatused for convenience only and are not to be
considered in construing or interpreting this Agneat.

Section 5.12Counterparts; Facsimile This Agreement may be executed in two or morent@parts, each of which shall be deemed an
original, but all of which together shall constéuine and the same instrument. This Agreement sayba executed and delivered by facsi
signature (and by .pdfs) and in two or more coynaes, each of which shall be deemed an origindlalh of which together shall constitute
one and the same instrument.

Section 5.13Aggregation of StockAll shares of Capital Stock held or acquired Hfiliated Persons shall be aggregated togethethier
purpose of determining the availability of any iglinder this Agreement and the exercise of anly 6ghts may be allocated among such
Affiliated Persons in such manner as such AffiieRersons may determine in their discretion.

Section 5.14Specific PerformanceEach party hereto acknowledges and agrees thidiraach of this Agreement would result in
substantial harm to the other parties hereto fdckvinonetary damages alone could not adequatelpensate. Therefore, in addition to any
and all other remedies that may be available atilathe event of any breach of this Agreementthsties hereto unconditionally and
irrevocably agree that any non-breaching partytbesikall be entitled to protective orders, injunetielief and other remedies available at law
or in equity (including, without limitation, speifperformance or the rescission of purchasess sald other transfers of Transfer Stock not
made in strict compliance with this Agreement).

Section 5.15Venue; Service of Process; Waiver of Jury TriBACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY CONSENTS AND SUBMIS
TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE STATE AND FEDRAL COURTS SITTING IN THE STATE OF DELAWARE FOR THE
ADJUDICATION OF ANY DISPUTE HEREUNDER OR IN CONNEGON HEREWITH OR WITH ANY TRANSACTION
CONTEMPLATED HEREBY (INCLUDING WITH RESPECT TO THENFORCEMENT HEREOF), AND HEREBY IRREVOCABLY
WAIVES, AND AGREES NOT TO ASSERT IN ANY SUIT, ACTI® OR PROCEEDING, ANY CLAIM THAT IT MAY NOW OR
HEREAFTER HAVE THAT IT IS NOT PERSONALLY SUBJECT TOHE JURISDICTION OF ANY SUCH COURT, AND ANY
OBJECTION THAT IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THEAYING OF THE VENUE OF ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR
PROCEEDING IN ANY SUCH
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COURT OR THAT ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDINGRUGHT IN ANY SUCH COURT HAS BEEN BROUGHT IN AN
INCONVENIENT FORUM. EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WIVES PERSONAL SERVICE OF PROCESS AND CONSENTS
TO PROCESS BEING SERVED IN ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION GFROCEEDING BY MAILING A COPY THEREOF VIA

REGISTERED OR CERTIFIED MAIL OR OVERNIGHT DELIVERYWITH EVIDENCE OF DELIVERY) TO SUCH PARTY AT THE
ADDRESS IN EFFECT FOR NOTICES TO IT UNDER THIS AGREENT AND AGREES THAT SUCH SERVICE SHALL
CONSTITUTE GOOD AND SUFFICIENT SERVICE OF PROCESSIBNOTICE THEREOF. NOTHING CONTAINED HEREIN SHALL
BE DEEMED TO LIMIT IN ANY WAY ANY RIGHT TO SERVE PROCESS IN ANY MANNER PERMITTED BY LAW. THE PARTIES
HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVE ALL RIGHTS TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN CONNECTION WITH ANY DISPUTE HEREUNDER OR
ANY TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedRight of First Offer Agreement as of the date fissitten above.
THE COMPANY: BENEFITFOCUS, INC.

By:  /s/ Mason R. Holland, Jr.

Name Mason R. Holland, Jr.

Title: Executive Chairman of the Board

[Signature page to Right of First Offer Agreeme



INVESTORS: GS CAPITAL PARTNERS VI FUND, L.P.
By: GSCP VI Advisors, L.L.C
its General Partne

/sl Joseph P. DiSabato

Name Joseph P. DiSaba
Title: Vice Presiden

GS CAPITAL PARTNERS VI OFFSHORE FUND, L.P.

By: GSCP VI Offshore Advisors, L.L.C
its General Partne

/sl Joseph P. DiSabato

Name Joseph P. DiSaba
Title: Vice Presiden

GS CAPITAL PARTNERS VI GMBH & CO. KG

By: GS Advisors VI, L.L.C
its Managing Limited Partne

/sl Joseph P. DiSabato

Name Joseph P. DiSaba
Title:  Vice Presiden

GS CAPITAL PARTNERS VI PARALLEL, L.P.

By: GS Advisors VI, L.L.C
its General Partne

/sl Joseph P. DiSabato

Name Joseph P. DiSaba
Title:  Vice Presiden

[Signature page to Right of First Offer Agreeme



KEY HOLDERS:

OAK INVESTMENT PARTNERS XII, LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP

By: Oak Associates XllI, LLC, its General Parti

By:  /s/ Ann H. Lamont

Name Ann H. Lamoni
Title: Managing Membe

/s/ Mason R. Holland, Jr.

Mason R. Holland, Ji

/s/ Shawn Jenkins

Shawn Jenkin

[Signature page to Right of First Offer Agreeme



MERCER: MERCER LLC

By:  /s/ Julio Portalatin

Name Julio Portalatir
Title: President and Chief Executive Offic

[Signature page to Right of First Offer Agreeme



Schedule A
INVESTORS

Name Shares of Common Stock Hel

GS Capital Partners VI Parallel, L.P. 1,094,398 shares of Common St
c/o The Goldman Sachs Group, |

Attn: Bill Eng

200 West Street 2hFlr

New York, NY 10282

GS Capital Partners VI GmbH & Co. K 141,445 shares of Common Stc
c/o The Goldman Sachs Group, |

Attn: Bill Eng

200 West Street 20 FlIr

New York, NY 1028:

GS Capital Partners VI Fund, L. 3,979,876 shares of Common Stt
c/o The Goldman Sachs Group, |

Attn: Bill Eng

200 West Street 20 Flr

New York, NY 10282

GS Capital Partners VI Offshore Fund, L 3,310,322 shares of Common Stt
c/o The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.

Attn: Bill Eng

200 West Street 2hFir

New York, NY 10282

Oak Investment Partners XlI, Limited Partners 2,441,009 shares of Common St
Attn: Annie Lamont

901 Main Avenue Suite 6(

Norwalk, CT 06851



Name
Mason R. Holland, Jr.

Shawn Jenkin

Schedule B
KEY HOLDERS

Shares of Common Stock / Options Hel
2,451,921 shares of Common Stock (held
by Holland Family Trust
423,729 Option:

5,875 Restricted Stock Uni
2,093,404 shares of Common St
847,458 Option:

35,248 Restricted Stock Un




Exhibit 21.1

Benefitfocus, Inc.,
A Delaware corporation
List of subsidiaries
» Benefitfocus.com, Inc.
» Benefit Informatics, Inc.

» BenefitStore, Inc.



Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-192278) pertaining to the 2012
Stock Plan, as amended, and the Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Option Plan of Benefitfocus, Inc., of our report dated
February 27, 2015, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Benefitfocus, Inc. included in this Annual
Report (Form 10-K) of Benefitfocus, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2014.

/S/ Emst & Young LLP

Raleigh, North Carolina
February 27, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Shawn A. Jenkins, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fiBenefitfocus, Inc. (the registrant);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeer which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theégos presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15a@3})158hd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-1!
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our supervisi
to ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidigrie made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is being prepare

(b) Designed such internal control over finance&darting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principle

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentihisi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proes]j as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesignt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registranfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuadrig that has materially affected, or is reasopdikély
to materially affect, the registré s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anltlve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céoirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a simiifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting

Date: February 27, 2015

/s/ Shawn A. Jenkins
Shawn A. Jenkins
President and Chief Executive Offic




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Milton A. Alpern, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fiBenefitfocus, Inc. (the registrant);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeer which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theégos presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15a@3})158hd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-1!
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our supervisi
to ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidigrie made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is being prepare

(b) Designed such internal control over finance&darting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principle

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentihisi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proes]j as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesignt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registranfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuadrig that has materially affected, or is reasopdikély
to materially affect, the registré s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anltlve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céoirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a simiifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting

Date: February 27, 2015

/sl Milton A. Alpern
Milton A. Alpern
Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In accordance with 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted patdo Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act o22@hawn A. Jenkins, President and
Chief Executive Officer of Benefitfocus, Inc. (tfregistrant”), and Milton A. Alpern, Chief Finandi®fficer of the registrant, each hereby
certifies that, to the best of their knowledge:

1. The registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-Ktfoe year ended December 31, 2014, to which thigification is attached as Exhibit 32.1
(the “Report”), fully complies with the requiremerdf Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Se@siixchange Act of 1934, as amended; anc

2. The information contained in the Report fairhegents, in all material respects, the financialdttion of the registrant at the end of the pe
covered by the Report and results of operationieefegistrant for the periods covered by the Repor

Date: February 27, 2015

/s/ Shawn A. Jenkins
Shawn A. Jenkins
President and Chief Executive Offic

/sl Milton A. Alpern
Milton A. Alpern
Chief Financial Office




